
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the May 7, 2024, meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Drema Smith

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       5



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For possible action, approval of business license first readings:
• A. A & A Construction Inc. – Contractor / 200 Day Lane ~ Smith, NV
• B. A Team Trash Hauling LLC – Out of County / 1755 E. Plumb Ln. Ste 101 ~ Reno,

NV
• C. Brush Bros Painting, LLC – Contractor / 304 Rue De La Fauve ~ Sparks, NV
• D. Crazy Calamities – General / 420 S. B St. ~ Virginia City, NV
• E. Desert Valley Landscapes LLC – Contractor / 50 Freeport Blvd. # 18 ~ Sparks, NV
• F. DPR Construction, A General Partnership – Contractor / 1801 J St. Ste 200 ~

Sacramento, CA
• G. Eaton’s Custom Works LLC – Handyman / 127 Deschutes Dr. ~ Dayton, NV
• H. Fulcrum Construction Inc. – Contractor / 441 E. 4th St. ~ Long Beach, CA
• I. Johnnie Gifford – Handyman / 334 7th St. ~ Sparks, NV
• J. La Toxica – Food Truck / 1408 Pinewood Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
• K. Las Vegas Crushing Inc. – Mining / 1030 Wigwam Pkwy. ~ Henderson, NV
• L. Linear Star Construction LLC – Contractor / 216 Lemmon Dr. # 321 ~ Reno, NV
• M. Medic Electric LLC – Contractor / 455 E. McLean Way ~ Sparks, NV
• N. Mountain West Industrial – Contractor / 1095 S. 800 E. ~ Orem, UT
• O. Outdoor Concepts LLC – Contractor / 3608 Cambrian Ct. ~ Reno, NV
• P. Royal Carpet One Floor & Home – Contractor / 780 E. Main St. ~ Fernley, NV
• Q. Small Strides 2 Inc. – General / 1140 Venice Way ~ Sparks, NV
• R. Victory Drywall LLC – Contractor / 2770 Beach River Dr. ~ Reno, NV

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department: Community Development     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

     6  I



• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office April 29, 2024 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the May 7, 2024 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. A & A Construction Inc. – Contractor / 200 Day Lane ~ Smith, NV

B. A Team Trash Hauling LLC – Out of County / 1755 E. Plumb Ln. Ste 101 ~ Reno, NV

C. Brush Bros Painting, LLC – Contractor / 304 Rue De La Fauve ~ Sparks, NV

D. Crazy Calamities – General / 420 S. B St. ~ Virginia City, NV

E. Desert Valley Landscapes LLC – Contractor / 50 Freeport Blvd. # 18 ~ Sparks, NV

F. DPR Construction, A General Partnership – Contractor / 1801 J St. Ste 200 ~ Sacramento, CA

G. Eaton’s Custom Works LLC – Handyman / 127 Deschutes Dr. ~ Dayton, NV

H. Fulcrum Construction Inc. – Contractor / 441 E. 4th St. ~ Long Beach, CA

I. Johnnie Gifford – Handyman / 334 7th St. ~ Sparks, NV

J. La Toxica – Food Truck / 1408 Pinewood Dr. ~ Sparks, NV

K. Las Vegas Crushing Inc. – Mining / 1030 Wigwam Pkwy. ~ Henderson, NV

L. Linear Star Construction LLC – Contractor / 216 Lemmon Dr. # 321 ~ Reno, NV

M. Medic Electric LLC – Contractor / 455 E. McLean Way ~ Sparks, NV

N. Mountain West Industrial – Contractor / 1095 S. 800 E. ~ Orem, UT

O. Outdoor Concepts LLC – Contractor / 3608 Cambrian Ct. ~ Reno, NV

P. Royal Carpet One Floor & Home – Contractor / 780 E. Main St. ~ Fernley, NV

Q. Small Strides 2 Inc. – General / 1140 Venice Way ~ Sparks, NV

R. Victory Drywall LLC – Contractor / 2770 Beach River Dr. ~ Reno, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $4,751,205.35.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as submitted.

• Prepared by: Cory Y. Wood

Department: Comptroller     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     6  II



















































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Public Hearing for Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328 Zoning Code
text amendments to amend the language of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16
R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-Family
Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A Agricultural Zone,
Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR Commercial-Residential Zone,
Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and
17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, Section 17.44.030. The proposed amendments
will allow 401 square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special
use permit in the above referenced zoning districts.

• Recommended motion: I [Commissioner], hereby move to close the public hearing for
the Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328, an ordinance amending provisions
of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030
and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and
17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter
17.30 CR Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate
Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone,
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above
referenced zoning districts.

• Prepared by: Kathy Canfield

Department: Planning     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: See staff report and Bill 140 Ord No. 24-328   Mark up and Clean Copy

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

        9



____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of County Commission 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: May 7, 2024  

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, via Zoom 

Staff Contact:  Kathy Canfield 

File: 2024-010 

Applicant: Storey County Planning Department 

Request:  Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ordinance No. 24-328 Zoning Code, an ordinance 
amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 
Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-
Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 
Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 
referenced zoning districts. 

Planning Commission: The Planning Commission heard this request at their April 4, 2024, meeting.  A 
discussion of the background of the smaller home size and previous Planning 
Commission meeting discussions of the topic occurred.  Questions about how a 
special use permit applies and development conditions related to a smaller 
home size were discussed.   One email to the Planning Department and one 
email to the Commissioners was discussed.  There was no public comment at 
the meeting.  The Planning Commission voted 6-0 (one absent) to recommend 
approval of the proposed code language.   

Board of Commissioners: The Board of County Commissioners heard the First Reading of Bill No. 140, 
Ordinance 24-328 at their April 16, 2024, meeting.  Discussion of the proposed 
changes occurred and the Board moved to approve the First Reading of Bill No. 
140, Ordinance 24-328 with a vote of 3-0 in favor of approval. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

1. Background & Analysis

At the February 2, 2021, Board of County Commissioners Meeting, the Board adopted Bill 125,
Ordinance 20-314 that allowed for 401 square foot dwelling size in the 40-acre Estates, Natural
Resources and Forestry zoning districts.  During the discussion in 2021, the Board raised the
question of looking at further dwelling size reductions in other zoning districts in the future.

The 401 square foot dwelling size was decided based on the International Building Code (IBC) that
Storey County has adopted.  Single family dwelling sizes that are 400 square feet or below fall into a
“tiny home” category in the IBC and requires additional codes to be adopted by the County.  To
avoid this process, Storey County agreed to the limit of 401 square feet for the minimum dwelling
size.

There was also the determination that any dwelling has a minimum dimension of 12-feet on any
size.  This requirement was based on concerns that a small dwelling would have the potential of
being easily removed from a site, essentially the ability to remove the “improvements” on a site,
which then has the potential to impact not only zoning code requirements (removing the primary
use but potentially leaving accessory uses on a property) but also a concern for the Community
Development Department and the Assessor’s Office.  Twelve feet was arrived at as a dimension that
would require additional permitting to haul something that large on public streets and highways.

The Planning Commission discussed possible zoning code amendments at their November 2, 2023,
meeting and reducing the dwelling size limitation to other zoning districts was one of several items
that the Planning Commission identified as a potential future amendment.  Discussion of the
housing size included comments related to providing for a more economical construction, being
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood, outside storage on properties and potential
nuisance issues, and property rights to construct what is desired while also following building code.
The result of those discussions was the Planning Commission was open to amending the zoning
code, but to allow for the size to be considered under the special use permit process.  In general, the
findings associated with the special use permit process require a project to be consistent with the
surroundings and fit into the neighborhood.  The special use permit findings (Section 17.03.150.D)
are as follows:

1. Complies with the general purpose, goals, objectives, and standards of the county master plan,
this title, and any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration
pursuant to official notice by the county.

2. The proposal location, size, height, operations, and other significant features will be compatible
with and will not cause substantial negative impact on adjacent land uses, or will perform a
function or provide a service that is essential to the surrounding land uses, community, and
neighborhood.

3. Will result in no substantial or undue adverse effect on adjacent property, the character of the
neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, public improvements, public sites or right-of-way, or
other matters affecting the public health, safety, and general welfare, either as they now exist
or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions
and policies of the county master plan, this title, and any other plans, program, map, or
ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to an official notice, by the county, or other
governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide growth and development.

4. The proposed use in the proposed area will be adequately served by and will impose no undue
burden or any of the improvements, facilities, utilities, or services provided by the county or
other governmental agency having jurisdiction in the county. Where improvements, facilities,
utilities, or services are not available or adequate to service the proposed use in the proposed
location, the special use permit applicant must, as part of the application and as a condition of



3 

approval of the proposed special use permit, be responsible for establishing ability, willingness, 
and binding commitment to provide the improvements, facilities, utilities, infrastructure, and 
services in sufficient time and in a manner consistent with the county master plan, this title, and 
all plans, programs, maps, and ordinances adopted by the county to guide its growth and 
development. The approval of the special use permit must be conditioned upon the 
improvements, facilities, and services being provided and guaranteed by the applicant.   

With the special use permit requirement applicable to the dwelling size in the R1, R2, A, CR, E and 
SPR zones, staff are satisfied the level of review and oversight can be provided to address the 
potential concerns raised with having a smaller single family dwelling size.  The special use permit 
can provide further review to make sure any potential negative qualities can be addressed up front 
and neighbors have a chance to voice any concerns.    

It should be noted that several areas within Storey County are also governed by associations that 
may have their own regulations (for example the Highlands one acre and ten acre areas, Rainbow 
Bend in Lockwood).  These regulations do not over-ride any other requirements these associations 
may have on property within their jurisdictions.   

2. Existing Code and Proposed Code Language

Bill No. 140, Ordinance 24-328 is attached which shows the changes to Chapters 17.16 R1
Residential Zone, 17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, 17.24 Agricultural Zone, 17.30 CR
Commercial-Residential Zone, 17.40 Estate Zone, and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone show
the existing code language and the proposed changes.  The blue italic underline is proposed new
language.  There is no language proposed to be removed.

3. Recommended Motion

In accordance with the recommendation by the Planning Commission and staff, I [Commissioner],
hereby move to approve the Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328, an ordinance amending
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030
and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070;
Chapter 17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR Commercial-
Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050;
and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will
allow 401 square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in
the above referenced zoning districts.



1 

Bill No. 140 

Ordinance No. 24-328 

Summary 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 
R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-

Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 

referenced zoning districts. 

Title 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 
17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 

Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate 
Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning 

Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 
square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use 

permit in the above referenced zoning districts. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 17.16.030 and Section 17.16.040 of Chapter 17.16 (R1 
Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.16.030  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Congregational establishments including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,
horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed 2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

C. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks



2 

of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required. 
D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to

providing one off-street parking space for each sleeping room.
E. Short-term vacation rental of a single-family detached residential dwelling. This

provision does not apply to long-term rental and lease arrangements
F. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Education including elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and
academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial, but not
including student residential accommodations.

4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.16.040  Minimum Floor Area 
No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 2.  Section 17.20.025 and Section 17.20.070 of Chapter 17.20 (R2 Multi-
Family Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.20.025  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Boarding accommodations including dormitories, rooming and boarding
houses, bed-and-breakfast inns, time-shares, and short-term vacation rentals.  A
special use permit is not required for long-term rental and lease arrangements.
Hotels, motels, hostels and other transient lodging uses are prohibited.

B. Congregational uses including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

C. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.



3 

These uses are prohibited for any other use. 
3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers
4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive

trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.
5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm

water drainage, detention, retention and storage.
E. Education facilities that include student residential accommodations.
F. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1 unit

for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area.
G. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,

horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed  2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

H. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

I. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.20.070  Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 3.  Section 17.24.025 and Section 17.24.070 of Chapter 17.24 (A 
Agricultural) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.24.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Wild Animal keeping.
B. Recreation, outdoor passive.
C. Boarding accommodations for laborers and other persons directly associated

with the permitted agricultural use. A principal building is not required for
accessory structures incidental to allowed agriculture uses on the premises;
however, a principal single-family residential dwelling is required for an
accessory dwellings to be approved.

D. Boarding accommodations including bed and breakfast inns, dude ranches,
and other transient lodging associated with an allowed agricultural use.

E. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with



4 

action by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted 
within the zone. 

F. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.24.070  Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 4.  Section 17.30.030 of Chapter 17.30 (CR Commercial Residential) of the 
Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.30.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Buildings and structures exceeding 45 feet in height or less than 25 feet in
width.

B. Recreational vehicle (RV) parks.
C. Regional stores and shopping centers and super regional stores and shopping

centers.
D. Automotive washing and detailing using coin-operated and production line

methods.
E. Automotive services including service and fueling stations, repair, sales, and

rentals.
F. Casinos and gaming establishments (this use does not include accessory gaming

with 15 or less slots/video machines to a primary non-gaming retail
establishment).

G. Golf courses.
H. Fairgrounds, rodeo arenas, competition tracks and arenas, and similar uses.
I. Veterinary Services with outdoor facilities, a minimum of 10 acres is required.
J. Amusement parks.
K. Facilities and uses that include outdoor sets and props for the development and

production of movies, film, television, and similar visual media.
L. Fortune teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry. Uses under this

subsection must comply with the requirements under title 5 Business licenses,
and be located no closer than 1,000 feet from a public or private school,
religious institution, public building or facility, or another permitted fortune
teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry use, and 300 feet from any



5 

E, R, or SPR zone. 
M. Race tracks and arenas involving the use of automobiles, trucks, tractors, and

other motorized vehicles.
N. Facilities for the use of radio-controlled (RC) cars, vehicles, watercraft, and

aircraft.
O. Healthcare facilities including hospital services, medical services, convalescent

services (but not civic convalescent and group care service), continuum of care
facilities for seniors, and group care services.

P. Education facilities which include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

Q. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

R. Animal Boarding and Grooming with outdoor facilities.  A minimum of 10
acres is required.

S. Mini-warehouses and storage facilities for rent, including operable recreational
vehicle, boat, utility trailer, horse trailer, and similar equipment storage.

T. Outdoor storage or maintenance of building materials, vehicles, trailers, and
heavy equipment associated with a commercial building contractor or business
when not directly associated with a construction project on the premises.

U. Open-air markets, flea-markets, and similar outdoor venues for the sale of
goods.  A special use permit is not required for farmers markets featuring the
sale of edible and items made of edible products.

V. Permanent outdoor skateboard parks and related facilities.
W. Display, sale, barter, or trade of items associated with a business outside of a

permanent building, except farmer’s markets pursuant to this chapter and
permitted temporary uses. The sale and display of merchandise and other items,
and business that is conducted on the public right-of-way and between the
public travelled way and the building is prohibited pursuant 17.12 General
provisions.

X. Personal dry cleaning.
Y. Micro-distilleries.
Z. Childcare facilities (in-home child care regulated by Chapter 17.12)
AA. Cemeteries, columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, and funeral

parlors.  
BB. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure. 
CC. Uses involving the outdoor discharge of firearms.
DD. Wild Animal Keeping.
EE. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1

unit for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area (see Section 17.30.020). 
FF. Single-family detached dwellings less than 800 square-feet.  No dwelling shall 

be less than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 
12 feet on any side. 

GG. Equestrian Establishments. 



6 

HH. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with action 
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the 
zone. 

SECTION 5.  Section 17.40.025 and 17.40.050 of Chapter 17.40 (E Estate) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.40.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit. 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
old, but not a commercial kennel. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals exceeding the maximum number
allowed pursuant to section 17.40.020.

C. Wild animal keeping.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff.  Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers.
4. Education including Elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and

academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial. Student
residential and boarding accommodations are prohibited).

5. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

6. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

E. Equestrian Establishments, 10 acre minimum requirement, when accessory to a
primary onsite residence.

F. Animal Boarding and Grooming, 10 acre minimum, when accessory to a primary
onsite residence.

G. Single-Family Dwellings less than 800 square feet in area.

17.40.050 Setback and Minimum Floor Area Requirements 
Unless stated otherwise in this section, the minimum square feet for a residence, and the 
distance between the principal building and the property line must be as shown in the 
following table. Setback requirements for accessory buildings must comply with section 
17.12.045. Setbacks are from the property line except when an encroaching easement 
exists for the purpose of providing a public or private road, but not driveway (see section 
17.12.090 for explanation and illustration). 



7 

Estates Zone 
Minimum Floor Area 

(square-feet) 
Front 

Setback 
Rear 

Setback 
Side 

Setback 
1 bdrm. 2 bdrm. 3 bdrm. 

E-1 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

20 ft. 12 ft. 12 ft. 

E-2.5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-10 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-40 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 30 ft. 
E-I-VCH 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-10-HR 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-40-VR 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

*The residence must have a minimum width dimension of 12-feet on any side, have a
permanent foundation, and comply with all building code regulations.  If the residence
is not constructed onsite and meets the definition of a manufactured home, it must also
comply with all state requirements for construction.

**A special use permit is required for any primary dwelling unit sized less than 800 
square-feet.  The single-family dwelling under this provision must have a minimum width 
of 12-feet on any side, have a permanent foundation and comply with all building code 
regulations.  If the dwelling is not constructed onsite and if it meets the definition of a 
manufactured home, it must also comply with all state requirements for construction of a 
manufactured home. 

SECTION 6.  Section 17.44.030 17.44 (SPR Special Planning Review) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.44.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
A special use permit will be required for following uses or development which is 

determined by the board with action by the planning commission to be 
potentially incompatible or detrimental to the purpose and intent of the SPR 
special planning review zone.  

A. Mining and extraction as regulated by chapter 17.92 Exploration, mining, and
extraction.

B. Milling and processing associated with mining and extraction.
C. Temporary (less than 1 year) concrete and asphalt batch plants when not

incidental to an on-site construction project or when located within 2,500 feet of
a CR, E, R, or SPR zone.

D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to
providing one off-street parking space for each additional 10,000 square feet of
lot area.

E. Education facilities that include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

F. Indoor and outdoor archery clubs and indoor gun club for the sport of shooting



8 

at moving or stationary targets or education related to the use and safety of 
firearms and archery. 

G. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

H. Animal Boarding and Grooming.  Outside facilities require a minimum of 10
acres.

I. Cemeteries, but not columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, or
funeral parlors.

J. Congregational establishments, including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

K. Wild Animal Keeping.
L. Open storage.
M. Bee keeping.
N. Child Care Facilities.
O. Single family dwellings less than 800 square feet. No dwelling shall be less

than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 12
feet on any side.

P. Other similar uses to the above which are determined by the board with action
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the
zone.

Proposed on _____________________________________________, 2024. 

 by Commissioner ________________________________________ 

Passed on _______________________________________________, 2024. 

Vote: Ayes:        Commissioners    _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Nays:           Commissioners  _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Absent:                Commissioners   _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 
       , Chair 

Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County 

This ordinance will become effective on _________________, 2024. 



1 

Bill No. 140 

Ordinance No. 24-328 

Summary 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 
R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-

Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 

referenced zoning districts. 

Title 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 
17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 

Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate 
Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning 

Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 
square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use 

permit in the above referenced zoning districts. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 17.16.030 and Section 17.16.040 of Chapter 17.16 (R1 
Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.16.030  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Congregational establishments including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,
horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed 2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

C. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks



2 

of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required. 
D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to

providing one off-street parking space for each sleeping room.
E. Short-term vacation rental of a single-family detached residential dwelling. This

provision does not apply to long-term rental and lease arrangements.
F. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Education including elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and
academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial, but not
including student residential accommodations.

4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.16.040  Minimum Floor Area 
No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 2.  Section 17.20.025 and Section 17.20.070 of Chapter 17.20 (R2 Multi-
Family Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.20.025  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Boarding accommodations including dormitories, rooming and boarding
houses, bed-and-breakfast inns, time-shares, and short-term vacation rentals.  A
special use permit is not required for long-term rental and lease arrangements.
Hotels, motels, hostels and other transient lodging uses are prohibited.

B. Congregational uses including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

C. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.



3 

These uses are prohibited for any other use. 
3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers
4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive

trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.
5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm

water drainage, detention, retention and storage.
E. Education facilities that include student residential accommodations.
F. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1 unit

for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area.
G. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,

horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed  2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

H. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

I. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.20.070 Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 3.  Section 17.24.025 and Section 17.24.070 of Chapter 17.24 (A 
Agricultural) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.24.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Wild Animal keeping.
B. Recreation, outdoor passive.
C. Boarding accommodations for laborers and other persons directly associated

with the permitted agricultural use. A principal building is not required for
accessory structures incidental to allowed agriculture uses on the premises;
however, a principal single-family residential dwelling is required for an
accessory dwellings to be approved.

D. Boarding accommodations including bed and breakfast inns, dude ranches,
and other transient lodging associated with an allowed agricultural use.

E. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with



4 

action by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted 
within the zone. 

F. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.24.070 Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.   

SECTION 4.  Section 17.30.030 of Chapter 17.30 (CR Commercial Residential) of the 
Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.30.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Buildings and structures exceeding 45 feet in height or less than 25 feet in
width.

B. Recreational vehicle (RV) parks.
C. Regional stores and shopping centers and super regional stores and shopping

centers.
D. Automotive washing and detailing using coin-operated and production line

methods.
E. Automotive services including service and fueling stations, repair, sales, and

rentals.
F. Casinos and gaming establishments (this use does not include accessory gaming

with 15 or less slots/video machines to a primary non-gaming retail
establishment).

G. Golf courses.
H. Fairgrounds, rodeo arenas, competition tracks and arenas, and similar uses.
I. Veterinary Services with outdoor facilities, a minimum of 10 acres is required.
J. Amusement parks.
K. Facilities and uses that include outdoor sets and props for the development and

production of movies, film, television, and similar visual media.
L. Fortune teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry. Uses under this

subsection must comply with the requirements under title 5 Business licenses,
and be located no closer than 1,000 feet from a public or private school,



5 

religious institution, public building or facility, or another permitted fortune 
teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry use, and 300 feet from any 
E, R, or SPR zone. 

M. Race tracks and arenas involving the use of automobiles, trucks, tractors, and
other motorized vehicles.

N. Facilities for the use of radio-controlled (RC) cars, vehicles, watercraft, and
aircraft.

O. Healthcare facilities including hospital services, medical services, convalescent
services (but not civic convalescent and group care service), continuum of care
facilities for seniors, and group care services.

P. Education facilities which include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

Q. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

R. Animal Boarding and Grooming with outdoor facilities.  A minimum of 10
acres is required.

S. Mini-warehouses and storage facilities for rent, including operable recreational
vehicle, boat, utility trailer, horse trailer, and similar equipment storage.

T. Outdoor storage or maintenance of building materials, vehicles, trailers, and
heavy equipment associated with a commercial building contractor or business
when not directly associated with a construction project on the premises.

U. Open-air markets, flea-markets, and similar outdoor venues for the sale of
goods.  A special use permit is not required for farmers markets featuring the
sale of edible and items made of edible products.

V. Permanent outdoor skateboard parks and related facilities.
W. Display, sale, barter, or trade of items associated with a business outside of a

permanent building, except farmer’s markets pursuant to this chapter and
permitted temporary uses. The sale and display of merchandise and other items,
and business that is conducted on the public right-of-way and between the
public travelled way and the building is prohibited pursuant 17.12 General
provisions.

X. Personal dry cleaning.
Y. Micro-distilleries.
Z. Childcare facilities (in-home child care regulated by Chapter 17.12)
AA. Cemeteries, columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, and funeral

parlors.  
BB. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure. 
CC. Uses involving the outdoor discharge of firearms.
DD. Wild Animal Keeping.
EE. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1

unit for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area (see Section 17.30.020). 
FF. Single-family detached dwellings less than 800 square-feet.  No dwelling shall 

be less than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 



6 

12 feet on any side. 
GG. Equestrian Establishments. 
HH. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with action 

by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the 
zone. 

SECTION 5.  Section 17.40.025 and 17.40.050 of Chapter 17.40 (E Estate) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.40.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit. 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
old, but not a commercial kennel. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals exceeding the maximum number
allowed pursuant to section 17.40.020.

C. Wild animal keeping.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff.  Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers.
4. Education including Elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and

academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial. Student
residential and boarding accommodations are prohibited).

5. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

6. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

E. Equestrian Establishments, 10 acre minimum requirement, when accessory to a
primary onsite residence.

F. Animal Boarding and Grooming, 10 acre minimum, when accessory to a primary
onsite residence.

G. Single-Family Dwellings less than 800 square feet in area.

17.40.050 Setback and Minimum Floor Area Requirements 
Unless stated otherwise in this section, the minimum square feet for a residence, and the 
distance between the principal building and the property line must be as shown in the 
following table. Setback requirements for accessory buildings must comply with section 
17.12.045. Setbacks are from the property line except when an encroaching easement 
exists for the purpose of providing a public or private road, but not driveway (see section 
17.12.090 for explanation and illustration). 



7 

Estates Zone 
Minimum Floor Area 

(square-feet) 
Front 

Setback 
Rear 

Setback 
Side 

Setback 
1 bdrm. 2 bdrm. 3 bdrm. 

E-1 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

20 ft. 12 ft. 12 ft. 

E-2.5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-10 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-40 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 30 ft. 
E-I-VCH 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-10-HR 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-40-VR 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

*The residence must have a minimum width dimension of 12-feet on any side, have a
permanent foundation, and comply with all building code regulations.  If the residence
is not constructed onsite and meets the definition of a manufactured home, it must also
comply with all state requirements for construction.

**A special use permit is required for any primary dwelling unit sized less than 800 
square-feet.  The single-family dwelling under this provision must have a minimum 
width of 12-feet on any side, have a permanent foundation and comply with all building 
code regulations.  If the dwelling is not constructed onsite and if it meets the definition of 
a manufactured home, it must also comply with all state requirements for construction of 
a manufactured home. 

SECTION 6.  Section 17.44.030 17.44 (SPR Special Planning Review) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.44.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
A special use permit will be required for following uses or development which is 

determined by the board with action by the planning commission to be 
potentially incompatible or detrimental to the purpose and intent of the SPR 
special planning review zone.  

A. Mining and extraction as regulated by chapter 17.92 Exploration, mining, and
extraction.

B. Milling and processing associated with mining and extraction.
C. Temporary (less than 1 year) concrete and asphalt batch plants when not

incidental to an on-site construction project or when located within 2,500 feet of
a CR, E, R, or SPR zone.

D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to
providing one off-street parking space for each additional 10,000 square feet of
lot area.

E. Education facilities that include student residential and boarding



8 

accommodations. 
F. Indoor and outdoor archery clubs and indoor gun club for the sport of shooting

at moving or stationary targets or education related to the use and safety of
firearms and archery.

G. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

H. Animal Boarding and Grooming.  Outside facilities require a minimum of 10
acres.

I. Cemeteries, but not columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, or
funeral parlors.

J. Congregational establishments, including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

K. Wild Animal Keeping.
L. Open storage.
M. Bee keeping.
N. Child Care Facilities.
O. Single family dwellings less than 800 square feet. No dwelling shall be less than

401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on
any side.

P. Other similar uses to the above which are determined by the board with action
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the
zone.

Proposed on _____________________________________________, 2024. 

 by Commissioner ________________________________________ 

Passed on _______________________________________________, 2024. 

Vote: Ayes:        Commissioners    _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Nays:           Commissioners  _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Absent:                Commissioners   _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 
       , Chair 

Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County 

This ordinance will become effective on _________________, 2024. 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval for Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No.
24-328 Zoning Code text amendments to amend the language of Storey County Code
Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter
17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR
Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, Sections
17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, Section
17.44.030. The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the minimum area of
a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above referenced zoning
districts.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by the Planning
Commission and staff, I [Commissioner], hereby move to approve the Second Reading of
Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code
Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter
17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR
Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, Sections
17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, Section
17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the minimum area of
a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above referenced zoning
districts.

• Prepared by: Kathy Canfield

Department: Planning     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: See staff report and Bill 140 Ord No. 24-328   Mark up and Clean Copy

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

      10



• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of County Commission 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: May 7, 2024  

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, via Zoom 

Staff Contact:  Kathy Canfield 

File: 2024-010 

Applicant: Storey County Planning Department 

Request:  Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ordinance No. 24-328 Zoning Code, an ordinance 
amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 
Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-
Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 
Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 
referenced zoning districts. 

Planning Commission: The Planning Commission heard this request at their April 4, 2024, meeting.  A 
discussion of the background of the smaller home size and previous Planning 
Commission meeting discussions of the topic occurred.  Questions about how a 
special use permit applies and development conditions related to a smaller 
home size were discussed.   One email to the Planning Department and one 
email to the Commissioners was discussed.  There was no public comment at 
the meeting.  The Planning Commission voted 6-0 (one absent) to recommend 
approval of the proposed code language.   

Board of Commissioners: The Board of County Commissioners heard the First Reading of Bill No. 140, 
Ordinance 24-328 at their April 16, 2024, meeting.  Discussion of the proposed 
changes occurred and the Board moved to approve the First Reading of Bill No. 
140, Ordinance 24-328 with a vote of 3-0 in favor of approval. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

1. Background & Analysis

At the February 2, 2021, Board of County Commissioners Meeting, the Board adopted Bill 125,
Ordinance 20-314 that allowed for 401 square foot dwelling size in the 40-acre Estates, Natural
Resources and Forestry zoning districts.  During the discussion in 2021, the Board raised the
question of looking at further dwelling size reductions in other zoning districts in the future.

The 401 square foot dwelling size was decided based on the International Building Code (IBC) that
Storey County has adopted.  Single family dwelling sizes that are 400 square feet or below fall into a
“tiny home” category in the IBC and requires additional codes to be adopted by the County.  To
avoid this process, Storey County agreed to the limit of 401 square feet for the minimum dwelling
size.

There was also the determination that any dwelling has a minimum dimension of 12-feet on any
size.  This requirement was based on concerns that a small dwelling would have the potential of
being easily removed from a site, essentially the ability to remove the “improvements” on a site,
which then has the potential to impact not only zoning code requirements (removing the primary
use but potentially leaving accessory uses on a property) but also a concern for the Community
Development Department and the Assessor’s Office.  Twelve feet was arrived at as a dimension that
would require additional permitting to haul something that large on public streets and highways.

The Planning Commission discussed possible zoning code amendments at their November 2, 2023,
meeting and reducing the dwelling size limitation to other zoning districts was one of several items
that the Planning Commission identified as a potential future amendment.  Discussion of the
housing size included comments related to providing for a more economical construction, being
compatible with the surrounding neighborhood, outside storage on properties and potential
nuisance issues, and property rights to construct what is desired while also following building code.
The result of those discussions was the Planning Commission was open to amending the zoning
code, but to allow for the size to be considered under the special use permit process.  In general, the
findings associated with the special use permit process require a project to be consistent with the
surroundings and fit into the neighborhood.  The special use permit findings (Section 17.03.150.D)
are as follows:

1. Complies with the general purpose, goals, objectives, and standards of the county master plan,
this title, and any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration
pursuant to official notice by the county.

2. The proposal location, size, height, operations, and other significant features will be compatible
with and will not cause substantial negative impact on adjacent land uses, or will perform a
function or provide a service that is essential to the surrounding land uses, community, and
neighborhood.

3. Will result in no substantial or undue adverse effect on adjacent property, the character of the
neighborhood, traffic conditions, parking, public improvements, public sites or right-of-way, or
other matters affecting the public health, safety, and general welfare, either as they now exist
or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions
and policies of the county master plan, this title, and any other plans, program, map, or
ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to an official notice, by the county, or other
governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide growth and development.

4. The proposed use in the proposed area will be adequately served by and will impose no undue
burden or any of the improvements, facilities, utilities, or services provided by the county or
other governmental agency having jurisdiction in the county. Where improvements, facilities,
utilities, or services are not available or adequate to service the proposed use in the proposed
location, the special use permit applicant must, as part of the application and as a condition of



3 

approval of the proposed special use permit, be responsible for establishing ability, willingness, 
and binding commitment to provide the improvements, facilities, utilities, infrastructure, and 
services in sufficient time and in a manner consistent with the county master plan, this title, and 
all plans, programs, maps, and ordinances adopted by the county to guide its growth and 
development. The approval of the special use permit must be conditioned upon the 
improvements, facilities, and services being provided and guaranteed by the applicant.   

With the special use permit requirement applicable to the dwelling size in the R1, R2, A, CR, E and 
SPR zones, staff are satisfied the level of review and oversight can be provided to address the 
potential concerns raised with having a smaller single family dwelling size.  The special use permit 
can provide further review to make sure any potential negative qualities can be addressed up front 
and neighbors have a chance to voice any concerns.    

It should be noted that several areas within Storey County are also governed by associations that 
may have their own regulations (for example the Highlands one acre and ten acre areas, Rainbow 
Bend in Lockwood).  These regulations do not over-ride any other requirements these associations 
may have on property within their jurisdictions.   

2. Existing Code and Proposed Code Language

Bill No. 140, Ordinance 24-328 is attached which shows the changes to Chapters 17.16 R1
Residential Zone, 17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, 17.24 Agricultural Zone, 17.30 CR
Commercial-Residential Zone, 17.40 Estate Zone, and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone show
the existing code language and the proposed changes.  The blue italic underline is proposed new
language.  There is no language proposed to be removed.

3. Recommended Motion

In accordance with the recommendation by the Planning Commission and staff, I [Commissioner],
hereby move to approve the Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328, an ordinance amending
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030
and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070;
Chapter 17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR Commercial-
Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050;
and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will
allow 401 square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in
the above referenced zoning districts.



1 

Bill No. 140 

Ordinance No. 24-328 

Summary 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 
R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-

Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 

referenced zoning districts. 

Title 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 
17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 

Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate 
Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning 

Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 
square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use 

permit in the above referenced zoning districts. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 17.16.030 and Section 17.16.040 of Chapter 17.16 (R1 
Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.16.030  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Congregational establishments including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,
horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed 2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

C. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks



2 

of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required. 
D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to

providing one off-street parking space for each sleeping room.
E. Short-term vacation rental of a single-family detached residential dwelling. This

provision does not apply to long-term rental and lease arrangements
F. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Education including elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and
academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial, but not
including student residential accommodations.

4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.16.040  Minimum Floor Area 
No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 2.  Section 17.20.025 and Section 17.20.070 of Chapter 17.20 (R2 Multi-
Family Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.20.025  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Boarding accommodations including dormitories, rooming and boarding
houses, bed-and-breakfast inns, time-shares, and short-term vacation rentals.  A
special use permit is not required for long-term rental and lease arrangements.
Hotels, motels, hostels and other transient lodging uses are prohibited.

B. Congregational uses including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

C. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.



3 

These uses are prohibited for any other use. 
3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers
4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive

trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.
5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm

water drainage, detention, retention and storage.
E. Education facilities that include student residential accommodations.
F. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1 unit

for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area.
G. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,

horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed  2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

H. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

I. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.20.070  Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 3.  Section 17.24.025 and Section 17.24.070 of Chapter 17.24 (A 
Agricultural) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.24.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Wild Animal keeping.
B. Recreation, outdoor passive.
C. Boarding accommodations for laborers and other persons directly associated

with the permitted agricultural use. A principal building is not required for
accessory structures incidental to allowed agriculture uses on the premises;
however, a principal single-family residential dwelling is required for an
accessory dwellings to be approved.

D. Boarding accommodations including bed and breakfast inns, dude ranches,
and other transient lodging associated with an allowed agricultural use.

E. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with



4 

action by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted 
within the zone. 

F. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.24.070  Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 4.  Section 17.30.030 of Chapter 17.30 (CR Commercial Residential) of the 
Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.30.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Buildings and structures exceeding 45 feet in height or less than 25 feet in
width.

B. Recreational vehicle (RV) parks.
C. Regional stores and shopping centers and super regional stores and shopping

centers.
D. Automotive washing and detailing using coin-operated and production line

methods.
E. Automotive services including service and fueling stations, repair, sales, and

rentals.
F. Casinos and gaming establishments (this use does not include accessory gaming

with 15 or less slots/video machines to a primary non-gaming retail
establishment).

G. Golf courses.
H. Fairgrounds, rodeo arenas, competition tracks and arenas, and similar uses.
I. Veterinary Services with outdoor facilities, a minimum of 10 acres is required.
J. Amusement parks.
K. Facilities and uses that include outdoor sets and props for the development and

production of movies, film, television, and similar visual media.
L. Fortune teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry. Uses under this

subsection must comply with the requirements under title 5 Business licenses,
and be located no closer than 1,000 feet from a public or private school,
religious institution, public building or facility, or another permitted fortune
teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry use, and 300 feet from any



5 

E, R, or SPR zone. 
M. Race tracks and arenas involving the use of automobiles, trucks, tractors, and

other motorized vehicles.
N. Facilities for the use of radio-controlled (RC) cars, vehicles, watercraft, and

aircraft.
O. Healthcare facilities including hospital services, medical services, convalescent

services (but not civic convalescent and group care service), continuum of care
facilities for seniors, and group care services.

P. Education facilities which include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

Q. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

R. Animal Boarding and Grooming with outdoor facilities.  A minimum of 10
acres is required.

S. Mini-warehouses and storage facilities for rent, including operable recreational
vehicle, boat, utility trailer, horse trailer, and similar equipment storage.

T. Outdoor storage or maintenance of building materials, vehicles, trailers, and
heavy equipment associated with a commercial building contractor or business
when not directly associated with a construction project on the premises.

U. Open-air markets, flea-markets, and similar outdoor venues for the sale of
goods.  A special use permit is not required for farmers markets featuring the
sale of edible and items made of edible products.

V. Permanent outdoor skateboard parks and related facilities.
W. Display, sale, barter, or trade of items associated with a business outside of a

permanent building, except farmer’s markets pursuant to this chapter and
permitted temporary uses. The sale and display of merchandise and other items,
and business that is conducted on the public right-of-way and between the
public travelled way and the building is prohibited pursuant 17.12 General
provisions.

X. Personal dry cleaning.
Y. Micro-distilleries.
Z. Childcare facilities (in-home child care regulated by Chapter 17.12)
AA. Cemeteries, columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, and funeral

parlors.  
BB. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure. 
CC. Uses involving the outdoor discharge of firearms.
DD. Wild Animal Keeping.
EE. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1

unit for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area (see Section 17.30.020). 
FF. Single-family detached dwellings less than 800 square-feet.  No dwelling shall 

be less than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 
12 feet on any side. 

GG. Equestrian Establishments. 



6 

HH. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with action 
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the 
zone. 

SECTION 5.  Section 17.40.025 and 17.40.050 of Chapter 17.40 (E Estate) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.40.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit. 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
old, but not a commercial kennel. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals exceeding the maximum number
allowed pursuant to section 17.40.020.

C. Wild animal keeping.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff.  Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers.
4. Education including Elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and

academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial. Student
residential and boarding accommodations are prohibited).

5. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

6. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

E. Equestrian Establishments, 10 acre minimum requirement, when accessory to a
primary onsite residence.

F. Animal Boarding and Grooming, 10 acre minimum, when accessory to a primary
onsite residence.

G. Single-Family Dwellings less than 800 square feet in area.

17.40.050 Setback and Minimum Floor Area Requirements 
Unless stated otherwise in this section, the minimum square feet for a residence, and the 
distance between the principal building and the property line must be as shown in the 
following table. Setback requirements for accessory buildings must comply with section 
17.12.045. Setbacks are from the property line except when an encroaching easement 
exists for the purpose of providing a public or private road, but not driveway (see section 
17.12.090 for explanation and illustration). 



7 

Estates Zone 
Minimum Floor Area 

(square-feet) 
Front 

Setback 
Rear 

Setback 
Side 

Setback 
1 bdrm. 2 bdrm. 3 bdrm. 

E-1 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

20 ft. 12 ft. 12 ft. 

E-2.5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-10 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-40 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 30 ft. 
E-I-VCH 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-10-HR 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-40-VR 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

*The residence must have a minimum width dimension of 12-feet on any side, have a
permanent foundation, and comply with all building code regulations.  If the residence
is not constructed onsite and meets the definition of a manufactured home, it must also
comply with all state requirements for construction.

**A special use permit is required for any primary dwelling unit sized less than 800 
square-feet.  The single-family dwelling under this provision must have a minimum width 
of 12-feet on any side, have a permanent foundation and comply with all building code 
regulations.  If the dwelling is not constructed onsite and if it meets the definition of a 
manufactured home, it must also comply with all state requirements for construction of a 
manufactured home. 

SECTION 6.  Section 17.44.030 17.44 (SPR Special Planning Review) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.44.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
A special use permit will be required for following uses or development which is 

determined by the board with action by the planning commission to be 
potentially incompatible or detrimental to the purpose and intent of the SPR 
special planning review zone.  

A. Mining and extraction as regulated by chapter 17.92 Exploration, mining, and
extraction.

B. Milling and processing associated with mining and extraction.
C. Temporary (less than 1 year) concrete and asphalt batch plants when not

incidental to an on-site construction project or when located within 2,500 feet of
a CR, E, R, or SPR zone.

D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to
providing one off-street parking space for each additional 10,000 square feet of
lot area.

E. Education facilities that include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

F. Indoor and outdoor archery clubs and indoor gun club for the sport of shooting



8 

at moving or stationary targets or education related to the use and safety of 
firearms and archery. 

G. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

H. Animal Boarding and Grooming.  Outside facilities require a minimum of 10
acres.

I. Cemeteries, but not columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, or
funeral parlors.

J. Congregational establishments, including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

K. Wild Animal Keeping.
L. Open storage.
M. Bee keeping.
N. Child Care Facilities.
O. Single family dwellings less than 800 square feet. No dwelling shall be less

than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 12
feet on any side.

P. Other similar uses to the above which are determined by the board with action
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the
zone.

Proposed on _____________________________________________, 2024. 

 by Commissioner ________________________________________ 

Passed on _______________________________________________, 2024. 

Vote: Ayes:        Commissioners    _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Nays:           Commissioners  _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Absent:                Commissioners   _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 
       , Chair 

Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County 

This ordinance will become effective on _________________, 2024. 



1 

Bill No. 140 

Ordinance No. 24-328 

Summary 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 
R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 Multi-

Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 17.24 A 
Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate Zone, 
Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning Review Zone, 
Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 square-feet as the 
minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use permit in the above 

referenced zoning districts. 

Title 

An ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 
17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17.20 R2 

Multi-Family Residential Zone, Sections 17.20.025 and 17.20.070; Chapter 
17.24 A Agricultural Zone, Section 17.24.025 and 17.24.070; Chapter 17.30 CR 

Commercial-Residential Zone, Section 17.30.030; Chapter 17.40 E Estate 
Zone, Sections 17.40.025 and 17.40.050; and 17.44 SPR Special Planning 

Review Zone, Section 17.44.030.  The proposed amendments will allow 401 
square-feet as the minimum area of a single-family dwelling with a special use 

permit in the above referenced zoning districts. 

 The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain as follows: 

SECTION 1. Section 17.16.030 and Section 17.16.040 of Chapter 17.16 (R1 
Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.16.030  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Congregational establishments including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,
horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed 2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

C. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks



2 

of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required. 
D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to

providing one off-street parking space for each sleeping room.
E. Short-term vacation rental of a single-family detached residential dwelling. This

provision does not apply to long-term rental and lease arrangements.
F. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Education including elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and
academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial, but not
including student residential accommodations.

4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.16.040  Minimum Floor Area 
No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 2.  Section 17.20.025 and Section 17.20.070 of Chapter 17.20 (R2 Multi-
Family Residential) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.20.025  Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. Boarding accommodations including dormitories, rooming and boarding
houses, bed-and-breakfast inns, time-shares, and short-term vacation rentals.  A
special use permit is not required for long-term rental and lease arrangements.
Hotels, motels, hostels and other transient lodging uses are prohibited.

B. Congregational uses including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

C. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff. Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.



3 

These uses are prohibited for any other use. 
3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers
4. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive

trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.
5. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm

water drainage, detention, retention and storage.
E. Education facilities that include student residential accommodations.
F. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1 unit

for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area.
G. The keeping of large domestic animals such as sheep, bovine, swine, llamas,

horses, goats, and other similar domestic farm animals under the ownership of
the resident occupant of the lot, provided that any combination of such animals
on any one lot does not exceed  2 for the first 20,000 square feet of lot area.
Additional animals may be allowed at the rate of 1 for each additional 10,000
square feet of lot area. There must be a minimum of 400 square feet per animal
of penned land area, which must be on less than 10 percent slope grade.

H. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

I. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.20.070 Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.       

SECTION 3.  Section 17.24.025 and Section 17.24.070 of Chapter 17.24 (A 
Agricultural) of the Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.24.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Wild Animal keeping.
B. Recreation, outdoor passive.
C. Boarding accommodations for laborers and other persons directly associated

with the permitted agricultural use. A principal building is not required for
accessory structures incidental to allowed agriculture uses on the premises;
however, a principal single-family residential dwelling is required for an
accessory dwellings to be approved.

D. Boarding accommodations including bed and breakfast inns, dude ranches,
and other transient lodging associated with an allowed agricultural use.

E. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with



4 

action by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted 
within the zone. 

F. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

G. Single Family Dwellings less than the area indicated in Section 17.16.040.
Single family dwellings must be no less than 401 square feet in area and have
no less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on any side.

17.24.070 Minimum Floor Area 

No single-family dwelling may have a floor area of less than 800 square feet for a one-
bedroom residence; 1,000 square feet for a two-bedroom residence; and 1,200 square feet 
for a three or more bedroom residence unless a special use permit has been granted for a 
lesser area not less than 401 square-feet.   

SECTION 4.  Section 17.30.030 of Chapter 17.30 (CR Commercial Residential) of the 
Storey County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.30.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
Unless stated otherwise, the following uses may be permitted subject to securing a special 
use permit as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions: 

A. Buildings and structures exceeding 45 feet in height or less than 25 feet in
width.

B. Recreational vehicle (RV) parks.
C. Regional stores and shopping centers and super regional stores and shopping

centers.
D. Automotive washing and detailing using coin-operated and production line

methods.
E. Automotive services including service and fueling stations, repair, sales, and

rentals.
F. Casinos and gaming establishments (this use does not include accessory gaming

with 15 or less slots/video machines to a primary non-gaming retail
establishment).

G. Golf courses.
H. Fairgrounds, rodeo arenas, competition tracks and arenas, and similar uses.
I. Veterinary Services with outdoor facilities, a minimum of 10 acres is required.
J. Amusement parks.
K. Facilities and uses that include outdoor sets and props for the development and

production of movies, film, television, and similar visual media.
L. Fortune teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry. Uses under this

subsection must comply with the requirements under title 5 Business licenses,
and be located no closer than 1,000 feet from a public or private school,



5 

religious institution, public building or facility, or another permitted fortune 
teller, astrology parlor, clairvoyance and palmistry use, and 300 feet from any 
E, R, or SPR zone. 

M. Race tracks and arenas involving the use of automobiles, trucks, tractors, and
other motorized vehicles.

N. Facilities for the use of radio-controlled (RC) cars, vehicles, watercraft, and
aircraft.

O. Healthcare facilities including hospital services, medical services, convalescent
services (but not civic convalescent and group care service), continuum of care
facilities for seniors, and group care services.

P. Education facilities which include student residential and boarding
accommodations.

Q. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

R. Animal Boarding and Grooming with outdoor facilities.  A minimum of 10
acres is required.

S. Mini-warehouses and storage facilities for rent, including operable recreational
vehicle, boat, utility trailer, horse trailer, and similar equipment storage.

T. Outdoor storage or maintenance of building materials, vehicles, trailers, and
heavy equipment associated with a commercial building contractor or business
when not directly associated with a construction project on the premises.

U. Open-air markets, flea-markets, and similar outdoor venues for the sale of
goods.  A special use permit is not required for farmers markets featuring the
sale of edible and items made of edible products.

V. Permanent outdoor skateboard parks and related facilities.
W. Display, sale, barter, or trade of items associated with a business outside of a

permanent building, except farmer’s markets pursuant to this chapter and
permitted temporary uses. The sale and display of merchandise and other items,
and business that is conducted on the public right-of-way and between the
public travelled way and the building is prohibited pursuant 17.12 General
provisions.

X. Personal dry cleaning.
Y. Micro-distilleries.
Z. Childcare facilities (in-home child care regulated by Chapter 17.12)
AA. Cemeteries, columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, and funeral

parlors.  
BB. Temporary real-estate tract offices not located within a permanent structure. 
CC. Uses involving the outdoor discharge of firearms.
DD. Wild Animal Keeping.
EE. Multi-family and attached single-family dwellings with density exceeding 1

unit for every 2,000 square feet of gross lot area (see Section 17.30.020). 
FF. Single-family detached dwellings less than 800 square-feet.  No dwelling shall 

be less than 401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 



6 

12 feet on any side. 
GG. Equestrian Establishments. 
HH. Other uses similar to the above which are determined by the board with action 

by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the 
zone. 

SECTION 5.  Section 17.40.025 and 17.40.050 of Chapter 17.40 (E Estate) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.40.025 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit. 
The following additional uses may be permitted subject to securing a special use permit 
as provided for in chapter 17.03 Administrative provisions. 

A. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
old, but not a commercial kennel. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

B. The keeping of large domestic animals exceeding the maximum number
allowed pursuant to section 17.40.020.

C. Wild animal keeping.
D. Civic uses including:

1. Public facilities and offices for fire, emergency services, and sheriff.  Jails are
prohibited.

2. Helipads and heliports for use only by medical evacuation transport services.
These uses are prohibited for any other purpose.

3. Libraries, governmental offices, post offices, and community centers.
4. Education including Elementary, middle, and high (K-12) schools and

academies, colleges and higher education, technical and vocational
education, apprentice training, whether public, private, or parochial. Student
residential and boarding accommodations are prohibited).

5. Picnicking areas, parks, dog parks, walking and bicycle trails, interpretive
trails, restroom facilities, and information kiosks.

6. Public utility and transmission substations, water storage facilities and storm
water drainage, detention, retention and storage.

E. Equestrian Establishments, 10 acre minimum requirement, when accessory to a
primary onsite residence.

F. Animal Boarding and Grooming, 10 acre minimum, when accessory to a primary
onsite residence.

G. Single-Family Dwellings less than 800 square feet in area.

17.40.050 Setback and Minimum Floor Area Requirements 
Unless stated otherwise in this section, the minimum square feet for a residence, and the 
distance between the principal building and the property line must be as shown in the 
following table. Setback requirements for accessory buildings must comply with section 
17.12.045. Setbacks are from the property line except when an encroaching easement 
exists for the purpose of providing a public or private road, but not driveway (see section 
17.12.090 for explanation and illustration). 



7 

Estates Zone 
Minimum Floor Area 

(square-feet) 
Front 

Setback 
Rear 

Setback 
Side 

Setback 
1 bdrm. 2 bdrm. 3 bdrm. 

E-1 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

20 ft. 12 ft. 12 ft. 

E-2.5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-5 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-10 800 
401** 

1,000 
401** 

1,200 
401** 

30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

E-40 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 30 ft. 
E-I-VCH 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-10-HR 1,200 1,200 1,200 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 
E-40-VR 401* 401* 401* 30 ft. 40 ft. 15 ft. 

*The residence must have a minimum width dimension of 12-feet on any side, have a
permanent foundation, and comply with all building code regulations.  If the residence
is not constructed onsite and meets the definition of a manufactured home, it must also
comply with all state requirements for construction.

**A special use permit is required for any primary dwelling unit sized less than 800 
square-feet.  The single-family dwelling under this provision must have a minimum 
width of 12-feet on any side, have a permanent foundation and comply with all building 
code regulations.  If the dwelling is not constructed onsite and if it meets the definition of 
a manufactured home, it must also comply with all state requirements for construction of 
a manufactured home. 

SECTION 6.  Section 17.44.030 17.44 (SPR Special Planning Review) of the Storey 
County Code is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

17.44.030 Uses Subject to Special Use Permit 
A special use permit will be required for following uses or development which is 

determined by the board with action by the planning commission to be 
potentially incompatible or detrimental to the purpose and intent of the SPR 
special planning review zone.  

A. Mining and extraction as regulated by chapter 17.92 Exploration, mining, and
extraction.

B. Milling and processing associated with mining and extraction.
C. Temporary (less than 1 year) concrete and asphalt batch plants when not

incidental to an on-site construction project or when located within 2,500 feet of
a CR, E, R, or SPR zone.

D. Bed and breakfast inns offering accommodations for up to 8 guests, subject to
providing one off-street parking space for each additional 10,000 square feet of
lot area.

E. Education facilities that include student residential and boarding



8 

accommodations. 
F. Indoor and outdoor archery clubs and indoor gun club for the sport of shooting

at moving or stationary targets or education related to the use and safety of
firearms and archery.

G. The keeping of 5 or more dogs or 3 or more pot-belly pigs more than 12 weeks
of age. A minimum of 10 acres is required.

H. Animal Boarding and Grooming.  Outside facilities require a minimum of 10
acres.

I. Cemeteries, but not columbariums, crematories, mausoleums, mortuaries, or
funeral parlors.

J. Congregational establishments, including religious institutions, fraternal lodges,
recreational and social clubs, labor halls, service clubs and facilities for other
private clubs.

K. Wild Animal Keeping.
L. Open storage.
M. Bee keeping.
N. Child Care Facilities.
O. Single family dwellings less than 800 square feet. No dwelling shall be less than

401 square feet in area and have less than a minimum dimension of 12 feet on
any side.

P. Other similar uses to the above which are determined by the board with action
by the planning commission to be consistent with the uses permitted within the
zone.

Proposed on _____________________________________________, 2024. 

 by Commissioner ________________________________________ 

Passed on _______________________________________________, 2024. 

Vote: Ayes:        Commissioners    _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Nays:           Commissioners  _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

Absent:                Commissioners   _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 
       , Chair 

Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 
_____________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County 

This ordinance will become effective on _________________, 2024. 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Storey County FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.

• Recommended motion: Discussion ONLY

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department: Comptroller     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: As we finalize the Storey County FY25 budget the changes between the
Tentative and Final budgets amount to approximately 3% increase in revenues and a
reduction in expenses of approximately -4%, and an increase in Transfers out of
approximately 49%. This brings the ending fund balance to approximately $9,500,000 or
a reduction of approximately 36%. The expense reduction is primarily due to the lower
than estimated health insurance increase from 15% to 10%. The increase in transfers out
is due to the amount of funds necessary to carry out the CIP projects in the Capital and
Roads Funds.  The County’s other funds have small changes to bring in line with the CIP.

• Final Approval for the FY25 Storey County Final Budget will be during the May 21,
2024, Board of Commissioner’s meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      11

















































































































































































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 Mins

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Approval of modification and extension of 2023-2024 Collective Bargaining
Agreement between Storey County (Employer) and the Storey County Sheriff's Office
Employees' Association/Nevada Association of Police and Sheriff's Officers (NAPSO).

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff and the
terntative agreement between Storey County (Employer) and the Storey County Sheriff's
OFfice Employees' Association/Nevada Association of Police and Sheriff's Officers
(Union), I [Commissioner] motion to approve the successor 2024-2027 collactive
bargaining agreement between the parties.

• Prepared by: Brandie Lopez

Department: HR     Contact Number: 775-847-0968

• Staff Summary: Pursuant to NRS 288 and the bargaining agreements between Storey
County (Employer) and the Storey County Sheriff's Office Employees' Association
NAPSO Local 9110 (Union), the existing 2023-2024 bargaining agreement is proposed
by management to the Board of Commissioners be modified as tentatively agreed
between the parties.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

       12



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Page 1 of 42

20243 – 20274 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey 
County

AGREEMEN'T 

BETWEEN

STOREY COUNTY, 

NEVADA AND

STOREY COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE EMPLOYEES'
ASSOCIATION/NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF POLICE &

SHERIFF'S OFFICERS (NAPSO)

JULY 1, 2024MARCH 27, 2023 - JUNE 30, 20274



Page 2 of 42

20234 – 20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is made and entered into at Virginia City. Nevada, pursuant to the provisions 
of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by and between the County of Storey, Nevada, a County 
government, hereinafter referred to as the Employer or County, and the Storey County Sheriff’s 
Office Employees’ Association/Nevada Association of Police & Sheriff’s Officers (NAPSO), 
hereinafter referred to as the Union or Association.

It is the purpose of this Agreement to achieve and maintain harmonious relations between the 
Employer and the Union, to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustments or differences 
which may arise and to provide proper standards of wages, hours, and other conditions of 
employment.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 3 of 42

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PREAMBLE…………………………………………………………………………….…2
DEFINITIONS…………………………………………………………………………….4
ARTICLE 1. EFFECTED PARTIES…………………………………………………5
ARTICLE 2. RECOGNITION………………………………………………………..6
ARTICLE 3. NO-STRIKE CLAUSE…………………………………………………6
ARTICLE 4. RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT………………………………………...6
ARTICLE 5. NON-DISCRIMINATION……………………………………………..6
ARTICLE 6. EMPLOYEE REPENTATION 
REPRESENTATIVES………………………………………....7
ARTICLE 7. COMPENSATION PRACTICES………………………………………7
ARTICLE 8. OVERTIME…………………………………………………………...13
ARTICLE 9. CALL-BACK PAY……………………………………………………14
ARTICLE 10. HOLIDAYS…………………………………………………………...14
ARTICLE 10A MANDATORY DATES OF WORK
ARTICLE 11. VACATION………………………………………………………...…15
ARTICLE 12. SICK LEAVE………………………………………………………….16
ARTICLE 13. GROUP BENEFITS INSURANCE…………………………………...17
ARTICLE 14. RETIREMENT………………………………………………………...18
ARTICLE 15. UNIFORMS…………………………………………………………...18
ARTICLE 16. LEAVES OF ABSENCES………………………………………….…20
ARTICLE 17. LAYOFF PROCEDURES…………………………….…………….…21
ARTICLE 18. CHANGE OF ASSIGNMENT AND JOB VACANCIES………….…23
ARTICLE 19. DISCIPLINARY ACTION……………………………………………23
ARTICLE 20. GRIEVANCE/ARBITRATION 
PROCEDURES………………….….26
ARTICLE 21.

MISCELLANEOUS……………………………………………….…..29
ARTICLE 22. CATASTROPHIC 
LEAVE…………………………………….……...32
ARTICLE 23. SERVICE CONNECTED 
DISABILITY……………….……………..34
ARTICLE 24. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS…………………………….……………..35
ARTICLE 25. PERSONNEL PRACTICES………………………….……………….35
ARTICLE 26. DRUG AND ALCOHOL FREE 
WORKPLACE………………….…………35
ARTICLE 27. SAVINGS CLAUSE………………………………………….……….36
ARTICLE 28. ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT PROCEDURE………….……….36
ARTICLE 29 REOPENER
SIGNATURE PAGE……………………………………………………………………..37



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 4 of 42

APPENDIXCES A WAGE 
CHART………………………………………………….…...38

DEFINITIONS

Anniversary Date:  The date in which the employee starts work as indicated in-writing in an offer letter 
of employment, is reclassified or promoted to a new job classification, or less than part-time or regular 
part-time employee becomes a full-time employee.  The date on which an employee is demoted to a 
lower pay range, reassigned, or transferred to alternative positions where their talents or skills may be 
best utilized to their own or the organization’s benefit, or where they are better able to perform the job 
in accordance with required standards, is not an Anniversary Date.

Base Rate of Pay:  The amount of pay the Employee is designated to receive within the salary range 
for the Employee’s job classification, excluding any additional types of pay.

Days:  Shall mean Storey County working days – Monday through Friday, excluding holidays unless 
otherwise stated.

Employee:  An Employee in the bargaining unit who has successfully completed his/her probationary 
period or any extended probationary period and has been retained to the employment of Storey County 
Sheriff’s Offices.

Employee’s Health File:  A separate confidential file which is maintained in the Human Resources 
Division and which contains only health-related matters, i.e., Workers’ Compensation information, 
physical examination results, etc.

Major Fraction:  Fifteen (15) minute intervals of time.

Part Time Employee:  Part-time employees are defined as those who work a minimal of twenty (20) 
hours but less that forty (40) hours per week on a regularly recurring basis.  Part-time employees are 
eligible for benefits on a pro-rated basis.

Probationary Employee:  An employee who is undergoing a working evaluation period during which 
h/she is required to demonstrate his/her ability to carry out the duties of the position to which hired.

a. The new hire probation period pursuant to this agreement is 12 months.
b. Newly hired probationary employees are employed “at-will” and are excluded from the

coverage of this agreement.  They may be laid-off or discharged from employment during
this period for any reason with or without cause.  After successfully completing the new
hire probationary period, the employee shall be deemed to be a regular employee and
subject to this agreement and shall acquire seniority from his/her first date of hire.

c. A probationary employee who transfers laterally within the same classification (e.g.,
Admin. II in one department to Admin. II in another department) must serve the remainder
of the new-hire probationary period assigned to him/her upon hire.

d. A regular employee who is promoted to a position in a higher classification shall serve a
“trial period” of 12 months in the new position.  A probationary employee who is promoted
to a position in a higher classification shall serve a “trial period” of 12 months in the new
position and must concurrently complete the remainder of his/her new hire probation



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 5 of 42

period.  During the “trial period”, the regular employee is not considered probationary; 
however, regular employees and probationary employees completing the remainder of their 
probationary period must demonstrate satisfactory ability to carry out the duties of the 
position to which promoted.  Unless the promoted employee is dismissed from employment 
for cause, the employee who failed the “trail period” in the new position will be restored to 
his/her previous classification or an equivalent classification if the previously position is 
unavailable.

e. An employee who is demoted to a lower classification is not required to serve a “trial
period” for that position.

f. An employee who changes from working part-time to regular full-time within the same
classification shall have his/her new hire probationary period adjusted to credit actual hours
worked over the past 12 months with Storey County in said classification, up to the
maximum of 1040 hours (6 months), toward completion of the new hire probation period.

Regular Rate of Pay:  The Employee’s base rate of pay plus other additional pay for which the 
Employee’s specific assignment may entitle him/her.

Regularly Scheduled Shift:  The shift created by the department that is the same schedule for at least 
30 days.

Seniority:  Seniority is determined by the total consecutive time spent in the current job 
classification.  If seniority is otherwise equal, a choice must be made on the total time 
spent with the Sheriff’s Office, second by total time spent with the County. and third by 
lot.  In computing time for purposes of determining seniority, only time spent during 
current continuous County service will be counted other than a rehire as provided in 
Article 7. Leave without pay over thirty (30) days is not counted in seniority calculations. 
Part-time employment must be prorated to its full-time equivalent. Time spent in other 
County departments or as a County volunteer and/or reserve is specifically excluded in 
computing time for purposes of determining seniority.  

Sheriff:  The Sheriff or his/her designee.

ARTICLE 1: EFFECTIVE DATE, PARTIES

1. This Agreement shall be in full-force and effect July 1, 2024March 27, 2023, through June 30,
20274.  If either party desires to make a change, the party shall notify the other party in writing
of the Article and/or Section or that Article desired to be negotiated.

2. Pursuant to NRS 288.150, this Agreement or any provisions herein may be automatically reopened
for negotiations upon written request by the Employer during periods of fiscal emergency.

3. Notification of desire to negotiate shall be done in accordance with NRS 288.

4. The parties shall promptly commence negotiations.  If the parties cannot reach agreement
either party may submit the dispute to an impartial fact finder at any time for his/her findings
in accordance with NRS 288.  The fact finder shall make recommendations of the unresolved
issues.

5. If the parties have not reached an agreement within ten (10) workdays after the fact finder’s report
is submitted, all issues remaining in dispute shall be submitted to an arbitrator.  The arbitrator shall,
within ten (10) workdays after the final offers were submitted, accept one of the written statements,
and shall report the decision to the parties.

6. The impartial fact finder and the binding arbitrator shall be from the American Arbitration



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 6 of 42

Association (AAA) and/or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS).  The Union 
and the County agree to solicit a list of seven (7) professional neutrals with public sector 
experience from the AAA or FMCS and alternately strike names from such list until one name 
remains.  That remaining person so selected shall serve as the arbitrator.  For the first arbitration, 
the party to strike first shall be determined by lot. Thereafter, the party to strike first shall alternate 
between the parties.  All hearings shall be conducted according to AAA or FMCS rules.

7. In the event that future agreements are not reached prior to July 1 of that year, all awards rendered
by the final binding arbitrator shall be retroactive to July 1 of the year in which negotiations
commenced.

ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION

1. The Union is hereby recognized as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative for the
purpose of establishing wages, hours, and conditions of employment pursuant to the provisions of
NRS 288.010 et seq., for all Employees in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement, which
include all full-time or part-time positions in the following classifications:

a. Deputy Sheriff

b. Corporal

c. Sergeant

2. Representatives of the Union and its affiliates will be permitted to transact Union business on County
property, provided that this does not disrupt normal work functions.  In accordance with NRS 288,
the Employer may require Union business to be conducted during non-work time, such as before
work and after work, during breaks, and/or lunchtime.  Union business may only be conducted in
common areas and/or designated Employee break areas.  Designated representative of the Union shall
be allowed to receive telephone calls or other communique concerning Union business at any time
during working hours. The Union shall have the right to use the interoffice mail for Union business.
County email may be used internally to conduct Union business,. but shall be limited to all parties to
this Agreement and subject to established County policies.

3. The Union may post notices involving Union business in the location(s) and manner(s) as mutually
agreed upon.  All items to be posted on the bulletin boards are subject to review by the Sheriff.

4. The Union acknowledges and agrees that the Union shall be solely responsible for the opening,
closing, and securing of County building used by the Union for Union meetings.  The Union
acknowledges and agrees that the Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Employer harmless
for any damages incurred and against any claims made or actions initiated against the Employer as a
result of the Union's use of County buildings for Union meetings.

ARTICLE 3: NO STRIKE CLAUSE

1. The Union agrees not to and will not promote, sponsor, or engage in, against County any strike,
slowdown, interruption of operation, work stoppage, absence from work upon any pretext or
excuse not founded in fact, or any intentional interruption of the business of the County,
regardless of the reason for so doing, and will use all reasonable efforts to induce all
Employees covered by this Agreement to comply with this pledge.

ARTICLE 4: RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT

1. County, Sheriff, and Commissioners retain, and do not waive in any respect, all rights conferred
upon them, jointly and severally, by NRS Chapter 288, any and all other provisions of the



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 7 of 42

Nevada Revised Statutes, and relevant case law.

ARTICLE 5: NON-DISCRIMINATION

1. Employer and Union agree to comply with all applicable laws prohibiting discrimination in
employment including Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, the Immigration
Reform and Control Act of 1986, the Americans with Disabilities Act of I 990, as amended, the
applicable Nevada Revised Statutes on Equal Employment Opportunity (NRS 613) and any other
applicable federal, state, and local statutory provisions.

ARTICLE 6: EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES

1. The County recognizes and agrees to deal with representatives of the Union on all matters within
the scope of bargaining and pursuant to the provisions of NRS 288, so long as the subject matter
mailer does not impinge upon the County's management rights provided by NRS 288.

2. Reasonable release time for Employee representatives shall be limited to (1) attending County
meetings, including negotiations, which have a direct impact on the Union; (2) investigating,
processing or attending meetings in accordance with the provisions of the grievance-arbitration
procedures of the Agreement; or (3) meetings called by the County for information exchange
and other conditions designated by the County concerning the interpretation or application of the
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

3. If such Union business or representation must be conducted during an Employee representative's
regular work shift, the County shall, upon advance approval of the Sheriff or his/her designee,
release the Employee to conduct Union affairs on County time.

4. The Sheriff shall not unreasonably withhold approval of requests for release time pursuant to this
Article.

5. The County authorized payment as outlined above will be granted at the applicable straight time
rate, provided the time spent is a part of the Employee’s scheduled workday.

ARTICLE 7: COMPENSATION PRACTICES

Employees will receive Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) to their base pay on the first full pay period 
of the fiscal year, to be effective:

0% for the first year of the contract (2024-2025)

3% for the second year of the contract (2025-2026)

2% for the third year of the contract (2026-2027)

These increases will be effective on the first full pay period in July.

If there is a PERS increase during the term of this contract said increase will be shared equally between 
union eligible employees in accordance with NRS 286.421 (3) (a) (1).  The union eligible employee’s 
portion will be covered by reducing agreed upon COLA increase by 50% of the PERS increase.

The pay chart for Corporal and Sergeant is being expanded to address compaction issues as well as to 
provide competitive pay for comparable positions in local counties.  Effective the first full pay period in 
July 2024, Corporals and Sergeants will move to the step closest to their current pay in the new chart as 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 8 of 42

provided below.  Their anniversary date will not change.  If the closest step is less than $1,000 higher than 
the employee’s current pay the employee will move to that step (example 1).  If the closest step is $1,000 
or more, above the employees current pay the employee will move to the next lower step.  If that step 
provides pay that is lower than the employee currently receives the employee will be Y-rated at their 
current pay until their next merit increase (example 2).

For purposes of this contract Y-rate is defined as an employee being paid between steps of the pay chart. 
The employee will continue to be Y-rated until they move to the next step on their anniversary date.

Example 1:  Sergeant is step 09, $106,615.  Sergeant would move to step 6 on new chart at $107,248.

Example 2:  Sergeant is step 10, $112,479.  Sergeant would move to step 7 on new chart, $112,074 but 
would have their pay Y-rated at $112,479 until their merit increase and would then move to step 8 at 
$117,118.

1. Wages: Biweekly wages: All Employees will be paid on each biweekly Friday,. with wages
computed through the preceding Sunday.

2. Wages and Wage Adjustments: Employees will receive hourly wages and yearly
adjustments as shown in Appendix A of this Agreement. Merit increases will be provided as
described in this Article.

Merit Increases: A merit increase of one step in the wage range for the Employee's job class will be granted 
to an Employee upon completion of each year in which the Employee receives a satisfactory evaluation 
score until the Employee reaches the top of the wage range.  If the Employee has not been evaluated within 
thirty (30) calendar day following his/her Anniversary date, merit will be granted retroactive to the 
Anniversary date.

Employees who reach step ten (10) of the 20240·20273 Appendix A, are capped and may advance no further.

3. Promotions:

a. A Deputy who is promoted to Corporal must move to the next closest step from his/her former
position,. but must receive no less than a 5 percent increase in base pay.  A Corporal promoted to
Sergeant must move to the next closest step from his/her former position but must receive no less
than a 5 percent increase in base pay.  A Deputy or Corporal who is promoted to Sergeant will
move to the next closest step from his/her former position but must receive no less than a 10
percent increase in base pay.  Ensuring that the promoted Employee receives no less than the stated
increase in base pay is accomplished by moving him/her to the next nearest step which provides
the required increase, provided the employee pay may not exceed step 10 of the pay schedule.

b. All promotions within the Bargaining Unit shall be filled by candidates who meet the minimum
requirements of the position that are established by the Employer.

c. Notice of promotions to vacant positions within the Bargaining Unit shall be posted on bulletin
boards within the Department for a period of not less than ten (10) working days prior to the last
date for application or the date scheduled for testing,. whichever is earlier. Notice shall contain
the following information or indicate where the information may be obtained:

i. Title and Job Description of Position;

ii. All eligibility requirements including education, employment, training, and
experience criteria. and whether equivalent factors will be recognized;

iii. If there will be competitive testing and the date, time, and place of such testing;



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 9 of 42

iv. The nature and scope of test subject matter;

v. Whether the test will consist of written, oral, and/or physical demonstration
components.

4.Salary and Step Upon Hire: Applicants hired into a position represented by this 
Agreement will be placed at step 1  in the salary range chart.  The Sheriff may approve an 
applicant to be hired up to step 10 if it is determined that the applicant has extensive 
experience comparable to the duties assigned.  Prior to approving an accelerated hiring step, 
the Sheriff must ensure that there are budgeted funds available and there will be no 
disparate impact to current employees in the bargaining unit.

5.Rehire:  Regular employees, including those serving a trial period, who voluntarily
terminate employment may be considered for rehire:

a) Without undergoing any recruitment or examination (not including probationary
period) within 2 years of the effective date of termination.

b) The rehire must be to a position in the same or comparable class.
c) The decision to rehire is at the sole discretion of the Sheriff.
d) The employee may be rehired at the step they held at the time of termination.
e) Upon rehire, the employee shall be required to serve a new probationary period.
f) No credit for former employment may be granted in determining eligibility for leave

or other benefits.
a) Seniority may be continued (not counting the period of time the employee was not

employed by Storey County) provided the employee is rehired into the same job 
classification.  The employee’s new anniversary date shall be the date of rehire.

4. Shift Differential: An Employee shall receive Shift Differential Pay, in addition to Base Pay on all
regularly scheduled hours worked in the manner described in subsections (a) and (b) below.  Shift Differential
Pay will be included in regular rate of pay for the purposes of calculating overtime.

a. Swing shift – One dollar seventy five fifty cents ($1.50 1.75) per hour for all hours worked on Swing
shift.

i. Swing Shift is a scheduled regular or scheduled overtime shift which must include the entire hour
of 1900-2000 hours.

b. Graveyard shift –Two dollars One dollar seventy-five cents ($2.00 $1.75) per hour for all hours
worked on Graveyard shift.

i. Graveyard shift is a scheduled regular or scheduled overtime shift which must include the entire
hour of 0100-0200 hours.

c. Overtime worked within shift differential period counts as time worked for determining eligibility
pay.

d. No shift differential pay is provided during times the employee is absent from work while taking
sick or annual leave, holiday not worked leave or other leave with or without pay, even though the
employee during those times may be assigned to a shift that qualifies for the differential.  No shift
differential will be paid for standby hours.

5. Acting Pay: An Employee who is specifically assigned by the Sheriff to work in an acting capacity
in a classification with a higher wage range for a period of more than five (5) consecutive days
actually worked shall receive a five percent (5%) differential added to his/her hourly wage for time
actually worked during the remainder of the assignment.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 10 of 42

6. Leave for Civic Duty:

Temporary Leave at full wages will be provided to the employee for jury duty, court appearances,
and administrative proceedings arising out of the employee's employment with the District County
and for selective service examinations.  An employee who is subpoenaed or otherwise required to
appear in court or at administrative proceedings arising out of his/her employment with the County,
and which appearances occur outside his/her regularly scheduled shift, shall be paid one and one-
half (1.5) his/her regular rate of pay for the time spent at such appearances. is entitled to a minimum
of three (3) hours of overtime if the proceedings are three (3) hours or less in length of time.  If the
court proceedings last more than three (3) hours, then the employee is entitled to overtime for the
actual length of time spent at the proceedings.  The employee is only entitled to overtime for the
hours of the proceedings which fall outside the employee’s normal scheduled work hours.  If the
subpoena is cancelled or the order to testify is rescinded prior to 1700 hours the day before the court
appearance or administrative proceeding, there shall be no entitlement to overtime pursuant to any
provision of this agreement.  Notice of cancellation may be in writing, by telephone, in person or by
message left on the employee’s personal phone or other electronic means.  In order to be eligible for
this benefit, the employee must have called or contacted the Storey County District Attorney’s Office
twenty- four (24) hours prior to the scheduled court appearance.

In accordance with NRS 6.190. a person summoned to appear for jury duty, the employer and
employee, agent or offer to the employer shall not, as a consequence of the person’s service as a juror or
prospective juror:

1. Require the person to use sick or annual leave; or

2. Require the person to work;

a. Within 8 hours before the time at which the person is to appear to jury duty; or

b. If the employee's service has lasted for 4 hours or more on the day of his/her appearance
in a jury duty, including the person's travel time to and from the place where court is
held, between 5:00 p.m. on the day of his/her appearance for jury duty and 3:00 a.m.
the following day.

The employee shall claim any jury, witness, or other fee to which s/he may be entitled by 
reason of the appearances described above and pay such fees, except travel milage and expense 
reimbursement that was not covered by the employer, to the Storey County Treasurer within 5 
working days receipt, to be deposited by the applicable fund of the County.
Annual leave may be taken by the employee for court appearances or administrative 
proceedings, not related to employment with the District and not related to jury duty, in which 
the employee is a party or a witness.

An employee shall not receive pay from the employer for missed work time associated with 
court appearances in matters to which the employee is a party or is to serve as a witness for a 
party who has filed an action against an employer. The employee may, however, choose to use 
his/her annual leave.

7. Standby Status:

a. An Employee is in standby status when s/he is:

i. Directed to remain available for notification to work during specified hours;
ii. Prepared to work if the need arises; and

iii. Able to report to work within forty (40) minutes.

b. An Employee is entitled to receive additional pay of $2.00 for every hour s/he is



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 11 of 42

in Standby status or $3.00 for every hours/he is in Standby status on a Holiday.Those 
employees who have been directed by the Sheriff or designee to Standby Duty on other 
than normal work schedule during a given week shall be entitled to standby pay at the rate 
of twelve and one half percent (12.5%) hourly pay of the employee’s current hourly rate 
for the actual time on Standby.

c. When an Employee begins the performance of his/her regular duties after
receiving notice to work, s/he ceases to be on Standby status and qualifies for straight time
or Overtime pay, whichever is applicable, for the actual time worked.  Upon completion of
the work, s/he returns to Standby status for the remainder of the time s/he has been
directed to be available to work.

8. Responsibility Pay:  Deputies assigned to a responsibility pay position shall receive an
additional five percent (5%) of his/her base pay.  An assignment under this section is not a 
promotion.  Any assignment or recission of assignment is solely at the discretion of the 
Sheriff and is not subject to appeal through the grievance process.  Responsibility pay 
positions include:

a. School Resource Officer
b. Joining Forces Manager
c. Canine (K9) Officer
d. Investigations Division
e. Field Training Officer
d. Field Training Officer Pay: Any Employee who is designated by the Sheriff

to perform the duties of a training officer as a Field Training Officer (FTO)
shall receive an additional 5 percent of his/her base pay per hour for all hours
actually spent functioning as an FTO.  The Employee is determined to be
functioning as an FTO when s/he is assigned to and actively engaged in
training another employee to perform specific duties applicable to the job and
is recording the progress of that trainee for reporting to the Sheriff or his/her
designee (e.g., completion of a daily observation report).  The Sheriff or
his/her designee shall have the discretion to make the FTO assignment and to
remove someone from such assignment.

An employee is only entitled to one +5% for responsibility pay regardless of the number of 
specialty assignments they may have.  

8.9.Incentive Pay:

a. Employees will be granted incentive pay as follows:

Incentive Category (Paid Annually)



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 12 of 42

Degrees:
Master’s Degree -      $2,0001,800
Bachelor's Degree - $1,6001,400
Associate degree -   $1,2001,000
The degree must benefit the Storey County Sheriff’s Office.  Acceptable degrees include:  Business 
Administration, Criminal Justice, Public Administration, Psychology, Sociology, Political Science, 
Administration of Justice or related field approved by the Sheriff.
POST Certifications:
Advanced POST (earned prior to October 29. 2013)      - $1,2001,100
Advanced POST (earned on or after October 29. 2013)        - $500
Intermediate POST (earned prior to October 29, 2013)       - $600
Intermediate POST (earned on or after October 29.2013) - $350
Specialized Training:

$1,200 for one of the following sub-categories:
1) Firearms Instructor
2) Weaponless Defense Instructor
3) Impact Weapon / Taser Instructor
4) Drug Recognition Expert*
5) Bilingual Pay**
6) Any other specialized training approved by the Sheriff.

*Drug Recognition Expert and Bilingual Incentive pay shall be granted at the discretion of the
Sheriff
**Fluent Spanish and American Sign Language shall be the only eligible second languages
considered for specialized training incentive pay.
Physical Fitness Test Incentive:
Annual* - $1,2001,000.00

*For Employees who pass the POST physical fitness test administered annually by the Store County
Sheriff’s Office

b. Employees are eligible to receive incentive pay for all three (3) categories.  Employees are eligible to
receive pay for only one sub-category within each category. Incentive pay shall not be compounded
for those Employees having multiple degrees, POST certifications, or specialized training
certifications.

c. Incentive Pay for degrees, certifications, and specialized training will become effective the first payroll
period of the fiscal year and will be paid to the eligible Employee each year thereafter in one lump
sum during the first payroll period of the fiscal year.

d Employees who become eligible for Incentive Pay shall by December 30 provide written notice 
to the Sheriff requesting Incentive Pay for the following fiscal year.  An Employee who demonstrates 
valid evidence that s/he will likely be eligible for Incentive Pay by July 1 of the following fiscal 
year may, with approval of the Sheriff ft also apply for Incentive Pay.

To be eligible for Incentive Pay for earning an Associate’s, Bachelor's, or Master’s degree, the 
Employee must have the school of earned degree send sealed Official Transcripts to the Personnel 
Office. The transcripts must demonstrate that the Employee earned the applicable degree with a 
Grade Point Average (GPA) of 3.0 or higher at the time which the degree was granted.  To be 
eligible for Incentive Pay, the degree must be earned from an accredited college or university.

Employees who receive Incentive Pay for Specialized Training Instructor shall perform 
no less than 15 hours of qualified instruction to Sheriff's Office Employee, including 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 13 of 42

full-time, part-time, reserve, and/or volunteer Employees, each year from the pay period 
that the Incentive Pay is issued to the Employee.

9.10. Specialized Training Instructor Selection. Selection for Specialized Training Instructor 
incentive categories shall be selected in the following manner:

a. Notice of Specialized Training Instructor opportunities within the Bargaining Unit shall
be posted on bulletin boards within the Sheriff's Office for a period of not less than
ten (10) working days prior to the last date for application or the date scheduled for
training, whichever is earlier.

b. Notice shall contain the following information or indicate where the information may
be obtained:

i. Title and Description of Training;

ii. All eligibility requirements including education, employment, training, or
experience criteria, and whether equivalent factors will be recognized;

iii.  If there will be competitive testing and the date,. Time,. and place of such test;

iv. The nature and scope of test subject matter;

v. Whether the test will consist of written,. oral, and/or physical demonstration
components.

10.11. POST Physical Fitness Test Incentive. Post-probationary Employees who meet or exceed 
POST Category I Physical Fitness Test standards each year shall receive an incentive of 
$1200000.00 for that year, and that payment shall be made in the last payroll of the fiscal year. 
The non-mandatory fitness test will be supervised by the Sheriff or his/her designee in order to 
obtain credit for the incentive.  Tests will be held twice during the fiscal year at and dates 
determined by the Sheriff, however, employees are only eligible for one payment.

Salary and Step Upon Hire. Applicants hired into a position represented by this Agreement 
will be placed at step 1  in the salary range chart.  The Sheriff may approve an applicant to 
be hired at step 2 or step 3 if it is determined that the applicant has extensive experience 
comparable to the duties assigned.  Prior to approving an accelerated hiring step, the Sheriff 
must ensure that there are budgeted funds available and there will be no disparate impact to 
current employees in the bargaining unit.

11.12. Years of Service Milestones.  Employees shall receive milestone disbursement according to union 
recognized positions years of service as of July 1, 2023, in the following amounts:
 Five (5) years = $3,0002,500
 Ten (10) years = $6,0005,000
 Fifteen (15) years = $9,0007,500
 Twenty (20) years = $12,00010,000
 Twenty-five (25) years = $15,000
 Thirty (30) years = $18,000
Payments will be made within 30 days of the employee reaching their specific milestone.   To be eligible for
milestone pay an employee must be free of discipline at a level of written reprimand or above for the prior
twelve (12) months.  the first full payroll period of the fiscal year (pay date July 21, 2023).  Employees who
are in between milestone anniversaries at the beginning of this contract, will receive a one-time payment equal
to the anniversary most recently past.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 14 of 42

12. Recruitment Referrals.  Existing employees shall receive a bonus of $1,000 for referred applicant
hired and upon the successful completion of the referral’s probationary period and post certification to CAT
3.

ARTICLE 8:            OVERTIME

1. Overtime pay is defined as additional compensation earned by an Employee who continues
working beyond his/her regularly scheduled shift or is required to return to duty at a time
that is more than 12 hours after notice is given.  The Employee will be compensated at time
and one-half (1.5) of his/her regular rate of pay for those extra hours worked.

2. A normal non-alternative work schedule shift shall consist of 8 hours per day and 5
consecutive days over a 7-day period, 10 hours per day for 4 consecutive days in a 7-day
period or three (3) twelve hours shifts in a seven-day period followed by four (4) twelve hour
shifts in a seven (7) day period totaling eighty-four (84) hours worked per pay period.  Eighty
(80) hours will be paid at the employee’s current pay rate.  Four (4) hours will be paid at one
and one half (1.5) of the employee’s current regular rate.  Upon agreement between the
Employer and the Union, the parties may implement an alternative work schedule.

3. The assignment of the regular normal shift shall be determined by the Sheriff. Consideration
will be given to the preferences of staff; however, the necessity of delivering adequate
services to the community will take precedent. Sheriff must provide at least 30 days of
written notice to the Employee(s) prior to changing the normal regular shift.  During
temporary instances, such as during community special events, disasters and emergencies,
and unusual staff shortage conditions, changes to the regular normal shift may be made by
the Sheriff, effective immediately.

4. Overtime shall not count toward Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) retirement
benefits as stated in Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 286.481.

5. Compensatory-Time ("Comp-Time").  Overtime may be compensated at the rate of one and
one-half (1.5) hours of Compensatory-Time for each hour of Overtime worked.  Regular
scheduled overtime is not eligible to be converted to compensatory time (comp-time).  An
example of regular scheduled overtime is a regularly scheduled 84-hour work period (14
days) resulting in 4 hours of overtime for the work period (14 days).  Overtime earned as
shift coverage is eligible to be converted to compensatory time.  Employees may not accrue
more than two hundred and forty (240)  one hundred and sixty (160) hours of Compensatory-
Time per calendar year which will run from June 1 through May 31 December 1 through
November 30 each calendar year. Comp time balances as of May 31 of the calendar year
will be paid-out at the rate it was earned on the last payday in June of the same calendar year.
The employee must give at least 30 14 days notice to the Sheriff or designee before taking
comp-time off work.  Time taken off from work is subject to the approval of the Sheriff or
designee.  Compensatory-Time balances shall be paid-outpaid out at the rate at which it was
earned on the pay day covering the first full pay period in December of each year. as a
check or direct deposited payment on the first payroll period in December of each year.

5.
6. All Overtime, including Compensatory-Time, must have previous authorization by the

Sheriff except when. due to an emergency, the Sheriffs approval cannot be obtained and,
accordingly, the Employee's Supervisor authorizes the necessary Overtime.

7. Overtime shall be filled by Bargaining Unit members. For the purposes of Overtime to fill
vacancies, an Overtime/Call-Back list shall be developed by the Union and the Sheriff. The
list shall consist of all Bargaining Unit members who desire to work Overtime/Call-Back to
fill vacancies in staffing. A rotation procedure will be incorporated into the list.  The initial



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 15 of 42

eligibility list will be established with the Employee with the most full-time continuous 
service with the Employer.  The Sheriff shall reserve the right to mandate an Employee to 
work Overtime when no other Employee is available on the rotation eligibility list.

8. Paid Leave shall be considered as worktime for the purposes of calculating overtime.

ARTICLE 9: CALL-BACK PAY

1. Any Employee who is required to return to work by his/her Supervisor in accordance with
NRS 286 shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at 1.5 times the regular rate of pay.
Time worked in addition to the initial two (2) hours shall be compensated at 1.5 times the
regular base rate of pay for all time actually worked.  An Employee shall not be eligible for
Call-Back pay when receiving Stand-By pay.

2. Phone calls not requiring return to work.

a. All off-duty calls to an Employee regarding work-related matters shall be authorized and
considered authorized by the Sheriff or his/her designee. Refusals for requests to return to
work shall not be subject to Call-Back pay.

b. When an off-duty Employee receives a phone call that is work-related, lasts longer than
fifteen (15) minutes, and does not result in the Employee being required to return to active
duty, the Employee shall receive a minimum of one hour of overtime pay.  The fifteen
(15) minute period shall be the cumulative time of one or more phone calls within a
twenty-four (24) hour period.

c. Phone calls subject to this section shall be documented by the Employee receiving the
call, and the Sheriff or Employee making the phone call, on a form created and approved
by the Personnel Director and/or Comptroller's Office (payroll).  The completed form
shall include, at a minimum, the involved parties, time and duration of phone call(s), and
a summary of the content of the conversation.  The completed form shall be submitted by
both Employees to the Sheriff for review and/or approval, and to Payroll with both
Employees’ bi-weekly timesheets.

3. PERS contribution toward Call Back Pay shall comply with NRS 286, including NRS
286.025 for Employees who have an effective date of PERS membership before, and on
or after January 1 , 2010, and shall apply the definition of an “emergency" accordingly.

ARTICLE 10: HOLIDAYS

1. Holidays, for the purpose of this section, shall be as follows:

a. January 1  (New Year's Day)
b. Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday)
c. Third Monday in February (Washington's Birthday)
d. Last Monday in May (Memorial Day)
e. Juneteenth (June 19th)
f. July 4 (Independence Day)
g. First Monday in September (Labor Day)
h. Last Friday in October (Nevada Day)
i. November 11 (Veterans Day)
j. Fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day)
k. Friday following the fourth Thursday in November (Family Day)
l. December 25 (Christmas Day)



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 16 of 42

m. Floating holiday (Any day agreed upon by Employee and supervisor)
n. Any day that may be appointed by the Storey County Board of Commissioners as

a legal holiday and any day appointed by the Governor of the State of Nevada as
a legal holiday on which State offices are to close.  Reoccurring holidays under
this subsection will be observed through the term of the current Agreement only.

3. 2. Holiday Pay: Holiday pay shall be equal to the Employee's regularly 
scheduled shift assignment of eight (8), ten (10), or twelve (12) hours.

4. The employer agrees to compensate each employee in lieu of holiday pay at 1.75 rate of
base pay each of the twenty-six (26) pay periods based on shift schedules:

a. Four (4) hours for eight (8) hour shift schedules

b. Five (5) hours for ten (10) hour shift schedules

c. Six (6) hours for twelve (12) hour shift schedules

Any changes to the In Lieu of Holiday hours will occur upon an official permanent 
schedule change approved by the Sheriff with notification sent to the Comptroller’s 
office. Or if a temporary assignment is expected to last more than 30 days with 
notification sent to the Comptroller’s office.

3. Holidays Not Worked: Employees who are not required to work on a recognized holiday
shall receive Holiday Pay fo r  the shift they normally would have worked.

4. Holidays Worked Regularly Scheduled Day: Employees required to work their regularly
scheduled shill on the actual holiday shall receive Holiday Pay plus an additional payment
computed at time and one-half (1 ½) the straight time for the hours actually worked.

5. Holidays worked during scheduled day off: Employees required to work on a holiday
during their regularly scheduled day off shall receive Holiday Pay plus an additional
payment computed at time and one-half (1.5) the straight time for the hours actually
worked and shall receive one actual day off with straight pay.  The day off shall not be
charged against the Employee's accrued Annual Leave, or any other accrued Leave, and
shall be taken by the Employee within twelve months (1 year) of the associated holiday
worked.  The process for requesting the day off shall be the same as for Annual Leave
pursuant to Article 11 (3), but not Subsection (4).

6. Holiday During Vacation or Sick: Should a paid holiday fall during an Employee's
Vacation or Sick Leave, the Employee will receive Holiday Pay rather than have such
day charged against Vacation or Sick Leave pay.

7. Holiday Pay for Part-time Employees: Part-time Employees shall receive Holiday Pay on
a prorated basis when they would normally be scheduled and available to work on the
holiday in question.

ARTICLE 10A:  MANDATORY DATES OF WORK:

No employee may take time off on July 4th and the Saturday of Street Vibrations.  Employees 
required to work either of these mandatory shifts during their regularly scheduled days off 
shall receive one actual day off with straight pay.  The day off shall not be charged 
against the Employee's accrued Annual Leave, or any other accrued Leave, and shall be 
taken by the Employee by December 31st of the same year.  The process for requesting the 
day off shall be the same as for Annual Leave pursuant to Article 11 (3), but not 
Subsection (4).

ARTICLE 11: VACATION



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 17 of 42

1. Accrual: Eligible Employees shall earn cam vacation benefits at the rate of ten (10)
hours of Vacation Pay for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  Employees
who have completed five (5) or more years of consecutive service shall earn vacation
benefits at the rate of thirteen and one-third (13.33) hours of vacation for each calendar
month or major fraction thereof.  Employees who have completed 10 or more years of
consecutive service shall earn vacation benefits at the rate of sixteen and two thirds
(16.67) hours of vacation for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  Vacation
credits shall accrue for each pay period the Employee is in full pay status or major
fraction thereof.

2. Eligibility: An Employee is entitled to take vacation time after six (6) months service
with the County. Each Employee shall accrue vacation beginning upon completion of
six (6) months of continuous employment as a regular or probationary Employee. Upon
completion of six (6) months of County service as a regular or probationary Employee,
the Employee shall receive sixty (60) hours of vacation credit.

3. Scheduling:

a. Vacation dates shall be granted and scheduled with the approval of the Sheriff or
his/her designee. Where practical,. in the determination of the Sheriff, vacation dates
will be granted on a first-come, first-serve basis quarterly within the job classification.

b. An Employee becoming ill while on Annual Leave may have leave charged to Sick
Leave upon request and upon presentation of proper documentation.

4. Pay Off at Termination: Upon termination of employment, the County shall compensate
an Employee for all accrued vacation time (Up to a maximum of 240 hours).

5. Pay Off for Excessive Annual Leave:  On November 1 of every calendar year, if the employee
has accrued more than 200 hours of unused annual leave, the employee may submit a written
request asking to be paid out for all or part of excess balance above 200 hours.  Payment will be
at the employees’ current rate of pay and will be processed with normal payroll.  The written
request must be submitted to the Sheriff’s Administration during the first pay period of
November.  If the employee does not request pay out, the balance will remain the same and must
not exceed 240 hours at the end of the calendar year.

ARTICLE 12: SICK LEAVE

1. Accrual: Each Employee shall earn cam Sick Leave with pay at the rate of ten (10) hours
of Leave for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  A maximum of nine hundred
sixty (960) hours of Sick Leave may be accumulated.

2. Use of Sick Leave: Sick leave with pay may be granted upon approval of the Sheriff in
the event of a bona fide illness of an Employee or member of his/her immediate family
(within the second degree of consanguinity or affinity).

a. If the Sheriff has reason to believe Sick Leave is being abused, the Sheriff may require
the Employee taking Sick Leave to submit a physician's statement in accordance with
Storey County Policy 603 - Sick Leave.

b. After exhausting accumulated Sick Leave, an Employee may take accumulated Vacation
Leave if s/he needs additional time off from work. Leave without pay may be
granted by the Sheriff at his/her discretion.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 18 of 42

3. Parental Leave: The parties agree to abide by all state and/or federal laws applicable to
leave for maternity and paternity, which shall include adoption or foster care of a child
within 12 months of placement.

4. Bereavement Leave: Bereavement leave shall be granted to any regular full-time or
regular part-time employee who must be absent from work upon the death of and/or to
attend the funeral of a family member within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity,
up to a maximum of 3 scheduled shifts of bereavement leave per each occurrence.  Such
leave will not be charged to the employee's accumulated sick leave or other accrued leave.

Bereavement leave in excess of 3 scheduled shifts may be charged to accumulated sick
leave upon the approval of the Sheriff and Administrative Officer/HR Director.  The
employee may use annual leave after sick leave has been exhausted.

5. Payment for Sick Leave at Termination: Upon an Employee's end of service through PERS
retirement or termination from service, other than involuntary termination, with a total accrued
hours of three hundred sixty (360) or more, the Employee shall be paid for unused Sick Leave at
the following rate:

a. 10 to 15 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 20%  25%of their base rate of pay for
each hour, not to exceed $3,000 $6,000 cash or $4,000 $8,000 toward the purchase of
PERS.

b. 15 to 20 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 40%  45%of their base rate of pay for
each hour, not to exceed $4,000 $8,000 cash or $5,000  $10,000 toward the purchase of
PERS.

c. More than 20 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 60%  65% of their base rate of pay
for each hour. not to exceed $5,000 $10,000 cash or $6,250 $12,500 toward the purchase
of PERS.

6. Sick Leave HSA/Premium Contribution or PERS Contributions:  Employees may utilize up to
40hours of his/her accrued sick leave per calendar year, to be utilized as an HSA or Insurance 
premium as in Article 13, sections 3c or toward PERS contributions for years purchased.  The 
purchase of PERS years must be initiated by employee to PERS.  The employee must have 240 
hours of sick leave in their bank at the time of contribution.  This election takes place twice 
annually in the second full pay period in June and December.  Signed requests must be submitted 
before the final day of the pay period.  Total annual contributions cannot exceed the limits outlined 
in law. 

ARTICLE 13: GROUP BENEFITS INSURANCE 

1. Employee eligibility for health insurance benefits shall commence 60 days after hire,. and to the
first day of the next month.

2. The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly premiums for health
insurance (to include hospitalization, major medical, dental, and vision) for Regular Full- Time
Employees. The Employer agrees to pay a prorated percentage of monthly premiums for health
insurance based on actual hours scheduled to be worked for Regular Part-Time Employees
working at least twenty-one (21) hours but less than thirty (30) hours per workweek. Employees
working 30 hours, or more are eligible for benefits equaling that provided to regular full-time
employees. Employer agrees to pay $40,000 in Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment
(AD&D) for the employee for the term of this Agreement.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 19 of 42

3. The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly premiums for health
insurance base plan for the Employee’s dependents (up to age 26) and one hundred percent
(100%) for the Employee’s spouse who is not eligible for government-sponsored (e.g.,
Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Administration) or employer-sponsored health insurance
coverage. Effective May 1, 2012, if the Employee’s spouse is eligible for any other government-
sponsored or employer- sponsored health insurance coverage, the Employee may choose to
cover his/her spouse on Employer’s plan for a charge equal to fifty (50%) percent of the cost of
the spouse’s coverage.

a.d. Each Employee shall provide a County-provided affidavit to the Personnel office annual
certification stating whether his/her spouse is eligible for any other government-sponsored 
or employer-sponsored health insurance coverage.

b.e. In the event that the AFSCME Comstock Chapter General Employees’ Association, and/or
any other collective bargaining unit recognized by the Employer negotiates a higher level of
spousal and/or dependent coverage than is provided in this Article, or that said level of 
coverage is offered to any employees excluded from coverage by collective bargaining 
agreement (with exception of those subject to statutory requirements), the Union under this 
Agreement may negotiate this Article.

c. Sick Leave HSA/Premium Contribution – Employees may utilize up to 40 hours of his/her
accrued sick leave per calendar year, to be utilized as an HSA contribution or toward their
monthly buy-up option insurance premium provided that the employee has 240 hours of sick
leave in their bank at the time of contribution.  This election takes place twice annually in
the second full pay period in June and December.  Signed requests must be submitted with
the employee’s timecard.  Total annual contributions cannot exceed the limits outlined in
law.

4. As allowed by law and without federal penalties to the employer, an employee may opt out of
Employer-paid health insurance coverage and accordingly may receive fifty percent (50%) of the
premium that the Employer would have paid for Employee only base plan coverage.  Any
employee opting out of health benefits coverage must complete an employer-provided affidavit
stating that the employee and his/her tax-family (e.g., spouse and dependents) will maintain
minimum essential health coverage, other than coverage purchased in the individual market and
Medicare, as required by the Affordable Care Act.

The Employer shall offer Retirees, as defined under NRS Chapter 286, the option to continue
coverage as required under NRS Chapter 287. Payment shall be made by the Employer regardless
of the insurance provider elected by the Retiree to provide coverage; however, the Employer's
responsibility for payment shall be capped at the amount the Employer would be required to pay
if the Retiree elected coverage with the insurance provider designated under the Public
Employees' Benefits Program (PEBP). Retirees not electing coverage with the insurance provider
designated under PEBP shall be responsible for the payment of any excess difference in cost for
the coverage elected. The county will pay the same portion of the cost of health benefits coverage
that the Nevada State Public Employees’ Benefits Program (PEBP) at that time pays for retirede
persons covered as participants under its state health benefits program. The subsidy is limited to
the employee’s consecutive years of service with Storey County; no credit will be given for years
of service earned at another public employer, except for service with the Storey County Fire
Protection District. Any remaining balance of the cost of coverage will be paid to the county by
the retiree or qualified beneficiary. Employer contributions to retiree coverage will stop at age
65 or when the Retiree becomes eligible for Medicare Part A and Part B.

5. Legal Liability - NRS Chapter 41 shall apply to represented employees, as appropriate.  moved
to Article 21



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 20 of 42

ARTICLE 14: RETIREMENT

1. Eligibility: Employees covered by this Agreement shall be included in the State of Nevada Public
Employees' Retirement System (PERS) providing benefits pursuant to NRS Chapter 286.

2. Contributions: The Employer will pay retirement contributions for Employees covered under
this agreement as required by NRS 286. No provision of this Article shall be deemed to waive
any provision of Chapter 286 of NRS in respect to “Early Retirement”.

ARTICLE 15: UNIFORMS 

1. Initial Uniforms and Duty Gear:  Newly hired employees will be provided the following
uniform items:
a. Two (2) short sleeved Class B shirts
b. Two (2) long sleeved Class B shirts
c. Two (2) Class B pants
d. One (1) Class A shirt
e. One (1) Class A pant
f. One (1) Class A tie (black and clip on)
g. One (1) Cold Weather Jacket
h. One (1) external ballistic vest carrier (Point Blank MC Guardian, Laser Cut, Uniform

Pocket, Ranger Green)
i. One (1) set ballistic vest panels (Point Blank Vision AXB111A)
j. One (1) duty belt
k. Four (4) duty belt keepers (black, no brass)
l. Two (2) Sheriff’s badges
m. One (1) double magazine pouch
n. One (1) double handcuff case
o. One (1) radio holder
p. One (1) tourniquet pouch
q. One (1) tourniquet
r. Two (2) pairs of handcuffs, chain hinge (Peerless or Smith and Wesson)

13. 1 – snowsuit, type to be determined by the Sheriff.  A snowsuit will not be issued to the
Employee until after s/he submit to the Sheriff in writing that s/he desires a snowsuit.

a.
14.b. Additionally, new hires are allowed $550.00 one-time reimbursement during the 

term of this contract for each employee for the purchase of a duty firearm and $150.00 
reimbursement for a level one or higher duty holster.  The employee must provide the 
Sheriff a receipt or other valid documentation of the purchase and use the subject firearm 
during the line of duty for the duration of this agreement, and the receipt must show that 
the firearm was purchased during the term of this agreement.  The type, make and model 
of the firearm must meet the requirements of the Sheriff for duty officers.

2. Uniform Allowance- employees who have completed the initial probationary period will
receive an annual uniform allowance of $150.00. This allowance will be used for cleaning 
and upkeep of the issued class A uniform. 
If the employee is a member of the Sheriff’s Office Honor Guard, they will receive an 
additional $150.00 to be used for cleaning and upkeep of the issued Honor Guard uniform.

3. Uniform replacement- All issued equipment will be replaced as needed through a Quarter
Master system. If the employee has any issued uniform items or other issued equipment that 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 21 of 42

is worn, inoperative or otherwise in need of replacement, the deputy will complete a 
Uniform/Equipment Replacement form and promptly submit it to his/her immediate 
supervisor. The supervisor will inspect the item(s) that are noted and (if deemed necessary) 
provide the employee with a purchase authorization form to replace the item(s).

4. Boots - Employees may receive reimbursement, up to $200, every year for replacement,
rebuilding or resoling of boots.  The employee must provide a receipt in order to be eligible 
for reimbursement.  Further, the boots must comply with the Sheriff’s Office policy 10-46 in 
order to be eligible for reimbursement.  The eligibility period for reimbursement will be 
calculated from the date the employee last received boot reimbursement.  

2.5. Employees currently employed at the time this contract takes effect will be provided the 
following new uniform items:
a. Two (2) short sleeved Class B shirts
b. Two (2) long sleeved Class B shirts
c. Two (2) Class B pants
d. One (1) Class A shirt
e. One (1) Class A pant
f. One (1) Class A tie (black and clip on)
g. One (1) Cold Weather Jacket
h. One (1) external ballistic vest carrier (Point Blank MC Guardian, Laser Cut, Uniform

Pocket, Ranger Green)
i. One (1) double magazine pouch
j. One (1) double handcuff case
k. One (1) radio holder
l. One (1) tourniquet pouch
m. One (1) tourniquet

 Additionally, new hires are allowed $550.00 one-time reimbursement during the term of this
contract for each employee for the purchase of a duty firearm and $150.00 reimbursement
for a level one or higher duty holster.  The employee must provide the Sheriff a receipt or
other valid documentation of the purchase and use the subject firearm during the line of duty
for the duration of this agreement, and the receipt must show that the firearm was purchased
during the term of this agreement.  The type, make and model of the firearm must meet the
requirements of the Sheriff for duty officers. (This item will not be removed but could not
get the strikeout removed)

 Issued items are the property of the Storey County Sheriff's Office and must be returned if
the employee ceases employment with the County.

The Sheriff will provide the following item at hire:

a. 1 – snowsuit, type to be determined by the Sheriff.  A snowsuit will not be issued to the
Employee until after s/he submit to the Sheriff in writing that s/he desires a snowsuit.

The Sheriff shall establish and maintain a ballistic vest replacement schedule and shall notify 
the Employee in writing six months prior that his/her vest will expire. The Employee shall 
be fully responsible for being fitted for his/her ballistic vest.  The employee must be fitted 
with a ballistic vest from a supplier approved by the Sheriff’s Office.  The cost of the ballistic 
vest will be paid directly to the vendor by the County.   If the issued ballistic vest becomes 
damaged in the line of duty, except for damage caused by negligence or misuse, the Employer 
will replace the ballistic vest at no cost to the employee.

The vest shall be returned to the Sheriff at the time the Employee for any reason leaves 
employment with the Sheriff's Office and at the time that the Employee receives his/her new 
replacement ballistic vest. If the Employee does not return the ballistic vest at the time of 
leaving employment, the full cost of the ballistic vest shall be deducted from any amount 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 22 of 42

owed to the Employee by the county.  If the Employee does not return the expired or damaged 
ballistic vest within 30 days of receiving the replacement ballistic vest, the Employee shall 
have the full cost of the ballistic vest deducted from his/her paycheck in fifty percent 
increments over the next two pay periods.

The Employee shall be required to wear the issued ballistic vest at all times while on duty.  At 
no time may the Employee while on-duty wear a ballistic vest that is expired or that does 
not otherwise meet NIJ Level III and other standards.

2. Employees will forfeit their Uniform and Duty Gear Allowance for the duration of this 
current contract.

3. With the Sheriff's validation of a claim, the Employer shall reimburse an employee for the 
costs of repairing or replacing watches or prescription eyeglasses/contact lenses which are 
lost or damaged while the employee is in the performance of his/her duties, provided that 
there is notification by the employee to the Sheriff within 7 business days.  Reimbursement 
amounts shall be limited to the actual replacement value up to $250.00 per claim for 
prescription eyewear and $50.00 per claim for watches.  An Employee may only make a claim 
up to $300.00 during each fiscal year.

ARTICLE 16: LEA VE OF ABSENCE

1. General Provisions-Unpaid Leaves: A leave of absence may be granted to an Employee 
in accordance with Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 606 - Leave of Absence 
Without Pay.

2. Investigatory Leaves: Any Employee who is required to discharge a weapon in the line of 
duty may forthwith be placed on administrative leave with pay pending investigation of 
the incident by the Sheriff. The Sheriff may assign the Employee to other duties where 
carrying or use of a weapon is not required until completion of the investigation. If the 
Sheriff determines that the weapon used was justified, the Employee shall be restored to 
regular duty. If the investigation indicates that the weapon used was not justified,. the 
Employee may be placed on paid leave. If an administrative action is taken against the 
Employee,. the Sheriff shall place the Employee on paid leave pending the pre- disciplinary 
hearing.

a. Any Employee charged with any criminal act may be placed on unpaid leave forthwith 
pending final disposition of the matter. If the charges are dismissed or the Employee is 
found not guilty at trial, the Employee shall be restored to regular duty with back pay 
to the date of suspension if no administrative action is pending. If administrative action 
is taken against the Employee, restoration of back pay will occur following the pre- 
disciplinary hearing on the administrative charges. Such restoration shall not include 
back pay for any period assessed as discipline.

3. Jury Duty: Any Employee called for jury duty shall be granted a leave of absence with 
pay. The Employee shall retain any travel pay ordered by the court unless the Employee's 
travel has been at County expense. but shall pay any other fees received to the County. 
Such leave shall not be charged against the Employee's vacation credit.

4. Family and Medical Leave: Family and medical leave for Employees shall be governed 
by the provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and Storey 
County Policy and Procedure Number 605 - Family and Medical Leave.

5. Military Leave: Any Employee who is a member of the organized U.S. Army, Navy, 
Air Force, Coast Guard, Nevada National Guard, or Marine Reserves shall continue to 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 23 of 42

receive paid military leave as prescribed by NRS 281.145, and any benefits as provided 
by the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of 
1994.  Employees may choose to use accrued annual leave before taking leave without 
pay.  The Employer cannot require that annual leave or other personal leave be used. 
Employees returning from Military Leave are entitled to any benefits determined by 
seniority that they had when their Leave began and to any benefits which would 
have accrued had they remained continuously employed. This includes, for example, 
merit step and seniority.  The Employer shall count the years of Military Leave as if they 
were years of actual work to determine the accrual rate of Annual and Sick Leave and to 
determine the rate of pay if the rates are based on seniority. Employees do not earn 
Annual and Sick Leave while on Military Leave unless other Employees, including those 
outside of the bargaining unit, are allowed to do so.

This Article recognizes that the USERRA and NRS 281.145 governing paid military leave 
provide hours to the Employee equivalent to 15 working days of paid military leave in a 12-
month period beginning January 1  and ending December 31 of each year (i.e., the calendar year).  
This Article recognizes that 15 days means 15 regularly scheduled shifts regardless of the number 
of hours in a regular shift.  The Employer recognizes that the applicable regulations intend to 
provide "hours" equivalent to 15 ''workdays” and, therefore, fractions of days taken are 
deducted in hour increments.  For example, Employees working regular 10-hour shifts are entitled 
to an equivalent of 15 working days of paid military leave, and this equates to 150 hours of leave 
within a 12-month period. Employees working regular 8-hour shifts are also entitled to an 
equivalent of 15 working days of paid military leave, and this equates to 120 hours of leave in 
the same period.

An employee must provide the Sheriff with call-to-duty orders within one week of receipt of the 
order unless the order calls the employee to duty in less time.

ARTICLE 17: LAYOFF PROCEDURE

1. Position to be eliminated: If the County determines the need for a reduction in its work force
for lack of work or lack of funds, the Sheriff, County Manager and HR Director (Committee)
will determine the positions to be eliminated and the Employees to be laid-off within each
affected job class. Written notice of not less than thirty (30) calendar days shall be provided
to regular Employees to be laid-off.

2. Order of Layoff:

a. Initially the Committee shall consider Employees for layoff in the inverse order of
seniority.

b. When selecting which Employee will be laid-off,. the Committee will review the
qualifications of the Employee with the least seniority in the affected job class. If the
Committee finds an Employee with less seniority has qualifications which are needed
by the Sheriff’s Office and those qualifications are equal to or greater than those of an
Employee with greater seniority, and the documented performance of the Employee
with lesser seniority is better than that of the more senior Employee,. the County may
lay-off the Employee with the higher seniority.

c. Qualifications to be considered in determining exceptions to seniority order shall include
knowledge, skill, ability, and certificates required for job functions to be assigned to the
remaining staff, as well as previous experience in performing the essential functions and
job performance.  Job performance shall be determined on the basis of the Employee's
record of job performance as documented in the Employee's personnel file at least forty- 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 24 of 42

five (45) calendar days prior to the date the County determines a layoff is necessary. 
This shall not preclude consideration of discipline consisting of a two (2) day suspension 
or more occurring within this period.

d. After consideration of seniority within class,. qualifications, and performance,
any ties shall be broken by total seniority within the department.  Time spent in
other County departments or as a County volunteer and/or reserve is specifically
excluded in computing time for purposes of determining seniority.

d.
e. An Employee who was initially hired by the Sheriff into a class with a lower rank

than his/her current class shall have the right to bump an Employee in such lower
class if s/he has more seniority in the lower class.  Such bumping rights may be
exercised subject to the Sheriff's review or performance and qualifications outlined
above.

3. Appeal Procedure:

a. Notice of Appeal: In the event that an Employee who has been laid-off out of
seniority order believes the decision based upon performance and/or qualification is
incorrect,. s/he may request that the Union appeal the Sheriff's determination.  If the
Union finds there is good reason to believe that the Sheriff has erred in his/her
decision, it may appeal through the process set forth in this Article.  Such appeal
shall be filed within five (5) working days of delivery of the layoff notice to the
Employee.

b. Appeal Review Committee: When an appeal is filed,. the Union shall identify two
(2) persons to serve on a review committee at the time of the appeal. The Sheriff
shall then appoint two (2) persons to the committee.  Each of the persons appointed
to the appeal committee shall be familiar with the work of the department and with
the job class from which layoff is to be made. The appeal committee shall meet
within five (5) days of delivery of the notice of appeal to the County. It shall review
the basis for the Sheriffs layoff decision and the reasons the Employee believes the
decision is in error. The appeal committee shall then determine whether the Sheriff’s
decision was reasonable and on that basis either confirm or reject the Sheriff’s
decision.

c. If the appeal committee cannot reach an agreement regarding the Sheriff’s decision
regarding order of layoff: it shall,. within three (3) days of its initial meeting,. request
the participation of a federal mediator. The services of the mediator will be jointly
requested by the County and the Union on an urgent basis. The mediator shall seek to
achieve a consensus decision among the appeal committee members. If none is
reached, the mediator shall become a voting member of the appeal committee.

d. The determination of the appeal committee regarding the appropriate order of layoff
shall be final and binding and may not be grieved or appealed.

e. The fees and expenses of the mediator shall be shared equally by the Union and
the County. Each party, however, shall bear the costs of its own presentation, including
preparation and post-hearing briefs and legal fees,. if any.

4. Recall Rights: Laid-off Employees will have a right to return to a vacancy in the same
class and department dcpar1ment from which they were laid-off. Recall shall be in
inverse order of layoff.

a. Recall List: Employees shall remain on the recall list for one (1) year following the



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 25 of 42

date of layoff: provided,. however, laid-off Employees shall be removed from the recall 
list if:

i. They decline appointment to a position in the same department and in a class at
the same wage range as the position from which their layoff occurred; or

ii. They fail to report for duty within fifteen (15) calendar days of mailing of notice
of recall to County employment.

b. Recall Notice: Notice of recall or available position may be made in person or by U.S.
Mail, return receipt requested. It is the responsibility of each laid off Employee to
notify the Sheriff of his/her current address.

ARTICLE 18: CHANGE OF ASSIGNMENT AND JOB VACANCIES

1. An Employee whose regular assignment is changed shall be given thirty (30) days of
notice of the reassignment.  Notice is not required when change is required to serve the
public in a n  emergency, when an employee is placed on administrative leave or is under
official investigation.

2. During the first week of January and July of each year, Employees will be permitted
to notify the Sheriff of their preference for work shifts. The Sheriff will consider staff
preferences in order of job assignment seniority ( i.e., patrol, jail, investigation). but shall
retain full authority to make suchhin assignments. Employees will be permitted to trade
shifts or days off with the proper approval of their respective supervisor.

3. For purposes of this Article, seniority is determined by the total consecutive time
spent in the current job assignment (patrol, detention, investigations).  If seniority is
otherwise equal. A choice must be made on the total time spent with the Sheriff’s
Office second by total time spent with the County. And third by lot.  In computing time
for purposes of determining seniority, only time spent during current continuous County
service will be counted. Leave without pay over thirty (30) days is not counted. Part-
time employment must be prorated to its full-time equivalent. Time spent in other
County departments or as a County volunteer and/or reserve is specifically excluded in
computing time for purposes of determining seniority.

ARTICLE 19. DISCIPLINARY ACTION

1. General Policy: Discipline shall be administered or imposed on a basis of progressive
punishment. No discipline shall be imposed except for cause. All discipline shall be
accompanied by counseling which may assist the Employee in correcting past performance
deficiencies or behavior. Authorized discipline shall range from Documented Verbal
Warning up to and including Termination of employment with the County.  The initial
form of discipline and punishment shall be appropriate to the seriousness of the initial offense
or condition.

2. Forms of Discipline:

a. Documented Verbal Warning: Whenever Employee performance or job-related



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 26 of 42

behavior falls below the acceptable level, the Employee's supervisor shall inform 
the Employee of the deficiencies using Storey County Policy and Procedure Form 
1001F1. Documented Verbal Warnings shall remain in the Employee's master 
personnel file for twelve (12) months. After which it shall be removed from the 
Employee's record upon the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff 
and approval of the HR Director. The HR Director will provide written confirmation 
to the Employee of the action taken.

b. Written Reprimand: In situations where a Documented Verbal Warning has not
resulted in correction of the condition. Or where more severe initial action is
warranted, the Employee's supervisor shall inform the Employee of the deficiencies
using Storey County Policy and Procedure Form1001F1. A Written Reprimand
shall remain in the Employee's master personnel file for eighteen (18) months, after
which the Written Reprimand shall be removed from the Employee's record upon
the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR
Director. The HR Director will provide written confirmation to the Employee of
the action taken.

c. Suspension: If the Written Reprimand is not effective, or in those cases where the
seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, an Employee may be Suspended
without pay by the Sheriff for a period not to exceed forty-five (45) working days.

Documentation supporting the Suspension shall remain in the Employee's master 
personnel file for twenty-four (24) months, after which the documentation shall be 
removed from the Employee's record upon the written request of the Employee 
directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR Director.  The HR Director will 
provide written confirmation to the Employee of the action taken.

d. Pay Reduction: If other forms of disciplinary or corrective action have proven
ineffective, or when the seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, the
Sheriff may reduce pay by no more than one Merit Step in the Employee's current
pay Grade. The date that the Employee's pay reduction takes effect shall establish a
new Anniversary Date. Documentation establishing the cause for the pay reduction
shall remain in the Employee's master personnel file for twenty-four (24) months,
after which the supporting documentation shall be removed from the Employee's
record upon the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval
of the HR Director.  The HR Director will provide written confirmation to the
Employee of the action taken.

e. Involuntary Demotion:  When other forms of disciplinary or corrective action have
proven ineffective, or when the seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, the Sheriff
may demote the Employee.  Rejection on probation following promotion is not discipline.
Documentation establishing the cause for the Involuntary Demotion shall remain in the
Employee'’s master personnel tile for twenty-four (24) months. After which the supporting
documentation shall be removed from the Employee’s record upon the written request of the
Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR Director.  The HR Director will
provide written confirmation to the Employee of the action taken.

f. Termination: As a final disciplinary measure when other forms of discipline or corrective
action have proven ineffective. Or when the seriousness of the offense or condition
warrants. The Sheriff may Terminate an Employee.

g. Suspensions of 1 to 3 days: Suspensions of one (1) to three (3) days may be appealed



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 27 of 42

to Level 1 of the Grievance Procedure (Article 20).  If the Grievant is not satisfied with 
the decision rendered by the Sheriff, the Grievant may within ten (10) working days of 
that decision request to the HR Director that the Grievance is advanced to mediation. 
Within ten (10) working days of the HR Director receiving the Grievant’s request 
that the matter is advance to mediation, the parties shall request a mediator through the 
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) to hear the Grievance.  The 
parties shall attempt to hold a mediation session within twenty (20) days after contact 
with the FMCS. This timeline shall be extended based on the schedule of the 
mediator or by mutual consent of the parties. In the event a mediated decision cannot 
be reached, the Mediator shall, considering the evidence presented, issue a bench 
decision that the parties agree to implement, and which shall be final and binding.

3. Notice of Suspension. Involuntary Demotion, or Dismissal: All notices of Suspension,
Involuntary Demotion, or Dismissal shall be given to the Employee in-writing,
specifying the action to be taken, the grounds upon which the action is based, including
specification of standards, rules, regulations, or policies violated, if applicable, and the
date of action taken. The specification of charges shall include a statement of facts
constituting conduct for which discipline is to be imposed, together with a statement of
specification of standards, specific rules, regulations, ordinances, laws, policies or
performance standards, if applicable, which the Employee is alleged to have violated.
The notice shall include a statement that the Employee has five (5) working days to meet
with the Sheriff to discuss the proposed action.  The specification of charges shall be
signed by the Sheriff or his/her designee. The Sheriff shall not suspend, involuntarily
demote, or dismiss an Employee without giving ten (10) working days of notice prior to
the action being taken.

a. The Sheriff may serve notice upon an Employee by mail or personal service.  If
mailed, notice shall be mailed to the Employee at his/her last known address by USPS
Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested. Receipt shall be deemed the date of first
attempt of delivery as indicated on the Return Receipt. Should notice be returned to
sender, receipt shall be deemed to be on the third day after the date of mailing of the
notice.

b. The Employee, who may be accompanied by a Union representative, shall be allowed
to meet with the Sheriff to review the charges. The Employee shall be given an
opportunity to state his/her position as to whether there are true and reasonable grounds
for the proposed action. The discipline may be postponed to allow for the
consideration of evidence the Employee produced and/or for further investigation of
the Employee's response.

4. Administrative Leave During Disciplinary Proceeding: In cases of contemplated
Discharge or Suspension concerning misconduct which presents possible harm to persons
or property or pending criminal charges which adversely and directly affect the County
or substantially disrupt County operations. The Sheriff may place an Employee on
Administrative Leave with pay, pending an investigation prior to or during a disciplinary
proceeding, or during the review of the Employee's response to a proposed disciplinary
action.  The Employee will be notified in-writing of the decision to place him/her on
Administrative Leave.  The notice will include a statement that the Administrative Leave
is not a disciplinary action.

5. Appeals of Disciplinary Actions: Within ten (10) days of the date that disciplinary action of
Suspension without pay of four (4) days or longer, Pay Reduction, Involuntary Demotion, or
Dismissal are implemented by the Sheriff. The Union may Appeal said disciplinary action to
Arbitration.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 28 of 42

a. The Appeal must be submitted in-writing to the Sheriff and HR Director and state the
basis of the Appeal.  The Union and the Sheriff shall mutually select a disinterested
third-party to serve as the Arbitrator. In the event an agreement cannot be reached
to select a neutral Arbitrator, the parties agree to solicit a list of seven (7) professional
neutrals with public sector experience from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation
Services (FMCS), and alternately strike names from such list until one (1) name
remains. That remaining person so selected shall serve as the Arbitrator. The party to
strike first shall be determined by lot. Both parties shall make every effort to mutually
set forth the issue(s) to be arbitrated in advance of the Arbitration hearing date.  The
fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Union and the
County.  Each party, however, shall bear the costs of its own presentation, including
preparation and post-hearing briefs, and legal fees, if any.  The Arbitrator's decision
shall be final and binding upon both parties.

ARTICLE 20. GRIEVANCE/ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

1. Definitions:

a. Grievance: A Grievance is claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this
Agreement or rules, regulations, and policies of the Employer governing matters within
the scope of mandatory bargaining pursuant to NRS 288.  Informal discussions and
attempts to resolve the matter prior to filing a formal grievance are excluded.

b. Grievant: A grievant is an Employee or group of Employees who are covered by the
provisions of this Agreement and who believe they have been adversely affected by an act
or formal decision of the Employer occasioning the grievance, and who file a grievance.
The Union may be the grievant if an act or formal decision of the Employer which is
alleged to be a grievance directly relates to a Union activity or privilege addressed in this
Agreement.

c. Day: Day shall mean a weekday, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.

d. The Grievance Screening Committee shall consist of any three (3) current members of
the Board of Directors of the Storey County Sheriff’s Office Employee Association.

2. Rights of Representation: With the consent of the aggrieved Employee(s), one (1) Union
representative shall be present for any meeting, hearing, appeal, or other proceeding between
the Employer and the grievant relating to a grievance that has been filed pursuant to this
Article.

a. If, in the judgment of the Union, a grievance affects a group of Employees or the Union, the
Union may initiate and file such grievance with the HR Director and the processing of such
grievance shall commence at Level II. The Union may process such a grievance through all
levels of the procedure.

3. Individual Rights: Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of
any Employee having a complaint to discuss the matter with the appropriate supervisor(s),
and to have the matter resolved without the intervention of the Union, as long as the Union
has had, at the request of the Employee, the opportunity to be present at such discussions.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 29 of 42

4. Informal Resolution: Within fifteen (15) working days from the event giving rise to a
grievance or from the date the Employee(s) could reasonably have been expected to have
had knowledge of such event, the Employee shall orally discuss the grievance with his/her
immediate supervisor. A supervisor shall have ten (10) working days to provide a decision to
the Employee.

a. The Unions Grievance Screening Committee shall convene within ten (10) working days from
the date the Supervisor provides or should provide a decision to the Employee. The Grievance
Screening Committee shall screen grievances to determine if there is valid cause to proceed to
a Formal Level Grievance.

b. Should the Grievance Screening Committee determine there is no valid cause to proceed to a
Formal Level Grievance, the Grievant shall still have the right to proceed: however, they will
not have the support of the Union.

5. Formal Levels:

a. Level I: If a Grievant is not satisfied with the resolution proposed at the informal level, s/he
may, within ten (10) working days of the receipt of such decision, file a formal written
Grievance with the Sheriff, describing the Grievance, the specific section(s) of this Agreement,.
Oor County or Sheriff’s Office rules, regulations, and/or policies allegedly violated, and the
remedy requested.  The Sheriff may have a meeting with the Grievant, and within ten (10)
working days of receiving the Grievance provide a written decision to the Grievant.

i. If the Sheriff fails to respond within ten (10) working days of receiving the Grievance, the
Grievance, if non-monetary, shall be granted in the Grievant' s favor.  If the Grievance
contains a request for a monetary remedy, the Grievance shall automatically advance to
Level II.

b. Level II. If the Grievant is not satisfied with the resolution proposed at the informal level, or
the grievance includes a request of monetary related correction, s/he may, within ten (10)
working days of the receipt of such decision, file a written appeal to the HR Director. Within
ten (10) working days of receipt of the written appeal, the HR Director shall respond with a
decision to the grievance or with a recommendation to proceed or not proceed to Level III.

c. Level III: If the Grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the Sheriff. The Grievant
may within ten (10) working days of that decision request to the HR Director that the Grievance
is advanced to mediation. Within ten (10) working days of the HR Director receiving the
Grievant's request that the matter is advanced to mediation, the parties shall request a mediator
through the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) to hear the Grievance. The
parties shall attempt to hold the mediation session within twenty (20) days after contact with
the FMCS.  This timeline shall be extended based on the schedule of the mediator or by
mutual consent of the parties.  If the parties cannot reach a mediated resolution, either or both
parties may request a recommendation from the mediator. Nothing occurring in mediation may
be referred to or introduced during Arbitration.

d. Level IV: In the event that the parties cannot reach a mediated resolution at Level III, the
Grievance may be submitted to Arbitration for resolution.  The Grievant or the Union shall
exercise the right to Arbitration by giving the HR Director written notice of intent to arbitrate
within ten (10) working days from the date of receipt of the mediator's
recommendation(s).  If any question arises as to the ability to arbitrate the grievance,



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 30 of 42

and the Grievant or the Union has decided to proceed, the following apply:

1. If the grievance is a claimed violation,. Mmisapplication,. Oor misinterpretation of
this Agreement or rules, regulations, or policies as defined in Section 1 (a) of this
Article not resulting in a verbal warning, written reprimand, or suspension of 1
to 3 days, such question shall first be ruled upon by the Arbitrator selected to hear the
dispute.

2. If the grievance is a claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this
Agreement or rules, regulations, or policies as defined in Section 1 (a) of this Article
resulting in a verbal warning, written reprimand, or suspension of 1 to 3 days, a
mediator through the FMCS shall consider the evidence presented by both parties
regarding the claimed violation,. Mmisapplication, or misinterpretation and make a
recommendation that the parties will accept as final and binding.

3. A decision that is final and binding for the parties to proceed or not proceed to
Arbitration.

ii. Within ten (10) working days after the HR Director receives the written notice of
intent to Arbitrate. The Employer and the Grievant, or the Union, will attempt
to agree upon a mutually acceptable Arbitrator, and to obtain a commitment
from such Arbitrator to serve. If the parties are unable to agree upon an
Arbitrator, or to obtain a commitment to serve from the agreed-upon Arbitrator
within the ten (10) working day period, a request for a list of seven (7)
arbitrators may be made by either party to the FMCS. Within five (5) working
days of receipt of the list. Each party shall alternately strike names from the list,.
Aand the name remaining shall be the Arbitrator.  The party to strike first shall
be determined by a toss of the coin. The parties shall be bound by the rules and
procedures of the American Arbitration Association in the selection of an
Arbitrator.

iii. The Arbitrator shall thereafter confer promptly with the parties, shall set,
and hold hearings,. Aand shall issue a written decision setting forth the
Arbitrator's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decision within thirty
(30) working days from the date of the conclusion of all hearings on the matter
arbitrated. The Arbitrator's written decision shall be consistent with the law
and the terms of this Agreement and shall be final and binding upon the
parties.  The Arbitrator's authority shall be limited to the application and
interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement and any related rules,
regulations, and policies of the Employer, and no arbitrator shall have the
power to modify, amend or alter any terms or conditions of this Agreement.

6. Arbitration Costs: The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the
Employer and the Union. Each party shall bear the costs of its own presentation
including,. Bbut not limited to, witness fees and expenses, preparation, pre- and post--
hearing briefs, and legal fees, if any.

7. If a court reporter is requested by either party, the requesting party shall pay the costs of
the reporter. If the record is transcribed, the requesting party will pay the transcription
costs unless the parties mutually agree to share the cost. Any party desiring a copy of the
transcription will pay the costs for the copy. If the Arbitrator requires a reporter and



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 31 of 42

transcript, the parties will share the cost equally.

8. Jurisdiction of the Arbitrator: The arbitrator shall decide all substantive and
procedural issues,. Uupon request of either party. Aand in the discretion of the Arbitrator,
the merits of a grievance and the substantive and procedural issues arising in connection
with the grievance shall be consolidated for hearing. The decision of the Arbitrator may
be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction.

9. General Provisions:

a. If the Grievant fails to carry his/her grievance forward to the next level within the
prescribed time period, the grievance shall be considered settled based upon the decision
rendered at the most recent step utilized.

b. The Grievant may be represented by a person of his/her choice at any level of this
procedure.

c. Nothing contained herein shall preclude an Employee, with or without
representation,. Ffrom bringing a matter not addressed herein through the chain of
command to the Personnel Director.

d. Proof of service shall be accomplished by Certified Mail or personal service
evidenced by a notarized affidavit of service.

10. Exceptions to Time Limits: The time limits set forth in this Article shall be strictly observed,
unless extended by written agreement of the Union and the Employer or otherwise excused for
just cause.

a. A Grievance alleging errors in wages which are ongoing shall be deemed continuing
and all subsequent errors shall relate back to and be incorporated within the
Grievance alleging the errors in the first instance.

b. Notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement, any grievance filed prior to
expiration may be processed through the grievance procedure to resolution.

11. Proof of service shall be accomplished by certified mail or personal service.

ARTICLE 21: MISCELLANEOUS

1. Safety: The County shall make every reasonable effort to provide all safety
equipment and maintain safe conditions of employment. Employees shall be alert to
unsafe practices,. Eequipment or conditions and report same to their immediate
supervisor in writing.  The supervisor will provide an initial response to all such
reports within three (3) days of receiving the Employee's written notice.  A written
response will be provided within ten (10) days. The County agrees to pay for a
standard testing procedure to test for HIV/AIDS for an Employee who, within the
scope of the Employee's normal duties, has been exposed to HIV/AIDS and could
reasonably be viewed as posing a legitimate threat. The County agrees to pay for



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 32 of 42

Hepatitis B vaccinations for all Employees covered by this Agreement who consent 
to the vaccination and who make an affirmative request for the vaccination.

2. Communicable Disease: In the event an officer covered under this Agreement or
his/her supervisor suspects that,. Aas a result of the course of duty. s/he has been
exposed to or is the carrier of a serious communicable disease, the deputy may be
relieved of duty without the loss of any pay or sick leave and shall be taken to a local
emergency hospital for diagnosis and treatment. It shall be the responsibility of the
supervisor to determine if or when the deputy is permitted to leave duty for this
purpose.

a. The deputy shall be provided with preventive measures designed to protect the
deputy against communicable diseases.  These measures shall include, but are not
limited to, vaccines and blood tests; medical equipment such as gloves, masks, and
other products; and equipment and procedures that are intended to detect, prevent, or
impede communicable disease.  Participation in any medical procedures, such as
vaccination and testing, shall be at the discretion of the deputy. The Storey County
Sheriff’s office shall not be held responsible for any consequences to the officer as
a result of the deputy having or not having received any vaccinations or test.

2. Personnel Files: The Employer will maintain a master personnel file on each Employee.
The Employer shall maintain only one (1) set of files on each Employee; the Personnel
Office shall maintain said files. Any Employee has the right to review his/her master
personnel file upon request to the Personnel Office. Reasonable advance notice will be
provided. This right is limited to the individual Employee to review his/her own personnel
file. However, an Employee may, with proper release forms, permit his/her personnel file
to be reviewed by a party so authorized, upon presentation of properly executed forms
to the Personnel Office, which form shall be developed by the Personnel Office.  Except
as provided herein, only those authorized persons working in the Personnel Office, the
Employee's Supervisor, and the Sheriff shall have access to an Employee's master personnel
file. In addition, the Employer's authorized attorney(s) shall have the right to access an
Employee's tfiles for legitimate personnel purposes related to discipline, complaints,
grievances, arbitrations, and lawsuits involving the Employee.

3. Rights of Peace Officers: The County expressly recognizes the provisions of NRS
Chapter 289 "Rights of Peace Officers."

4. Personal Property: Subject to the approval of the Sheriff. The County will pay one-half (1/2) the
cost of replacing an employee’s prescription eyeglasses/contact lenses damaged in the line of duty
to the extent not covered by insurance.

5.4.Participative Management Committee: A Committee of the Management and the Union, not to 
exceed three (3) representatives each. Shall meet semi-annually or more frequently when mutually 
agreed. The meetings will be held on mutually agreed dates and times for the purpose of:

a. Discussing the administration of this Agreement;
;

b. Exchanging general information of interest to the parties;

c. Giving the bargaining unit representatives the opportunity to share views of their members
and/or make suggestions on subjects to their members;



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 33 of 42

d. Review and analyze replacement and new equipment for quality, safety, and functionality
of future equipment purchases.

6.5. Education and Development: An Employee will be reimbursed for educational training courses 
taken after written approval from the Sheriff.  

a. The training must be related to the required skills or education for the Employee's current
position or to a logical career path with the Employer.

b. Only a bargaining unit Employee will be eligible for reimbursement for course work after
successful completion of the Employee's probationary period. Further eligibility may be
determined by the Sheriff in accordance with the departmental training program.

c. No Employee will be reimbursed more than Two Thousand Dollars ($2.000.00) per fiscal
year. There will be no reimbursement if the cost is assumed by any other institution,
scholarship,. Oor grant-in-aid.

d. Reimbursable expenses shall be restricted to tuition and course fees. While courses shall
be normally taken on the Employee's own time. Exception may be granted by the Sheriff,
in which case hours from work will cause no adverse impacts to his/her duties and other
Employees in the workplace, and which hours from work must be deducted from earned
Vacation or be recorded as an unpaid excused absence.

e. To obtain reimbursement the course must be taken from a recognized and accredited college.
University,. Oor training institution.  The Employee shall provide valid evidence that s/he
completed the course with a minimum grade of "B" eighty percent. If the course is of a
nature that no grade is given (i.e., pass or fail), the Employee must provide to the Employer
a certificate of completion or other valid documentation showing satisfactory passage of the
courses.

f. The employee shall receive the regular rate of pay during training and education
which takes place during the employee's regular schedule shift period and
otherwise as required by the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

7.6.Shift Trades: Represented Employees may request to trade shifts in the event that it does 
not interfere with the operation of the Sheriff’s Office. Employees who trade shifts 
must occupy the same job assignment and otherwise be qualified to perform the duties of 
the job assignment.

a. No obligation,. fFinancial or otherwise of any nature,. Sshall accrue to the Employer
on account of such shift trades. Therefore, hours worked by an Employee working
a shift as the result of a shift trade shall be excluded from any overtime calculation.
However, the regularly scheduled Employee shall be compensated as if s/he had
worked his/her normal schedule for the traded shift.

b. Where Overtime is required as the result of an Employee's inability to fulfill Lo till
a shift trade,. Tthe Employee failing to fill a shift shall have his/her Annual Leave
balance reduced up to twelve (12) hours or up to eighteen (18) hours if Overtime
payment is required.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 34 of 42

c. Three-way shift trades are prohibited except under emergency conditions,. Aas
determined by a supervisor.

d. A maximum of one hundred twenty (120) hours of shift trades per calendar year,.
Pper Employee will be permitted. Shift trades shall not interfere with the operation,.
Aadministration,. Oor safety of the Sheriff’s Office.

e. Nothing herein shall be construed to diminish the Employer's management rights
under NRS 288 or the Management Rights clause hereof.

Legal Liability – NRS Chapter 41 shall apply to represented employees, as appropriate. 

ARTICLE 22: CATASTROPHIC LEA VE

1. Definitions: Catastrophe means the Employee is unable to perform the duties of his/her
position including a reasonable modified duty assignment because of a serious illness or
injury to the Employee and/or an immediate family member (within the First degree of
consanguinity or affinity) which is life threateningthreatening, or which will require a
lengthy convalescence. Lengthy convalescence means a period of disability that an
attending physician expects to exceed ten (10) weeks.

2. Establishing the Catastrophic Leave Account: The Sheriff’s Office may establish an
account for Catastrophic Leave for Sheriff’s Office Employees. All Employees of the
Sheriff’s Office who are eligible to use Sick Leave, whether or not the positions they
occupy are part of the bargaining unit of this Agreement, may use the Leave from the
Catastrophic Leave account and/or donate to this account.  Donations to and withdrawals
from this account are restricted to Employees of the Sheriff’s Office.

a. An Employee may request, in writing, that a specified number of hours of his/her
accrued Annual or Sick Leave be transferred from his/her account to the Catastrophic
Leave account.

b. Sick and Annual Leave will be transferred at the rate of one hour for one hour credit
donated consistent with the provisions of NRS 245. Donated time will be converted to a
dollar amount based upon the donating Employee's current base hourly rate of pay. When
an Employee is given Leave, the Catastrophic Leave account will be reduced by an
amount determined by multiplying the receiving Employee's current base rate of pay by
the number of hours received.

c. The minimum number of hours which may be transferred is eight (8) hours. An
Employee may not transfer Sick Leave to the Catastrophic Leave account if the balance
of his/her account after the transfer is less than two hundred forty (240) hours. Leave
will be placed in a pool; however, the Employee may transfer hours to the catastrophic
leave account for use by a particular Employee who has been determined to be eligible
to receive the Leave.

d. Any hours of Annual or Sick Leave which are transferred from any Employee'’s account
to the Catastrophic Leave account may not be returned or restored to that Employee. This



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 35 of 42

subsection does not prevent the Employee from receiving Leave pursuant to section 4 of 
this Article.

3. Request for Catastrophic Leave: An Employee who is himself/herself affected by a
catastrophe or an immediate family member (within the first degree of consanguinity)
affected by a catastrophe as defined in paragraph (I) may request to the Sheriff or HR
Director, in-writing, that a specified number of hours of Leave be transferred from the
Catastrophic Leave account to his/her account.

a. The request must include:

i. The Employee's name, title, and classification; and

ii. A physician's statement of the limitations which prevent the Employee from being
available for work and the expected duration of the limitations.

b. An Employee may not receive any Leave from the Catastrophic Leave account until s/he
has used all his/her accrued Annual, Sick, and other paid Leave.  If an Employee has
requested leave from the Catastrophic Leave account within the previous three (3) years,
the Employee may not receive any leave from the Catastrophic Leave account until s/he
has been off work for forty (40) consecutive hours and has used all his/her accrued Sick,
Annual, and other paid Leave.

c. An Employee who receives Leave from the Catastrophic Leave account is entitled to
payment for that leave at a rate no greater than his/her own rate of pay.

c.d. The request form will be made available at the Human Resources office and must be
completed by the employee, except in cases where an employee is unable to do so.

e. The maximum number of hours that may be granted to an employee shall be 480 hours
per rolling calendar year. Any requests for an exception to this limit must be approved
by the Sheriff and the Administrative Officer/HR Director.

d.f. The decision of the Sheriff or HR Director concerning the approval of Leave is final and
is not subject to the Grievance procedure, judicial review, or review by the Board of
County Commissioners

4. Approval of Transferring the Catastrophic Leave: The Sheriff may approve the transfer
of a specified number of hours of Leave from the Catastrophic Leave account to the account
of any Employee who is eligible to receive such Leave.

a. The decision of the Sheriff concerning the approval of Leave is final and is not subject
to the Grievance procedure, judicial review, or review by the Board of County
Commissioners.

5. Review of Status of Catastrophe; Termination of Leave; Disposition of Hours Not
Used: The Sheriff or HR Director shall review the status of the limitations of the Employee
and determine when the limitations no longer exist. This determination is final and not
subject to the Grievance procedure, judicial review, or review by the Board of County
Commissioners.

a. The Sheriff or the HR Director shall not grant any hours of Leave from the Catastrophic
Leave account after:

i. The limitations cease to exist; or



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 36 of 42

ii. The Employee who is receiving the Leave resigns or his/her employment with the
County is terminated.

b. b. Any Leave which is received from the Catastrophic Leave account which was not used at the
time the limitations cease to exist or upon the resignation or termination of the employment
of the Employee must be returned to the Catastrophic Leave account.

6. Maintenance of Records on Catastrophic Leave: The Sheriff  Records will be maintained
by the Payroll Dept. under the direction of the Comptroller.  The Union may request in
writing information concerning the use of the Catastrophic Leave account provided that any
request for medical information be accompanied by a written release signed by the affected
employee(s). shall maintain the records and report to the Union any information concerning
the use of a Catastrophic Leave account.

6.
7. Substantiation of Limitations: The Sheriff or his/her designee may require written

substantiation of the limitations and expected duration by a physician of his/her choosing.
The cost of such written substantiation shall be borne by the Sheriff s Office.  The Sheriff
and/or HR Director or his/hers designee shall require written substantiation of the catastrophe
and expected duration by a physician of his or her choosing. The physician shall be of equal
or greater qualification as the treating physician.  The cost of such written substantiation shall
be borne by the employer. Visits to the physician shall be on County time.

Employee to Employee Donations:  An employee who fails to qualify for catastrophic leave 
pursuant to the requirements set forth in subsection (f) above may receive Catastrophic Leave if eligible 
employees independently contribute a designated number of hours in eight (8) hour increments to the 
non-qualifying employee’s specific Catastrophic event. The receipt of such Catastrophic Leave shall be 
subject to the remaining requirements set forth in this Article.

Annual and Sick Leave will be transferred at the rate of one (1) hour for one (1) hour credit 
donated consistent with the provisions of NRS 245. 

7.
8.

ARTICLE 23: SERVICE-CONNECTED DISABILITY

All eligible members shall be covered by a workers compensation program of the county'’s 
choice that conforms with the provisions of the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act (NRS 616) and 
the Nevada Occupational Disease Act (NRS 617) and that provides for payment of industrial 
accident benefits and compensation for partial and total disability arising from industrial injuries 
and occupational diseases.

1. In the event an employee is absent from work due to a service-connected disability, approved
pursuant to N RS 616 or 617, a supplemental amount from the county will be provided which
would cause the total amount received by the employee from the service- connected
disability and the county to equal his/her wages at the time of his/her disability.

The supplemental compensation will start from the first day of absence or illness but shall
not exceed 60 calendar days for the same incident.  During this period, the employee shall
not forfeit any accrued sick leave. Successful completion of the probationary period is



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 37 of 42

required in order to qualify for the supplemental compensation from the county.

2. It is the intent of the County to pay on-the-job injured employees (as outlined in this section)
the difference between full biweekly wages and that provided pursuant to NRS 616 and 617
covering the period enumerated in Section I of this Article. No supplemental benefits shall
be paid until after the employee's lost-time benefit check has been deposited with the County
Treasurer.

3. If an employee who is entitled to disability compensation has not completed his/her
probationary period, or if an employee who has received supplemental compensation for the
maximum 60 calendar days is unable to return to work, s/he may elect to utilize accrued sick
leave, during which period the employee shall receive compensation from the county as
provided by NRS 281.390.  If the employee is receiving no compensation for time missed
from work though the workers' compensation program, the employee must use leave benefits
to fully account for any absence.

4. When accrued sick leave has expired, if the employee is still unable to work and the
employee is receiving compensation for time missed from work though the workers·
compensation program, s/he will be permitted to use his/her accrued annual leave as sick
leave.  Subsequent to the expiration of both the employee's sick and annual leave, provided
that the employee has so elected to use his/her annual leave as sick leave, the employee's
compensation will be limited to that provided by NRS 617 or 617 and the employee will be
placed in a leave without pay status. However, through written justification to the HR
Director, exceptions to this Article may be approved by the county manager.

5. As a result of a licensed physician's evaluation and prognosis,. Iit appears that the employee
will not return to his/her regular county job within a 12-month period, the county may require
a medical separation. Medical separation appeals of employees covered by this Agreement
shall be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article 2045 Grievance
Procedures.

ARTICLE 24: PAYROLL DEDUCTION

1. The County shall deduct dues from the salaries of Union members and pay over to the
proper officer of the Union the money so collected on a monthly basis. All payroll deductions
for dues shall only be made in accordance with a voluntary deduction authorization form
individually executed by the Employee for whom the deduction will be made.

2. The Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the County harmless against any and all
claims, demands, suits, and all other forms of liability, which might arise out of or by
reason of action taken under the provisions of this Article.

3. The Union shall certify to the County, in writing, the current rate of membership dues. The
County will be notified of any change in the rate of membership dues, in writing, thirty
(30) days prior to the effective date of such change.

ARTICLE 25: PERSONNEL PRACTICES

1. Date of hire is the first day actually worked.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 38 of 42

2. Initial Probationary Period: Probationary periods are considered a continuation of the
selection process and apply to all initial appointments. All classifications covered by this
Agreement shall undergo a probationary period of one year from the date of hire.

a. Time which elapses between an offer of employment and the date the employee
begins working,. Uunpaid leave, or other separations shall not be considered working
time.

3. Probationary Employee:  An employee who is undergoing a working evaluation period during
which h/she is required to demonstrate his/her ability to carry out the duties of the position 
to which hired.

a. The new hire probation period pursuant to this agreement is 12 months.  The probation may
be extended up to 18 months if more time is needed to evaluate the employee’s ability to 
carry out the duties of the position.  The extension of probation is at the sole discretion of 
the Sheriff.

b. Newly hired probationary employees are employed “at-will” and are excluded from the
coverage of this agreement.  They may be laid-off or discharged from employment during 
this period for any reason with or without cause.  After successfully completing the new 
hire probationary period, the employee shall be deemed to be a regular employee and 
subject to this agreement and shall acquire seniority from his/her first date of hire.

c. A probationary employee who transfers laterally within the same classification (e.g.,
Admin. II in one department to Admin. II in another department) must serve the remainder 
of the new-hire probationary period assigned to him/her upon hire.

d. A regular employee who is promoted to a position in a higher classification shall serve a
“trial period” of 12 months in the new position.  A probationary employee who is promoted 
to a position in a higher classification shall serve a “trial period” of 12 months in the new 
position and must concurrently complete the remainder of his/her new hire probation 
period.  During the “trial period”, the regular employee is not considered probationary; 
however, regular employees and probationary employees completing the remainder of their 
probationary period must demonstrate satisfactory ability to carry out the duties of the 
position to which promoted.  Unless the promoted employee is dismissed from employment 
for cause, the employee who failed the “trail period” in the new position will be restored to 
his/her previous classification or an equivalent classification if the previous position is 
unavailable.

e. An employee who is demoted to a lower classification is not required to serve a “trial
period” for that position.

f. An employee who changes from working part-time to regular full-time within the same
classification shall have his/her new hire probationary period adjusted to credit actual hours 
worked over the past 12 months with Storey County in said classification, up to the 
maximum of 1040 hours (6 months), toward completion of the new hire probation period.

a.
3.4. Rejection During Initial Probation: The Sheriff may terminate (reject) a 

probationary Employee at any time during the probationary period without the right of 
appeal in any mann.er and without recourse to the grievance procedure of this Agreement; 
except when the Employee alleges and substantiates in writing that the termination was 
due to discrimination on the basis of race, religion, color, national origin, sex,. sexual 
orientation, age, disability, pregnancy, ancestry, veteran's status, domestic partnership, 
genetic information,. gender identity or expression, political affiliation, membership in 
Nevada National Guard, or union affiliation. Grievances based on allegations of 
discrimination shall be processed pursuant to Article 20 of this Agreement and filed 
directly at Level 2 with the Sheriff within ten (10) days of the notice of termination.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 39 of 42

4.5. The Sheriff shall notify the Employee in writing that s/he is rejected during 
probation. No reasons for the action are necessary.

ARTICLE 26: DRUG AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE

1. Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace & Reasonable Suspicion Drug Testing: Employees
agree to abide by Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206 - Drug and Alcohol-
Free Workplace.

2. Reasonable Suspicion Drug and Alcohol Testing will he conducted in accordance with
Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206 - Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace
and Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206A - Vehicle Operators Drug and
Alcohol Policy, as appropriate.

3. Weapons / Use of Deadly Force Incident:  Each Employee who accidentally discharges
a firearm while on duty or applies deadly force against a human being will be tested for
drugs and alcohol as soon as possible after the incident.

a. An Employee who is subject to a post-accident/incident test must remain readily
available for testing. An Employee who leaves the scene before the test is
administered or who does not make him/herself readily available may be deemed to
have refused to be tested, and such refusal shall be treated as a positive test.  Further,
the Employee, subject to a post-accident/incident test, must refrain from consuming
alcohol for eight (8) hours following the accident/incident or until the Employee
submits to an alcohol test, whichever comes first.  An Employee who consumes
alcohol within eight (8) hours following the accident/incident or before submitting to an
alcohol test, whichever comes first. shall be subject to discipline, up to and including
termination.

ARTICLE 27: SAVINGS CLAUSE

It is not the intent of either party hereto to violate any laws, rulings or regulations of any 
governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter of this Agreement.  The 
parties agree that, in the event that any provision(s) of this Agreement are finally held or determined 
to be illegal or void as being in contravention of such laws, rulings or regulations, nevertheless the 
remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless the provision(s) so found to 
be void cannot be separated from the provision(s) of this Agreement held to be legal.  Upon such 
finding of illegality and nullity, the parties shall promptly meet to enter into lawful negotiations 
concerning the substance of the provision(s) found to be illegal and void.

ARTICLE 28: ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT PROCEDURE

This Agreement shall be deemed adopted and binding upon execution by authorized representatives 
of the Union and the County.  The provisions of this Agreement shall not be altered, amended, or 
added to except by the mutual written agreement of the County and the Union.  Either party may 
request to the other to consider changes in provisions of the Agreement: such request shall be in 
writing.

ARTICLE 29:  REOPENER

Both the union and the County have an option for a reopener, limited to one article each, for the third 



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 40 of 42

year of the contract 2026/2027.  The party(s) requesting the reopener must notify the other party of 
the request no later than February 1, 2026.

STOREY COUNTY STOREY COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE
EMPLOYEES’ ASSOCIATION

__________________________ _____________________________
Clay Mitchell Christopher HambinHamblin, President
Storey County Commission SCSO Employees’ Association

__________________________ _____________________________
Jay Carmona Mike Simons, Vice President
Storey County Commission SCSO Employees’ Association

__________________________ _____________________________
Lance Gilman Stan Glowniak, Secretary SCSO
Storey County Commission Employers Association

_____________________________
Joseph Welch, Treasurer SCSO
Employer’s Association

Approved as to from:

__________________________
Anne Langer, District Attorney

APPENDIX A: WAGE AND STEP SCHEDULE
(20243 – 20274 Collective Bargaining Agreement Between SCSOEA & Storey County)

Article 7 Compensation.



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 41 of 42

Wage and Step Schedule
Class & 

Year Merit Steps General
Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Step 6 Step 7 Step 8 Step 9 Step 10

Deputy 55,952 59,029 62,276 65,701 69,315 73,127 77,149 81,392 85,869 90,592

Corporal 57,869 61,052 64,410 67,953 71,690 75,633 79,793 84,181 88,811 93,696

Sergeant 62,416 65,849 69,471 73,291 77,322 81,575 86,062 80,795 95,798 101,057

ew Chart - Less compression between positions

July 2024 Drop 4 steps Corporal and Sergeant  4.5% between Steps
Possible 
N

Deputy stays at 5.5%
Step 1 Hourly Step 2 Hourly Step 3 Hourly Step 4 Hourly Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly Step 7 Hourly Step 8 Hourly Step 9 Hourly Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 62,275.97 29.94 65,701.15 31.59 69,314.72 33.32 73,127.03 35.16 77,149.01 37.09 81,392.21 39.13 85,868.78 41.28 90,591.56 43.55 95,574.10 45.95 100,830.67 48.48

Step 1 Hourly Step 2 Hourly Step 3 Hourly Step 4 Hourly Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly Step 7 Hourly Step 8 Hourly Step 9 Hourly Step 10 Hourly

Corporal 79,792.25 38.36 83,382.91 40.09 87,135.14 41.89 91,056.22 43.78 95,153.75 45.75 99,435.67 47.81 103,910.27 49.96 108,586.23 52.20 113,472.61 54.55 118,578.88 57.01

Sergeant 86,061.85 41.38 89,934.64 43.24 93,981.69 45.18 98,210.87 47.22 102,630.36 49.34 107,248.73 51.56 112,074.92 53.88 117,118.29 56.31 122,388.61 58.84 127,896.10 61.49

ew Chart - Less compression between positionsPossible 
N July 2025 Possible 3% increase w/o PERS increase

Step 1 Hourly Step 2 Hourly Step 3 Hourly Step 4 Hourly Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly Step 7 Hourly Step 8 Hourly Step 9 Hourly Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 64,144.25 30.84 67,672.19 32.53 71,394.16 34.32 75,320.84 36.21 79,463.48 38.20 83,833.97 40.30 88,444.84 42.52 93,309.31 44.86 98,441.32 47.33 103,855.59 49.93

Corporal 82,186.02 39.51 85,884.39 41.29 89,749.19 43.15 93,787.90 45.09 98,008.36 47.12 102,418.74 49.24 107,027.58 51.46 111,843.82 53.77 116,876.79 56.19 122,136.25 58.72

Sergeant 88,643.71 42.62 92,632.68 44.53 96,801.15 46.54 101,157.20 48.63 105,709.27 50.82 110,466.19 53.11 115,437.17 55.50 120,631.84 58.00 126,060.27 60.61 131,732.98 63.33

ew Chart - Less compression between positionsPossible 
N July 2026 2% increase

Step 1 Hourly Step 2 Hourly Step 3 Hourly Step 4 Hourly Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly Step 7 Hourly Step 8 Hourly Step 9 Hourly Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 65,427.14 31.46 69,025.63 33.19 72,822.04 35.01 76,827.25 36.94 81,052.75 38.97 85,510.65 41.11 90,213.74 43.37 95,175.50 45.76 100,410.15 48.27 105,932.71 50.93

Corporal 83,829.74 40.30 87,602.08 42.12 91,544.17 44.01 95,663.66 45.99 99,968.53 48.06 104,467.11 50.22 109,168.13 52.48 114,080.70 54.85 119,214.33 57.31 124,578.97 59.89

Sergeant 90,416.58 43.47 94,485.33 45.43 98,737.17 47.47 103,180.34 49.61 107,823.46 51.84 112,675.51 54.17 117,745.91 56.61 123,044.48 59.16 128,581.48 61.82 134,367.64 64.60



20234-20247 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 42 of 42



Sheriff Union CBA
(7/24-6/25)Year 1  cost of CBA

Fully Staffed - No Tesla GSA Employees

Currently $2 per hour $3 per holiday hour Current Swg 1.50 Grave 1.75 Current FTO 5% hr worked in FTO

Based on current estimated budget Proposed 12.5% per hour Proposed Swg 1.75  Grave 2.00 Proposed 5% entire period while assigned

Proposal 0%   Increase allows for SGT/Corp decomp chart $30 hrly employee $3.75 Proposed add additional specialties

Total Costs Current budgeted Proposed chart Increased Cost Current Proposed
Increased 

Cost
 Current 

Estimated Proposed Increased 
 Current 
Estimate Proposed Increased Current Proposed Increased 

 Salary 2,325,869.00               2,345,369.00          19,500.00         -                 -                 -   39,943          45,871          5,928         8,000 42,806         34,806       5,200.00 17,703          12,503       
 Overtime 142,092.00 -  4 employees

 PERS 1,620,579.00               9,750.00            
 Medicare 50,707.00 2,827.50            

 PACT 338,447.00 - 
59,286.60        Totals 4,851,257.96              5,395,403.39          32,077.50                         -   5,928         34,806       12,503       

1% Estimated

Year 2 (7/25-6/26)
Estimated with possible 24-25 budget     (3% increase) 3% increase as wages

Total Costs Current budgeted Proposed chart Increased Cost Current Proposed
Increased 

Cost
 Previous 

Year Proposed Increased 
 Current 
Estimate Proposed Increased Current Proposed Increased 

 Salary 2,442,162.45               2,515,427.32          73,264.87         -                 -                 -   45,871          45,871          - 42,806 44,090         1,284         17,703 17,703          -             
 Overtime 97,686.50 100,617.09             2,930.59            

 PERS 1,221,081.23               1,257,713.66          36,632.44         
 Medicare 35,411.36 36,473.70               1,062.34            

134,773.92     Totals 4,851,257.96              5,395,403.39          113,890.25                       -   -             1,284         -             

Year 3  (7/26-6/27)
Total Costs Estimated with possible 24-25 budget     (3% increase) 2% increase as wages

Current budgeted Proposed chart Increased Cost Current Proposed
Increased 

Cost
 Previous 

Year Proposed Increased 
 Current 
Estimate Proposed Increased Current Proposed Increased 

 Salary 2,641,198.69               2,694,022.66          52,823.97         -                 -                 -   45,871          45,871          - 44,090 44,972         882            17,703 17,703          -             
 Overtime 105,647.95 107,760.91             2,112.96            

 PERS 1,320,599.34               1,347,011.33          26,411.99         
 Medicare 38,297.38 39,063.33               765.95               

94,214.99        Totals 4,851,257.96              5,395,403.39          82,114.87                         -   -             882            -             

Estimated Cost by Year
24-25 59,286.60                 
25-26 134,773.92               
26-27 94,214.99                 

Total 288,275.51              

Specialty Pay

Wages/Benefits

Standby Shiff Diff Specialty Pay Incentives

 Current Phys Fitness $1000 Degrees A 
$1000, B $1400, M $1800 

 Propose Phys Fitness $1200 Degrees A   
2.5%, B  5%, M   5.5% 

Standby 12.5%

Standby 12.5%

Shiff Diff

Shiff Diff
Specialty Pay

Incentives

Incentives

24-27 CBA Cost   24-27 Cost Analysis



Proposed increase $500 each milestone Currently paid on holidays worked accordingly Current  $0.00

Proposed Pay Biweekly rate of 1.75 per# of hrs Proposed $200.00

approx 8% of hours are HL Taken or 6.5% of $

Should employees take AL since getting pd HL

Current Proposed Increased 
 Current 

Estimated Proposed Increased Current Proposed
Increased 

Cost

32,500 6,000                (26,500)     252,844           253,317           473 - -                 -   
8 employees 1 employee  32 employees @ $200

(26,500)     473                 -   

3% increase as wages

Current Proposed Increased Previous Year Proposed Increased Previous Year Proposed
Increased 

Cost

6,000.00 18,000             12,000       253,317           260,916           7,600                - -                 -   
3 employees

12,000       7,600                                -   

2% increase as wages

Current Proposed Increased Previous Year Proposed Increased Previous Year Proposed
Increased 

Cost

18,000 24,000             6,000         260,916           266,135           5,218                - -                 -   
5 employees

6,000         5,218                                -   

Uniforms -Boots

Milestone Bonus Boot allowanceHoliday Pay

Holiday Pay

23-24 staff

23-24 staff

Longevity Bonus

Longevity Bonus Uniforms -Boots

Uniforms -Boots

23-24 staff

Holiday Pay

24-27 CBA Cost   24-27 Cost Analysis



Page 1 of 37 

2024 – 2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement          SCSOEA/Storey County  

AGREEMEN'T 

BETWEEN 

STOREY COUNTY, 

NEVADA AND 

STOREY COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE EMPLOYEES' 

ASSOCIATION/NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF POLICE & 

SHERIFF'S OFFICERS (NAPSO) 

JULY 1, 2024 - JUNE 30, 2027 



Page 2 of 37 

2024 – 2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement   SCSOEA/Storey County  

PREAMBLE 

This Agreement is made and entered into at Virginia City. Nevada, pursuant to the provisions 

of the Nevada Revised Statutes, by and between the County of Storey, Nevada, a County 

government, hereinafter referred to as the Employer or County, and the Storey County Sheriff’s 

Office Employees’ Association/Nevada Association of Police & Sheriff’s Officers (NAPSO), 

hereinafter referred to as the Union or Association. 

It is the purpose of this Agreement to achieve and maintain harmonious relations between the 

Employer and the Union, to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustments or differences 

which may arise and to provide proper standards of wages, hours, and other conditions of 

employment. 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 3 of 37 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PREAMBLE…………………………………………………………………………….…2 

DEFINITIONS…………………………………………………………………………….4 

ARTICLE 1. EFFECTED PARTIES…………………………………………………5 

ARTICLE 2. RECOGNITION………………………………………………………..6 

ARTICLE 3. NO-STRIKE CLAUSE…………………………………………………6 

ARTICLE 4. RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT………………………………………...6 

ARTICLE 5. NON-DISCRIMINATION……………………………………………..6 

ARTICLE 6. EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES….…………………………..…....7 

ARTICLE 7. COMPENSATION PRACTICES………………………………………7 

ARTICLE 8. OVERTIME…………………………………………………………...13 

ARTICLE 9. CALL-BACK PAY……………………………………………………14 

ARTICLE 10. HOLIDAYS…………………………………………………………...14 

ARTICLE 10A MANDATORY DATES OF WORK…………………………………14 

ARTICLE 11. VACATION………………………………………………………...…15 

ARTICLE 12. SICK LEAVE………………………………………………………….16 

ARTICLE 13. GROUP BENEFITS INSURANCE…………………………………...17 

ARTICLE 14. RETIREMENT………………………………………………………...18 

ARTICLE 15. UNIFORMS…………………………………………………………...18 

ARTICLE 16. LEAVES OF ABSENCES………………………………………….…20 

ARTICLE 17. LAYOFF PROCEDURES…………………………….…………….…21 

ARTICLE 18. CHANGE OF ASSIGNMENT AND JOB VACANCIES………….…23 

ARTICLE 19. DISCIPLINARY ACTION……………………………………………23 

ARTICLE 20. GRIEVANCE/ARBITRATION PROCEDURES………………… .….26 

ARTICLE 21. MISCELLANEOUS……………………………………………….…..29 

ARTICLE 22. CATASTROPHIC LEAVE…………………………………….……...32 

ARTICLE 23. SERVICE CONNECTED DISABILITY……………….……………..34 

ARTICLE 24. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS…………………………….……………..35 

ARTICLE 25. PERSONNEL PRACTICES………………………….……………….35 

ARTICLE 26. DRUG AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE….……….…………35 

ARTICLE 27. SAVINGS CLAUSE………………………………………….……….36 

ARTICLE 28. ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT PROCEDURE………….……….36 

ARTICLE 29 REOPENER…………………………………………………………...37 

SIGNATURE PAGE……………………………………………………………………..37 

APPENDIX A WAGE CHART…………………………………….……………….…...38 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 4 of 37 

DEFINITIONS 

Anniversary Date:  The date in which the employee starts work as indicated in-writing in an offer letter 

of employment, is reclassified or promoted to a new job classification, or less than part-time employee 

becomes a full-time employee.  The date on which an employee is demoted to a lower pay range, 

reassigned, or transferred to alternative positions where their talents or skills may be best utilized to 

their own or the organization’s benefit, or where they are better able to perform the job in accordance 

with required standards, is not an Anniversary Date. 

Base Rate of Pay:  The amount of pay the Employee is designated to receive within the salary range 

for the Employee’s job classification, excluding any additional types of pay. 

Days:  Shall mean Storey County working days – Monday through Friday, excluding holidays unless 

otherwise stated. 

Employee:  An Employee in the bargaining unit who has successfully completed his/her probationary 

period or any extended probationary period and has been retained to the employment of Storey County 

Sheriff’s Offices. 

Employee’s Health File:  A separate confidential file which is maintained in the Human Resources 

Office, and which contains only health-related matters, i.e., Workers’ Compensation information, 

physical examination results, etc. 

Major Fraction:  Fifteen (15) minute intervals of time. 

Regular Rate of Pay:  The Employee’s base rate of pay plus other additional pay for which the 

Employee’s specific assignment may entitle him/her. 

Regularly Scheduled Shift:  The shift created by the department that is the same schedule for at least 

30 days. 

Seniority:  Seniority is determined by the total consecutive time spent in the current job 

classification.  If seniority is otherwise equal, a choice must be made on the total time spent 

with the Sheriff’s Office, second by total time spent with the County. and third by lot.  In 

computing time for purposes of determining seniority, only time spent during current 

continuous County service will be counted other than a rehire as provided in Article 7. Leave 

without pay over thirty (30) days is not counted in seniority calculations. Part-time 

employment must be prorated to its full-time equivalent. Time spent in other County 

Departments or as a County Volunteer and/or reserve is specifically excluded in computing 

time for purposes of determining seniority.   

Sheriff:  The Sheriff or his/her designee. 

ARTICLE 1: EFFECTIVE DATE, PARTIES 

1. This Agreement shall be in full-force and effect July 1, 2024, through June 30, 2027.  If either

party desires to make a change, the party shall notify the other party in writing of the Article

and/or Section or that Article desired to be negotiated.

2. Pursuant to NRS 288.150, this Agreement or any provisions herein may be automatically reopened

for negotiations upon written request by the Employer during periods of fiscal emergency.

3. Notification of desire to negotiate shall be done in accordance with NRS 288.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 5 of 37 

4. The parties shall promptly commence negotiations.  If the parties cannot reach agreement

either party may submit the dispute to an impartial fact finder at any time for his/her findings

in accordance with NRS 288.  The fact finder shall make recommendations of the unresolved

issues.

5. If the parties have not reached an agreement within ten (10) workdays after the fact finder’s report

is submitted, all issues remaining in dispute shall be submitted to an arbitrator.  The arbitrator shall,

within ten (10) workdays after the final offers were submitted, accept one of the written statements,

and shall report the decision to the parties.

6. The impartial fact finder and the binding arbitrator shall be from the American Arbitration

Association (AAA) and/or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS).  The Union

and the County agree to solicit a list of seven (7) professional neutrals with public sector

experience from the AAA or FMCS and alternately strike names from such list until one name

remains.  That remaining person so selected shall serve as the arbitrator.  For the first arbitration,

the party to strike first shall be determined by lot. Thereafter, the party to strike first shall alternate

between the parties.  All hearings shall be conducted according to AAA or FMCS rules.

7. In the event that future agreements are not reached prior to July 1 of that year, all awards rendered

by the final binding arbitrator shall be retroactive to July 1 of the year in which negotiations

commenced.

ARTICLE 2: RECOGNITION 

1. The Union is hereby recognized as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining representative for the

purpose of establishing wages, hours, and conditions of employment pursuant to the provisions of

NRS 288.010 et seq., for all Employees in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement, which

include all full-time positions in the following classifications:

a. Deputy Sheriff

b. Corporal

c. Sergeant

2. Representatives of the Union and its affiliates will be permitted to transact Union business on County

property, provided that this does not disrupt normal work functions.  In accordance with NRS 288,

the Employer may require Union business to be conducted during non-work time, such as before

work and after work, during breaks, and/or lunchtime.  Union business may only be conducted in

common areas and/or designated Employee break areas.  The designated representative of the Union

shall be allowed to receive telephone calls or other communique concerning Union business at any

time during working hours. The Union shall have the right to use the interoffice mail for Union

business.  County email may be used internally to conduct Union business but shall be limited to all

parties to this Agreement and subject to established County policies.

3. The Union may post notices involving Union business in the location(s) and manner(s) as mutually

agreed upon.  All items to be posted on the bulletin boards are subject to review by the Sheriff.

4. The Union acknowledges and agrees that the Union shall be solely responsible for the opening,

closing, and securing of County buildings used by the Union for Union meetings.  The Union

acknowledges and agrees that the Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Employer harmless

for any damages incurred and against any claims made or actions initiated against the Employer as a

result of the Union's use of County buildings for Union meetings.



 

 

2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement     SCSOEA/Storey County 
 

Page 6 of 37 
 

ARTICLE 3:  NO STRIKE CLAUSE 

 

The Union agrees not to and will not promote, sponsor, or engage in, against County any strike, 

slowdown, interruption of operation, work stoppage, absence from work upon any pretext or excuse 

not founded in fact, or any intentional interruption of the business of the County, regardless of the 

reason for so doing, and will use all reasonable efforts to induce all Employees covered by this 

Agreement to comply with this pledge. 

 

ARTICLE 4: RIGHTS OF MANAGEMENT 

 

County, Sheriff, and Commissioners retain, and do not waive in any respect, all rights conferred 

upon them, jointly and severally, by NRS Chapter 288, any and all other provisions of the Nevada 

Revised Statutes, and relevant case law. 

 

ARTICLE 5: NON-DISCRIMINATION 

 

Employer and Union agree to comply with all applicable laws prohibiting discrimination in 

employment including Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in 

Employment Act of 1967, the Equal Employment Opportunity Act of 1972, the Immigration 

Reform and Control Act of 1986, the Americans with Disabilities Act of I 990, as amended, the 

applicable Nevada Revised Statutes on Equal Employment Opportunity (NRS 613) and any other 

applicable federal, state, and local statutory provisions. 

 

ARTICLE 6: EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVES 

 

1. The County recognizes and agrees to deal with representatives of the Union on all matters within 

the scope of bargaining and pursuant to the provisions of NRS 288, so long as the subject matter 

does not impinge upon the County's management rights provided by NRS 288. 

 

2. Reasonable release time for Employee representatives shall be limited to (1) attending County 

meetings, including negotiations, which have a direct impact on the Union; (2) investigating, 

processing or attending meetings in accordance with the provisions of the grievance-arbitration 

procedures of the Agreement; or (3) meetings called by the County for information exchange 

and other conditions designated by the County concerning the interpretation or application of the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

3. If such Union business or representation must be conducted during an Employee representative's 

regular work shift, the County shall, upon advance approval of the Sheriff or his/her designee, 

release the Employee to conduct Union affairs on County time. 

 

4. The Sheriff shall not unreasonably withhold approval of requests for release time pursuant to this 

Article. 

 

5. The County authorized payment as outlined above will be granted at the applicable straight time 

rate, provided the time spent is a part of the Employee’s scheduled workday. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 7 of 37 

ARTICLE 7: COMPENSATION PRACTICES 

Employees will receive Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) to their base pay on the first full pay period 

of the fiscal year, to be effective: 

0% for the first year of the contract (2024-2025) 

3% for the second year of the contract (2025-2026) 

2% for the third year of the contract (2026-2027) 

These increases will be effective during the first full pay period in July. 

If there is a PERS increase during the term of this contract, the said increase will be shared equally 

between union eligible employees in accordance with NRS 286.421 (3) (a) (1).  The union eligible 

employee’s portion will be covered by reducing agreed upon COLA increase by 50% of the PERS 

increase. 

The pay chart for Corporal and Sergeant is being expanded to address compaction issues as well as to 

provide competitive pay for comparable positions in local counties.  Effective the first full pay period in 

July 2024, Corporals and Sergeants will move to the step closest to their current pay in the new chart as 

provided below.  Their anniversary date will not change.  If the closest step is less than $1,000 higher than 

the employee’s current rate of pay the employee will move to that step (example 1).  If the closest step is 

$1,000 or more, above the employee’s current pay the employee will move to the next lower step.  If that 

step provides pay that is lower than the employee currently receives the employee will be Y-rated at their 

current pay until their next merit increase (example 2). 

For the purposes of this contract Y-rate is defined as an employee being paid between steps of the pay 

chart.  The employee will continue to be Y-rated until they move to the next step on their anniversary 

date. 

Example 1:  Sergeant is step 09, $106,615.  Sergeant would move to step 6 on new chart at $107,248. 

Example 2:  Sergeant is step 10, $112,479.  Sergeant would move to step 7 on new chart, $112,074 but 

would have their pay Y-rated at $112,479 until their merit increase and would then move to step 8 at 

$117,118. 

1. Wages: Biweekly wages: All Employees will be paid on each biweekly Friday, with wages

computed through the preceding Sunday.

2. Wages and Wage Adjustments: Employees will receive wages and yearly adjustments as

shown in Appendix A of this Agreement. Merit increases will be provided as described in this

Article.

Merit Increases: A merit increase of one step in the wage range for the Employee's job class will be granted 

to an Employee upon completion of each year in which the Employee receives a satisfactory evaluation 

score until the Employee reaches the top of the wage range.  If the Employee has not been evaluated within 

thirty (30) calendar day following his/her Anniversary date, merit will be granted retroactive to the 

Anniversary date. 

Employees who reach step ten (10) of the 2024·2027 Appendix A, are capped and may advance no further. 

3. Promotions:

a. A Deputy who is promoted to Corporal must move to the next closest step from his/her former position

but must receive no less than a five (5) percent increase in base pay.  A Corporal promoted to Sergeant

must move to the next closest step from his/her former position but must receive no less than a five (5)



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 8 of 37 

percent increase in base pay.  A Deputy who is promoted to Sergeant will move to the next closest step 

from his/her former position but must receive no less than a ten (10) percent increase in base pay. 

Ensuring that the promoted Employee receives no less than the stated increase in base pay is 

accomplished by moving him/her to the next nearest step which provides the required increase, provided 

the employee pay may not exceed step 10 of the pay schedule. 

b. All promotions within the Bargaining Unit shall be filled by candidates who meet the minimum

requirements of the position that are established by the Employer.

c. Notice of promotions to vacant positions within the Bargaining Unit shall be posted on bulletin

boards within the Department for a period of not less than ten (10) working days prior to the last date

for application or the date scheduled for testing, whichever is earlier. Notice shall contain the following

information or indicate where the information may be obtained:

i. Title and Job Description of Position;

ii. All eligibility requirements including education, employment, training, and experience

criteria. and whether equivalent factors will be recognized;

iii. If there will be competitive testing and the date, time, and place of such testing;

iv. The nature and scope of test subject matter;

v. Whether the test will consist of written, oral, and/or physical demonstration components.

4. Salary and Step Upon Hire: Applicants hired into a position represented by this

Agreement will be placed at step 1  in the salary range chart.  The Sheriff may approve

an applicant to be hired up to step 10 if it is determined that the applicant has extensive

experience comparable to the duties assigned.  Prior to approving an accelerated hiring

step, the Sheriff must ensure that there are budgeted funds available and there will be

no disparate impact to current employees in the bargaining unit.

5. Rehire:  Regular employees, including those serving a trial period, who voluntarily

terminate employment may be considered for rehire:

a) Without undergoing any recruitment or examination (not including probationary

period) within 2 years of the effective date of termination.

b) The rehire must be to a position in the same or comparable class.

c) The decision to rehire is at the sole discretion of the Sheriff.

d) The employee may be rehired at the step they held at the time of termination.

e) Upon rehire, the employee shall be required to serve a new probationary period.

f) No credit for former employment may be granted in determining eligibility for leave

or other benefits.

g) Seniority may be continued (not counting the period of time the employee was not

employed by Storey County) provided the employee is rehired into the same job

classification.  The employee’s new anniversary date shall be the date of rehire.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 9 of 37 

6. Shift Differential: An Employee shall receive Shift Differential Pay, in addition to Base Pay

on all regularly scheduled hours worked in the manner described in subsections (a) and (b)

below.  Shift Differential Pay will be included in the regular rate of pay for the purposes of

calculating overtime.

a. Swing shift – One dollar seventy-five cents ($ 1.75) per hour for all hours worked on Swing shift.

i. Swing Shift is a scheduled regular or scheduled overtime shift which must include the entire

hour of 1900-2000 hours.

b. Graveyard shift –Two dollars ($2.00) per hour for all hours worked on Graveyard shift.

i. Graveyard shift is a scheduled regular or scheduled overtime shift which must include the

entire hour of 0100-0200 hours.

c. Overtime worked within shift differential period counts as time worked for determining eligibility

pay.

d. No shift differential pay is provided during times the employee is absent from work while taking

sick or annual leave, holiday not worked leave or other leave with or without pay, even though

the employee during those times may be assigned to a shift that qualifies for the differential.  No

shift differential will be paid for standby hours.

7. Acting Pay: An Employee who is specifically assigned by the Sheriff to work in an acting

capacity in a classification with a higher wage range for a period of more than five (5)

consecutive days actually worked shall receive a five percent (5%) differential added to his/her

hourly wage for time actually worked during the remainder of the assignment.

8. Leave for Civic Duty: Temporary Leave at full wages will be provided to the employee for

jury duty, court appearances, and administrative proceedings arising out of the employee's

employment with the County and for selective service examinations.  An employee who is

subpoenaed or otherwise required to appear in court or at administrative proceedings arising out

of his/her employment with the County, and which appearances occur outside his/her regularly

scheduled shift, is entitled to a minimum of three (3) hours of overtime if the proceedings are

three (3) hours or less in length of time.  If the court proceedings last more than three (3) hours,

then the employee is entitled to overtime for the actual length of time spent at the proceedings.

The employee is only entitled to overtime for the hours of the proceedings which fall outside the

employee’s normal scheduled work hours.  If the subpoena is cancelled or the order to testify is

rescinded prior to 1700 hours the day before the court appearance or administrative proceeding,

there shall be no entitlement to overtime pursuant to any provision of this agreement.  Notice of

cancellation may be in writing, by telephone, in person or by message left on the employee’s

personal phone or other electronic means.  In order to be eligible for this benefit, the employee

must have called or contacted the Storey County District Attorney’s Office twenty- four (24)

hours prior to the scheduled court appearance.

In accordance with NRS 6.190. a person summoned to appear for jury duty, the employer and

employee, agent or offer to the employer shall not, as a consequence of the person’s service as a juror

or prospective juror:

1. Require the person to use sick or annual leave; or

2. Require the person to work;

a. Within 8 hours before the time at which the person is to appear to jury duty; or

b. If the employee's service has lasted for 4 hours or more on the day of his/her



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 10 of 37 

appearance in a jury duty, including the person's travel time to and from the place 

where court is held, between 5:00 p.m. on the day of his/her appearance for jury 

duty and 3:00 a.m. the following day. 

The employee shall claim any jury, witness, or other fee to which s/he may be entitled by 

reason of the appearances described above and pay such fees, except travel milage and 

expense reimbursement that was not covered by the employer, to the Storey County 

Treasurer within 5 working days receipt, to be deposited by the applicable fund of the 

County. 

Annual leave may be taken by the employee for court appearances or administrative 

proceedings, not related to employment with the county and not related to jury duty, in 

which the employee is a party or a witness. 

An employee shall not receive pay from the employer for missed work time associated 

with court appearances in matters to which the employee is a party or is to serve as a witness 

for a party who has filed an action against an employer. The employee may, however, 

choose to use his/her annual leave. 

9. Standby Status:

a. An Employee is in standby status when s/he is:

i. Directed to remain available for notification to work during specified hours;

ii. Prepared to work if the need arises; and

iii. Able to report to work within forty (40) minutes.

Those employees who have been directed by the Sheriff or designee to Standby Duty 

on other than normal work schedule during a given week shall be entitled to standby 

pay at the rate of twelve- and one-half percent (12.5%) hourly pay of the employee’s 

current hourly rate for the actual time on Standby. When an Employee begins the 

performance of his/her regular duties after receiving notice to work, s/he ceases to be 

on Standby status and qualifies for straight time or Overtime pay, whichever is 

applicable, for the actual time worked.  Upon completion of the work, s/he returns to 

Standby status for the remainder of the time s/he has been directed to be available to 

work. 

10. Responsibility Pay:  Deputies assigned to a responsibility pay position shall receive an

additional five percent (5%) of his/her base pay.  An assignment under this section is not

a promotion.  Any assignment or recission of assignment is solely at the discretion of

the Sheriff and is not subject to appeal through the grievance process.  Responsibility

pay positions include:

a. School Resource Officer

b. Joining Forces Manager

c. Canine (K9) Officer

d. Investigations Division

e. Field Training Officer

An employee is only entitled to one +5% for responsibility pay regardless of the number of 

specialty assignments they may have.   

11. Incentive Pay:

a. Employees will be granted incentive pay as follows:



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 11 of 37 

Incentive Category (Paid Annually) 

Degrees: 

Master’s Degree -      $2,000 
Bachelor's Degree - $1,600 
Associate degree -   $1,200 
The degree must benefit the Storey County Sheriff’s Office.  Acceptable degrees include:  Business 
Administration, Criminal Justice, Public Administration, Psychology, Sociology, Political Science, 
Administration of Justice or related field approved by the Sheriff. 

POST Certifications: 

Advanced POST           - $1,200
Intermediate POST       - $600

Specialized Training: 

$1,200 for one of the following sub-categories: 
1) Firearms Instructor
2) Weaponless Defense Instructor
3) Impact Weapon / Taser Instructor
4) Drug Recognition Expert*
5) Bilingual Pay**
6) Any other specialized training approved by the Sheriff.

*Drug Recognition Expert and Bilingual Incentive pay shall be granted at the discretion of the

Sheriff
**Fluent Spanish and American Sign Language shall be the only eligible second languages
considered for specialized training incentive pay.

Physical Fitness Test Incentive: 

Annual* - $1,200 

*For Employees who pass the POST physical fitness test administered annually by the Store County
Sheriff’s Office

b. Employees are eligible to receive incentive pay for all three (3) categories.  Employees are eligible

to receive pay for only one sub-category within each category. Incentive pay shall not be

compounded for those Employees having multiple degrees, POST certifications, or specialized

training certifications.

c. Incentive Pay for degrees, certifications, and specialized training will become effective the first

payroll period of the fiscal year and will be paid to the eligible Employee each year thereafter in

one lump sum during the first payroll period of the fiscal year.

d Employees who become eligible for Incentive Pay shall by December 30 provide written 

notice to the Sheriff requesting Incentive Pay for the following fiscal year.  An Employee who 

demonstrates valid evidence that s/he will likely be eligible for Incentive Pay by July 1 of 

the following fiscal year may, with approval of the Sheriff also apply for Incentive Pay. 

To be eligible for Incentive Pay for earning an Associate’s, Bachelor's, or Master’s degree, 

the Employee must have the school of earned degree send sealed Official Transcripts to the 

Personnel Office. The transcripts must demonstrate that the Employee earned the applicable 

degree with a Grade Point Average (GPA) of 3.0 or higher at the time which the degree was 

granted.  To be eligible for Incentive Pay, the degree must be earned from an accredited 

college or university. 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 12 of 37 

Employees who receive Incentive Pay for Specialized Training Instructor shall 

perform no less than 15 hours of qualified instruction to Sheriff's Office Employee, 

including fulltime, part-time, reserve, and/or volunteer Employees, each year from 

the pay period that the Incentive Pay is issued to the Employee. 

12. Specialized Training Instructor Selection. Selection for Specialized Training Instructor

incentive categories shall be selected in the following manner:

a. Notice of Specialized Training Instructor opportunities within the Bargaining Unit

shall be posted on bulletin boards within the Sheriff's Office for a period of not

less than ten (10) working days prior to the last date for application or the date

scheduled for training, whichever is earlier.

b. Notice shall contain the following information or indicate where the information

may be obtained:

i. Title and Description of Training;

ii. All eligibility requirements including education, employment, training, or

experience criteria, and whether equivalent factors will be recognized;

iii. If there will be competitive testing and the date, Time, and place of such test;

iv. The nature and scope of test subject matter;

v. Whether the test will consist of written, oral, and/or physical demonstration

components.

13. POST Physical Fitness Test Incentive. Post-probationary Employees who meet or exceed

POST Category I Physical Fitness Test standards each year shall receive an incentive of

$1200 for that year, and that payment shall be made in the last payroll of the fiscal year.  The

non-mandatory fitness test will be supervised by the Sheriff or his/her designee in order to

obtain credit for the incentive.  Tests will be held twice during the fiscal year at dates

determined by the Sheriff, however, employees are only eligible for one payment.

14. Years of Service Milestones.  Employees shall receive milestone disbursement according to union

recognized positions years of service in the following amounts:

• Five (5) years = $3,000

• Ten (10) years = $6,000

• Fifteen (15) years = $9,000

• Twenty (20) years = $12,000

• Twenty-five (25) years = $15,000

• Thirty (30) years = $18,000

Payments will be made within 30 days of the employee reaching their specific milestone.   

15. Recruitment Referrals.  Existing employees shall receive a bonus of $1,000 for the referred applicant

hired and upon the successful completion of the referral’s probationary period and post certification to

CAT 3.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 13 of 37 

ARTICLE 8: OVERTIME 

1. Overtime pay is defined as additional compensation earned by an Employee who continues

working beyond his/her regularly scheduled shift or is required to return to duty at a time

that is more than 12 hours after notice is given.  The Employee will be compensated at time

and one-half (1.5) of his/her regular rate of pay for those extra hours worked.

2. A normal non-alternative work schedule shift shall consist of 8 hours per day and 5

consecutive days over a 7-day period, 10 hours per day for 4 consecutive days in a 7-day

period or three (3) twelve hours shifts in a seven-day period followed by four (4) twelve-

hour shifts in a seven (7) day period totaling eighty-four (84) hours worked per pay period.

Eighty (80) hours will be paid at the employee’s current pay rate.  Four (4) hours will be

paid at one and one half (1.5) of the employee’s current regular rate.  Upon agreement

between the Employer and the Union, the parties may implement an alternative work

schedule.

3. The assignment of the regular normal shift shall be determined by the Sheriff. Consideration

will be given to the preferences of staff; however, the necessity of delivering adequate

services to the community will take precedent. The Sheriff must provide at least 30 days of

written notice to the Employee(s) prior to changing the normal regular shift.  During

temporary instances, such as during community special events, disasters and emergencies,

and unusual staff shortage conditions, changes to the regular normal shift may be made by

the Sheriff, effective immediately.

4. Overtime shall not count toward Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) retirement

benefits as stated in Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 286.481.

5. Compensatory-Time ("Comp-Time").  Overtime may be compensated at the rate of one and

one-half (1.5) hours of Compensatory-Time for each hour of Overtime worked.  Regular

scheduled overtime is not eligible to be converted to compensatory time (comp-time).  An

example of regular scheduled overtime is a regularly scheduled 84-hour work period (14

days) resulting in 4 hours of overtime for the work period (14 days).  Overtime earned as

shift coverage is eligible to be converted to compensatory time.  Employees may not accrue

more than one hundred and sixty (160) hours of Compensatory Time per year which will run

from June 1 through May 31 each calendar year. Comp time balances as of May 31 of the

calendar year will be paid-out at the rate it was earned on the last payday in June of the same

calendar year. The employee must give at least 14 days of notice to the Sheriff or designee

before taking comp-time off work.  Time taken off from work is subject to the approval of

the Sheriff or designee.

6. All Overtime, including Compensatory-Time, must have previous authorization by the

Sheriff except when. due to an emergency, the Sheriffs approval cannot be obtained and,

accordingly, the Employee's Supervisor authorizes the necessary Overtime.

7. Overtime shall be filled by Bargaining Unit members. For the purposes of Overtime to fill

vacancies, an Overtime/Call-Back list shall be developed by the Union and the Sheriff. The

list shall consist of all Bargaining Unit members who desire to work Overtime/Call-Back to

fill vacancies in staffing. A rotation procedure will be incorporated into the list.  The initial

eligibility list will be established with the Employee with the most full-time continuous

service with the Employer.  The Sheriff shall reserve the right to mandate an Employee to

work Overtime when no other Employee is available on the rotation eligibility list.

8. Paid Leave shall be considered as worktime for the purposes of calculating overtime.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 14 of 37 

ARTICLE 9: CALL-BACK PAY 

1. Any Employee who is required to return to work by his/her Supervisor in accordance with

NRS 286 shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at 1.5 times the regular rate of pay.

Time worked in addition to the initial two (2) hours shall be compensated at 1.5 times the

regular base rate of pay for all time actually worked.  An Employee shall not be eligible for

Call-Back pay when receiving Stand-By pay.

2. Phone calls not requiring return to work.

a. All off-duty calls to an Employee regarding work-related matters shall be authorized and

considered authorized by the Sheriff or his/her designee. Refusals for requests to return to

work shall not be subject to Call-Back pay.

b. When an off-duty Employee receives a phone call that is work-related, lasts longer than

fifteen (15) minutes, and does not result in the Employee being required to return to active

duty, the Employee shall receive a minimum of one hour of overtime pay.  The fifteen

(15) minute period shall be the cumulative time of one or more phone calls within a

twenty-four (24) hour period.

c. Phone calls subject to this section shall be documented by the Employee receiving the

call, and the Sheriff or Employee making the phone call, on a form created and approved

by the Personnel Director and/or Comptroller's Office (payroll).  The completed form

shall include, at a minimum, the involved parties, time and duration of phone call(s), and

a summary of the content of the conversation.  The completed form shall be submitted by

both Employees to the Sheriff for review and/or approval, and to Payroll with both

Employees’ bi-weekly timesheets.

3. PERS contribution toward Call Back Pay shall comply with NRS 286, including NRS

286.025 for Employees who have an effective date of PERS membership before, and on

or after January 1 , 2010, and shall apply the definition of an “emergency" accordingly.

ARTICLE 10: HOLIDAYS 

1. Holidays, for the purpose of this section, shall be as follows:

a. January 1  (New Year's Day)

b. Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday)

c. Third Monday in February (Washington's Birthday)

d. Last Monday in May (Memorial Day)

e. Juneteenth (June 19th)

f. July 4 (Independence Day)

g. First Monday in September (Labor Day)

h. Last Friday in October (Nevada Day)

i. November 11 (Veterans Day)

j. Fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day)

k. Friday following the fourth Thursday in November (Family Day)

l. December 25 (Christmas Day)

m. Floating holiday (Any day agreed upon by Employee and supervisor)

n. Any day that may be appointed by the Storey County Board of Commissioners as

a legal holiday and any day appointed by the Governor of the State of Nevada as

a legal holiday on which State offices are to close.  Reoccurring holidays under

this subsection will be observed through the term of the current Agreement only.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 15 of 37 

2. Holiday Pay: Holiday pay shall be equal to the Employee's regularly scheduled shift

assignment of eight (8), ten (10), or twelve (12) hours.

3. The employer agrees to compensate each employee in lieu of holiday pay at 1.75 rate of base

pay each of the twenty-six (26) pay periods based on shift schedules:

a. Four (4) hours for eight (8) hour shift schedules

b. Five (5) hours for ten (10) hour shift schedules

c. Six (6) hours for twelve (12) hour shift schedules

Any changes to the In Lieu of Holiday hours will occur upon an official permanent schedule 

change approved by the Sheriff with notification sent to the Comptroller’s office. Or if a 

temporary assignment is expected to last more than 30 days with notification sent to the 

Comptroller’s office. 

ARTICLE 10A: MANDATORY DATES OF WORK: 

No employee may take time off on July 4th and the Saturday of Street Vibrations.  

Employees required to work either of these mandatory shifts during their regularly 

scheduled days off shall receive one actual day off with straight pay.  The day off shall 

not be charged against the Employee's accrued Annual Leave, or any other accrued 

Leave, and shall be taken by the Employee by December 31st of the same year.  The 

process for requesting the day off shall be the same as for Annual Leave pursuant to 

Article 11 (3), but not Subsection (4). 

ARTICLE 11: VACATION 

1. Accrual: Eligible Employees shall earn vacation benefits at the rate of ten (10) hours of

Vacation Pay for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  Employees who have

completed five (5) or more years of consecutive service shall earn vacation benefits at

the rate of thirteen and one-third (13.33) hours of vacation for each calendar month or

major fraction thereof.  Employees who have completed 10 or more years of consecutive

service shall earn vacation benefits at the rate of sixteen and two thirds (16.67) hours of

vacation for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  Vacation credits shall

accrue for each pay period the Employee is in full pay status or major fraction thereof.

2. Eligibility: An Employee is entitled to take vacation time after six (6) months service

with the County. Each Employee shall accrue vacation beginning upon completion of

six (6) months of continuous employment as a regular or probationary Employee. Upon

completion of six (6) months of County service as a regular or probationary Employee,

the Employee shall receive sixty (60) hours of vacation credit.

3. Scheduling:

a. Vacation dates shall be granted and scheduled with the approval of the Sheriff or

his/her designee. Where practical, in the determination of the Sheriff, vacation dates

will be granted on a first-come, first-serve basis quarterly within the job classification.

b. An Employee becoming ill while on Annual Leave may have leave charged to Sick

Leave upon request and upon presentation of proper documentation.

4. Pay Off at Termination: Upon termination of employment, the County shall compensate

an Employee for all accrued vacation time (Up to a maximum of 240 hours).

5. Pay Off for Excessive Annual Leave:  On November 1 of every calendar year, if the employee



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 16 of 37 

has accrued more than 200 hours of unused annual leave, the employee may submit a written 

request asking to be paid out for all or part of excess balance above 200 hours.  Payment will be 

at the employees’ current rate of pay and will be processed with normal payroll.  The written 

request must be submitted to the Sheriff’s Administration during the first pay period of 

November.  If the employee does not request pay out, the balance will remain the same and must 

not exceed 240 hours at the end of the calendar year. 

ARTICLE 12: SICK LEAVE 

1. Accrual: Each Employee shall earn Sick Leave with pay at the rate of ten (10) hours of

Leave for each calendar month or major fraction thereof.  A maximum of nine hundred

sixty (960) hours of Sick Leave may be accumulated.

2. Use of Sick Leave: Sick leave with pay may be granted upon approval of the Sheriff in

the event of a bona fide illness of an Employee or member of his/her immediate family

(within the second degree of consanguinity or affinity).

a. If the Sheriff has reason to believe Sick Leave is being abused, the Sheriff may require

the Employee taking Sick Leave to submit a physician's statement in accordance with

Storey County Policy 603 - Sick Leave.

b. After exhausting accumulated Sick Leave, an Employee may take accumulated Vacation

Leave if s/he needs additional time off from work. Leave without pay may be

granted by the Sheriff at his/her discretion.

3. Parental Leave: The parties agree to abide by all state and/or federal laws applicable to

leave for maternity and paternity, which shall include adoption or foster care of a child

within 12 months of placement.

4. Bereavement Leave: Bereavement leave shall be granted to any regular full-time

employee who must be absent from work upon the death of and/or to attend the funeral

of a family member within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity, up to a maximum

of 3 scheduled shifts of bereavement leave per each occurrence.  Such leave will not be

charged to the employee's accumulated sick leave or other accrued leave.

Bereavement leave in excess of 3 scheduled shifts may be charged to accumulated sick

leave upon the approval of the Sheriff and HR Director.  The employee may use annual

leave after sick leave has been exhausted.

5. Payment for Sick Leave at Termination: Upon an Employee's end of service through PERS

retirement or termination from service, other than involuntary termination, with a total accrued

hours of three hundred sixty (360) or more, the Employee shall be paid for unused Sick Leave at

the following rate:

a. 10 to 15 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 25% of their base rate of pay for each

hour, not to exceed $$6,000 cash or $8,000 toward the purchase of PERS.

b. 15 to 20 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 45% of their base rate of pay for each

hour, not to exceed $8,000 cash or $ $10,000 toward the purchase of PERS.

c. More than 20 years of service shall be paid at a rate of 65% of their base rate of pay for

each hour. not to exceed $10,000 cash or$12,500 toward the purchase of PERS.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 17 of 37 

6. Sick Leave HSA/Premium Contribution or PERS Contributions:  Employees may utilize up to 40hours

of his/her accrued sick leave per calendar year, to be utilized as an HSA or Insurance premium as in

Article 13, sections 3c or toward PERS contributions for years purchased.  The purchase of PERS years

must be initiated by employee to PERS.  The employee must have 240 hours of sick leave in their bank

at the time of contribution.  This election takes place twice annually in the second full pay period in June

and December.  Signed requests must be submitted before the final day of the pay period.  Total annual

contributions cannot exceed the limits outlined in law.

ARTICLE 13: GROUP BENEFITS INSURANCE 

1. Employee eligibility for health insurance benefits shall commence 60 days after hire, and to the

first day of the next month.

2. The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly premiums for health

insurance (to include hospitalization, major medical, dental, and vision) for Regular Full- Time

Employees. Employer agrees to pay $40,000 in Life and Accidental Death and Dismemberment

(AD&D) for the employee for the term of this Agreement.

3. The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the monthly premiums for health

insurance base plan for the Employee’s dependents (up to age 26) and one hundred percent

(100%) for the Employee’s spouse who is not eligible for government-sponsored (e.g.,

Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Administration) or employer-sponsored health insurance

coverage. Effective May 1, 2012, if the Employee’s spouse is eligible for any other government-

sponsored or employer- sponsored health insurance coverage, the Employee may choose to

cover his/her spouse on Employer’s plan for a charge equal to fifty (50%) percent of the cost of

the spouse’s coverage.

d. Each Employee shall provide a County-provided affidavit to the Personnel office annual

certification stating whether his/her spouse is eligible for any other government-sponsored

or employer-sponsored health insurance coverage.

e. In the event that the AFSCME Comstock Chapter General Employees’ Association, and/or

any other collective bargaining unit recognized by the Employer negotiates a higher level of

spousal and/or dependent coverage than is provided in this Article, or that said level of

coverage is offered to any employees excluded from coverage by collective bargaining

agreement (with exception of those subject to statutory requirements), the Union under this

Agreement may negotiate this Article.

c. Sick Leave HSA/Premium Contribution – Employees may utilize up to 40 hours of his/her

accrued sick leave per calendar year, to be utilized as an HSA contribution or toward their

monthly buy-up option insurance premium provided that the employee has 240 hours of sick

leave in their bank at the time of contribution.  This election takes place twice annually in

the second full pay period in June and December.  Signed requests must be submitted with

the employee’s timecard.  Total annual contributions cannot exceed the limits outlined in

law.

4. As allowed by law and without federal penalties to the employer, an employee may opt out of

Employer-paid health insurance coverage and accordingly may receive fifty percent (50%) of the

premium that the Employer would have paid for Employee only base plan coverage.  Any

employee opting out of health benefits coverage must complete an employer-provided affidavit

stating that the employee and his/her tax-family (e.g., spouse and dependents) will maintain

minimum essential health coverage, other than coverage purchased in the individual market and

Medicare, as required by the Affordable Care Act.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 18 of 37 

The Employer shall offer Retirees, as defined under NRS Chapter 286, the option to continue 

coverage as required under NRS Chapter 287. The county will pay the same portion of the cost 

of health benefits coverage that the Nevada State Public Employees’ Benefits Program (PEBP) 

at that time pays for retired persons covered as participants under its state health benefits program. 

The subsidy is limited to the employee’s consecutive years of service with Storey County; no 

credit will be given for years of service earned at another public employer, except for service 

with the Storey County Fire Protection District. Any remaining balance of the cost of coverage 

will be paid to the county by the retiree or qualified beneficiary. Employer contributions to retiree 

coverage will stop at age 65 or when the Retiree becomes eligible for Medicare Part A and Part 

B. 

ARTICLE 14: RETIREMENT 

1. Eligibility: Employees covered by this Agreement shall be included in the State of Nevada Public

Employees' Retirement System (PERS) providing benefits pursuant to NRS Chapter 286.

2. Contributions: The Employer will pay retirement contributions for Employees covered under

this agreement as required by NRS 286. No provision of this Article shall be deemed to waive

any provision of Chapter 286 of NRS in respect to “Early Retirement”.

ARTICLE 15: UNIFORMS

1. Initial Uniforms and Duty Gear:  Newly hired employees will be provided the following

uniform items:

a. Two (2) short sleeved Class B shirts

b. Two (2) long sleeved Class B shirts

c. Two (2) Class B pants

d. One (1) Class A shirt

e. One (1) Class A pant

f. One (1) Class A tie (black and clip on)

g. One (1) Cold Weather Jacket

h. One (1) external ballistic vest carrier (Point Blank MC Guardian, Laser Cut, Uniform

Pocket, Ranger Green)

i. One (1) set ballistic vest panels (Point Blank Vision AXB111A)

j. One (1) duty belt

k. Four (4) duty belt keepers (black, no brass)

l. Two (2) Sheriff’s badges

m. One (1) double magazine pouch

n. One (1) double handcuff case

o. One (1) radio holder

p. One (1) tourniquet pouch

q. One (1) tourniquet

r. Two (2) pairs of handcuffs, chain hinge (Peerless or Smith and Wesson)

One (1) snowsuit, type to be determined by the Sheriff.  A snowsuit will not be issued to the 

employee until after s/he submits to the Sheriff in writing that s/he desires a snowsuit. 

Additionally, new hires are allowed $550.00 one-time reimbursement during the term of 

this contract for each employee for the purchase of a duty firearm and $150.00 

reimbursement for a level one or higher duty holster.  The employee must provide the 

Sheriff a receipt or other valid documentation of the purchase and use the subject firearm 

during the line of duty for the duration of this agreement, and the receipt must show that the 

firearm was purchased during the term of this agreement.  The type, make and model of the 

firearm must meet the requirements of the Sheriff for duty officers. 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 19 of 37 

Issued items are the property of the Storey County Sheriff’s Office and must be returned if 

the employee ceases employment with the County. 

2. Uniform Allowance: Employees who have completed the initial probationary period will receive

an annual uniform allowance of $150.00. This allowance will be used for cleaning and upkeep of

the issued class A uniform. If the employee is a member of the Sheriff’s Office Honor Guard, they

will receive an additional $150.00 to be used for cleaning and upkeep of the issued Honor Guard

uniform.

3. Uniform replacement- All issued equipment will be replaced as needed through a Quarter Master

system. If the employee has any issued uniform items or other issued equipment that is worn,

inoperative or otherwise in need of replacement, the deputy will complete a Uniform/Equipment

Replacement form and promptly submit it to his/her immediate supervisor. The supervisor will

inspect the item(s) that are noted and (if deemed necessary) provide the employee with a purchase

authorization form to replace the item(s).

4. Boots - Employees may receive reimbursement, up to $200, every year for replacement, rebuilding

or resoling of boots.  The employee must provide a receipt in order to be eligible for

reimbursement.  Further, the boots must comply with the Sheriff’s Office policy 10-46 in order to

be eligible for reimbursement.  The eligibility period for reimbursement will be calculated from

the date the employee last received boot reimbursement.

5. With the Sheriff’s validation of a claim, the employer shall reimburse an employee for the costs

of repairing or replacing watches or prescription eyeglasses/contact lenses which are lost or

damaged while the employee is in the performance of his/her duties, provided that there is

notification by the employee to the Sheriff within seven (7) business days. Reimbursement

amounts shall be limited to the actual replacement value up to $250 per claim for prescription

eyewear and $50 per claim for watches. An employee may only make a claim up to $300 during

each fiscal year.

ARTICLE 16: LEA VE OF ABSENCE 

1. General Provisions-Unpaid Leaves: A leave of absence may be granted to an Employee

in accordance with Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 606 - Leave of Absence

Without Pay.

2. Investigatory Leaves: Any Employee who is required to discharge a weapon in the line of

duty may forthwith be placed on administrative leave with pay pending investigation of

the incident by the Sheriff. The Sheriff may assign the Employee to other duties where

carrying or use of a weapon is not required until completion of the investigation. If the

Sheriff determines that the weapon used was justified, the Employee shall be restored to

regular duty. If the investigation indicates that the weapon used was not justified, the

Employee may be placed on paid leave. If an administrative action is taken against the

Employee, the Sheriff shall place the Employee on paid leave pending the pre- disciplinary

hearing.

a. Any Employee charged with any criminal act may be placed on unpaid leave forthwith

pending final disposition of the matter. If the charges are dismissed or the Employee is

found not guilty at trial, the Employee shall be restored to regular duty with back pay

to the date of suspension if no administrative action is pending. If administrative action

is taken against the Employee, restoration of back pay will occur following the pre- 

disciplinary hearing on the administrative charges. Such restoration shall not include

back pay for any period assessed as discipline.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 20 of 37 

3. Jury Duty: Any Employee called for jury duty shall be granted a leave of absence with

pay. The Employee shall retain any travel pay ordered by the court unless the Employee's

travel has been at County expense. but shall pay any other fees received to the County.

Such leave shall not be charged against the Employee's vacation credit.

4. Family and Medical Leave: Family and medical leave for Employees shall be governed

by the provisions of the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and Storey

County Policy and Procedure Number 605 - Family and Medical Leave.

5. Military Leave: Any Employee who is a member of the organized U.S. Army, Navy, Air

Force, Coast Guard, Nevada National Guard, or Marine Reserves shall continue to

receive paid military leave as prescribed by NRS 281.145, and any benefits as provided

by the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA) of

1994.  Employees may choose to use accrued annual leave before taking leave without

pay.  The Employer cannot require that annual leave or other personal leave be used.

Employees returning from Military Leave are entitled to any benefits determined by

seniority that they had when their Leave began and to any benefits which would have

accrued had they remained continuously employed. This includes, for example, merit

step and seniority.  The Employer shall count the years of Military Leave as if they were

years of actual work to determine the accrual rate of Annual and Sick Leave and to

determine the rate of pay if the rates are based on seniority. Employees do not earn

Annual and Sick Leave while on Military Leave unless other Employees, including those

outside of the bargaining unit, are allowed to do so.

This Article recognizes that the USERRA and NRS 281.145 governing paid military leave

provide hours to the Employee equivalent to 15 working days of paid military leave in a 12-

month period beginning January 1  and ending December 31 of each year (i.e., the calendar year).

This Article recognizes that 15 days means 15 regularly scheduled shifts regardless of the number

of hours in a regular shift.  The Employer recognizes that the applicable regulations intend to

provide "hours" equivalent to 15 ‘workdays” and, therefore, fractions of days taken are

deducted in hour increments.  For example, Employees working regular 10-hour shifts are entitled

to an equivalent of 15 working days of paid military leave, and this equates to 150 hours of leave

within a 12-month period. Employees working regular 8-hour shifts are also entitled to an

equivalent of 15 working days of paid military leave, and this equates to 120 hours of leave in

the same period.

An employee must provide the Sheriff with call-to-duty orders within one week of receipt of the

order unless the order calls the employee to duty in less time.

ARTICLE 17: LAYOFF PROCEDURE 

1. Position to be eliminated: If the County determines the need for a reduction in its work force

for lack of work or lack of funds, the Sheriff, County Manager and HR Director (Committee)

will determine the positions to be eliminated and the Employees to be laid-off within each

affected job class. Written notice of not less than thirty (30) calendar days shall be provided

to regular Employees to be laid-off.

2. Order of Layoff:

a. Initially the Committee shall consider Employees for layoff in the inverse order of

seniority.

b. When selecting which Employee will be laid-off, the Committee will review the

qualifications of the Employee with the least seniority in the affected job class. If the

Committee finds an Employee with less seniority has qualifications which are needed



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 21 of 37 

by the Sheriff’s Office and those qualifications are equal to or greater than those of an 

Employee with greater seniority, and the documented performance of the Employee 

with lesser seniority is better than that of the more senior Employee, the County may 

lay-off the Employee with the higher seniority. 

c. Qualifications to be considered in determining exceptions to seniority order shall include

knowledge, skill, ability, and certificates required for job functions to be assigned to the

remaining staff, as well as previous experience in performing the essential functions and

job performance.  Job performance shall be determined on the basis of the Employee's

record of job performance as documented in the Employee's personnel file at least forty 

five (45) calendar days prior to the date the County determines a layoff is necessary.

This shall not preclude consideration of discipline consisting of a two (2) day suspension

or more occurring within this period.

d. After consideration of seniority within class, qualifications, and per formance ,

any ties shall be broken by total seniority within the department.

e. An Employee who was initially hired by the Sheriff into a class with a lower rank

than his/her current class shall have the right to bump an Employee in such lower

class if s/he has more seniority in the lower class.  Such bumping rights may be

exercised subject to the Sheriff's review or performance and qualifications outlined

above.

3. Appeal Procedure:

a. Notice of Appeal: In the event that an Employee who has been laid-off out of

seniority order believes the decision based upon performance and/or qualification is

incorrect, s/he may request that the Union appeal the Sheriff's determination.  If the

Union finds there is good reason to believe that the Sheriff has erred in his/her

decision, it may appeal through the process set forth in this Article.  Such appeal

shall be filed within five (5) working days of delivery of the layoff notice to the

Employee.

b. Appeal Review Committee: When an appeal is filed, the Union shall identify two (2)

persons to serve on a review committee at the time of the appeal. The Sheriff shall

then appoint two (2) persons to the committee.  Each of the persons appointed to the

appeal committee shall be familiar with the work of the department and with the job

class from which layoff is to be made. The appeal committee shall meet within five

(5) days of delivery of the notice of appeal to the County. It shall review the basis

for the Sheriffs layoff decision and the reasons the Employee believes the decision

is in error. The appeal committee shall then determine whether the Sheriff’s decision

was reasonable and, on that basis, either confirm or reject the Sheriff’s decision.

c. If the appeal committee cannot reach an agreement regarding the Sheriff’s decision

regarding order of layoff: it shall, within three (3) days of its initial meeting, request the

participation of a federal mediator. The services of the mediator will be jointly

requested by the County and the Union on an urgent basis. The mediator shall seek to

achieve a consensus decision among the appeal committee members. If none is

reached, the mediator shall become a voting member of the appeal committee.

d. The determination of the appeal committee regarding the appropriate order of layoff

shall be final and binding and may not be grieved or appealed.

e. The fees and expenses of the mediator shall be shared equally by the Union and

the County. Each party, however, shall bear the costs of its own presentation, including

preparation and post-hearing briefs and legal fees, if any.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 22 of 37 

4. Recall Rights: Laid-off Employees will have a right to return to a vacancy in the same

class and department from which they were laid-off. Recall shall be in inverse order of

layoff.

a. Recall List: Employees shall remain on the recall list for one (1) year following the

date of layoff: provided, however, laid-off Employees shall be removed from the recall

list if:

i. They decline appointment to a position in the same department and in a class at

the same wage range as the position from which their layoff occurred; or

ii. They fail to report for duty within fifteen (15) calendar days of mailing of notice

of recall to County employment.

b. Recall Notice: Notice of recall or available position may be made in person or by U.S.

Mail, return receipt requested. It is the responsibility of each laid off Employee to

notify the Sheriff of his/her current address.

ARTICLE 18: CHANGE OF ASSIGNMENT AND JOB VACANCIES 

1. An Employee whose regular assignment is changed shall be given thirty (30) days of

notice of the reassignment.  Notice is not required when change is required to serve the

public in a n  emergency, when an employee is placed on administrative leave or is under

official investigation.

2. During the first week of January and July of each year, Employees will be permitted

to notify the Sheriff of their preference for work shifts. The Sheriff will consider staff

preferences in order of job assignment seniority (i.e., patrol, jail, investigation) but shall

retain full authority to make such assignments. Employees will be permitted to trade

shifts or days off with the proper approval of their respective supervisor.

ARTICLE 19. DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

1. General Policy: Discipline shall be administered or imposed on a basis of progressive

punishment. No discipline shall be imposed except for cause. All discipline shall be

accompanied by counseling which may assist the Employee in correcting past performance

deficiencies or behavior. Authorized discipline shall range from Documented Verbal

Warning up to and including Termination of employment with the County.  The initial

form of discipline and punishment shall be appropriate to the seriousness of the initial offense

or condition.

2. Forms of Discipline:

a. Documented Verbal Warning: Whenever Employee performance or job-related

behavior falls below the acceptable level, the Employee's supervisor shall inform

the Employee of the deficiencies using Storey County Policy and Procedure Form

1001F1. Documented Verbal Warnings shall remain in the Employee's master

personnel file for twelve (12) months. After which it shall be removed from the

Employee's record upon the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff

and approval of the HR Director. The HR Director will provide written confirmation

to the Employee of the action taken.

b. Written Reprimand: In situations where a Documented Verbal Warning has not

resulted in correction of the condition. Or where more severe initial action is

warranted, the Employee's supervisor shall inform the Employee of the deficiencies

using Storey County Policy and Procedure Form1001F1. A Written Reprimand



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 23 of 37 

shall remain in the Employee's master personnel file for eighteen (18) months, after 

which the Written Reprimand shall be removed from the Employee's record upon 

the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR 

Director. The HR Director will provide written confirmation to the Employee of 

the action taken. 

c. Suspension: If the Written Reprimand is not effective, or in those cases where the

seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, an Employee may be Suspended

without pay by the Sheriff for a period not to exceed forty-five (45) working days.

Documentation supporting the Suspension shall remain in the Employee's master

personnel file for twenty-four (24) months, after which the documentation shall be

removed from the Employee's record upon the written request of the Employee

directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR Director.  The HR Director will

provide written confirmation to the Employee of the action taken.

d. Pay Reduction: If other forms of disciplinary or corrective action have proven

ineffective, or when the seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, the

Sheriff may reduce pay by no more than one Merit Step in the Employee's current

pay Grade. The date that the Employee's pay reduction takes effect shall establish a

new Anniversary Date. Documentation establishing the cause for the pay reduction

shall remain in the Employee's master personnel file for twenty-four (24) months,

after which the supporting documentation shall be removed from the Employee's

record upon the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval

of the HR Director.  The HR Director will provide written confirmation to the

Employee of the action taken.

e. Involuntary Demotion:  When other forms of disciplinary or corrective action have

proven ineffective, or when the seriousness of the offense or condition warrants, the

Sheriff may demote the Employee.  Rejection on probation following promotion is not

discipline.  Documentation establishing the cause for the Involuntary Demotion shall

remain in the Employee’s master personnel tile for twenty-four (24) months. After

which the supporting documentation shall be removed from the Employee’s record

upon the written request of the Employee directly to the Sheriff and approval of the HR

Director.  The HR Director will provide written confirmation to the Employee of

the action taken.

f. Termination: As a final disciplinary measure when other forms of discipline or

corrective action have proven ineffective. Or when the seriousness of the offense

or condition warrants. The Sheriff may Terminate an Employee.

g. Suspensions of 1 to 3 days: Suspensions of one (1) to three (3) days may be appealed

to Level 1 of the Grievance Procedure (Article 20).  If the Grievant is not satisfied with

the decision rendered by the Sheriff, the Grievant may within ten (10) working days of

that decision request to the HR Director that the Grievance is advanced to mediation.

Within ten (10) working days of the HR Director receiving the Grievant’s request

that the matter is advance to mediation, the parties shall request a mediator through the

Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) to hear the Grievance.  The

parties shall attempt to hold a mediation session within twenty (20) days after contact

with the FMCS. This timeline shall be extended based on the schedule of the

mediator or by mutual consent of the parties. In the event a mediated decision cannot

be reached, the Mediator shall, considering the evidence presented, issue a bench

decision that the parties agree to implement, and which shall be final and binding.

3. Notice of Suspension. Involuntary Demotion, or Dismissal: All notices of Suspension,

Involuntary Demotion, or Dismissal shall be given to the Employee in-writing,



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 24 of 37 

specifying the action to be taken, the grounds upon which the action is based, including 

specification of standards, rules, regulations, or policies violated, if applicable, and the 

date of action taken. The specification of charges shall include a statement of facts 

constituting conduct for which discipline is to be imposed, together with a statement of 

specification of standards, specific rules, regulations, ordinances, laws, policies or 

performance standards, if applicable, which the Employee is alleged to have violated. 

The notice shall include a statement that the Employee has five (5) working days to meet 

with the Sheriff to discuss the proposed action.  The specification of charges shall be 

signed by the Sheriff or his/her designee. The Sheriff shall not suspend, involuntarily 

demote, or dismiss an Employee without giving ten (10) working days of notice prior to 

the action being taken. 

a. The Sheriff may serve notice upon an Employee by mail or personal service.  If

mailed, notice shall be mailed to the Employee at his/her last known address by USPS

Certified Mail Return Receipt Requested. Receipt shall be deemed the date of first

attempt of delivery as indicated on the Return Receipt. Should notice be returned to

sender, receipt shall be deemed to be on the third day after the date of mailing of the

notice.

b. The Employee, who may be accompanied by a Union representative, shall be allowed

to meet with the Sheriff to review the charges. The Employee shall be given an

opportunity to state his/her position as to whether there are true and reasonable grounds

for the proposed action. The discipline may be postponed to allow for the consideration

of evidence the Employee produced and/or for further investigation of the Employee's

response.

4. Administrative Leave During Disciplinary Proceeding: In cases of contemplated

Discharge or Suspension concerning misconduct which presents possible harm to persons

or property or pending criminal charges which adversely and directly affect the County

or substantially disrupt County operations. The Sheriff may place an Employee on

Administrative Leave with pay, pending an investigation prior to or during a disciplinary

proceeding, or during the review of the Employee's response to a proposed disciplinary

action.  The Employee will be notified in writing of the decision to place him/her on

Administrative Leave.  The notice will include a statement that Administrative Leave is

not a disciplinary action.

5. Appeals of Disciplinary Actions: Within ten (10) days of the date that disciplinary action of

Suspension without pay of four (4) days or longer, Pay Reduction, Involuntary Demotion, or

Dismissal are implemented by the Sheriff. The Union may Appeal said disciplinary action to

Arbitration.

a. The Appeal must be submitted in-writing to the Sheriff and HR Director and state

the basis of the Appeal.  The Union and the Sheriff shall mutually select a

disinterested third-party to serve as the Arbitrator. In the event an agreement cannot

be reached to select a neutral Arbitrator, the parties agree to solicit a list of seven (7)

professional neutrals with public sector experience from the Federal Mediation and

Conciliation Services (FMCS), and alternately strike names from such list until one

(1) name remains. That remaining person so selected shall serve as the Arbitrator.

The party to strike first shall be determined by lot. Both parties shall make every

effort to mutually set forth the issue(s) to be arbitrated in advance of the Arbitration

hearing date.  The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the

Union and the County.  Each party, however, shall bear the costs of its own

presentation, including preparation and post-hearing briefs, and legal fees, if any.

The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon both parties.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 25 of 37 

ARTICLE 20. GRIEVANCE/ARBITRATION PROCEDURES 

1. Definitions:

a. Grievance: A Grievance is claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this

Agreement or rules, regulations, and policies of the Employer governing matters within

the scope of mandatory bargaining pursuant to NRS 288.  Informal discussions and

attempts to resolve the matter prior to filing a formal grievance are excluded.

b. Grievant: A grievant is an Employee or group of Employees who are covered by the

provisions of this Agreement and who believe they have been adversely affected by an act

or formal decision of the Employer occasioning the grievance, and who file a grievance.

The Union may be the grievant if an act or formal decision of the Employer which is

alleged to be a grievance directly relates to a Union activity or privilege addressed in this

Agreement.

c. Day: Day shall mean a weekday, Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.

d. The Grievance Screening Committee shall consist of any three (3) current members of

the Board of Directors of the Storey County Sheriff’s Office Employee Association.

2. Rights of Representation: With the consent of the aggrieved Employee(s), one (1) Union

representative shall be present for any meeting, hearing, appeal, or other proceeding between

the Employer and the grievant relating to a grievance that has been filed pursuant to this

Article.

a. If, in the judgment of the Union, a grievance affects a group of Employees or the Union, the

Union may initiate and file such grievance with the HR Director and the processing of such

grievance shall commence at Level II. The Union may process such a grievance through all

levels of the procedure.

3. Individual Rights: Nothing contained herein shall be construed as limiting the right of

any Employee having a complaint to discuss the matter with the appropriate supervisor(s),

and to have the matter resolved without the intervention of the Union, as long as the Union

has had, at the request of the Employee, the opportunity to be present at such discussions.

4. Informal Resolution: Within fifteen (15) working days from the event giving rise to a

grievance or from the date the Employee(s) could reasonably have been expected to have

had knowledge of such event, the Employee shall orally discuss the grievance with his/her

immediate supervisor. A supervisor shall have ten (10) working days to provide a decision to

the Employee.

a. The Unions Grievance Screening Committee shall convene within ten (10) working days from

the date the Supervisor provides or should provide a decision to the Employee. The Grievance

Screening Committee shall screen grievances to determine if there is valid cause to proceed to

a Formal Level Grievance.

b. Should the Grievance Screening Committee determine there is no valid cause to proceed to a

Formal Level Grievance, the Grievant shall still have the right to proceed: however, they will

not have the support of the Union.

5. Formal Levels:

a. Level I: If a Grievant is not satisfied with the resolution proposed at the informal level, s/he

may, within ten (10) working days of the receipt of such decision, file a formal written



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 26 of 37 

Grievance with the Sheriff, describing the Grievance, the specific section(s) of this Agreement, 

or County or Sheriff’s Office rules, regulations, and/or policies allegedly violated, and the 

remedy requested.  The Sheriff may have a meeting with the Grievant, and within ten (10) 

working days of receiving the Grievance provide a written decision to the Grievant. 

i. If the Sheriff fails to respond within ten (10) working days of receiving the Grievance, the

Grievance, if non-monetary, shall be granted in the Grievant' s favor.  If the Grievance

contains a request for a monetary remedy, the Grievance shall automatically advance to

Level II.

b. Level II. If the Grievant is not satisfied with the resolution proposed at the informal level, or

the grievance includes a request of monetary related correction, s/he may, within ten (10)

working days of the receipt of such decision, file a written appeal to the HR Director. Within

ten (10) working days of receipt of the written appeal, the HR Director shall respond with a

decision to the grievance or with a recommendation to proceed or not proceed to Level III.

c. Level III: If the Grievant is not satisfied with the decision rendered by the Sheriff. The Grievant

may within ten (10) working days of that decision request to the HR Director that the Grievance

is advanced to mediation. Within ten (10) working days of the HR Director receiving the

Grievant's request that the matter is advanced to mediation, the parties shall request a mediator

through the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (FMCS) to hear the Grievance. The

parties shall attempt to hold the mediation session within twenty (20) days after contact with

the FMCS.  This timeline shall be extended based on the schedule of the mediator or by

mutual consent of the parties.  If the parties cannot reach a mediated resolution, either or both

parties may request a recommendation from the mediator. Nothing occurring in mediation may

be referred to or introduced during Arbitration.

d. Level IV: In the event that the parties cannot reach a mediated resolution at Level III, the

Grievance may be submitted to Arbitration for resolution.  The Grievant or the Union shall

exercise the right to Arbitration by giving the HR Director written notice of intent to arbitrate

within ten (10) working days from the date of receipt of the mediator's

recommendation(s).  If any question arises as to the ability to arbitrate the grievance,

and the Grievant or the Union has decided to proceed, the following apply:

1. If the grievance is a claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this

Agreement or rules, regulations, or policies as defined in Section 1 (a) of this Article

not resulting in a verbal warning, written reprimand, or suspension of 1  to 3

days, such question shall first be ruled upon by the Arbitrator selected to hear the

dispute.

2. If the grievance is a claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation of this

Agreement or rules, regulations, or policies as defined in Section 1 (a) of this Article

resulting in a verbal warning, written reprimand, or suspension of 1 to 3 days, a

mediator through the FMCS shall consider the evidence presented by both parties

regarding the claimed violation, misapplication, or misinterpretation and make a

recommendation that the parties will accept as final and binding.

3. A decision that is final and binding for the parties to proceed or not proceed to

Arbitration.

1. Within ten (10) working days after the HR Director receives the written notice of

intent to Arbitrate. The Employer and the Grievant, or the Union, will attempt

to agree upon a mutually acceptable Arbitrator, and to obtain a commitment

from such Arbitrator to serve. If the parties are unable to agree upon an

Arbitrator, or to obtain a commitment to serve from the agreed-upon Arbitrator



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 27 of 37 

within the ten (10) working day period, a request for a list of seven (7) 

arbitrators may be made by either party to the FMCS. Within five (5) working 

days of receipt of the list. Each party shall alternately strike names from the list, 

and the name remaining shall be the Arbitrator.  The party to strike first shall be 

determined by a toss of the coin. The parties shall be bound by the rules and 

procedures of the American Arbitration Association in the selection of an 

Arbitrator. 

2. The Arbitrator shall thereafter confer promptly with the parties, shall set,

and hold hearings, and shall issue a written decision setting forth the

Arbitrator's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decision within thirty

(30) working days from the date of the conclusion of all hearings on the matter

arbitrated. The Arbitrator's written decision shall be consistent with the law

and the terms of this Agreement and shall be final and binding upon the

parties.  The Arbitrator's authority shall be limited to the application and

interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement and any related rules,

regulations, and policies of the Employer, and no arbitrator shall have the

power to modify, amend or alter any terms or conditions of this Agreement.

6. Arbitration Costs: The fees and expenses of the Arbitrator shall be shared equally by the

Employer and the Union. Each party shall bear the costs of its own presentation

including, but not limited to, witness fees and expenses, preparation, pre- and post-

hearing briefs, and legal fees, if any.

7. If a court reporter is requested by either party, the requesting party shall pay the costs of

the reporter. If the record is transcribed, the requesting party will pay the transcription

costs unless the parties mutually agree to share the cost. Any party desiring a copy of the

transcription will pay the costs for the copy. If the Arbitrator requires a reporter and

transcript, the parties will share the cost equally.

8. Jurisdiction of the Arbitrator: The arbitrator shall decide all substantive and

procedural issues, upon request of either party and in the discretion of the Arbitrator, the

merits of a grievance and the substantive and procedural issues arising in connection with

the grievance shall be consolidated for hearing. The decision of the Arbitrator may be

enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction.

9. General Provisions:

a. If the Grievant fails to carry his/her grievance forward to the next level within the

prescribed time period, the grievance shall be considered settled based upon the decision

rendered at the most recent step utilized.

b. The Grievant may be represented by a person of his/her choice at any level of this

procedure.

c. Nothing contained herein shall preclude an Employee, with or without representation,

from bringing a matter not addressed herein through the chain of command to the

Personnel Director.

d. Proof of service shall be accomplished by Certified Mail or personal service

evidenced by a notarized affidavit of service.

10. Exceptions to Time Limits: The time limits set forth in this Article shall be strictly

observed, unless extended by written agreement of the Union and the Employer or



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 28 of 37 

otherwise excused for just cause. 

a. A Grievance alleging errors in wages which are ongoing shall be deemed continuing

and all subsequent errors shall relate back to and be incorporated within the

Grievance alleging the errors in the first instance.

b. Notwithstanding the expiration of this Agreement, any grievance filed prior to

expiration may be processed through the grievance procedure to resolution.

11. Proof of service shall be accomplished by certified mail or personal service.

ARTICLE 21:  MISCELLANEOUS 

1. Safety: The County shall make every reasonable effort to provide all safety equipment

and maintain safe conditions of employment. Employees shall be alert to unsafe

practices, equipment or conditions and report same to their immediate supervisor in

writing.  The supervisor will provide an initial response to all such reports within three

(3) days of receiving the Employee's written notice.  A written response will be provided

within ten (10) days. The County agrees to pay for a standard testing procedure to test for

HIV/AIDS for an Employee who, within the scope of the Employee's normal duties, has

been exposed to HIV/AIDS and could reasonably be viewed as posing a legitimate

threat. The County agrees to pay for Hepatitis B vaccinations for all Employees covered

by this Agreement who consent to the vaccination and who make an affirmative request

for the vaccination.

2. Communicable Disease: In the event an officer covered under this Agreement or

his/her supervisor suspects that, as a result of the course of duty s/he has been exposed

to or is the carrier of a serious communicable disease, the deputy may be relieved of

duty without the loss of any pay or sick leave and shall be taken to a local emergency

hospital for diagnosis and treatment. It shall be the responsibility of the supervisor to

determine if or when the deputy is permitted to leave duty for this purpose.

a. The deputy shall be provided with preventive measures designed to protect the

deputy against communicable diseases.  These measures shall include, but are

not limited to, vaccines and blood tests; medical equipment such as gloves,

masks, and other products; and equipment and procedures that are intended to

detect, prevent, or impede communicable disease.  Participation in any medical

procedures, such as vaccination and testing, shall be at the discretion of the

deputy. The Storey County Sheriff’s office shall not be held responsible for any

consequences to the officer as a result of the deputy having or not having

received any vaccinations or test.

3. Personnel Files: The Employer will maintain a master personnel file on each Employee.

The Employer shall maintain only one (1) set of files on each Employee; the Personnel

Office shall maintain said files. Any Employee has the right to review his/her master

personnel file upon request to the Personnel Office. Reasonable advance notice will be

provided. This right is limited to the individual Employee to review his/her own personnel

file. However, an Employee may, with proper release forms, permit his/her personnel file

to be reviewed by a party so authorized, upon presentation of properly executed forms

to the Personnel Office, which form shall be developed by the Personnel Office.  Except

as provided herein, only those authorized persons working in the Personnel Office, the

Employee's Supervisor, and the Sheriff shall have access to an Employee's master personnel

file. In addition, the Employer's authorized attorney(s) shall have the right to access an

Employee's files for legitimate personnel purposes related to discipline, complaints,

grievances, arbitrations, and lawsuits involving the Employee.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 29 of 37 

4. Rights of Peace Officers: The County expressly recognizes the provisions of NRS

Chapter 289 "Rights of Peace Officers."

5. Participative Management Committee: A Committee of the Management and the Union, not

to exceed three (3) representatives each. Shall meet semi-annually or more frequently when

mutually agreed. The meetings will be held on mutually agreed dates and times for the purpose of:

a. Discussing the administration of this Agreement;

; 

b. Exchanging general information of interest to the parties;

c. Giving the bargaining unit representatives the opportunity to share views of their members

and/or make suggestions on subjects to their members;

d. Review and analyze replacement and new equipment for quality, safety, and functionality

of future equipment purchases.

6. Education and Development: An Employee will be reimbursed for educational training courses

taken after written approval from the Sheriff.

a. The training must be related to the required skills or education for the Employee's current

position or to a logical career path with the Employer.

b. Only a bargaining unit Employee will be eligible for reimbursement for course work after

successful completion of the Employee's probationary period. Further eligibility may be

determined by the Sheriff in accordance with the departmental training program.

c. No Employee will be reimbursed more than Two Thousand Dollars ($2.000.00) per fiscal

year. There will be no reimbursement if the cost is assumed by any other institution,

scholarship, or grant-in-aid.

d. Reimbursable expenses shall be restricted to tuition and course fees. While courses shall

be normally taken on the Employee's own time. Exception may be granted by the Sheriff,

in which case hours from work will cause no adverse impacts to his/her duties and other

Employees in the workplace, and which hours from work must be deducted from earned

Vacation or be recorded as an unpaid excused absence.

e. To obtain reimbursement the course must be taken from a recognized and accredited college.

University, or training institution.  The Employee shall provide valid evidence that s/he

completed the course with a minimum grade of "B" eighty percent. If the course is of a

nature that no grade is given (i.e., pass or fail), the Employee must provide the Employer a

certificate of completion or other valid documentation showing satisfactory passage of the

courses.

f. The employee shall receive the regular rate of pay during training and education

which takes place during the employee's regular schedule shift period and

otherwise as required by the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).

7. Shift Trades: Represented Employees may request to trade shifts in the event that it does

not interfere with the operation of the Sheriff’s Office. Employees who trade shifts

must occupy the same job assignment and otherwise be qualified to perform the duties of

the job assignment.

a. No obligation, financial or otherwise of any nature, shall accrue to the Employer on

account of such shift trades. Therefore, hours worked by an Employee working a



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 30 of 37 

shift as the result of a shift trade shall be excluded from any overtime calculation. 

However, the regularly scheduled Employee shall be compensated as if s/he had 

worked his/her normal schedule for the traded shift. 

b. Where Overtime is required as the result of an Employee's inability to fulfill a shift

trade, the Employee failing to fill a shift shall have his/her Annual Leave balance

reduced up to twelve (12) hours or up to eighteen (18) hours if Overtime payment is

required.

c. Three-way shift trades are prohibited except under emergency conditions, as

determined by a supervisor.

d. A maximum of one hundred twenty (120) hours of shift trades per calendar year,

per Employee will be permitted. Shift trades shall not interfere with the operation,

administration, or safety of the Sheriff’s Office.

e. Nothing herein shall be construed to diminish the Employer's management rights

under NRS 288 or the Management Rights clause hereof.

Legal Liability – NRS Chapter 41 shall apply to represented employees, as appropriate. 

ARTICLE 22: CATASTROPHIC LEA VE 

1. Definitions: Catastrophe means the Employee is unable to perform the duties of his/her

position including a reasonable modified duty assignment because of a serious illness or

injury to the Employee and/or an immediate family member (within the First degree of

consanguinity or affinity) which is life threatening, or which will require a lengthy

convalescence. Lengthy convalescence means a period of disability that an attending

physician expects to exceed ten (10) weeks.

2. Establishing the Catastrophic Leave Account: The Sheriff’s Office may establish an

account for Catastrophic Leave for Sheriff’s Office Employees. All Employees of the

Sheriff’s Office who are eligible to use Sick Leave, whether or not the positions they

occupy are part of the bargaining unit of this Agreement, may use the Leave from the

Catastrophic Leave account and/or donate to this account.  Donations to and withdrawals

from this account are restricted to Employees of the Sheriff’s Office.

a. An Employee may request, in writing, that a specified number of hours of his/her

accrued Annual or Sick Leave be transferred from his/her account to the Catastrophic

Leave account.

b. Sick and Annual Leave will be transferred at the rate of one hour for one hour credit

donated consistent with the provisions of NRS 245. Donated time will be converted to a

dollar amount based upon the donating Employee's current base hourly rate of pay. When

an Employee is given Leave, the Catastrophic Leave account will be reduced by an

amount determined by multiplying the receiving Employee's current base rate of pay by

the number of hours received.

c. The minimum number of hours which may be transferred is eight (8) hours. An

Employee may not transfer Sick Leave to the Catastrophic Leave account if the balance

of his/her account after the transfer is less than two hundred forty (240) hours. Leave

will be placed in a pool; however, the Employee may transfer hours to the catastrophic

leave account for use by a particular Employee who has been determined to be eligible

to receive the Leave.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 31 of 37 

d. Any hours of Annual or Sick Leave which are transferred from any Employee’s account

to the Catastrophic Leave account may not be returned or restored to that Employee. This

subsection does not prevent the Employee from receiving Leave pursuant to section 4 of

this Article.

3. Request for Catastrophic Leave: An Employee who is himself/herself affected by a

catastrophe or an immediate family member (within the first degree of consanguinity)

affected by a catastrophe as defined in paragraph (I) may request to the Sheriff or HR

Director, in-writing, that a specified number of hours of Leave be transferred from the

Catastrophic Leave account to his/her account.

a. The request must include:

i. The Employee's name, title, and classification; and

ii. A physician's statement of the limitations which prevent the Employee from being

available for work and the expected duration of the limitations.

b. An Employee may not receive any Leave from the Catastrophic Leave account until s/he

has used all his/her accrued Annual, Sick, and other paid Leave.  If an Employee has

requested leave from the Catastrophic Leave account within the previous three (3) years,

the Employee may not receive any leave from the Catastrophic Leave account until s/he

has been off work for forty (40) consecutive hours and has used all his/her accrued Sick,

Annual, and other paid Leave.

c. An Employee who receives Leave from the Catastrophic Leave account is entitled to

payment for that leave at a rate no greater than his/her own rate of pay.

d. The request form will be made available at the Human Resources office and must be

completed by the employee, except in cases where an employee is unable to do so.

e. The maximum number of hours that may be granted to an employee shall be 480 hours

per rolling calendar year. Any requests for an exception to this limit must be approved

by the Sheriff and the Administrative Officer/HR Director.

f. The decision of the Sheriff or HR Director concerning the approval of Leave is final and

is not subject to the Grievance procedure, judicial review, or review by the Board of

County Commissioners

4. Review of Status of Catastrophe; Termination of Leave; Disposition of Hours Not

Used: The Sheriff or HR Director shall review the status of the limitations of the Employee

and determine when the limitations no longer exist. This determination is final and not

subject to the Grievance procedure, judicial review, or review by the Board of County

Commissioners.

a. The Sheriff or the HR Director shall not grant any hours of Leave from the Catastrophic

Leave account after:

i. The limitations cease to exist; or

ii. The Employee who is receiving the Leave resigns or his/her employment with the

County is terminated.

b. Any Leave which is received from the Catastrophic Leave account which was not used at

the time the limitations ceased to exist or upon the resignation or termination of the

employment of the Employee must be returned to the Catastrophic Leave account.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 32 of 37 

5. Maintenance of Records on Catastrophic Leave:  Records will be maintained by the

Payroll Dept. under the direction of the Comptroller.  The Union may request in writing

information concerning the use of the Catastrophic Leave account provided that any request

for medical information be accompanied by a written release signed by the affected

employee(s).

6. Substantiation of Limitations:   The Sheriff and/or HR Director or his/her designee shall

require written substantiation of the catastrophe and expected duration by a physician of his

or her choosing. The physician shall be of equal or greater qualification as the treating

physician.  The cost of such written substantiation shall be borne by the employer. Visits to

the physician shall be on County time.

7. Employee to Employee Donations:  An employee who fails to qualify for catastrophic

leave pursuant to the requirements set forth in subsection (f) above may receive Catastrophic

Leave if eligible employees independently contribute a designated number of hours in eight

(8) hour increments to the non-qualifying employee’s specific Catastrophic event. The

receipt of such Catastrophic Leave shall be subject to the remaining requirements set forth

in this Article.

Annual and Sick Leave will be transferred at the rate of one (1) hour for one (1) hour credit donated 

consistent with the provisions of NRS 245.  

ARTICLE 23: SERVICE-CONNECTED DISABILITY 

All eligible members shall be covered by a workers compensation program of the county’s 

choice that conforms with the provisions of the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act (NRS 616) and 

the Nevada Occupational Disease Act (NRS 617) and that provides for payment of industrial 

accident benefits and compensation for partial and total disability arising from industrial injuries 

and occupational diseases. 

1. In the event an employee is absent from work due to a service-connected disability, approved

pursuant to N RS 616 or 617, a supplemental amount from the county will be provided which

would cause the total amount received by the employee from the service connected

disability and the county to equal his/her wages at the time of his/her disability.

The supplemental compensation will start from the first day of absence or illness but shall

not exceed 60 calendar days for the same incident.  During this period, the employee shall

not forfeit any accrued sick leave. Successful completion of the probationary period is

required in order to qualify for the supplemental compensation from the county.

2. It is the intent of the County to pay on-the-job injured employees (as outlined in this section)

the difference between full biweekly wages and that provided pursuant to NRS 616 and 617

covering the period enumerated in Section I of this Article. No supplemental benefits shall

be paid until after the employee's lost-time benefit check has been deposited with the County

Treasurer.

3. If an employee who is entitled to disability compensation has not completed his/her

probationary period, or if an employee who has received supplemental compensation for the

maximum 60 calendar days is unable to return to work, s/he may elect to utilize accrued sick

leave, during which period the employee shall receive compensation from the county as

provided by NRS 281.390.  If the employee is receiving no compensation for time missed

from work though the workers' compensation program, the employee must use leave benefits

to fully account for any absence.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 33 of 37 

4. When accrued sick leave has expired, if the employee is still unable to work and the

employee is receiving compensation for time missed from work though the workers

compensation program, s/he will be permitted to use his/her accrued annual leave as sick

leave.  Subsequent to the expiration of both the employee's sick and annual leave, provided

that the employee has so elected to use his/her annual leave as sick leave, the employee's

compensation will be limited to that provided by NRS 617 or 617 and the employee will be

placed in a leave without pay status. However, through written justification to the HR

Director, exceptions to this Article may be approved by the county manager.

5. As a result of a licensed physician's evaluation and prognosis, it appears that the employee

will not return to his/her regular county job within a 12-month period, the county may require

a medical separation. Medical separation appeals of employees covered by this Agreement

shall be handled in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article 20 Grievance

Procedures.

ARTICLE 24: PAYROLL DEDUCTION 

1. The County shall deduct dues from the salaries of Union members and pay over to the

proper officer of the Union the money so collected on a monthly basis. All payroll deductions

for dues shall only be made in accordance with a voluntary deduction authorization form

individually executed by the Employee for whom the deduction will be made.

2. The Union shall indemnify, defend, and hold the County harmless against any and all

claims, demands, suits, and all other forms of liability, which might arise out of or by

reason of action taken under the provisions of this Article.

3. The Union shall certify to the County, in writing, the current rate of membership dues. The

County will be notified of any change in the rate of membership dues, in writing, thirty

(30) days prior to the effective date of such change.

ARTICLE 25: PERSONNEL PRACTICES 

1. Date of hire is the first day actually worked.

2. Initial Probationary Period: Probationary periods are considered a continuation of the

selection process and apply to all initial appointments. All classifications covered by this

Agreement shall undergo a probationary period of one year from the date of hire.

a. Time which elapses between an offer of employment and the date the employee

begins working, unpaid leave, or other separations shall not be considered working

time.

3. Probationary Employee:  An employee who is undergoing a working evaluation period during

which h/she is required to demonstrate his/her ability to carry out the duties of the position to which

hired.

a. The new hire probation period pursuant to this agreement is 12 months.  The probation may

be extended up to 18 months if more time is needed to evaluate the employee’s ability to

carry out the duties of the position.  The extension of probation is at the sole discretion of

the Sheriff.

b. Newly hired probationary employees are employed “at-will” and are excluded from the

coverage of this agreement.  They may be laid-off or discharged from employment during

this period for any reason with or without cause.  After successfully completing the new



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 34 of 37 

hire probationary period, the employee shall be deemed to be a regular employee and 

subject to this agreement and shall acquire seniority from his/her first date of hire. 

c. A probationary employee who transfers laterally within the same classification (e.g.,

Admin. II in one department to Admin. II in another department) must serve the remainder

of the new-hire probationary period assigned to him/her upon hire.

d. A regular employee who is promoted to a position in a higher classification shall serve a

“trial period” of 12 months in the new position.  A probationary employee who is promoted

to a position in a higher classification shall serve a “trial period” of 12 months in the new

position and must concurrently complete the remainder of his/her new hire probation

period.  During the “trial period”, the regular employee is not considered probationary;

however, regular employees and probationary employees completing the remainder of their

probationary period must demonstrate satisfactory ability to carry out the duties of the

position to which promoted.  Unless the promoted employee is dismissed from employment

for cause, the employee who failed the “trail period” in the new position will be restored to

his/her previous classification or an equivalent classification if the previous position is

unavailable.

e. An employee who is demoted to a lower classification is not required to serve a “trial

period” for that position.

f. An employee who changes from working part-time to regular full-time within the same

classification shall have his/her new hire probationary period adjusted to credit actual hours

worked over the past 12 months with Storey County in said classification, up to the

maximum of 1040 hours (6 months), toward completion of the new hire probation period.

4. Rejection During Initial Probation: The Sheriff may terminate (reject) a probationary

Employee at any time during the probationary period without the right of appeal in any

manner and without recourse to the grievance procedure of this Agreement; except when

the Employee alleges and substantiates in writing that the termination was due to

discrimination on the basis of race, religion, color, national origin, sex, sexual orientation,

age, disability, pregnancy, ancestry, veteran's status, domestic partnership, genetic

information, gender identity or expression, political affiliation, membership in Nevada

National Guard, or union affiliation. Grievances based on allegations of discrimination

shall be processed pursuant to Article 20 of this Agreement and filed directly at Level 2

with the Sheriff within ten (10) days of the notice of termination.

5. The Sheriff shall notify the Employee in writing that s/he is rejected during probation.

No reasons for the action are necessary.

ARTICLE 26: DRUG AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE 

1. Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace & Reasonable Suspicion Drug Testing: Employees

agree to abide by Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206 - Drug and Alcohol 

Free Workplace.

2. Reasonable Suspicion Drug and Alcohol Testing will he conducted in accordance with

Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206 - Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace

and Storey County Policy and Procedure Number 206A - Vehicle Operators Drug and

Alcohol Policy, as appropriate.



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 35 of 37 

3. Weapons / Use of Deadly Force Incident:  Each Employee who accidentally discharges

a firearm while on duty or applies deadly force against a human being will be tested for

drugs and alcohol as soon as possible after the incident.

a. An Employee who is subject to a post-accident/incident test must remain readily

available for testing. An Employee who leaves the scene before the test is

administered or who does not make him/herself readily available may be deemed

to have refused to be tested, and such refusal shall be treated as a positive test.

Further, the Employee, subject to a post-accident/incident test, must refrain from

consuming alcohol for eight (8) hours following the accident/incident or until the

Employee submits to an alcohol test, whichever comes first.  An Employee

who consumes alcohol within eight (8) hours following the accident/incident or before

submitting to an alcohol test, whichever comes first. shall be subject to discipline, up to

and including termination.

ARTICLE 27: SAVINGS CLAUSE 

It is not the intent of either party hereto to violate any laws, rulings or regulations of any 

governmental authority or agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter of this Agreement.  The 

parties agree that, in the event that any provision(s) of this Agreement are finally held or determined 

to be illegal or void as being in contravention of such laws, rulings or regulations, nevertheless the 

remainder of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless the provision(s) so found to 

be void cannot be separated from the provision(s) of this Agreement held to be legal.  Upon such 

finding of illegality and nullity, the parties shall promptly meet to enter into lawful negotiations 

concerning the substance of the provision(s) found to be illegal and void. 

ARTICLE 28: ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT PROCEDURE 

This Agreement shall be deemed adopted and binding upon execution by authorized representatives 

of the Union and the County.  The provisions of this Agreement shall not be altered, amended, or 

added to except by the mutual written agreement of the County and the Union.  Either party may 

request to the other to consider changes in provisions of the Agreement: such request shall be in 

writing. 

ARTICLE 29:  REOPENER 

Both the union and the County have an option for a reopener, limited to one article each, for the third 

year of the contract 2026/2027.  The party(s) requesting the reopener must notify the other party of 

the request no later than February 1, 2026. 



2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement SCSOEA/Storey County 

Page 36 of 37 

STOREY COUNTY STOREY COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 

EMPLOYEES’ ASSOCIATION 

__________________________  _____________________________ 

Clay Mitchell  Christopher Hamblin, President 

Storey County Commission SCSO Employees’ Association 

__________________________  _____________________________ 

Jay Carmona Mike Simons, Vice President 

Storey County Commission SCSO Employees’ Association 

__________________________  _____________________________ 

Lance Gilman  Stan Glowniak, Secretary SCSO 

Storey County Commission Employers Association 

_____________________________ 

Joseph Welch, Treasurer SCSO 

Employer’s Association 

Approved as to from: 

__________________________ 

Anne Langer, District Attorney 



New Chart - Less compression between positions  
 July 2024 Drop 4 steps Corporal and Sergeant  4.5% between Steps

Deputy stays at 5.5%
 Step 1 Hourly      Step 2 Hourly    Step 3 Hourly     Step 4 Hourly    Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly   Step 7 Hourly  Step 8 Hourly    Step 9 Hourly  Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 62,275.97       29.94         65,701.15       31.59         69,314.72       33.32         73,127.03       35.16         77,149.01       37.09            81,392.21       39.13              85,868.78       41.28         90,591.56       43.55         95,574.10       45.95         100,830.67     48.48         

 Step 1 Hourly      Step 2 Hourly    Step 3 Hourly     Step 4 Hourly    Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly   Step 7 Hourly  Step 8 Hourly    Step 9 Hourly  Step 10 Hourly

Corporal 79,792.25       38.36         83,382.91       40.09         87,135.14       41.89         91,056.22       43.78         95,153.75       45.75            99,435.67       47.81              103,910.27     49.96         108,586.23     52.20         113,472.61     54.55         118,578.88     57.01         

Sergeant 86,061.85       41.38         89,934.64       43.24         93,981.69       45.18         98,210.87       47.22         102,630.36     49.34            107,248.73     51.56              112,074.92     53.88         117,118.29     56.31         122,388.61     58.84         127,896.10     61.49         

New Chart - Less compression between positions  
 July 2025 Possible 3% increase w/o PERS increase

 Step 1 Hourly      Step 2 Hourly    Step 3 Hourly     Step 4 Hourly    Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly   Step 7 Hourly  Step 8 Hourly    Step 9 Hourly  Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 64,144.25       30.84         67,672.19       32.53         71,394.16       34.32         75,320.84       36.21         79,463.48       38.20            83,833.97       40.30              88,444.84       42.52         93,309.31       44.86         98,441.32       47.33         103,855.59     49.93         

Corporal 82,186.02       39.51         85,884.39       41.29         89,749.19       43.15         93,787.90       45.09         98,008.36       47.12            102,418.74     49.24              107,027.58     51.46         111,843.82     53.77         116,876.79     56.19         122,136.25     58.72         

Sergeant 88,643.71       42.62         92,632.68       44.53         96,801.15       46.54         101,157.20     48.63         105,709.27     50.82            110,466.19     53.11              115,437.17     55.50         120,631.84     58.00         126,060.27     60.61         131,732.98     63.33         

New Chart - Less compression between positions  
 July 2026 2% increase 

 Step 1 Hourly      Step 2 Hourly    Step 3 Hourly     Step 4 Hourly    Step 5 Hourly Step 6 Hourly   Step 7 Hourly  Step 8 Hourly    Step 9 Hourly  Step 10 Hourly

Deputy 65,427.14       31.46         69,025.63       33.19         72,822.04       35.01         76,827.25       36.94         81,052.75       38.97            85,510.65       41.11              90,213.74       43.37         95,175.50       45.76         100,410.15     48.27         105,932.71     50.93         

Corporal 83,829.74       40.30         87,602.08       42.12         91,544.17       44.01         95,663.66       45.99         99,968.53       48.06            104,467.11     50.22              109,168.13     52.48         114,080.70     54.85         119,214.33     57.31         124,578.97     59.89         

Sergeant 90,416.58       43.47         94,485.33       45.43         98,737.17       47.47         103,180.34     49.61         107,823.46     51.84            112,675.51     54.17              117,745.91     56.61         123,044.48     59.16         128,581.48     61.82         134,367.64     64.60         

APPENDIX A: WAGE AND STEP SCHEDULE

2024-2027 Collective Bargaining Agreement
SCSOEA/Storey County

Page 37 of 37



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and Possible Approval of Grant of Easement File No. 2024-017 to
NV Energy for communication and gas facilities within a portion of the Waltham Way
Right-of-Way and Alexandria Ct. Right-of-Way, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I
[commissioner] move to approve a Grant of Easement (2024-017) to NV Energy for
utilities within a portion of the Waltham Way Right-of-Way and Alexandria Ct. Right-of-
Way, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department: Planning     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: NV Energy is requesting an easement to construct, operate, add to,
modify, maintain and remove aboveground and/or underground communication facilities
and gas systems for the distribution and transmission of gas underground, consisting of
pipes, valves, fittings, regulators, meters, vaults, and other equipment, fixtures, apparatus,
and improvements (“Underground Utility Facilities”) and valves (aboveground or
underground), service boxes/meter panels (aboveground or underground), regulators
(aboveground or underground), bollards (aboveground), and other equipment, fixtures,
apparatus, and improvements (“Additional Utility Facilities”) upon, over, under and
through the a portion of the Waltham Way and Alexandria Ct. Rights-of-Way.

• The Public Works Director has reviewed the easement and has no concerns.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

      13



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 
RW# RW-1437-2023 
Proj. # 3011875615 
Project Name: G-1050 WALTHAM WAY-FP-COMM-EG-1050 WALTHAM BRIDGE LLC 
GOE_DESIGN_GAS  

1 

Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 

The undersigned hereby affirms that 
this document, including any exhibits  
hereby submitted for recording does  
not contain the personal information  
of any person or persons (Per NRS 239B.030) 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
Land Resources 
NV Energy 
P.O. Box 10100 MS S4B20 
Reno, NV 89520 

GRANT OF EASEMENT 

STOREY COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Grantor"), for One 
Dollar ($1.00) and other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged, and on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, grants and 
conveys to Sierra Pacific Power Company, a Nevada corporation, d/b/a NV Energy 
(“Grantee”) and its successors and assigns a perpetual right and easement: 

1. to construct, operate, add to, modify, maintain and remove aboveground
and/or underground communication facilities and gas systems for the
distribution and transmission of gas underground, consisting of pipes,
valves, fittings, regulators, meters, vaults, and other equipment, fixtures,
apparatus, and improvements (“Underground Utility Facilities”)  and
valves (aboveground or underground), service boxes/meter panels
(aboveground or underground), regulators (aboveground or underground),
bollards (aboveground), and other equipment, fixtures, apparatus, and
improvements (“Additional Utility Facilities”) upon, over, under and
through the property described in Exhibit “A” hereto and by this reference
made a part of this Grant of Easement (“Easement Area”);



Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 
RW# RW-1437-2023 
Proj. # 3011875615 
Project Name: G-1050 WALTHAM WAY-FP-COMM-EG-1050 WALTHAM BRIDGE LLC 
GOE_DESIGN_GAS  

2 

2. For ingress and egress to, from, over and across the Easement Area for
the allowed purposes defined in numbered paragraph 1 above and for all
other activities permitted by this agreement;

3. To remove, clear, cut or trim any obstruction or material (including trees,
other vegetation and structures) from the surface or subsurface of the
Easement Area as Grantee may deem necessary or advisable for the safe
and proper use and maintenance of the Utility Facilities or the Additional
Utility Facilities within the Easement Area.

Grantee will be responsible for any damages, proximately caused by Grantee 
negligently construction, operating, adding to, maintain, or removing the Utility Facilities 
and/or the Additional Utility Facilities, to any tangible, personally property or 
improvements owned by Grantor and located on the Easement Area on the date 
Grantor signs the Grant of Easement.  However, this paragraph does not apply to and 
Grantee is not responsible for, any damages caused when Grantee exercises its rights 
under numbered paragraph 3 above so long as it exercises its rights in a prudent and 
non-negligent manner. 

Grantee shall bear the entire cost and expense of installing and maintaining said 
Utility Facilities and Additional Utility Facilities in said Easement Area. 

Grantee shall, at its expense, comply with all applicable laws, regulations, rules 
and orders regardless of when they become or became effective, including, without 
limitation, those relating to health, safety, noise, environmental protection, waste 
disposal, and water and air quality. 

Grantee shall coordinate initial construction and/or maintenance with any existing 
lessees/occupants of the real property and shall use its best efforts not to unreasonably 
interfere with use/access of such lessees/occupants in the course of its construction 
and/or maintenance. 

Grantee agrees that no assessments will be levied against the property of 
Grantor to defray any part of the expense incurred in connection with any construction 
in the Easement Area. 

Grantee agrees to investigate, release, defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
Grantor, its officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns from all claims, 
liability, cost and expense, howsoever same may be caused, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, for loss of or damage to property for injuries to or death of persons 
arising out of the construction, reconstruction, maintenance, presence in, or use of the 



Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 
RW# RW-1437-2023 
Proj. # 3011875615 
Project Name: G-1050 WALTHAM WAY-FP-COMM-EG-1050 WALTHAM BRIDGE LLC 
GOE_DESIGN_GAS  

3 

Easement Area by Grantee, its employees, agents, licensees, invitees, successors or 
assigns. 

Grantee shall fully pay for all materials installed in the Easement Area and shall 
pay in full all persons who perform labor thereupon. Grantee shall not permit any 
mechanics’ or materialmen’s liens of any kind or nature to be enforced against the 
property for any work done or materials furnished thereon at Grantee’s request. 

Grantor covenants for the benefit of Grantee, its successors and assigns, that no 
building, structure or other real property improvements will be constructed or placed on 
or within the Easement Area without the prior written consent of Grantee, such 
structures and improvements to include, but not be limited to, drainage, trees, bridges, 
signage, roads, fencing, storage facilities, parking canopies, and other covered facilities. 
Grantee and Grantor must document Grantee’s consent by both signing Grantee’s 
standard, recordable use agreement. Grantor retains, for its benefit, the right to 
maintain, use and otherwise landscape the Easement Area for its own purposes; 
provided, however, that all such purposes and uses do not interfere with Grantee’s 
rights herein, Grantee’s gas practices, and standards.  Grantee may use this easement 
to provide service to any of its customers. 

(signatures on next page) 



Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 
RW# RW-1437-2023 
Proj. # 3011875615 
Project Name: G-1050 WALTHAM WAY-FP-COMM-EG-1050 WALTHAM BRIDGE LLC 
GOE_DESIGN_GAS  

4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor has caused these presents duly to be executed the 
day and year first above written.   

GRANTOR: GRANTEE: 

Accepted for the County of Storey, Sierra Pacific Power Company 
by the Board of County Commissioners 

By: By:  

Name:  Name: William Kruger 

Title: Title: Manger, Land Resources 

Date: Date: 

(acknowledgements on next page) 



Location: Waltham Way & Alexandria Court 
RW# RW-1437-2023 
Proj. # 3011875615 
Project Name: G-1050 WALTHAM WAY-FP-COMM-EG-1050 WALTHAM BRIDGE LLC 
GOE_DESIGN_GAS  

5 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of 

_____________, 2024, by William Kruger as Manager, Land Resources of Sierra 
Pacific Power Company d/b/a NV Energy. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 

STATE OF NEVADA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF STOREY ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of  

_____________, 2024, by ______________________ as _______________________ 

 of the BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF STOREY COUNTY, a political 
subdivision of the State of Nevada. 

________________________________ 
  Notary Public 











Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Interlocal Agreement Between Storey
County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the partial-grant-funded
construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North
C Street (APNs 001.094.03 and 001.094.02), Virginia City, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve the attached Interlocal
Agreement Between Storey County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the
partial-grant-funded construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71
located at 145 North C Street (APNs 001.094.03 and 001.094.02), Virginia City, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This interlocal agreement sets forth the guidelines under which Storey
County will take all financial obligations to complete the construction of the first phase of
Fire Station 71 (a county-owned building) located at 145 North C Street in Virginia City.
The agreement also sets forth the guidelines by which the fire district will purchase Fire
Station 71 from Storey County and reimburse the county for direct costs associated with
the construction of Phase I of the fire station expansion project. The fire district will
agree to purchase the entire station and underlying parcels for the sum of all costs
associated with this project less federal grant funds that are applied to the project.

•
• This project includes the addition or relocation of firefighter dormitories, office space,

and other support facilities for Fire Station 71. The interlocal agreement is subject to
approval by the Board of Storey County Commissioners and the Board of Storey County
Fire Commissioners.

•
• This project is partially funded by a United States Department of Agriculture Rural

Development (USDA-RD) for approximately $3.7 million.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

      14



• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Final 

Page 1 of 4 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

STOREY COUNTY 
AND 

STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

This Interlocal Agreement between Storey County (hereinafter County) and Storey County Fire 
Protection District (hereinafter SCFPD) is for the construction and purchase of Fire Station 71 in Virginia 
City, Nevada. County and SCFPD are at times collectively referred to as the “Parties.”  

WHEREAS Nevada Revised Statute 277.180 allows a public agency to contract with other public 
agencies to provide services, and 

WHEREAS, both Parties desire to enter into an Interlocal Agreement to define the stipulations of 
purchasing Fire Station 71 located in Virginia City, Nevada after construction has been completed and the 
provisions of any accompanying grant funds have been exhausted.   

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants provided herein, it is 
mutually agreed by and between the Parties as follows: 

1. PURPOSE.  This Interlocal Agreement sets forth the guidelines under which the County will
take all financial obligations to complete the construction of the first phase (Phase I) of Fire
Station 71 (a County-owned building) located at 145 North C Street in Virginia City, Nevada
APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02, and which the SCFPD will purchase Fire Station 71 from
the County and reimburse the County for direct costs associated with the construction of
Phase I of the Fire Station 71 project  The SCFPD agrees to purchase of entire station and
underlying parcels for the sum of all costs associated with this project minus the federal grant
funds.

2. DEFINITION. Phase I of Fire Station 71 includes: Environmental and geotechnical
reporting, architectural report, design and engineering, and construction and properly related
matters of a 3- story building of dormatories, offices, and/or other fire station related spaces
situated approximately between the current Fire Stations 71 and 171 buildings, and
approximately 600 square feet of the southern interior portions of the Station 171 building
(wash rooms and lavatory to be converted to turnout storage and similar uses) abutting the
new fire station expansion building, effective from the start of the Techtonics invoice of
$2,425.00 dated June 25, 2023.

3. GRANT FUNDS. The County agrees to utilize and track all governmental apportioned funds
stipulated for the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71.  The County will perform all
required reporting and fulfill the requirements of the grant.



Final 

Page 2 of 4 

This grant is funded by the United States Department of Agriculture Rural Development for 
$3,750,000. This grant is subject to specific conditions and requirements as outlined within 
the grant which the Parties shall follow during the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71 and 
through the completion of the project and closing of the USDA grant. 

A Preliminary Architectural Report (PAR) at 90% will be provided to the Grants Manager. 
The PAR will be submitted to the USDA for approval and any recommended changes. Once 
USDA approval process is finalized a 100% PAR and an Environmental Report will be 
provided to the Grants Manager. 

No construction shall begin until the final PAR and Environmental report is approved by the 
USDA and a letter of conditions has been signed by the County.  

The Grants Manager will be included as a recipient for all contract deliverables as they relate 
to project design. 

The SCFPD and Grants Manager will have a preconstruction conference with the UDSA.  

The Grants Manger will be copied on all emails related to the project through completion. 

The Grant Manager will be notified of any changes to the scope of work and associated 
deadlines. The USDA will be notified of any changes to the scope of work and associated 
deadlines and will review and approve any changes and deadlines to the scope of work. 

All invoices will be reviewed by the SCFPD to verify accuracy and then sent to the Grants 
Manager with supporting documentation of verification and processing at minimum once a 
month if applicable. 

The SCFPD understands that this project must comply with the Buy America/Build America 
requirements, and all other design and construction requirements of the project, and will 
provide the Grants Manager with all supporting documentation for this compliance. 

4. CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS.

a. Parties agree to the construction of Phase I of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North C
Street APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02 including the attachment and remodel of
Fire Station 171 described in Definitions above to the proposed Phase I Fire Station
71. Construction costs  shall not exceed  $6.5 million dollars. In the event that
construction costs exceed $6.5 million dollars, the parties shall present the additional
costs to the Board of Storey County Commissioners and the Board of Storey County
Fire Commissioners for consideration and possible approval. It is the responsibility
of the SCFPD to employ the most cost-effective construction methods and materials
available to complete this project at or under the maximum allowable project cost .
Any future phases of construction or other improvements not related to Phase I Fire
Station 71 project shall be the sole financial responsibility of the SCFPD and may
only ensue after the completion of Phase I of the project and transfer of the subject
property from the County to the SCFPD.

Jeremy Loncar
Must be included.  I have to install diesel exhaust systems, make it match, and other small projects or we will not be in compliance with the NFPA and will not be able to have firefighters sleep in the new building. 



Final 

Page 3 of 4 

b. Project Management including, but not limited to, project plan and engineering
development, bidding and bid award process, construction and construction
management, and closure will be the responsibility of the SCFPD under the
supervision of the County.  SCFPD must coordinate with the County throughout all
steps of the project including project plan and engineering development, the bidding
and bid award process, construction and construction management, and closure. The
Parties shall make every effort to not delay or alter the station design and
construction that will adversely affect the project. The County shall not modify any
proposed plans for Phase I of the Fire Station 71 with the exception of specific
requirements outlined within the USDA grant without expressed approval from the
SCFPD.

5. BUILDING AND FIRE PLANS REVIEW FEES. The Parties agree to waive any costs
associated with plans review and permits for the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71.
Plans will be submitted to the County building department and SCFPD for detailed and
thorough plan review and permitting

6. SALE. The County agrees to sell the completed Phase I Fire Station 71, the remainder of Fire
Station 71 buildings and improvements, and the parcel on which Fire Station 71 is located
being 145 North C Street (APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02), Virginia City, Nevada for the
exact sum of money directly attributed to the construction costs of the Phase I Fire Station 71
above the allocated grant funds received, to the SCFPD.  The terms for the purchase of the
property from the County shall be completed and budgeted within 1 year of the issuance of
the Certificate of Occupancy for  Phase I Fire Station 71 project. The County Comptroller’s
Office will manage the purchase of the property (e.g., title searches, recording, board
approvals, and other associated required tasks) until the transaction is complete.

7. TERM OF THE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT.  The Parties mutually agree that the term
of this Interlocal Agreement is until the completion and successful sale of Fire Station 71 to
the SCFPD with the approval of the Board of County Commissioners and the Board of Fire
Commissioners.  This Interlocal Agreement may only be terminated by the mutual consent
and agreement of the Parties.   Each party agrees to comply with this Interlocal Agreement
until the date of termination.  If a party is in breach of a portion of this Interlocal Agreement,
then the party alleging the breach must provide written notice to the other party specifying the
nature of the violation and allow 30 days for the party in breach to correct the violation.  If
the breach is not corrected within the 30-day period, the Parties may enforce any rights or
remedies provided by law or equity, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred
by the prevailing party.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written below. 

Dated this ______ day of _________, 2024 Dated this _____ day of _______, 2024  



Final 

Page 4 of 4 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Jay Carmona  Jay Carmona 
Chairman Chairman 
Storey County  Storey County Fire Protection District 
Board of County Commissioners Board of Fire Commissioners 

Attest: Attest: 

___________________________ ____________________________________ 
Clerk  Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

_________________________________________ 
District Attorney 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Report of Public Works Department regarding roads and Highways throughout
Storey County.

• Recommended motion: Discussion only.

• Prepared by: Jason Wierzbicki

Department: Public Works     Contact Number: 7752299920

• Staff Summary: Discussion of roads and highways throughout the County.

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: no

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     16



Storey County Water and Sewer Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Storey County Water and Sewer FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.

• Recommended motion: Discussion ONLY

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department: Comptroller     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: As we finalize the Storey County FY25 budget there are small changes
between the Tentative and Final budgets for the Water and Sewer Funds which will affect
the ending fund balances.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      18

















Storey County Liquor Licensing Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of the First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale
Liquor License. Applicant is Jagmohan Dhillon, Sparks Hotel, LLC DBA Courtyard by
Marriott-Reno/Sparks-McCarran located at 505 USA Parkway, McCarran, NV 89437

• Recommended motion: I (insert name) motion to approve the First Reading On-
Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is Jagmohan Dhillon, Sparks Hotel, LLC DBA
Courtyard by Marriott-Reno/Sparks-McCarran located at 505 USA Parkway, McCarran,
NV 89437

• Prepared by: Dore Nevin

Department: Sheriff     Contact Number: 7758470959

• Staff Summary: First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is
Jagmohan Dhillon, Sparks Hotel, LLC DBA Courtyard by Marriott-Reno/Sparks-
McCarran located at 505 USA Parkway, McCarran, NV 89437

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      20



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Storey County Fire District FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.

• Recommended motion: Discussion ONLY

• Prepared by: Jennifer McCain

Department: Comptroller     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: As we finalize the Storey County Fire District FY25 budget the changes
between the Tentative and Final budgets amount to approximately 7% increase in
revenues and an increase of approximately 6% in expenses.  This brings the ending fund
balance for the General Fund to approximately $6,604,000 or a reduction of
approximately 4%.

• Final Approval for the FY25 Storey County Final Budget will be during the May 21,
2024, Board of Commissioner’s meeting.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: yes

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      22



































Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval to proclaim May 2024 as Nevada Wildfire
Awareness Month in Storey County.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) move to approve the proclamation of
May 2024 as the Nevada Wildfire Awareness Month in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department: Fire     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: Wildfire can threaten Nevada’s communities and impact residents’
home, property, and life. The key to minimizing wildfire impact in Nevada is proactive
communities that take steps to prepare.

• In response to representatives of Nevada’s local, state, and federal firefighting agencies;
wildfire prone communities; and the University of Nevada Reno Extension have
constructed a wildfire awareness campaign every May since 2006. This year, the message
is “Plan, Prepare, Take Action”.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      23



STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT

PROCLAMATION

Serving Storey County Since 1861

IN SUPPORT OF THE
NEVADA WILDFIRE AWARENESS MONTH - MAY 2024

WHEREAS, wildfire significantly impacts Nevada’s environmental, economic and social well-
being; and

WHEREAS, residents can save precious time in an evacuation by drafting a family evacuation 
plan and packing a go- bag ahead of time;

WHEREAS, residents must prepare to survive wildfire by ensuring proper management of 
vegetation surrounding the home and appropriate home construction and maintenance to resist 
ignition; and

WHEREAS, residents need to work together to prepare their homes and communities to survive 
wildfire and commit to becoming fire adapted.

Now, Therefore, the Storey County Board of Fire Commissioners proclaim the month of May 
2024 as

Nevada Wildfire Awareness Month

and this year’s banner theme is: “Plan, Prepare, Take Action” As a means for education and a 
call for residents of Storey County to work together to be ready for wildfire.

Passed, Approved and Adopted this 7th day of May 2024, by the Storey County Board of Fire 
Commissioners.  

________________________

Julian “Jay” Carmona – Chairman

Storey County Board of Fire Commissioners



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of disposal by means of auction, donation,
sale, or trade-in, of one 2002 Chevrolet reserve ambulance.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) move to approve the disposal of a
Chevrolet reserve ambulance by means of auction, donation, sale, or trade-in.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department: Fire     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: I am requesting approval to reduce our fleet by means of sale, auction,
trade-in, or donation of the following vehicles:

•
• 2002 Chevrolet Ambulance    Vin 1GBJK34G32F158568

• Supporting Materials: No Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     24



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Interlocal Agreement Between Storey
County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the partial-grant-funded
construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North
C Street (APNs 001.094.03 and 001.094.02), Virginia City, Nevada.

• Recommended motion: I (fire commissioner) motion to approve the attached Interlocal
Agreement Between Storey County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the
partial-grant-funded construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71
located at 145 North C Street (APNs 001.094.03 and 001.094.02), Virginia City, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department: Fire     Contact Number: 7753991746

• Staff Summary: This interlocal agreement sets forth the guidelines under which Storey
County will take all financial obligations to complete the construction of the first phase of
Fire Station 71 (a county-owned building) located at 145 North C Street in Virginia City.
The agreement also sets forth the guidelines by which the fire district will purchase Fire
Station 71 from Storey County and reimburse the county for direct costs associated with
the construction of Phase I of the fire station expansion project. The fire district will
agree to purchase the entire station and underlying parcels for the sum of all costs
associated with this project less federal grant funds that are applied to the project.

•
• This project includes the addition or relocation of firefighter dormitories, office space,

and other support facilities for Fire Station 71. The interlocal agreement is subject to
approval by the Board of Storey County Commissioners and the Board of Storey County
Fire Commissioners.

•
• This project is partially funded by a United States Department of Agriculture Rural

Development (USDA-RD) for approximately $3.7 million.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

     25



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Final 

Page 1 of 4 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

STOREY COUNTY 
AND 

STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT 

This Interlocal Agreement between Storey County (hereinafter County) and Storey County Fire 
Protection District (hereinafter SCFPD) is for the construction and purchase of Fire Station 71 in Virginia 
City, Nevada. County and SCFPD are at times collectively referred to as the “Parties.”  

WHEREAS Nevada Revised Statute 277.180 allows a public agency to contract with other public 
agencies to provide services, and 

WHEREAS, both Parties desire to enter into an Interlocal Agreement to define the stipulations of 
purchasing Fire Station 71 located in Virginia City, Nevada after construction has been completed and the 
provisions of any accompanying grant funds have been exhausted.   

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants provided herein, it is 
mutually agreed by and between the Parties as follows: 

1. PURPOSE.  This Interlocal Agreement sets forth the guidelines under which the County will
take all financial obligations to complete the construction of the first phase (Phase I) of Fire
Station 71 (a County-owned building) located at 145 North C Street in Virginia City, Nevada
APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02, and which the SCFPD will purchase Fire Station 71 from
the County and reimburse the County for direct costs associated with the construction of
Phase I of the Fire Station 71 project  The SCFPD agrees to purchase of entire station and
underlying parcels for the sum of all costs associated with this project minus the federal grant
funds.

2. DEFINITION. Phase I of Fire Station 71 includes: Environmental and geotechnical
reporting, architectural report, design and engineering, and construction and properly related
matters of a 3- story building of dormatories, offices, and/or other fire station related spaces
situated approximately between the current Fire Stations 71 and 171 buildings, and
approximately 600 square feet of the southern interior portions of the Station 171 building
(wash rooms and lavatory to be converted to turnout storage and similar uses) abutting the
new fire station expansion building, effective from the start of the Techtonics invoice of
$2,425.00 dated June 25, 2023.

3. GRANT FUNDS. The County agrees to utilize and track all governmental apportioned funds
stipulated for the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71.  The County will perform all
required reporting and fulfill the requirements of the grant.



Final 

Page 2 of 4 

This grant is funded by the United States Department of Agriculture Rural Development for 
$3,750,000. This grant is subject to specific conditions and requirements as outlined within 
the grant which the Parties shall follow during the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71 and 
through the completion of the project and closing of the USDA grant. 

A Preliminary Architectural Report (PAR) at 90% will be provided to the Grants Manager. 
The PAR will be submitted to the USDA for approval and any recommended changes. Once 
USDA approval process is finalized a 100% PAR and an Environmental Report will be 
provided to the Grants Manager. 

No construction shall begin until the final PAR and Environmental report is approved by the 
USDA and a letter of conditions has been signed by the County.  

The Grants Manager will be included as a recipient for all contract deliverables as they relate 
to project design. 

The SCFPD and Grants Manager will have a preconstruction conference with the UDSA.  

The Grants Manger will be copied on all emails related to the project through completion. 

The Grant Manager will be notified of any changes to the scope of work and associated 
deadlines. The USDA will be notified of any changes to the scope of work and associated 
deadlines and will review and approve any changes and deadlines to the scope of work. 

All invoices will be reviewed by the SCFPD to verify accuracy and then sent to the Grants 
Manager with supporting documentation of verification and processing at minimum once a 
month if applicable. 

The SCFPD understands that this project must comply with the Buy America/Build America 
requirements, and all other design and construction requirements of the project, and will 
provide the Grants Manager with all supporting documentation for this compliance. 

4. CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATIONS.

a. Parties agree to the construction of Phase I of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North C
Street APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02 including the attachment and remodel of
Fire Station 171 described in Definitions above to the proposed Phase I Fire Station
71. Construction costs  shall not exceed  $6.5 million dollars. In the event that
construction costs exceed $6.5 million dollars, the parties shall present the additional
costs to the Board of Storey County Commissioners and the Board of Storey County
Fire Commissioners for consideration and possible approval. It is the responsibility
of the SCFPD to employ the most cost-effective construction methods and materials
available to complete this project at or under the maximum allowable project cost .
Any future phases of construction or other improvements not related to Phase I Fire
Station 71 project shall be the sole financial responsibility of the SCFPD and may
only ensue after the completion of Phase I of the project and transfer of the subject
property from the County to the SCFPD.

Jeremy Loncar
Must be included.  I have to install diesel exhaust systems, make it match, and other small projects or we will not be in compliance with the NFPA and will not be able to have firefighters sleep in the new building. 



Final 

Page 3 of 4 

b. Project Management including, but not limited to, project plan and engineering
development, bidding and bid award process, construction and construction
management, and closure will be the responsibility of the SCFPD under the
supervision of the County.  SCFPD must coordinate with the County throughout all
steps of the project including project plan and engineering development, the bidding
and bid award process, construction and construction management, and closure. The
Parties shall make every effort to not delay or alter the station design and
construction that will adversely affect the project. The County shall not modify any
proposed plans for Phase I of the Fire Station 71 with the exception of specific
requirements outlined within the USDA grant without expressed approval from the
SCFPD.

5. BUILDING AND FIRE PLANS REVIEW FEES. The Parties agree to waive any costs
associated with plans review and permits for the construction of Phase I Fire Station 71.
Plans will be submitted to the County building department and SCFPD for detailed and
thorough plan review and permitting

6. SALE. The County agrees to sell the completed Phase I Fire Station 71, the remainder of Fire
Station 71 buildings and improvements, and the parcel on which Fire Station 71 is located
being 145 North C Street (APNs 001-094-03 and 001-094-02), Virginia City, Nevada for the
exact sum of money directly attributed to the construction costs of the Phase I Fire Station 71
above the allocated grant funds received, to the SCFPD.  The terms for the purchase of the
property from the County shall be completed and budgeted within 1 year of the issuance of
the Certificate of Occupancy for  Phase I Fire Station 71 project. The County Comptroller’s
Office will manage the purchase of the property (e.g., title searches, recording, board
approvals, and other associated required tasks) until the transaction is complete.

7. TERM OF THE INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT.  The Parties mutually agree that the term
of this Interlocal Agreement is until the completion and successful sale of Fire Station 71 to
the SCFPD with the approval of the Board of County Commissioners and the Board of Fire
Commissioners.  This Interlocal Agreement may only be terminated by the mutual consent
and agreement of the Parties.   Each party agrees to comply with this Interlocal Agreement
until the date of termination.  If a party is in breach of a portion of this Interlocal Agreement,
then the party alleging the breach must provide written notice to the other party specifying the
nature of the violation and allow 30 days for the party in breach to correct the violation.  If
the breach is not corrected within the 30-day period, the Parties may enforce any rights or
remedies provided by law or equity, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred
by the prevailing party.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
written below. 

Dated this ______ day of _________, 2024 Dated this _____ day of _______, 2024  



Final 

Page 4 of 4 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Jay Carmona  Jay Carmona 
Chairman Chairman 
Storey County  Storey County Fire Protection District 
Board of County Commissioners Board of Fire Commissioners 

Attest: Attest: 

___________________________ ____________________________________ 
Clerk  Clerk 

Approved as to form: 

_________________________________________ 
District Attorney 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval for the County Manager to sign a proposal
with Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) for geotechnical and inspection services for
the Fire Station 71 – Phase 1 project. Costs are not to exceed $22,760.00.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the County Manager to sign
a proposal with Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) for geotechnical and inspection
services for the Fire Station 71 – Phase 1 project. Costs are not to exceed $22,760.00.

• Prepared by: Sara Sturtz

Department: Business Development     Contact Number: 775-350-9473

• Staff Summary: The Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) cost proposal for
geotechnical and inspection services is for UES to assess the subsurface and
environmental conditions at the proposed site of construction. After work is completed,
UES will submit an engineering report to the County, and the County will forward the
report to the United States Department of Agriculture for review and approval.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       27



Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) 
6995 Sierra Center Parkway 

Reno, NV 89511 
p. 775.829.2245 | TeamUES.com

Environmental Consulting | Geotechnical Engineering | Materials Testing & Inspections 
Occupational Health & Safety | Building Sciences & Code Compliance | Virtual Design Consulting 

April 4, 2024 

Virginia City Fire Department 
145 North C Street 
Virginia City, Nevada 89440 

Attention: Mr. Shane Dixon 
775-771-4685
sdixon@storeycounty.org

Regarding: Proposal for Geotechnical Services 
New Storey County FPD Station – Phase II 
145 North C Street 
Virginia City, NV 89440 
Storey County APN(s): 001-093-05, -06, -07, -08 
Proposal No: 4130.0424.00002 

As requested, Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Services – Northern Nevada, LLC DBA Universal 
Engineering Sciences (UES) is pleased to present this proposal to provide a geotechnical investigation for 
the referenced project. The purpose of our services will be to evaluate subsurface conditions at the site 
to provide geotechnical engineering criteria to aid in the design and development of the project. This 
letter describes our understanding of the project, our scope of services, schedule, and fees. 

PROJECT INFORMATION 
Our understanding of the project is based on our communication with the client via telephone and email, 
as well as a review of a previous project completed to the north of the proposed project site, UES’s Project 
No.: 4130.2300025 New Storey County FPD Station – Geotechnical Report, September 2023. The 
proposed project site is located at 145 North C Street, approximately 200 feet south of the North C Street 
and Mill Street intersection in Virginia City, Nevada. The proposed project consists of the remodeling of 
the current fire station garage on the north side of the site, the design and construction of a new building 
to the south of the garage, and the demolition of the existing Storey County Volunteer Fire Department 
administration building on the southern side of the site. The surrounding land developments are a mixture 
of residential and tourist-commercial uses. The entire Virginia City area is a historical district with a long 
history of earthwork and underground mining. 

We anticipate the new and improved fire station buildings to be two to three (2-3) stories in height and 
constructed with reinforced masonry (e.g., concrete masonry units) and/or steel framed. We assume the 
structural loads will be approximately nine (9) kips per linear foot for walls and column loading in the 
range of 25 kips. We further anticipate that the structure will be supported by a shallow foundation 
system, including continuous strip footings, isolated spread footings, and concrete slab-on-grade floors. 
Anticipated appurtenant construction includes flexible (e.g., asphalt concrete, AC) and rigid (e.g., Portland 
cement concrete, PCC) pavement sections. Pavements will be subjected to relatively heavy traffic 
loadings. 

UES reviewed historical aerial imagery of the site using Google Earth Pro (Google, 2022); historic US 
Geological Survey topographic maps of the site and vicinity published intermittently between the years 



Geotechnical Proposal – Storey County FPD Station Phase II 
Proposal No: 4130.0424.00002 

April 4, 2024 
Page 2 

6995 Sierra Center Parkway, Reno, NV, 89511 
p. 775.829.2245 | TeamUES.com

1891 and 2018; and historic Sanborn® fire insurance maps published intermittently between the years 
1890 and 1930. The southern fire station building appears to have been constructed sometime between 
1954 and 1966. A small building on the north end of the site was built sometime before 1954, and was 
demolished between 1966 and 1967, to be replaced in the late 1980s by the existing fire station garage. 
In addition, a cursory review of the United States Geological Survey (USGS) Interactive Fault and Fold 
database indicates that an undifferentiated Quaternary (<1.6 million years) terminates approximately 1.9 
miles north of the project site. Finally, UES reviewed the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
web soil survey, suggesting that near-surface soils are gravelly clay loam that becomes bedrock 
approximately two feet (2’) below the surface.  

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
The geotechnical engineering scope of work will include the following items: 

• Project Management
• Field Activities
• Laboratory Testing Program
• Engineering and Reporting

Project Management 
UES will assign a geotechnical project manager to oversee the project, coordinate field activities, oversee 
and review the preparation of an engineering report, and manage the project’s budget and schedule.  

Field Activities 
Based on our correspondence with you and our knowledge of the proposed development, we propose to 
explore the subsurface conditions at the site with three (3) borings up to 25 feet below existing grade. 
UES assumes that the site is readily accessible to a conventional truck-mounted drill rig using a 
combination of mud rotary drilling, solid-flight augers, and diamond bit coring. If the boring locations are 
not accessible, an additional fee may be required. The soil boring will be advanced to the depth proposed 
above or to auger refusal, whichever is shallower. The depth of the boring will be referenced from the 
existing grade at the time of our drilling operations.  

Sampling intervals are proposed at two-and-one-half-foot (2½’) intervals down to ten feet (10’), and every 
5 feet (5’) thereafter. Rock coring will be utilized upon encountering bedrock, in which case, sampling will 
be continuous. Soil samples and Standard Penetration Test (SPT) N blow counts will be obtained utilizing 
a split barrel (split spoon) sampler in accordance with ASTM D 1586. If conditions warrant, a Modified 
California Sampler may be utilized in accordance with ASTM D3550. 

Groundwater observations (as applicable) will be performed while drilling and immediately following 
drilling. At the completion of drilling, the boreholes will be backfilled with boring cuttings or 
bentonite/Portland Cement mix if groundwater is encountered, and asphalt will be patched. Excess auger 
cuttings will be scattered at the boring surface or mounded up at the boring location. The UES scope of 
work does not include containerizing and disposal of cuttings.  

A UES engineer or geologist will observe, log, and sample the soil during the drilling operations. In 
addition, relatively undisturbed ring samples and representative bulk samples may be obtained, as 
applicable, for possible laboratory testing. The laboratory tests performed will depend upon the soil 
conditions encountered. Drilling, sampling, and laboratory testing will be conducted in general accordance 
with applicable ASTM or other locally recognized standards. 



Geotechnical Proposal – Storey County FPD Station Phase II 
Proposal No: 4130.0424.00002 

April 4, 2024 
Page 3 

6995 Sierra Center Parkway, Reno, NV, 89511 
p. 775.829.2245 | TeamUES.com

UES will contact the Nevada 811 public utility locate system for public utility clearance and provide Nevada 
811 utility tickets prior to the start of excavation activities. It is our experience that utility-locate services 
do not mark the locations of privately owned utilities. Due to the site’s development and the risk 
associated with damaging underground utilities, UES will subcontract with a private utility locator to use 
geophysical techniques (e.g., ground penetrating radar, electrical tracing) to attempt to locate and map 
any private utilities that may be present at the project site. This service may also be useful for locating 
abandoned utility lines. The private utility locator will scan the site and provide a map indicating the 
location and type of utility they could identify. Additionally, we request that a representative of the client 
and owner examine as-built plans and clear the boring locations prior to excavating. Our proposal assumes 
that private utility lines and other subsurface appurtenances will be identified and marked in the field by 
the client and/or owner prior to our mobilization. Neither UES, our private utility subcontractor, nor our 
excavation subcontractor will be liable for damage to buried utilities that were not clearly marked by 
Nevada 811, the Client, or the owner.  

Laboratory Testing Program 
Representative soil samples obtained during the field exploration will be transported to our UES Reno 
accredited geotechnical soil laboratory for testing. The nature and extent of this laboratory testing 
program will be dependent upon the subsurface conditions identified during the field exploration 
program. The laboratory program may include the following tests. 

• Visual Classification (ASTM D2488)
• Moisture Content (ASTM D2216)
• Sieve Analysis (ASTM D1140, or C-136)
• Atterberg limits (ASTM D4318)
• Moisture / Unit weight
• Consolidation or Collapse Potential (ASTM D2435)

Engineering and Reporting 
After completion of the field exploration and laboratory testing programs, the results will be evaluated, 
and a geotechnical engineering report will be prepared. The following information will be included in the 
report: 

• A summary of project information
• A geologic discussion
• A discussion of the existing surface conditions at the time of our field exploration program
• A discussion of the subsurface conditions encountered within the depths explored
• A brief discussion of our field exploration and laboratory testing programs
• A plan indicating the approximate locations of our explorations
• Logs of the explorations and results of laboratory tests
• Recommendations for foundation types, including allowable bearing capacity, passive pressure,

coefficient of friction, estimated settlements, and seismic considerations
• Liquefaction screening and potential settlements
• Earthwork/backfill requirements, including site preparations, fill placement, and suitability of

existing soils for use as fill materials
• Drainage recommendation for slopes
• Pavement recommendations
• Subgrade preparation requirements for roadways and building pads
• Recommendations for the type of cement in concrete in contact with onsite soils
• Electronic report submission



Geotechnical Proposal – Storey County FPD Station Phase II 
Proposal No: 4130.0424.00002 

April 4, 2024 
Page 4 

6995 Sierra Center Parkway, Reno, NV, 89511 
p. 775.829.2245 | TeamUES.com

ASSUMPTIONS 
We assume that by authorizing our services, we have permission to be on the site. If the site is not 
accessible, you will be notified, and a new scope of work and fee may be required. If damage occurs from 
the truck-mounted drill rig accessing the drilling location, any resulting damage to sidewalks, driveways, 
or landscaping will be the responsibility of the Client to repair.  

We assume that the site reconnaissance, USA marking, and private utility locating can be accomplished in 
one (1) mobilization. We assume that the proposed drilling plan will take approximately two (2) days to 
complete.  

COST OF SERVICES 
The estimated fee for our services, including fieldwork, laboratory testing, engineering analysis, and 
report preparation, is outlined in Table 1 below. UES will provide an initial invoice for the fieldwork within 
10 days of completing the exploration; subcontractor fees will include a 15% markup. 

Table 1 
Geotechnical Project Budget 

Project Initiation, Site Reconnaissance, USA $     370.00 
Subcontractor Cost* $      14,950.00 
Cost of UES Fieldwork $    2,845.00 
Laboratory Testing Budget $    1,475.00 
Engineering Analysis & Geotechnical Report Preparation $    2,505.00 
Project Management  $     615.00 
 Total Project Budget $      22,760.00 

*Estimated cost, the actual cost will be invoiced at cost plus 15 percent

Our Geotechnical engineering services under this proposal would be billed as a lump sum and would be 
complete upon delivery of the Geotechnical Exploration Report. If any additional services are required 
beyond the scope of services outlined in this proposal, our services would be charged on a time and 
materials basis at our standard unit rates. 

SCHEDULE OF FEES 
The above estimated fees do not include additional requested services performed after issuing the report. 
These services include, but are not limited to, additional plan reviews, additional addendums to the report 
due to modifications of the proposed improvements, etc. If necessary, additional consulting services will 
be provided on a time and expense basis according to the schedule presented below unless a revised 
proposal is requested. UES considers this proposal and the rates provided below valid for the duration of 
the project. 

Senior Principal Engineer $225.00/hour 
Principal Engineer $175.00/hour 
Senior Engineer/Geologist $155.00/hour 
Project Engineer/Geologist $135.00/hour 
Staff Engineer/Geologist $115.00/hour 
Drafter   $88.00/hour 
Administrative Assistant $60.00/hour 



Geotechnical Proposal – Storey County FPD Station Phase II 
Proposal No: 4130.0424.00002 

April 4, 2024 
Page 5 

6995 Sierra Center Parkway, Reno, NV, 89511 
p. 775.829.2245 | TeamUES.com

SCHEDULE 
We will proceed with our services as soon as possible after we have received authorization. Drilling 
activities should commence within two to three (2-3) weeks of notice to proceed, pending preliminary 
coordination and the driller’s availability. Four to five (4-5) weeks after the completion of the drilling, an 
electronic copy of our draft report will be submitted in PDF format via email. Printed, wet-stamped copies 
or a digitally signed PDF copy for permit submission will be made available at your request, with 24 hours 
advance notice, once payment for services has been received. We can generally provide verbal opinions 
regarding preliminary findings and recommendations before the written report is completed if required. 

CLOSURE 
This proposal is valid for three (3) months. If the client does not accept this proposal or UES does not 
initiate services within that period, the client must give UES an opportunity to re-review the proposed 
scope of work and fee to determine if modifications need to be made and a new proposal drafted and 
submitted for client review. We appreciate the opportunity to submit this proposal. Our terms and 
conditions are considered a part of this proposal and have been attached for your review. To authorize us 
to proceed with the proposed services, please indicate by signing and returning one executed copy of this 
agreement to us. 

Respectfully, 
Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) 

Katie Bates, EI Nelson Pearson, PE 
Geotechnical Professional Geotechnical Project Manager 

Ross Brown, EI 
Geotechnical Professional 

Attachments: General Conditions 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 6 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 

SECTION 1: RESPONSIBILITIES 

1.1  NOVA GEOTECHNICAL AND INSPECTION SERVICES -NORTHERN NEVADA (d/b/a “UES”) is responsible for providing 
the services described under the Scope of Services.  

1.2  The Client is responsible for providing UES with a clear understanding of the project’s nature and scope. The Client 
shall supply UES with sufficient and adequate informa�on, including, but not limited to, maps, site plans, reports, surveys, 
plans and specifica�ons, and designs, to allow UES to properly complete the specified services. The Client shall also 
communicate changes in the nature and scope of the project as soon as possible during performance of the work so that 
the changes can be incorporated into the work product. 

1.3 The Client acknowledges that UES’s responsibili�es in providing the services described under the Scope of Services 
sec�on is limited to those services described therein, and the Client hereby assumes any collateral or affiliated du�es 
necessitated by or for those services. Such du�es may include, but are not limited to, repor�ng requirements imposed by 
any third party such as federal, state, or local en��es, the provision of any required no�ces to any third party, or the 
securing of necessary permits or permissions from any third par�es required for UES’s provision of the services so 
described, unless otherwise agreed upon by both par�es in wri�ng. 

SECTION 2: STANDARD OF CARE 
2.1  Services performed by UES under this Agreement will be conducted in a manner consistent with the level of care 
and skill ordinarily exercised by members of UES's profession prac�cing contemporaneously under similar condi�ons in 
the locality of the project. No other warranty, express or implied, is made by UES hereunder. 

2.2  Execu�on and delivery of this Agreement by UES is not a representa�on that UES has visited the site, become 
generally familiar with local condi�ons under which the work is to be performed, or correlated personal observa�ons with 
the requirements of the Scope of Services. It is the Client’s responsibility to provide UES with all informa�on necessary for 
UES to provide the services described under the Scope of Services, and the Client assumes all liability for informa�on not 
provided to UES that may affect the quality or sufficiency of the services so described. 

SECTION 3: SITE ACCESS AND SITE CONDITIONS 
3.1 Client will grant or obtain free access to the site for all equipment and personnel necessary for UES to perform the 
work set forth in this Agreement. The Client will no�fy any possessors of the project site that Client has granted UES free 
access to the site. UES will take reasonable precau�ons to minimize damage to the site, but it is understood by Client that, 
in the normal course of work, some damage may occur, and the correc�on of such damage is not part of this Agreement 
unless so specified in the Scope of Services. 

3.2  The Client is responsible for the accuracy of loca�ons for all subterranean structures and u�li�es. UES will take 
reasonable precau�ons to avoid known subterranean structures, and the Client waives any claim against UES, and agrees 
to defend, indemnify, and hold UES harmless from any claim or liability for injury or loss, including costs of defense, arising 
from damage done to subterranean structures and u�li�es not iden�fied or accurately located. In addi�on, Client agrees 
to compensate UES for any �me spent or expenses incurred by UES in defense of any such claim with compensa�on to be 
based upon UES's prevailing fee schedule and expense reimbursement policy. 

SECTION 4: BILLING AND PAYMENT 
4.1  UES will submit invoices to Client monthly or upon comple�on of services. Invoices will show charges for different 
personnel and expense classifica�ons. 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 7 

4.2 Payment is due 30 days a�er presenta�on of invoice and is past due 31 days from invoice date. Client agrees to pay 
a finance charge of one and one-half percent (1 ½ %) per month, or the maximum rate allowed by law, on past due 
accounts. 

4.3 If UES incurs any expenses to collect overdue billings on invoices, the sums paid by UES for reasonable atorneys' 
fees, court costs, UES's �me, UES's expenses, and interest will be due and owing by the Client. 

SECTION 5: OWNERSHIP AND USE OF DOCUMENTS 
5.1 All reports, boring logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calcula�ons, es�mates, and other documents 
prepared by UES, as instruments of service, shall remain the property of UES. Neither Client nor any other en�ty shall 
change or modify UES’s instruments of service. 

5.2 Client agrees that all reports and other work furnished to the Client or his agents, which are not paid for, will be 
returned upon demand and will not be used by the Client for any purpose. 

5.3 UES will retain all per�nent records rela�ng to the services performed for a period of “five years or such longer 
period” of �me required by applicable accredi�ng agency, unless specified in the scope of services following submission 
of the report or comple�on of the Scope of Services, during which period the records will be made available to the Client 
in a reasonable �me and manner. 

5.4  All reports, boring logs, field data, field notes, laboratory test data, calcula�ons, es�mates, and other documents 
prepared by UES, are prepared for the sole and exclusive use of Client, and may not be given to any other en�ty, or used 
or relied upon by any other en�ty, without the express writen consent of UES. Client is the only en�ty to which UES owes 
any duty or du�es, in contract or tort, pursuant to or under this Agreement. 

SECTION 6: DISCOVERY OF UNANTICIPATED HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
6.1  Client represents that a reasonable effort has been made to inform UES of known or suspected hazardous materials 
on or near the project site. 

6.2  Under this agreement, the term hazardous materials includes hazardous materials, hazardous wastes, hazardous 
substances (40 CFR 261.31, 261.32, 261.33), petroleum products, polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos, and any other 
material defined by the U.S. EPA as a hazardous material.  

6.3 Hazardous materials may exist at a site where there is no reason to believe they are present. The discovery of 
unan�cipated hazardous materials cons�tutes a changed condi�on manda�ng a renego�a�on of the scope of work. The 
discovery of unan�cipated hazardous materials may make it necessary for UES to take immediate measures to protect 
health and safety. Client agrees to compensate UES for any equipment decontamina�on or other costs incident to the 
discovery of unan�cipated hazardous materials.  

6.4 UES will no�fy Client when unan�cipated hazardous materials or suspected hazardous materials are encountered. 
Client will make any disclosures required by law to the appropriate governing agencies. Client will hold UES harmless for 
all consequences of disclosures made by UES which are required by governing law. In the event the project site is not 
owned by Client, it is the Client's responsibility to inform the property owner of the discovery of unan�cipated hazardous 
materials or suspected hazardous materials.  

6.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, Client waives any claim against UES, and to 
the maximum extent permited by law, agrees to defend, indemnify, and save UES harmless from any claim, liability, and/or 
defense costs for injury or loss arising from UES's discovery of unan�cipated hazardous materials or suspected hazardous 
materials including any costs created by delay of the project and any cost associated with possible reduc�on of the 
property's value. Client will be responsible for ul�mate disposal of any samples secured by UES which are found to be 
contaminated. 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 8 

SECTION 7: RISK ALLOCATION 
7.1  Subject to the balance of this Sec�on 7.1, Client agrees that UES's liabili�es, losses, damages, fees, costs and expenses 
(including atorneys’ fees)(collec�vely, “Liability”) arising from any claim on account of any breach of contract, error, 
omission, or professional negligence will be limited to a sum not to exceed $50,000 or UES’s fee, whichever is greater (the 
“Liability Cap”). If Client prefers to have a higher Liability Cap, UES agrees to increase the Liability Cap to $1,000,000.00 
upon Client’s writen request at the �me of accep�ng UES’s proposal, provided that Client agrees to pay an addi�onal 
considera�on of one percent of the total fee, or $1,000.00, whichever is greater. If Client prefers a $2,000,000.00 Liability 
Cap, UES agrees to increase the Liability Cap to $2,000,000.00 upon Client’s writen request at the �me of accep�ng UES’s 
proposal, provided that Client agrees to pay an addi�onal considera�on of one percent of the total fee, or $2,000.00, 
whichever is greater. The addi�onal charge for the higher Liability Cap is because of the greater risk assumed and is not 
strictly a charge for addi�onal professional liability insurance. 

7.2  Client shall not be liable to UES, and UES shall not be liable to Client for any puni�ve, incidental, special, or 
consequen�al damages (including lost profits, loss of use, and lost savings) incurred by either party due to the fault of the 
other, regardless of the nature of the fault, or whether it was commited by Client or UES, their employees, agents, or 
subcontractors; or whether such liability arises in breach of contract or warranty, tort (including inten�onal torts and 
negligence), statutory, or any other cause of ac�on. 

7.3 As used in this Agreement, the terms “claim” or “claims” mean any claim in contract, tort, or statute alleging 
negligence, errors, omissions, strict liability, statutory liability, breach of contract, breach of warranty, negligent 
misrepresenta�on, or any other act giving rise to Liability. 

SECTION 8: INSURANCE 
8.1  UES represents that it and its agents, staff, and consultants employed or retained by UES, is and are protected by 
workers’ compensa�on insurance, and that UES has such coverage under public liability and property damage insurance 
policies which UES deems to be adequate. Cer�ficates for all such policies of insurance shall be provided to Client upon 
request in wri�ng. Within the limits and condi�ons of such insurance, UES agrees to indemnify and save Client harmless 
from and all Liabili�es arising from negligent acts by UES, its agents, staff, and consultants employed by it. UES shall not be 
responsible for Liabili�es beyond the amounts, limits, and condi�ons of such insurance or the limits described in Sec�on 
7, whichever is less. The Client agrees to defend, indemnify, and save UES harmless from all Liabili�es arising from acts by 
Client, Client’s agents, staff, and others employed by Client. 

8.2  Under no circumstances will UES indemnify Client from or for Client’s own ac�ons, negligence, or breaches of 
contract. 

8.3  To the extent that damages are covered by property insurance, Client and UES waive all rights against each other and 
against the contractors, consultants, agents, and employees of the other for damages, except such rights as they may have 
to the proceeds of such insurance. 

SECTION 9: DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
9.1  All claims, disputes, and other maters in controversy between UES and Client arising out of or in any way related to 
this Agreement shall be submited to media�on before and as a condi�on precedent to seeking other remedies provided 
by law. 

9.2  If a dispute arises and that dispute is not resolved by media�on, then: (a) the claim will be brought in the state or 
federal courts having jurisdic�on where the UES office which provided the service is located; and (b) the prevailing party 
will be en�tled to recovery of all reasonable out of pocket fees, costs and expenses incurred by such party, including court 
costs, atorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and other claim related expenses. 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 9 

SECTION 10: TERMINATION 
10.1 This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days writen no�ce in the event of substan�al 
failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof, or in the case of a force majeure event such as 
terrorism, act of war, public health or other emergency. Such termina�on shall not be effec�ve if such substan�al failure 
or force majeure has been remedied before expira�on of the period specified in the writen no�ce. In the event of 
termina�on, UES shall be paid for services performed to the termina�on no�ce date plus reasonable out of pocket 
termina�on expenses incurred or paid by UES in connec�on with such termina�on and the winding down of its opera�ons. 

10.2 In the event of termina�on, or suspension for more than three (3) months, prior to comple�on of all reports 
contemplated by this Agreement, UES may complete such analyses and records as are necessary to complete its files and 
may also complete a report on the services performed to the date of no�ce of termina�on or suspension. The expense of 
termina�on or suspension shall include all direct out of pocket costs incurred or paid by UES in comple�ng such analyses, 
records, and reports. 

SECTION 11: REVIEWS, SPECIAL INSPECTIONS, TESTING AND OBSERVATIONS 

11.1 Plan review and building inspec�ons are performed for the purpose of observing compliance with applicable building 
codes. Construc�on materials tes�ng (“CMT”) and Special Inspec�ons are performed to document compliance of certain 
materials or components with applicable tes�ng standards. UES’s performance of plan reviews, Special inspec�ons, 
building inspec�ons, or CMT, or UES’s presence on the site of Client’s project while performing any of the foregoing 
ac�vi�es, is not a representa�on or warranty by UES that Client’s project is free of errors in either design or construc�on.  

11.2 If UES is retained to provide construc�on monitoring or observa�on, UES will report to Client any observed work 
which, in UES’s opinion, does not conform to the plans and specifica�ons provided to UES. UES shall have no authority to 
reject or terminate the work of any agent or contractor of Client. No ac�on, statements, or communica�ons of UES, or 
UES’s site representa�ve, can be construed as modifying any agreement between Client and others. Client acknowledges 
that UES’s performance of construc�on monitoring or observa�on is not a representa�on or warranty by UES that Client’s 
project is free of errors in either design or construc�on. 

11.3 Neither the ac�vi�es of UES pursuant to this Agreement, nor the presence of UES or its employees, representa�ves, 
or subcontractors on the project site, shall be construed to impose upon UES any responsibility for means or methods of 
work performance, superintendence, sequencing of construc�on, or safety condi�ons at the project site. Client 
acknowledges that Client or its contractor is solely responsible for project jobsite safety. 

11.4  Client is responsible for scheduling all inspec�ons and CMT ac�vi�es of UES. All tes�ng and inspec�on services will 
be performed on a will-call basis. UES will not be responsible for tests and inspec�ons that are not performed due to 
Client’s failure to schedule UES’s services on the project, or for any claims or damages arising from tests and inspec�ons 
that are not scheduled or performed. 

SECTION 12: ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENTS 
12.1 Client acknowledges that an Environmental Site Assessment (“ESA”) is conducted solely to permit UES to render a 
professional opinion about the likelihood or extent of regulated contaminants being present on, in, or beneath the site in 
ques�on at the �me services were conducted. No mater how thorough an ESA study may be, findings derived from the 
study are limited and UES cannot know or state for a fact that a site is unaffected by reportable quan��es of regulated 
contaminants as a result of conduc�ng the ESA study. Even if UES states that reportable quan��es of regulated 
contaminants are not present, Client acknowledges that it s�ll bears the risk that such contaminants may be present or 
may migrate to the site a�er the ESA study is complete. 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 10 

SECTION 13: SUBSURFACE EXPLORATIONS 
13.1  Client acknowledges that subsurface condi�ons may vary from those observed at loca�ons where borings, surveys, 
samples, or other explora�ons are made, and that site condi�ons may change with �me. Data, interpreta�ons, and 
recommenda�ons by UES will be based solely on informa�on available to UES at the �me of service. UES is responsible for 
those data, interpreta�ons, and recommenda�ons, but will not be responsible for other par�es’ interpreta�ons or use of 
the informa�on developed or provided by UES. 

13.2  Subsurface explora�ons may result in unavoidable cross-contamina�on of certain subsurface areas, as when a probe 
or boring device moves through a contaminated zone and links it to an aquifer, underground stream, or other hydrous 
body not previously contaminated. UES is unable to eliminate totally cross-contamina�on risk despite use of due care. 
Since subsurface explora�ons may be an essen�al element of UES’s services indicated herein, Client shall, to the fullest 
extent permited by law, waive any claim against UES, and indemnify, defend, and hold UES harmless from any claim or 
Liability arising from cross-contamina�on allegedly caused by UES’s subsurface explora�ons. In addi�on, Client agrees to 
compensate UES for any �me spent or expenses incurred by UES in defense of any such claim with compensa�on to be 
based upon UES's prevailing fee schedule and expense reimbursement policy. 

SECTION 14: SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES 
14.1 Client agrees not to solicit for hire any of UES's employees with which Client had contact during the term of this 
Agreement for a one-year period following the expira�on date or termina�on date of this Agreement (the “Post-Term 
Period”) except through UES. If Client hires any such UES employee during the Post-Term Period, Client shall within five 
business days following writen demand therefore from UES, pay UES an amount equal to one-half of the employee's then 
effec�ve annualized salary, as liquidated damages. Further, Client acknowledges that the liquidated damages, stated 
above, are reasonable under the circumstances. 

SECTION 15: ASSIGNS 
15.1 Neither Client nor UES may assign this Agreement or assign or delegate any of its rights or obliga�ons hereunder 
without the prior writen consent of the other party. 

SECTION 16: GOVERNING LAW AND SURVIVAL 
16.1  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the jurisdic�on in which the UES 
office performing the services hereunder is located. 

16.2 If any of the provisions of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdic�on to be illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable, the enforceability of the remaining provisions will not be impaired and will survive. Limita�ons of liability 
and indemni�es will survive termina�on of this Agreement for any cause. 

SECTION 17: INTEGRATION CLAUSE 
17.1  This Agreement represents and contains the en�re and only agreement and understanding among the par�es with 
respect to the subject mater of this Agreement and supersedes any and all prior and contemporaneous oral and writen 
agreements, understandings, representa�ons, inducements, promises, warran�es, and condi�ons among the par�es. No 
agreement, understanding, representa�on, inducement, promise, warranty, or condi�on of any kind with respect to the 
subject mater of this Agreement shall be relied upon by the par�es unless expressly set forth herein. 

17.2  This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an agreement in wri�ng signed by the party against 
whom the enforcement of any modifica�on or amendment is sought. 

SECTION 18: WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL 
18.1  To the extent permited by applicable law, Client and UES hereby waive trial by jury in any ac�on arising out of or 
related to this Agreement. 



General Condi�ons – (v2 03142024)  Page 11 

CLIENT APPROVAL 
UES offers the Client the Proposal as listed above. Client may accept UES’s offer by signing in the space provided below and 
returning a signed copy to UES. Such no�fica�on may be faxed or by emailing the signed general condi�ons. In the event 
the Client authorizes work without returning a signed copy, the Client agrees to be bound by the general condi�ons as 
stated herein. The proposal presented has been read, understood, and accepted by the Client effec�ve as of the date that 
the executed proposal is returned to UES. 

EXECUTED BY CLIENT’S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE:     (signature) 

Printed Name:  Title: 

Date Accepted:  

Client Business Name:  

Billing Address:  

Telephone: E-mail:

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE INFORMATION 
A/P Contact Name: 

A/P Contact Telephone: *A/P Contact E-Mail:

* A/P Contact E-Mail must be provided before the UES can proceed with its proposed services



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Possible grant of easement to NV Energy for utilities within a portion of the Peri
Ranch Road right-of-way as described in the attached Grant of Easement Request
provided by NV Energy.  This easement is part of the Lockwood Senior Center Project.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendations by staff, I,
[commissioner] move to approve the Grant of Easement to NV Energy for utilities within
a portion of the Peri Ranch right-of-way as described in the attached Grant of Easement
request provided by NV Energy for utilities associated with the Lockwood Senior Center
Project.

• Prepared by: Mike Northan

Department: Public Works     Contact Number: 775 230 4255

• Staff Summary: This easement will enable NV Energy to provide and install electrical
utilities for the Lockwood Senior Center project.  The Line Extension Agreement (LEA)
is provided to show the proposed utilities location.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: 0

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      28



RW# 0376-2024 
Proj. # 3012096328 
Project Name: E-800 PERI RANCH RD-FP-COMM-E-STOREY COUNTY 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG (Rev. 8/2017) 

1 

APN(s): 004-121-27 

The undersigned hereby affirms that this 
document, including any exhibits hereby 
submitted for recording does not contain 
the personal information of any person or 
persons (Per NRS 239B.030) 

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
Land Resources 
NV Energy 
P.O. Box 10100 MS S4B20 
Reno, NV 89520 

GRANT OF EASEMENT 

Storey County, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada, (“Grantor”), for One Dollar ($1.00) and 
other good and valuable consideration – receipt of which is hereby acknowledged – and on behalf of itself and 
its successors and assigns, grants and conveys to Sierra Pacific Power Company, a Nevada corporation, d/b/a 
NV Energy (“Grantee”) and its successors and assigns a perpetual right and easement: 

1. to construct, operate, add to, modify, maintain and remove communication facilities and
electric line systems for the distribution and transmission of electricity above ground and
underground, consisting of poles, other structures, wires, cables, bollards, transformers,
anchors, guys and other equipment, fixtures, apparatus, and improvements (“Utility
Facilities”), and service boxes/meter panels, cabinets, bollards, and other equipment,
fixtures, apparatus, and improvements and slope improvements (“Additional Utility
Facilities”) upon, over, under and through the property legally described in Exhibit A
attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this Grant of Easement (“Easement
Area”);

2. for ingress and egress to, from, over and across the Easement Area for the allowed purposes
defined in numbered paragraph 1 above for all other activities permitted by this agreement,
inclusive;

3. to remove, clear, cut or trim any obstruction or material (including trees, other vegetation
and structures) from the surface or subsurface of the Easement Area as Grantee may deem
necessary or advisable for the safe and proper use and maintenance of the Utility Facilities
or the Additional Utility Facilities within the Easement Area.

Grantee will be responsible for any damages, proximately caused by Grantee negligently constructing, 
operating, adding to, maintaining, or removing the Utility Facilities and/or the Additional Utility Facilities, to 
any tangible, personal property or improvements owned by Grantor and located on the Easement Area on the 



RW# 0376-2024 
Proj. # 3012096328 
Project Name: E-800 PERI RANCH RD-FP-COMM-E-STOREY COUNTY 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG (Rev. 8/2017) 

2 

date Grantor signs the Grant of Easement.  However, this paragraph does not apply to, and Grantee is not 
responsible for, any damages caused when Grantee exercises its rights under numbered paragraph 3 above. 

Grantor covenants for the benefit of Grantee, its successors and assigns, that no building, structure or 
other real property improvements will be constructed or placed on or within the Easement Area without the 
prior written consent of Grantee, such structures and improvements to include, but not be limited to, drainage, 
trees, bridges, signage, roads, fencing, storage facilities, parking canopies, and other covered facilities.  Grantee 
and Grantor must document Grantee’s consent by both signing Grantee’s standard, recordable use agreement.  
Grantor retains, for its benefit, the right to maintain, use and otherwise landscape the Easement Area for its 
own purposes; provided, however, that all such purposes and uses do not interfere with Grantee’s rights herein 
and are in all respects consistent with the Grantee’s rights herein, Grantee’s electrical practices, and the 
National Electrical Safety Code.  Grantee may use this easement to provide service to any of its customers.  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Grantor and Grantee waive any right each may have to a trial 
by jury in respect of litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Grant of 
Easement.  Grantor and Grantee further waive any right to consolidate any action in which a jury trial has been 
waived with any other action in which a jury trial cannot be or has not been waived. 

[signature page follows] 



RW# 0376-2024 
Proj. # 3012096328 
Project Name: E-800 PERI RANCH RD-FP-COMM-E-STOREY COUNTY 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG (Rev. 8/2017) 

3 

GRANTOR: 

STOREY COUNTY 

____________________________________________________ 
SIGNATURE 

By:  ________________________________________________ 
PRINT NAME 

Title: _______________________________________________ 

STATE OF ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF ) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on _______________, 2024 by _______________________as 

__________________________ of Storey County, a political subdivision of the State of Nevada. 

_________________________________________ 
Signature of Notarial Officer 

Notary Seal Area  



RW# 0376-2024 
Proj. # 3012096328 
Project Name: E-800 PERI RANCH RD-FP-COMM-E-STOREY COUNTY 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG (Rev. 8/2017) 

A 

Exhibit A 



RW# 0376-2024 
Proj. # 3012096328 
Project Name: E-800 PERI RANCH RD-FP-COMM-E-STOREY COUNTY 
GOE_DESIGN_OH_UG (Rev. 8/2017) 

B 

Per NRS 111.312, the above legal description previously appeared in that certain document recorded on March 
9, 2010, as Document No. 0112771 in the Official Records of the County of Storey, State of Nevada.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to the Utility Facilities, Easement Area shall be reduced to an area 
ten (10) feet in width, being five (5) feet on each side of the centerline of the Utility Facilities after same are 
installed in connection with Sierra Pacific Power Company Project ID 3012096328. The easement area 
around any Additional Utility Facilities shall be reduced to three (3) feet in all directions around the perimeter of 
the Additional Utility Facilities, as originally installed in connection with Sierra Pacific Power Company 
Project ID 3012096328. 





























































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: To possibly accept a proposal for the design of the Mark Twain Community Center
– Phase 1, a metal building for the storage of fire apparatus submitted by Paul Cavin
Design in an amount not to exceed $246,500.00.  This proposal includes architectural,
structural, mechanical, civil, and electrical design.

• Recommended motion: I, [commissioner]move to accept the proposal for the design of
the Mark Twain Community Center – Phase 1, a metal building for the storage of fire
apparatus submitted by Paul Cavin Design in an amount not to exceed $246,500.00.  This
proposal includes architectural, structural, mechanical, civil, and electrical design.

• Prepared by: Mike Northan

Department: Public Works     Contact Number: 775 230 4244

• Staff Summary: Staff report attached.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: 246,500.00

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

       29



Paul Cavin Architect LLC

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 • Reno • Nevada • 89502 • mobile: 775-842-0261 • office: 775-284-7083
paul@paulcavindesign.com • www.paulcavindesign.com

April 12, 2024 P24026

Michael Northan
Operations and Projects Coordinator
Storey County
PO Box 435
Virginia City, Nevada 89440

Re: Professional Services Proposal for Storey County – Mark Twain Community Center – Vehicle Storage Building

Dear Mr. Northan,

Thank you for the opportunity to present this proposal for professional design services to Storey County.  Paul Cavin 
Architect LLC is pleased to present the following professional services fee proposal for your consideration.  

It is understood that Storey County would like professional design services for a new vehicle storage building located at 
500 Sam Clemens Avenue, Dayton Nevada 89403.  The new vehicle storage building will be approximately located on the 
north end of the site (APN 003-273-13) and just south of the existing drainage swale.  Site access will be provided just 
north of the existing park and the new site improvements should allow for a large truck turn-around.  The new vehicle 
storage building will be a pre-manufactured metal building, approximately 5,000 square feet, 4 bays for large apparatus 
parking, a storage area, an office, and restrooms.  It is understood that this building is for vehicle storage only and that 
vehicle maintenance will not be performed or permitted within the building.  This proposal will be based on the building 
size being less than 5,000 square feet and not needing a fire sprinkler system.  If a fire sprinkler system is deemed 
necessary by the code or the authority having jurisdiction, then an endorsement to the contract for the design of the fire 
sprinkler system will be discussed with Storey County and the design team.  Water at the site is only available by well and 
a fire sprinkler system could require a new well, or well improvements, a fire water storage tank, fire pump, etc…

The production of Construction Documents and design process will largely follow the current State of Nevada Public 
Works standards for Professional Services with some exceptions during the Schematic Design phase.  This will be our 
guideline and general understanding of what is expected at each design submittal.

The project will be produced using the current Revit version and will be updated annually per Autodesk’s annual updates.  
BIM 360 will also be used for production and coordination efforts.  Specifications will be a 3-Part MasterSpec format.

The Project Delivery Method will be Design-Bid-Build.  Below is an outline of the scope of professional services:

Design Submittal Phases:

▪ Schematic Design:
o Kick-Off meeting to discuss and review project requirements and programming.
o Surveying.
o Drawings.
o Needed Technical Specifications identified.
o Product information sheets.
o Schematic Design presentation and coordination meeting with Storey County Stakeholders and the

Design Team.

▪ Design Development:
o Drawings.
o Technical Specifications continued Development.
o Product information sheets.
o Design Development presentation and coordination meeting with Storey County Stakeholders and the

Design Team.



Paul Cavin Architect LLC

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 • Reno • Nevada • 89502 • mobile: 775-842-0261 • office: 775-284-7083
paul@paulcavindesign.com • www.paulcavindesign.com

▪ 50% Construction Documents:
o Drawings.
o Technical Specifications within a Project Manual.
o 50% Construction Documents Internal Submittal, Coordination, and Review with Storey County.

▪ 100% Construction Documents / Plan Review Submittal – stamped and signed:
o Drawings – stamped and signed.
o Technical Specifications within a Project Manual – stamped and signed.
o SWPPP
o 100% Construction Documents submittal for Building Department and Fire District plan review.
o Respond to Building Department and Fire District plan review comments.

Deliverables for each design submittal phase:

▪ Drawings (pdf).
▪ Project Manual with 3 Part Specifications (pdf).
▪ Opinion of Probable Cost

Bidding Assistance:

▪ Prepare and Issue Bid Documents:
o Drawings and Project Manual issued for bid to include comments/revisions from the plan review process.

▪ Attend a pre-bid meeting.
▪ Address bid RFIs.
▪ Issue bid addenda and addenda items.
▪ Attend the bid opening, if requested.

Construction Administration:

▪ Attend Owner/Architect/Contractor (OAC) meetings on a weekly basis for the construction duration of 9 months.
Attendance at OAC meetings will be on site and/or via web hosted software.

▪ On-site viewing at the construction site during OAC meetings.
▪ Address Contractor RFIs.
▪ Review of product submittals.
▪ Review of shop drawings.
▪ Issue Clarifications and/or Supplemental information as needed.
▪ Review Change Orders and Change Order Requests.
▪ Perform one Final Job Walk and issue one “punch list”.

Approximate Construction Budget:

▪ To be determined during design.

Anticipated Project Design Schedule:

▪ See attached proposed project schedule.

The following design professionals will be involved: Lumos & Associates for surveying, civil engineering design, and 
documentation; CFBR Structural Group LLC for structural engineering, design, and documentation, Ainsworth Associates 
Mechanical Engineers for plumbing and mechanical engineering, design, and documentation, PK Electrical, Inc. for 
Electrical engineering, design, and documentation, Paul Cavin Architect LLC will produce necessary Architectural 
drawings, details, and manage the design team and design process from schematic design through construction 
completion.  Please see each consultant’s attached proposal for a more detailed description of their Scope of Work and 
exclusions.



Paul Cavin Architect LLC

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 • Reno • Nevada • 89502 • mobile: 775-842-0261 • office: 775-284-7083
paul@paulcavindesign.com • www.paulcavindesign.com

The Schematic Design fee includes:
Civil Engineering (Lumos & Associates):

Task 1:   $9,000.00
Task 2: $11,000.00

Structural Engineering (CFBR):    $3,500.00
Mechanical Engineering (AAME):    $4,300.00
Electrical Engineering (PK Electrical, Inc.):     $2,800.00 
Architecture and Project Management (Paul Cavin Architect LLC):     $21,000.00
Total Schematic Design Fee:     $51,600.00

The Design Development fee includes:
Civil Engineering (Lumos & Associates):

Task 3: $13,500.00
Structural Engineering (CFBR):    $3,500.00
Mechanical Engineering (AAME):  $5,700.00
Electrical Engineering (PK Electrical, Inc.):     $4,800.00 
Architecture and Project Management (Paul Cavin Architect LLC):     $28,000.00
Total Design Development Fee:     $55,500.00

The 100% Construction Documents fee includes:
Civil Engineering (Lumos & Associates):

Task 4: $18,000.00
Structural Engineering (CFBR):    $7,000.00
Mechanical Engineering (AAME):     $12,000.00
Electrical Engineering (PK Electrical, Inc.):     $7,600.00
Architecture and Project Management (Paul Cavin Architect LLC):     $45,000.00
Total 100% Construction Documents Fee:     $89,600.00

The Bidding Assistance fee includes:
Civil Engineering (Lumos & Associates):

Task 5:   $3,500.00
Structural Engineering (CFBR):    $1,500.00
Mechanical Engineering (AAME):    $800.00
Electrical Engineering (PK Electrical, Inc.):   $1,000.00
Architecture and Project Management (Paul Cavin Architect LLC):   $4,000.00
Total Bidding Assistance Fee: $10,800.00

The Construction Administration fee includes:
Civil Engineering (Lumos & Associates):

Task 6:   $7,500.00
Structural Engineering (CFBR):    $3,000.00
Mechanical Engineering (AAME):   $5,700.00 
Electrical Engineering (PK Electrical, Inc.):   $2,800.00 
Architecture and Project Management (Paul Cavin Architect LLC):     $20,000.00 
Total Construction Administration Fee:     $39,000.00

Total Professional Services Fee:   $246,500.00

Specific exclusions include: LEED or other “green building” requirements, certifications, and documentation, Geotechnical 
Engineering, Planning, Planning Submittals, Zoning, Master Planning, HOA Submittals and Presentations, Community 
Presentations, Commission meeting attendance and presentations, Special Use Permits and Processes, Environmental 
Studies and Reports, Traffic Engineering and Traffic Studies, Landscape Architecture, Acoustical Engineering, Interior 
Design Consultant, FF&E, Fire Protection Engineering (building and site), Hazardous Materials Reports, Surveys, 
Documents, and Drawings, Utility Location Services, Utility Design and Coordination outside of the site, Utility Relocation, 
Utility Applications and Submittals, Water Rights, Value Engineering, Re-Design efforts, Independent Cost Estimating 
Consultant, Printing, other Design Consultants, Specialty Consultants, Plan Review Fees, Permit Fees, Utilities Fees, 
Bidding Requirements, Bid Advertising and fees, Bidding Platform, other fees or costs outside of typical basic design 



Paul Cavin Architect LLC

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 • Reno • Nevada • 89502 • mobile: 775-842-0261 • office: 775-284-7083
paul@paulcavindesign.com • www.paulcavindesign.com

services, Special Inspections, Construction Staking, Construction Testing, 3rd Party Plan Reviews, Liquidated Damages, 
Legal Fees, and Record Documents, as these services are not anticipated to be needed or will be handled by others for 
this project.  Any Utility and/or Agency Applications, Coordination, Review Fees, and other fees, if necessary, will be the 
responsibility of Storey County.  If additional services or consultants are needed or required, they will be discussed with 
Storey County, and the design team prior to an endorsement of the contract.

Please let me know if you have any questions, comments, or modifications to the Scope of Work.

We look forward to your project!

With much appreciation,

Paul Cavin, AIA
Owner, Paul Cavin Architect LLC
Nevada License #6284



\\la.lumosengineering.net\Shared\Marketing\Proposals\2024 Proposals\LA24.298 - Mark Twain Community Center\LA24.298 - MTCC Proposal.docx 

April 11, 2024 
LA24.298 

Paul Cavin, AIA 
Paul Cavin Architect LLC 
1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120  
Reno, NV 89502 
Via email: paul@paulcavindesign.com 

Subject: Proposal for Professional Services – Mark Twain Community Center – 
Storey County, NV 

Dear Paul: 

Lumos & Associates, Inc. is pleased to provide you with this proposal for civil engineering and related 
services for the development of a ~5,000 sf Vehicle Storage Building at 500 Sam Clemens Avenue in 
Dayton, NV. 

Project Understanding 

The proposed vehicle storage building will be approximately located at the north end of the site and 
south of the existing drainage swale. Site access will be provided just north of the existing park and 
the new site improvements should allow for a large truck turn-around. The proposed building is 
expected to tie into the existing on-site domestic well for domestic water service and a new septic 
field will be required for sewage disposal. 

Project Scope 

Task 1 – Topographic Survey 
Lumos will prepare a Topographic Survey Map at 1" = 20' scale with 1 foot contour interval accuracy in 

accordance to National Map Accuracy Standards for the project area. All existing surface improvements 

and visible evidence of utilities will be located within the project area. Visible evidence of utilities, inverts 

of all measurable utilities within the project area (including pipe size, orientation, and material where 

observable) will be shown. 

The area to be mapped will be approximately 1.2 acres in the northerly portion of APN 003-273-13 from 

Sam Clemens Ave on the west to the rear of the parcel and from the existing playground area on the 

south to the existing ditch on the north, as shown in the Scope of Work Summary, dated April 8, 2024. 

The basis of bearings and datum for the project will be based upon Nevada State Plane Coordinates and 

the vertical datum will be NAVD88. The deliverable for the project will be an autocadd drawing file and 

pdf of the project alignment 

Task 2 – Schematic Design 
Under this task, Lumos will prepare Schematic Design (SD) level plans and documents.  The following 
components will be incorporated in this task:   

Schematic Design Submittal: 



LA24.298 
April 12, 2024 

Page 2 

1. Schematic Level Drawings
2. Preliminary Civil packages (site improvements, grading and drainage)

a. In coordination with the design team we will develop an SD level site layout showing
the proposed facilities, site access, ADA accessible ramps, concrete work, walking
paths, landscape areas, and drainage concepts.

b. Lumos will take the conceptual architectural footprint and create a civil engineering
horizontal site concept with SD level grading to identify challenges and critical
components to allow for an informed discussion and presentations.

c. At this stage grading and control will not be initiated other than as required in order
to vet critical components of the design.

3. This task includes one Schematic Design coordination meeting with Storey Couty and the
design team (Paul Cavin Architects).

Task 3 – Design Development 
In this phase, we will meet with the design team and Storey County to review the comments and 

input from the previously developed SD package and discuss the specific changes and needs as the 

design progresses to the DD package.   After that meeting, we will work with the design team to 

develop the DD plans for the various components below.  The following components will be 

incorporated in this task:    

Design Development Submittal: 
1. Design Level Drawings
2. Civil Components:

a. In coordination with the design team we will develop the DD level site layout showing
demolition limits, the proposed facilities, site access, ADA accessible ramps, concrete
work, walking paths, landscape areas, septic field sizing and drainage facilities.

b. At this stage grading and control will be advanced to allow for refinement of the
detailing and design of the horizontal and vertical elements of the site to a DD level.

c. This DD site plan will further refine the detail on what components of the existing site
will be abandoned/demolished.

d. Begin detailing for the various proposed site components.
e. Site access clarification
f. Project meetings
g. Site drainage (downspouts and drainage patterns)

One Design Development Presentation and coordination meeting with Storey County and the design 
team 

Task 4 – Construction Documents 
In this phase, we will meet with the design team and Storey County to review the comments and 
input from the previously developed DD package and discuss the specific changes and needs as the 
design progresses to the CD package.   After that meeting, we will work with the design team to 
develop the CD plans for the various components below so that we are ready to submit for permits 
with appropriate permitting agencies.  The following components will be incorporated in this task:    

50% Construction Documents Submittal: 
1. Drawings



LA24.298 
April 12, 2024 

Page 3 

2. The 50% Construction Documents Submittal will be for internal review and coordination.
However, the demolition plan will be provided for issuance to the contractor for bidding and
construction.

100% Construction Documents/Plan Review Submittal: 
1. Drawings – stamped and signed
2. 100% Construction Documents presentation with Storey County and the design team
3. Civil:

a. Finalize Civil improvement plans including; horizontal and vertical site improvement
plans and civil utility improvement plans

b. Applicable project details
c. Finalize Project specifications identified in the design development documents
d. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Preparation for submittal to NDEP

4. Submittal and response to agency comments

Task 5 – Bidding Assistance 
Lumos will provide PCA, LLC with civil design information necessary for a Bid set of plans and 
specifications.  It is anticipated that the 100% plans and specification have addressed all comments 
and redesigns from previous phases and is the basis for the development of bid documents.  No 
client generated redesign work is included in this phase.   

Lumos will prepare 100% design documents as a final review prior to moving into the bidding phase. 

Task 6 – Construction Assistance   
Lumos will provide PCA, LLC with civil related Construction Support assistance for the project 
construction duration. Lumos will assist PCA, LLC by: 

· Lumos will be available to answer contractor questions/RFI’s
· Review submittals
· Attend a pre-construction meeting
· Conduct periodic walkthroughs of the project during construction (assumed 3 for civil items)
· Respond to RFI’s, issue addendums/change orders
· Conduct a final punch list walk through
· Prepare Record Drawings (based on Contractor’s redlined plan set)

Assumptions / Exceptions 
Lumos has made the following assumptions in preparation of this proposal: 

· The existing well is assumed to have capacity for domestic water service. If fire sprinklers are
required and exceed available demand, an addendum to this proposal can be provided for
required well improvements.

· Inspection and Testing is not included with this proposal
· No construction staking is included.
· This proposal assumes a standard leach field septic system will work on the site. If percolation

testing proves a mounded system is required, an addendum to this proposal will be required.
· No FEMA coordination or applications are included in this proposal.



LA24.298 
April 12, 2024 

Page 4 

Fees 

The tasks described in the Scope of Work will be completed for the following fees: 

Task Fee

Task 1 Topographic Survey $9,000

Task 2 Schematic Design $11,000

Task 3 Design Development $13,500

Task 4 Construction Documents $18,000

Task 5 Bidding Assistance $3,500

Task 6 Construction Assistance $7,500

Total: $62,500

Description

Tasks 1-6 are lump sum.   If this proposal is acceptable, please execute the provided contract or 
provide your contract for review and execution.  Lumos will send monthly progress billings on this 
project.  The amount of these billings will be based upon the percentage of work completed.  The 
terms are ‘Due Upon Receipt’ and accounts are past due after 30 days.  Accounts over 30 days old 
will be subject to interest at the rate of 1 ½% per month and such collection action as may be 
necessary to collect the account.  In addition, a “Stop Work Order” may be issued on past due 
accounts.  In this case, no further work will be performed until the account is brought current.  

Thank you again for allowing Lumos to provide you with this proposal.  Please do not hesitate to call 
me if you have questions or concerns as we would happy to discuss them with you. 

Sincerely, 

Micah Laack, P.E. Dan Stucky, P.E. 

Project Manager Group Manager 

Mgm
Dan Stucky, P.E.



Page 1 of 3

Chris Roper, PE/SE
CFBR Structural Group, LLC
5425 Louie Lane
Reno, NV 89511

April 11, 2024

Paul Cavin, AIA
Paul Cavin Architect LLC

Re: Storey County – Mark Twain Community Center – Vehicle Storage Building
500 Sam Clemens Avenue, Dayton, Nevada 89403

Dear Paul:

I am pleased to present this proposal for structural engineering services.  My understanding of the project 
is based on our recent correspondence and your Scope of Work Summary dated April 8, 2024.

Scope of Work

A new vehicle storage building will be constructed.  The new building will be a single-story pre-engineered 
metal building (PEMB) with a footprint of approximately 5,000sf.  The building will have (4) bays for large 
apparatus parking, a storage area, an office, and a restroom.  Design and detailing of the PEMB super-
structure above slab level will be provided by a PEMB manufacturer as a performance specification / 
deferred submittal item based on the structural criteria and preliminary structural layouts we provide.  The 
PEMB manufacturer will be selected and retained by the owner and/or their selected contractor.  CFBR’s 
structural scope of work for the building will include structural design and detailing of the slab-on-grade 
and foundations for the PEMB based on foundation reactions provided by the PEMB manufacturer and 
their engineer.  Interior improvements will be minimal and non-structural.  Design will be in accordance 
with the structural requirements of the 2018 International Building Code.  The following will be provided as 
a part of our work:

Basic Services Included

Schematic Design
 Attend a kickoff meeting in Virginia City.
 Provide input to PCA on recommended structural foundation and framing systems to assist PCA

with development of their schematic drawings.  Preparation of structural drawings at schematic
design is excluded.

 Provide a list of anticipated structural specification sections.
 Provide a structural construction cost estimate.
 Attend a Schematic Design presentation meeting in Virginia City.

Design Development
 Provide Design Development level structural drawings.
 Provide preliminary structural specifications.
 Provide a structural construction cost estimate.
 Attend a Design Development presentation meeting in Virginia City.

50% Construction Documents
 Provide 50% Construction Documents level structural drawings.



Page 2 of 3

 Provide preliminary structural specifications.
 Provide a structural construction cost estimate.

Construction Documents
 Prepare the following Construction Documents as required for permitting:

o Structural drawings.
o Structural calculations.
o Structural book specifications.

 Provide a structural construction cost estimate.
 Respond to Storey County Building Department permitting structural plan check comments.

Bidding Assistance
 Provide structural drawings and specifications for Bid Documents.
 Answer structural RFIs.
 Prepare final Conformed for Construction Documents.

Construction Administration
 Answer structural RFIs.
 Review structural shop drawings, submittals and special inspection / materials testing reports.
 Make (1) site visit, as directed, to provide structural observation, issuing written field reports

afterward.

Exclusions / Additional Services

The following items are excluded from our work.  Some items can be provided as Additional Services if 
required.

 Time or travel for site visits or meetings not indicated above.
 Printing or shipping.  This proposal assumes all submittals will be electronic.
 Preparation of record / as-built drawings.
 Project management (i.e. preparation of design or construction schedules, meeting minutes,

management of other consultants, filing or submittal of documents, etc.)
 Services related to sustainable design, LEED, etc.
 Geotechnical engineering or preparation of soils reports.  This proposal assumes a soils report

will be provided for our use prior to start of design or that common local presumptive soil design
values can be used.  This proposal also assumes shallow conventionally reinforced concrete
foundations; design and detailing of alternate foundation systems like mat foundations, post-
tensioned slabs & foundations and deep foundation systems (piles, piers, etc.) are excluded.

 Site civil engineering (i.e. site plans, grading, utilities, etc.) including design and detailing of site
structures or elements outside the building footprint (i.e. sitework elements like flatwork,
site/retaining/screen walls, fences, culverts, bridges, shade structures, flagpoles, light poles,
benches, fountains, pools, signs, etc.).

 Design or detailing of the PEMB or any super-structure above slab level (i.e. mezzanines, vehicle
lifts or other equipment, etc.)  The PEMB is also expected to conform to typical metal building
industry standards with a simple gabled or single-shed, low slope roof.

 Incorporation of radiant heating into building slabs.
 Design or detailing for non-structural elements including their support, bracing and anchorage.
 Design or detailing for interior mezzanines or other tenant improvements.
 Design for future expansion.
 Special inspection & materials testing.
 Preparation of shop or fabrication drawings.
 Services related to construction means and methods.
 Incorporation of phasing or alternates (additive, deductive or otherwise) into construction

documents or breaking the project into multiple packages or phases during design or
construction.



Page 3 of 3

 Services resulting from changes to the scope or magnitude of the project, value engineering,
and/or changes necessary because of cost over-runs.

Professional Fees and Schedule

I propose to perform the work described above in accordance with the project schedule provided for the 
following fixed fee compensation:

Schematic Design $3,500
Design Development $3,500
50% Construction Documents $3,500
Construction Documents $3,500
Bidding Assistance $1,500
Construction Administration $3,000

Total $18,500

If there are changes to the project that affect our work, this proposal may need to be revised.  This 
proposal is valid for 30 calendar days.  If this proposal is acceptable, please provide authorization to 
proceed with work on the project.  Thank you for the opportunity to serve you on this project and please 
call if you have any questions.

Sincerely,

Chris Roper, PE/SE



1420 HOLCOMB AVENUE, SUITE 201 | RENO, NV 89502 | PHONE: 775.329.9100 | WWW.AA-ME.COM 

April 10, 2024  p24041 

Mr. Paul Cavin 
Paul Cavin Architect, LLC 
1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 
Reno, NV  89502 

SUBJECT: Mark Twain Community Center - Vehicle Storage Building 
Dayton, NV 

Dear Paul: 

Thank you for requesting a mechanical engineering fee proposal for the above-referenced project. This 
proposal is based upon the Scope of Work Summary dated April 08, 2024. It is understood that Storey 
County would like professional design services for a new vehicle storage building located at 500 Sam 
Clemens Avenue, Dayton Nevada 89403. The new vehicle storage building will be approximately located 
on the north end of the site (APN 003-273-13) and just south of the existing drainage swale. Site access 
will be provided just north of the existing park and the new site improvements should allow for a large 
truck turn-around. The new vehicle storage building will be a pre-manufactured metal building, 
approximately 5,000 square feet, four bays for large apparatus parking, a storage area, an office, and 
restrooms. It is understood that this building is for vehicle storage only and that vehicle maintenance will 
not be performed or permitted within the building although per discussions in the field, we will plan for a 
Carbon Monoxide triggered exhaust system for personnel safety. 

Our engineering services would include the following items: 

 Consultation, advice, and design solutions during the design phases of the Project. 

 Perform up to two on site meetings/job visits during design to present milestone deliverables to the 
Client and discuss mechanical and plumbing implications. 

 Two-dimensional PDF Contract Documents prepared using 2D AutoCAD software or 3D Revit 
software collaborated in BIM 360. 

 Design team meetings as required although we have assumed that in-person weekly meetings 
during the design phase of the project will not be required. 

 Three-part book specifications in AIA format. 

 An Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Costs at major milestones, if requested. 

 Resolve facility and agency plan check comments. 

 Interpret the extent of the design documents and answer any questions during the 
bidding/negotiation phase of the project. We have included time to attend the pre-bid meeting in 
person. 

 Review of material lists and submittals relating to work specified. 

 During construction, provide technical consultation and general observance of the work designed 
and specified including two in person on-site Owner-Architect-Contractor (OAC) meetings, and 
one site visit at the completion of construction to prepare a final acceptance report, subject to the 
following: 



Mr. Paul Cavin            April 10, 2024 
Paul Cavin Architect, LLC 

1420 HOLCOMB AVENUE, SUITE 201 | RENO, NV 89502 | PHONE: 775.329.9100 | WWW.AA-ME.COM 

 We will attempt to prevent defects and deficiencies in the work of the contractors but do not
guarantee performance of their contracts.

 You will keep us informed as to the progress of construction so that our site visits may be
planned accordingly.

The scope of work specifically does not include the following: 

 Any scope item not specifically included above. 

 Fire protection system design or performance specifications. This system is not anticipated at this 
time but if deemed necessary, we will be happy to prepare an additional service proposal in the 
future. 

 Design of a sand-oil interceptor system for the apparatus bays. We will assist the project’s Civil 
Engineer with any required coordination. 

 Weekly meetings during the construction phase (OAC meetings), aside from the two listed above. 

 On-site meetings in excess of the six total noted above. If needed, additional site visits can be 
performed at a cost of $800.00 each. 

 LEED or environmental engineering calculations/consultation. 

 Structural engineering design as may be required for seismic bracing or anchorage of mechanical 
equipment or components. We will provide the necessary drawing for mechanical equipment 
anchorage based upon design input from the project Structural Engineer. 

 Design of any site drainage, irrigation, or utility systems, including the new domestic water well 
or a septic system. Our work will stop five feet outside the building for coordination with the 
project’s Civil Engineer. 

 Noise or vibration analysis of mechanical systems. 

 Services resulting from changes to the scope or magnitude of the project, value engineering, 
and/or changes necessary because of cost over-runs. 

 Design or review of multiple mechanical equipment or system options due to equipment lead 
times and/or availability of originally specified equipment or systems at the time of construction. 

Compensation for basic service as described herein shall be based on a lump sum fee of $28,500.00, 
broken down as follows: 

Schematic Design  $  4,300.00 

Design Development  $  5,700.00 

50% Construction Documents $  5,700.00 

100% Construction Documents $  6,300.00 

Bidding/Agency Review $     800.00 

Construction Administration  $  5,700.00 

Total $28,500.00 



Mr. Paul Cavin            April 10, 2024 
Paul Cavin Architect, LLC 

1420 HOLCOMB AVENUE, SUITE 201 | RENO, NV 89502 | PHONE: 775.329.9100 | WWW.AA-ME.COM 

We would suggest that reimbursement for our services be accomplished as follows: 

1. We would submit monthly progress billings for basic services, and separate monthly billings for
any authorized extra services. Billings for extra services would include employee category
engaged in the work and hourly rate of compensation and all direct expenses noted.

All reports, plans, specifications, field data, field notes, calculations, and other documents prepared by 
Ainsworth Associates Mechanical Engineers as instruments of service shall remain the property of 
Ainsworth Associates Mechanical Engineers. 

We cannot be responsible for unforeseen or undisclosed conditions that are not reasonably observable 
through existing building construction such as equipment and systems above hard lid ceilings, within 
walls, below grade, etc. Conditions of this nature will require us to rely on the accuracy of the As-Built 
documents provided to us by the Owner. In order to avoid expenditure of potentially great sums of money 
or potentially disrupt on-going facility operations and the project schedule, no attempt will be made to 
destroy or disrupt adequate and serviceable installations and concealed construction. Consequently, 
existing conditions will be verified through observations of the work that are readily visible and/or 
available existing As-Built drawings. 

If work is abandoned or suspended, in whole or in part, services rendered to date of abandonment are to 
be paid for in accordance with percentage of completion of the project documents at that time. 

It is understood that Ainsworth Associates Mechanical Engineers makes no warranty, expressed or 
implied, except that plans and specifications furnished as a result of the Agreement will be prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted professional engineering practices. 

Ainsworth Associates Mechanical Engineers carries insurance with $2M/$4M limits. 

Ainsworth Associates Mechanical Engineers makes no representation concerning any probable budget 
costs made in connection with the plans, specifications or drawings prepared by them, other than that all 
probable costs are for budget purposes only and the Engineer cannot be held responsible for actual final 
construction costs. 

We appreciate your consideration of our services for this project. I hope that you find this proposal 
acceptable. I am available to discuss any refinement or adjustments in the foregoing so that an agreement 
for our services can be developed. Please give me a call if you have questions. 

Sincerely, 
AINSWORTH ASSOCIATES MECHANICAL ENGINEERS 

Roger Gravelle 
Principal 



Contract Proposal
CP24148

Proposal For From Apr 10, 2024
Paul Cavin, AIA
Paul Cavin Architect, LLC
1575 Delucchi Lane
Suite 120
Reno, NV 89502
paul@paulcavindesign.com

Karen Purcell, P.E.

Principal

Project
Storey County Vehicle Storage Building

Project Description
The project is for a new vehicle storage building consisting of approximately 5,000 square feet.  The new vehicle storage
building will be a pre-manufactured metal building with 4 bays for large apparatus parking, a storage area, an office, and  
restrooms.  It is understood that this building is for vehicle storage only and that vehicle maintenance will not be  
performed or permitted within the building.

The electrical design will include site lighting and electrical; electrical service and distribution; lighting and controls;  
power distribution and branch circuits; electrical connections for HVAC and other equipment; communication system  
(data/tel) infrastructure, cabling, and termination; fire alarm (spots and dots only) system design; and access control if  
needed.

Scope of Services
Design Phase Services include site investigation, consultation, calculations, permit & construction documents and  
specifications suitable for permitting, bidding and construction. We will attend local (Reno) or virtual design meetings as  
required to coordinate with other trades.

Deliverables include Schematic Design drawings; 100% Design Development Documents; 50% Construction  
Documents; and 100% Construction Documents/Permit Submittal. Deliverables will include drawings, 3-part  
specifications, calculations, and estimate for each submittal.

The project delivery method will be Design/Bid/Build. The project will be produced using the current Revit version and
will be updated annually per Autodesk’s annual updates. BIM 360 will also be used for production and coordination  
efforts. Project will be modeled to a Level of Design (LOD) 300.

Permit Phase Services include responding to plan review comments and reissuing drawings as needed.

Bid Phase Services include responding to bidder questions, issuing written narratives & revision sketches.

Construction Administration Services include consultation, submittal and shop drawings review, responses to RFIs and  
revisions to contract drawings. We will attend local design meetings as required to coordinate with other trades and will
provide contract administration services as required for a complete project. Close out shall include review of all  
contractor closeout documentation and we will provide record drawings based on contractor redlines.

Project Design Schedule: start date will commence upon receipt of signed proposal or agreement and the completion  
date shall be established by the project team and/or Owner at the start of design. The anticipated design shall begin  
April 2024 with anticipated construction completion October 2025.

Exclusions: Emergency Generator system; LEED design and documentation; energy modeling beyond IECC
compliance; digital renderings; permit, plan check, and utility fees; completing building department and utility  
applications and submitting plans to these agencies; and arc flash and coordination study.



Construction Administration Fixed Fee 2,800.00

Bidding & Negotiation Fixed Fee 1,000.00

Construction Documents Fixed Fee 7,600.00

Design Development Fixed Fee 4,800.00

Schematic Design Fixed Fee 2,800.00

Total Amount $19,000.00

Fee and Structure Amount

Terms and Conditions
PK Electrical carries professional liability insurance with $5M/$5M limits. Terms and conditions per the standard PCA  
agreement.

Authorization and Acceptance (Acknowledgment of Concurrence with the foregoing)

Karen Purcell, P.E. Paul Cavin, AIA Date
Principal Owner



Staff Report for Mark Twain Community Center – Phase 1, Apparatus Storage Building 

Design costs.

The design fees represented here are for the design and engineering of a metal 
building, just under 5,000 square feet in area with some substantial site development 
due to the proposed site in the alluvial area of Mark Twain.  The proposed structure is 
similar in type and use to the recently completed building in the Highlands.

The fee structure is broken out by task and by discipline.

These fees are attractive as a percentage of total estimated construction costs.  For 
example, the architectural fees are at 3.7% and the civil engineering fees are at 2% of 
the estimated construction cost.

The fees are very large due to the explosion in construction costs.  Since 2021, 
construction costs have inflated by an estimated 76%!  That’s approximately 25% year 
over year.

A cost analysis is attached herewith that shows real-world, local, recent projects that are 
comparable in size and scope to our proposed building.  The board will notice costs per 
square foot of $573.17 up to $614.27.



Paul Cavin Architect LLC

1575 Delucchi Lane, Suite 120 • Reno • Nevada • 89502 • mobile: 775-842-0261 • office: 775-284-7083
paul@paulcavindesign.com • www.paulcavindesign.com

Mark Twain Community Center – Vehicle Storage Building
Cost comparisons for additional information about similar buildings:

Project #1:
Eureka County School District Bus Barn and Canopy

This is a vehicle storage building very similar to the proposed vehicle storage building at the Mark 
Twain Community Center.  Project was competitively bid in 2021 and completed in 2022.

Pre-Engineered Metal Building.
4 bays with 4 hi-bay doors.
Vehicle storage only, no restrooms, no office, no mezzanine.
No fire sprinkler system.
Code required vehicle exhaust system.
Heating only by gas forced air units (2).
Covered Canopy for parking adjacent to the enclosed building (3 bays).
Minimal site improvements (AC paving, retaining wall).
3,200 square feet.
$1,965,675 total construction costs.
$614.27 per square foot.
Total Design fees 8.15% of construction costs.

Project #2:
Carson City Airport Snow Removal Equipment Building

This is a vehicle storage building very similar to the proposed vehicle storage building at the Mark 
Twain Community Center.  Project was competitively bid in 2023 and is set to start construction 
Spring of 2024.

Pre-Engineered Metal Building.
4 bays with 4 hi-bay doors.
Vehicle storage in 2 bays, equipment storage in 1 bay, office, bathroom, storage room and 
mezzanine in 4th bay.
No fire sprinkler system.
Code required vehicle exhaust system.
Heating in vehicle storage bay by 1 forced air unit. Heating and cooling in office with mini-split.
Minimal site improvements (AC paving, concrete paving, sand/oil separator, detention pond).
3,200 square feet.
$1,834,147 total bid (final construction cost to be determined).
$573.17 per square foot.
Architect was not the prime design consultant; total design fees are unknown.  Architect’s design fees 
were 4.2% of the anticipated construction costs.

Mark Twain Community Center – Vehicle Storage Building
Approximately 5,000 square feet with extensive site construction.
Estimated $625.00 per square foot.
Estimated Construction Cost of $3,125,000 (5000 x $625 = $3125000).
Currently proposed design fees are 7.88% of estimated construction costs.



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Mark Stafford
Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers
to provide appraisal of vacant land located at 935 State Route 341 (Truck Route) APN
002.023.08 Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the county has expressed
interest in potential purchase to facilitate improved access and parking area for the county
jail facility.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve accepting property
appraiser Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of
Storey County appraisers to provide appraisal of vacant land located at 935 State Route
341 (Truck Route) APN 002.023.08 Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the
county has expressed interest in potential purchase to facilitate improved access and
parking area for the county jail facility.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: County staff approached the owner of the subject property which is
situated adjacent to the Storey County Detention Center and State Route 341 Truck
Route. The subject property encroaches into facility parking and egress areas, and it may
be better suited to facilitate drainage and other improvements related to the adjacent jail.
The owner of the property responded to the initial outreach in agreement to proceed with
an appraisal of the property.

•
• Storey County Code 2.22 requires that the county to assign appraisers to projects in order

of its list of qualified appraisers. Anthony J. Wren and Associates was the most recently
used appraiser on this project; therefore, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers would be
next to be chosen to perform the next appraisal of a county project.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

     30



• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



 

Page 1 of 1 

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ OFFICE 
Storey County Courthouse   
26 South “B” Street 
P.O. Box 176 Virginia City, Nevada 89440 
Phone: 775.847.0968 - Fax: 775.847.0949 
commissioners@storeycounty.org 

Jay Carmona, Chair 
Clay Mitchell, Vice-Chair 
Lance Gilman, Commissioner 

Austin Osborne, County Manager 

LIST OF QUALIFIED APPRAISERS 

October 31, 2023 

Re: Appraiser List for Storey County 2023 

1. Anthony J. Wren, Anthony J. Wren and Associates Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A.0000090-CG exp. 4/30/2025

2. Mark Stafford, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraiser Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A0000178-CG exp. 5/31/2025

This list will be updated annually and otherwise as needed. 



Mark E. Stafford
 Real Estate Appraiser 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
PO Box 349                                                                                                             Phone 775-750-9078 
Virginia City, NV 89440                                                                         e-mail mark@staffordappraisal.com

November 2, 2023 

Austin Osborne 
Storey County Manager 
PO Box 176 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

RE: Appraiser’s Statement of Qualifications-Comstock Historic District 

Dear Mr. Osborne, 

I am writing in response to your requested Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) for 
Professional Appraisal Services dated October 31, 2023 (attached). The following are my 
responses to items one through nine of said request. 

1. Attached is my Appraiser Certificate issued by the Real Estate Division of the
State of Nevada authorizing me to act as a Certified General Appraiser.

2. This SOQ applies to the Comstock Historic District.

3. I have been a full-time real estate appraiser in northern Nevada since 1977.
During this period, I have appraised numerous properties in Storey County
including he Comstock Historic District. Clients have included lenders, attorneys
and Storey County on behalf of the Storey County Assessor.

4. Please find attached my Letter of Qualification.

5. The time required to complete an appraisal assignment is dependent on the
complexity of the property appraised and the appraiser’s current workload.

6. Fees charged by appraisers are dependent on the property type, valuation
complexity, and responsibility assumed. Typically, when a potential client is
seeking an appraisal, the appraiser provides an estimated time to complete the
assignment and the proposed fee.

7. If hired by Storey County for fee assignments specific to this Qualified List of
Professional Appraiser Services, I will obtain and maintain a professional liability
insurance policy.



8. In addition to the Errors and Omissions policy noted above, the appraisal will be
prepared in accordance with the regulatory standards set forth in the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as adopted by the State of
Nevada.

9. I will strive to provide any additional professional information as may be required
by Storey County.

Thank you for your consideration. If you require any further information, please contact 
me.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Mark E. Stafford, Certified General Appraiser 
State of Nevada No. A.0000178-CG 







Education Associate Degree in Applied Science: Business-Real Estate  
Truckee Meadows Community College Reno, NV 

Courses Successfully 
Completed 

Appraisal Institute (Includes former AIREA and SREA): 
Real Estate Appraisal Principles 
Residential Valuation 
Standards of Professional Practice A & B 
Capitalization Theory & Techniques A & B 
Applied Income Property Valuation 
Case Studies in Real Estate Valuation 
Valuation Analysis & Report Writing 

University of Nevada at Reno: 
Real Estate Evaluation 

International Association of Assessing Officers: 
Fundamentals of Real Estate Appraisal-Course 101  
Income Approach to Valuation-Course 102 
Income Approach to Valuation II-Course 112 
Appraisal of Land-Course 201 
Real Property Modeling-Course 311 
Assessment Administration-Course 400 
Assessment of Personal Property-Course 500 
USPAP (National)-Workshop 151 

Professional 
Experience  

Nov 2018 – Present                Self-Employed       Virginia City, NV 
Independent Fee Appraiser and Consultant 
 Providing appraisal and consulting services for gaming, hospitality, 

industrial, commercial, utility-scale renewable energy projects and other 
special use properties. Contract appraiser for ad valorem valuation and 
consultation services to County Assessors throughout Nevada. Present and 
defend valuation appeals to County and State Boards of Equalization for 
governmental and corporate entities. 

April 1997 – Nov 2018    Washoe County Assessor     Reno, NV 
Senior Appraiser 
 Responsible for oversight of all valuation activities relating to gaming 

properties, telecommunication equipment and leaseholds, possessory 
interest leaseholds and business personal property. Conducted reappraisal of 
residential and commercial districts. Charged with appraising large 
commercial, income oriented, distress, and special-use properties. 
Supervised appraisal and clerical staff, review and present valuation appeals 
to Boards of Equalization. 

Oct 1981 – April 1997         Self-Employed     Northern Nevada   
Independent Fee Appraiser 
 Working from offices in Reno, Fallon, and Tonopah, appraising all property 

types throughout Nevada and northern California. Clients included financial 
institutions, governmental agencies, attorneys and private parties for 
bankruptcy, condemnation, estate, relocation, and financing purposes.  

Qualifications of 
Mark E. Stafford 

Real Estate Appraiser 
226 N B St, PO Box 349 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

775-750-9078
mark@staffordappraisal.com 



Professional 
Experience cont. 

May 1980 – Oct 1981  Nye County Assessor Tonopah, NV 
Senior Appraiser 
 Supervised appraisal staff, valuation activities and procedures. Explained 

assessment procedures to property owners at town meetings. Defended 
values at Boards of Equalization. Restructured appraisal cycle districts and 
supervised implementation of Tax Reform Plan of 1981. Performed after-
hours fee appraisals for banks, savings and loans, relocation companies, 
attorneys and others throughout Central Nevada. 

May 1977 – May 1980 M.E. (Eddie) Stafford, MAI Reno, NV 
Associate Appraiser  
 Prepared single and multi-family, vacant land and site appraisal reports 

primarily for financing purposes. Performed compliance inspections and 
researched comparative income, sales, and cost data. 

Qualified as Expert 
Witness 

Second Judicial District Court Reno 
Fifth Judicial District Court Tonopah 
United States Bankruptcy Court Reno 
Special Masters Hearings (Condemnation for sewer system) Reno 

Also testified at Churchill, Lander, Humboldt, Nye, Clark, Storey and Washoe 
County Boards of Equalization; Nevada State Board of Equalization 

Appraisal Courses 
Taught 

Principle & Theory of Real Estate Appraisal 
Truckee Meadows Community College, Reno-1982 to 1986 
Northern Nevada Community College, Elko-1983 

Advanced Problems of Real Estate Appraisal (Income Properties) 
Truckee Meadows Community College, Reno-1984 to 1987 

IAAO Course 101: Fundamentals of Real Estate Appraisal, multiple 

IAAO Course 102: Income Approach to Valuation, multiple 

IAAO Course 112: Income Approach to Valuation II, multiple 

IAAO One-Day Forums: 931-Leases; 932-Income Statements; 991-Comparable 
Transactions; 960-Marshall-Swift Residential; 962-Marshall-Swift Commercial 

Numerous educational presentations for the Assessor’s Association of Nevada 

Presentation on Gaming Properties at the IAAO International Conference 

State Certification Certified General Appraiser, State of Nevada No. A.0000178-CG 
Licensed Real & Personal Property Tax Appraiser, State of Nevada 

Other Former Co-Chair, Appraiser Certification Board, Nevada State Department of 
Taxation  

Noteworthy  
Assignments 
Completed 

Fast Food Franchises; Bank Buildings; Legal Brothels; Churches; Fitness 
Center; Truck Stop; Casinos and Hotel-Casinos; Water-righted ranches; 
Residential Subdivisions and Condominium Developments; Professional, 
Medical, and Dental Offices; Hotels, Motels, and Apartment Complexes of 100 
plus units; Manufactured Housing & Recreational Vehicle Parks; Special 
Assessment Districts; Coal, Natural Gas, Geothermal and Solar Power 
Generating Facilities. Government property for public disposal; Condemnation 
appraisals for roadways, utility easements, proposed dam, and airport clear 
zones. Casino valuation consultant for the Detroit City Assessor’s Office. 
Contract appraiser for Lander, Eureka, Mineral, Humboldt, Pershing, Churchill, 
and Storey County Assessor’s Offices.  













Image is for viewing purpose only and implies and expresses no accuracy. 

DRAFT 

aosborne
Text Box
935 State Route 341

aosborne
Text Box
935 State Route 341, Truck Route (APN 002.023.08)



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Discussion and possible direction to county staff and consultant regarding the final
draft Storey County Strategic Plan. This draft reflects comments from the 04/16/24 board
meeting.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to accept the proposed final draft
Storey County Strategic Plan with the following changes ___________________ and for
the draft to be brought to the board at its May 21, 2024, meeting for consideration for
possible action.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: County officials and consultant Linda Ritter have worked together to
develop a near-complete preliminary draft strategic plan for the board and public to
review and consider. The county consultant and staff made changes to draft objectives,
strategies, and tactics since the last board workshop.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     31



04/24/24 Final Draft 

Storey County 
Strategic Plan 
FY 2024 / 25 

DRAFT  

Adopted by the Storey 
County Board of County 
Commissioners        
[Date}        
____________________

 



1 

Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................................................................... 2 
I. THE PLANNING PROCESS .............................................................................................................................. 3 
II. STOREY COUNTY STRATEGIC PLAN – VISION, MISSION, PERSPECTIVES AND GOALS ..................................... 4 
PERSPECTIVE 1 SUPPORT THE SAFETY OF OUR COMMUNITIES. ..................................................................... 5 

GOAL 1.1 KEEP COMMUNITIES SAFE FROM CRIME. ..................................................................................................... 5 
GOAL 1.2 SUPPORT AND COORDINATE EFFORTS WITH THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT ............................... 5 
GOAL 1.3 PROVIDE QUICK RESPONSE TO CALLS FOR EMERGENCY SERVICES....................................................................... 6 
GOAL 1.4 HAVE PLANS READY TO PREPARE, RESPOND AND RECOVER FROM EMERGENCIES. ................................................. 6 
GOAL 1.5 PROVIDE SAFE ROADWAYS, PEDESTRIAN WAYS, AND DRAINAGES. ..................................................................... 7 

PERSPECTIVE 2 SUPPORT THE HEALTH AND RESILIENCY OF OUR COMMUNITIES. .......................................... 9 
GOAL 2.1 CREATE A SAFE AND APPEALING BUILT ENVIRONMENT. ................................................................................... 9 
GOAL 2.2 SUPPORT SENIOR POPULATION THROUGH NUTRITION AND OTHER PROGRAMMING THAT CREATES HOLISTIC SOCIAL AND 

PHYSICAL WELLBEING. ........................................................................................................................... 11 
GOAL 2.3 SUPPORT ORGANIZATION AND PROGRAMS THAT SUPPORT THE HEALTH AND WELFARE OF THE GENERAL POPULATION. ..  

 ........................................................................................................................................................ 12 
GOAL 2.4 PROVIDE SAFE AND ADEQUATE WATER. .................................................................................................... 13 
GOAL 2.5 PROVIDE FOR SAFE AND ADEQUATE WASTEWATER TREATMENT AND WASTE DISPOSAL. ....................................... 14 
GOAL 2.6 OPERATE RECREATIONAL FACILITIES FOR SAFE AND OPTIMUM USE BY THE PUBLIC. ............................................. 15 

PERSPECTIVE 3 RESPECT AND PROMOTE THE DISTINCT CHARACTER AND HERITAGE OF OUR COMMUNITIES. 
 ............................................................................................................................................ 17 

GOAL 3.1 ENCOURAGE PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN SETTING THE FUTURE DIRECTION OF EACH UNIQUE COMMUNITY. ............... 17 
GOAL 3.2 SUPPORT INFRASTRUCTURE THAT ENHANCES THE CHARACTER AND HERITAGE OF OUR COMMUNITIES. ................... 17 
GOAL 3.3 SUPPORT HISTORIC PRESERVATION IN THE VIRGINIA CITY AND GOLD HILL AREAS............................................... 20 

PERSPECTIVE 4 ATTRACT, RETAIN, AND GROW BUSINESSES THAT WILL SUPPORT LONG-TERM 
SUSTAINABILITY. .................................................................................................................. 20 

GOAL 4.1 PROVIDE AN ENVIRONMENT THAT SUPPORTS AND PROMOTES QUALITY BUSINESS GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT. ..... 20 
GOAL 4.2 SUPPORT THE TOURISM DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS OF THE VIRGINIA CITY TOURISM COMMISSION. ......................... 22 

PERSPECTIVE 5 GOVERNANCE BY STOREY COUNTY IS ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT. .............................. 24 
GOAL 5.1 ENCOURAGE PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN ALL ASPECTS OF GOVERNANCE. ............................................................ 24 
GOAL 5.2 PROVIDE ACCURATE AND TIMELY INFORMATION TO EVERY COMMUNITY. ......................................................... 25 

PERSPECTIVE 6 PROVIDE EXCELLENT, PREDICTABLE, AND EFFICIENT SERVICES TO ALL OUR COMMUNITIES. 26 
GOAL 6.1 ANTICIPATE, EVALUATE, AND PLAN FOR PUBLIC SERVICE NEEDS. ..................................................................... 26 
GOAL 6.2 MAXIMIZE THE EFFICIENT USE OF COUNTY RESOURCES. ................................................................................ 28 



2 

Introduction 

This Strategic Plan provides a road map for the future of Storey County.  The Board of County 
Commissioners has identified goals important to the County - its residents, businesses, and visitors – and 
identified actions required to achieve these goals.  

This is a living document.  The goals set in this plan reflect what each community determined will enhance 
their unique quality of life.  The goals are 
not likely to change from year to year, 
however, conditions around and within 
each community will change.  Storey 
County government must be ready to adapt 
to take advantage of opportunities as they 
develop and make quick adjustments to
address future threats on the horizon. 
Storey County’s strategic planning process 
involves 5 key components: 

• Focus  Establish goals that
support the long-term success of Storey
County and the communities we serve.

• Align  Coordinate resources
throughout the organization in pursuit of
the goals.

• Act  Evaluate current
conditions and identify tactics and
initiatives that support current objectives.

• Measure Develop analytics and 
other tools that can indicate the impact of our efforts.   

• Improve Make changes in tactics and initiatives as necessary to enhance impact to our 
stated goals.   

Focus

Align

ActMeasure

Improve



3 

I. The Planning Process

• Developed at a public
workshop and approved
by the Board of County
Commissioners.

Mission, Vision, 
Perspectives, Goals

• Strengths, weaknesses,
opportunities and threats
developed for each goal via
workshops in Storey County
communities and internal input
from communities and County
Departments.

Strategy 
Development

• Tactics and initiatives
chosen based upon
external and internal
input and information

Tactics & Initiatives



4 

II. Storey County Strategic Plan – Vision, Mission, Perspectives, and Goals

Vision 
Storey County is a place where independence is valued, the rural Nevada lifestyle and rich 
history is treasured, and businesses, large and small, thrive. 

Mission 
We strive to provide excellent, efficient, and predictable services; be accessible and transparent; 
preserve our past and embrace our future; and provide safe and welcoming places for our 
residents, businesses, and stakeholders. 

Perspective Goal 

1 Support the safety of our 
communi�es. 1.1 Keep communi�es safe from crime. 

1.2 Support and coordinate efforts with the Storey County 
Fire Protec�on District.  

1.3 Provide quick response to calls for emergency services. 

1.4 Have plans ready to prepare, respond, and recover 
from emergencies. 

1.5 Provide safe roadways, pedestrian ways, and drainages. 

2 Support the health and 
resiliency of our 
communi�es. 

2.1 Create a safe and appealing built environment. 

2.2 
Support the senior popula�on through nutri�on and 
other programming that creates holis�c social and 
physical well-being. 

2.3 Support organiza�ons and programs that contribute to 
the health and welfare of the general popula�on. 

2.4 Provide safe and adequate drinking water. 

2.5 Provide for safe and adequate wastewater treatment 
and waste disposal. 



5 

Perspective Goal 

2.6 Operate recrea�onal facili�es for safe and op�mum use 
by the public. 

3 Respect and promote 
the dis�nct character 
and heritage of our 
communi�es. 

3.1 Encourage public par�cipa�on in se�ng the future 
direc�on of each unique community. 

3.2 Support infrastructure that enhances the character and 
heritage of our communi�es. 

3.3 Support historic preserva�on in the Virginia city and 
Gold Hill areas. 

4 Atract, retain, and grow 
businesses that will 
support long-term 
sustainability. 

4.1 Provide an environment that supports and promotes 
quality business growth and development. 

4.2 Support the tourism development efforts of the Virginia 
City Tourism Commission. 

5 Storey County 
governance is accessible 
and transparent. 

5.1 Encourage public par�cipa�on in all aspects of 
governance. 

5.2 Provide accurate and �mely informa�on to every 
community. 

6 Provide excellent, 
predictable, and efficient 
service to all our 
communi�es. 

6.1 An�cipate, evaluate, and plan for public service needs. 

6.2 Maximize the efficient use of County resources. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 5 

Perspective 1 Support the safety of our communities. 

Goal 1.1 Keep communities safe from crime. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve awareness and 
access to information in 
all county communities. 

Include 
communications 
related to Sheriff’s 
services and tips for 
staying safe.   

Explore public outreach app. 

Include SO comments in e-blasts 
and appropriate PR 
communications. 

Enhance law 
enforcement presence in 
each community.  

Improve facilities and 
equipment. 

Build TRI-Center Sheriff’s Substation 
at Station 75.  
Replace and purchase vehicles. 
Add evidence storage facility at TRI-
Center. 
Explore options and federal funding 
to improve detention facilities. 

Goal 1.2 Support and coordinate efforts with the Storey County Fire 
Protection District 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Update the Storey 
County Master Plan. 

Develop goals and 
policies that enhance 
building and fire safety. 

Update goals and policies related 
to fire access, development 
standards, and infrastructure. 

Enhance water systems 
for fire suppression. 

Enhance Fire Water 
Cisterns for the 
Highlands (Phase 1 of 3). 

Budget to replace 3 fire cisterns. 

Share services between 
county and district to 
maximize resources. 

Update interlocal 
agreement between the 
county and the Fire 
District for shared 
services.  

Include HR, Comptroller, payroll, 
vehicle service, and administrative 
functions in agreement. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 6 

Goal 1.3 Provide quick response to calls for emergency services. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Maintain inter-agency 
coordination. 

Cooperate and meet 
regularly to share 
resources and 
information. 

Maintain monthly e-board 
meetings coordinating Fire, Sheriff, 
EM communications, and IT 
technology support. 

Improve equipment. 
Integrate MBT terminals 
into Fire and Sheriff 
programs. 

Purchase and install MBT 
terminals in Fire and SO 
vehicles. 
Provide IT resources needed to 
administer MBT onboarding and 
maintenance. 

Goal 1.4 Have plans ready to prepare, respond and recover from 
emergencies. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve awareness and 
access to information in 
all County communities. 

Develop improved 
communication 
strategies that include 
important emergency 
preparedness 
information. Educate the 
public at community 
events and in field 
exercises about 
emergency 
preparedness. 

Expand use of themed social media 
pushes and apps. 

Transition to Rave mass 
notification system. 

Coordinate with the Sheriff’s Office 
and Fire District on joint 
preparedness town halls, public 
events, and evacuation and other 
drills. 

Improve branding for recognition 
though logo-wear, signage, vehicle 
decals, etc.). 

Distribute preparedness education 
handouts and other materials at 
community events. 

Implement 5-year Integrated 
Preparedness Plan with annually 
themed trainings and exercises to 
bolster community preparedness. 

Establish consistent and 
uniform 
emergency/urgent 

Apply county seal, tagline, and 
colors in website and social media. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 7 

Goal 1.4 Have plans ready to prepare, respond and recover from 
emergencies. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
messaging throughout 
the county. 

Develop PIO and communications 
plan between SO, Fire, EM, and 
other offices. 

Inform the public where 
to obtain emergency 
response information 
during an event.   

Provide resources and links on 
website, social media, at 
community events. 

Goal 1.5 Provide safe roadways, pedestrian ways, and drainages. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Enhance public outreach 
about road conditions.  

Utilize online resources 
to provide information 
to the public. 

Utilize social media and website to 
notify the public of snow and road 
closures. 

Explore mobile apps that facilitates 
direct public outreach. 

Repair and improve 
existing county roads. 

Update countywide road 
rehabilitation plan for 
Fiscal Year 2025. 

Align plan update with actual local 
road conditions. 

Monitor FY25 revenues 
and accelerate the road 
repair schedule if funds 
allow. 

Add failing FY26 roads to FY25 
projects spring if revenues exceed 
expectations.  

Repair major collector 
roads identified in road 
rehabilitation plan as 
needing immediate 
attention. 

Bid out and reconstruct Lousetown 
Road. 

Correct poor drainage and grading 
on west portion of Peri Ranch 
Road. 

Improve drainage 
infrastructure serving 
county roads. 

Implement the goals and 
policies of the Storey 
County Master Plan. 

Implement Lockwood Flood 
Mitigation Study, Alternative #3, 
Rank #2.   

Continue Mark Twain/ Dayton 
Valley Area Drainage Master Plan 
Phase 1 study. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 8 

Goal 1.5 Provide safe roadways, pedestrian ways, and drainages. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Install drainage culverts along Six 
Mile Canyon Road. 

Implement Six Mile Drainage Study 
(Phase 1 of 2) 

Prepare drainage study 
for County roads and 
parcels at the TRI-
Center. 

Prepare a Request for 
Qualifications (RFQ) for a TRI-
Center drainage study. 

Enhance vehicle and 
pedestrian safety on 
county roads. 

Slow down traffic and 
increase driver 
awareness on I and L 
Streets. 

Install lane restrictor devices, 
signage, and other traffic calming 
devices on I and L Streets. 

Design a proper vehicle 
rail crossing at 
Fairgrounds Road and F 
Street (Phase 1 of 2, 
design). 

Design a realignment of 
Fairgrounds Road to the north of 
the rail crossing, install proper 
signage and street markings. 

Manage increasing cross 
traffic at the Milan Drive 
and Electric Avenue 
intersection.  

Install a traffic signal at Milan and 
USA Parkway in the TRI-Center 
(85% paid by Tesla GSA). 

Prevent semi-tractor-
trailers from driving up 
Six Mile Canyon Road. 

Design and develop turnaround 
infrastructure near the Lyon-
Storey County line.  
Execute inter-local agreement with 
Lyon County to install Storey 
County signage and infrastructure 
on Six Mile Canyon Rd. 

Prevent semi-tractor 
trailers from driving on 
Peri Ranch Road at the 
LCC community. 

Coordinate Sheriff presence on 
Peri Ranch Road, especially during 
I-80 closures.

Improve and expand road 
construction support 
facilities. 

Facilitate a secure place 
to store Public Works 
equipment at project 
locations. 

Purchase portable fence and trailer 
for countywide Public Works 
equipment storage. 

Enhance reliability of 
vehicle fueling stations. 

Replace double-lines fuel tanks at 
TRI-Center Public Works yard. 

Update the Storey County 
Master Plan. 

Review plan to ensure 
that it aligns with 
changes to roads and 

Modify goals and policies to match 
current conditions. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 9 

Perspective 2 Support the health and resiliency of our communities. 

Goal 2.1 Create a safe and appealing built environment. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve awareness and 
access to information in 
all county communities. 

Provide resources for 
prospective real estate 
buyers on zoning, 
development codes, 
Storey County Master 
Plan, and building 
limitations. 

Update online property databases 
to reflect current zoning. 

Educate the public about zoning 
and mater plan designations 
during town halls and other public 
meetings. 
Hold Master Plan update 
workshops in each community of 
the county. 

Educate new residents 
about rural living and 
challenges unique to 
Storey County. 

Develop and distribute fliers to 
owner-builders and permittees 
about challenges and limitations 
of building and living in rural 
Storey County. 

Goal 1.5 Provide safe roadways, pedestrian ways, and drainages. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
pedestrian ways since 
2016. 

Establish and maintain 
private-public 
partnerships. 

Coordinate with 
Chamber of Commerce 
to implement “Main 
Streets” program in 
Virginia City to explore 
boardwalk resolutions. 

Liaise with Virginia City Tourism 
Commission, Chamber of 
Commerce, and business 
community to explore potential 
boardwalk maintenance programs 
under “Main Streets” program. 

Include the Chamber of Commerce 
in Master Plan update workshops. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 10 

Goal 2.1 Create a safe and appealing built environment. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Create a website providing 
resources about mine claims, 
clouded title, water rights and 
issues, historic district 
designation, local zoning and land 
uses, ZIP Codes, local wildlife and 
climate, and level of government 
services. 

Implement the Storey 
County Master Plan. 

Implement and conform 
to the policies of the 
Storey County Master 
Plan for each 
community. 

Monitor plan policies to ensure 
alignment with current conditions 
and trends. 

Improve vehicle 
circulation and parking in 
Virginia City. 

Conduct a Virginia City 
vehicle parking and 
circulation study.  

Review and update the 1992 
Virgina City Parking Study to meet 
current conditions and trends. 

Engage the Sheriff’s Office, Fire 
District, and Virginia City Tourism 
Commission as key stakeholders 
in the plan update. 

Support and maintain 
sustainable private-public 
partnerships. 

Continue implementing 
the terms of the TRI-
Center Development 
Agreement.  

Review the TRI-Center 
Development Agreement before 
making decisions on subject 
infrastructure. 

Review and consider 
private-public 
partnership proposals. 

Review and consider proposed 
development agreements, special 
assessment districts, and other 
programs supporting 
development that minimize 
impacts to existing County 
taxpayers. 

Evaluate potential county and 
regional economic and other 
benefits of proposals.  

Consider cost-effective 
government services 
agreements that offset 
infrastructure impacts of 
Nevada Revised Statute 

Retain special counsel to guide 
negotiations and prepare legal 
and fiscal documents. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 11 

Goal 2.1 Create a safe and appealing built environment. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

mandated tax 
abatements. 

Evaluate potential 
financial assistance to 
assist small businesses 
with building and façade 
repairs. 

Explore potential benefits of C-
PACE financing programs. 

Coordinate with Chamber of 
Commerce to implement “Main 
Streets” program in Virginia City. 

Clean up Storey County 
communities of solid 
waste, unregistered 
vehicles, noxious weeds, 
fire fuels, and potential 
hazards.  

Enforce county nuisance 
and building codes 
efficiently, accurately, 
and consistently. 

Review development codes for 
consistency and accuracy. 

Recruit a full-time code 
enforcement officer.     

Efficiently and consistently 
enforce building and fire codes 
countywide. 

Provide resources and 
assistance to help 
residents conform to 
nuisance and building 
codes. 

Promote free-dump vouchers 
countywide.  

Promote “You Call, We Haul” fire 
fuels reduction trailer program. 

Coordinate free roll-off 
dumpsters, and seek volunteer 
efforts to assist residents in-need 
with property cleanup. 

Goal 2.2 Support senior population through nutrition and other 
programming that creates holistic social and physical wellbeing. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
Provide cost-effective 
social and health services 
to seniors in each 
community. 

Maintain interlocal 
agreement with 
Community Chest, Inc. 

Fund health and social service 
programs provided to the county 
by Community Chest, Inc. in the 
FY25 budget. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 12 

Goal 2.2 Support senior population through nutrition and other 
programming that creates holistic social and physical wellbeing. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Provide facilities that 
adequately serve the 
needs of all communities. 

Replace and repair 
facilities to provide site-
cooked meals, social 
activities, recreation, 
and other support to 
seniors in each 
community. 

Replace Lockwood Senior and 
Community Center with new 
facility. 
Design and construct metal 
outbuilding to store fire 
apparatus at Mark Twain 
Community Center. 
Retrofit current Mark Twain 
Community Center and fire 
apparatus bays for new 
community center needs. 

Evaluate future growth and needs 
of VC Senior Center and explore 
potential opportunities at other 
potential facilities. 

Goal 2.3 Support organization and programs that support the health and 
welfare of the general population. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Provide indigent services 
in conformance with the 
Nevada Revised 
Statutes. 

Evaluate and update 
indigent policies and 
programs as needed.  

Evaluate county indigent program 
policies to ensure conformance 
with NRS. 

Maintain interlocal 
agreements with Nevada 
State agencies providing 
youth, health, and other 
indigent services outside 
of the county’s capacity. 

Fund necessary indigent services 
in the FY25 budget. 

Renew indigent program 
interlocal agreements with the 
State of Nevada. 

Expand broadband 
internet infrastructure 
and services 
countywide. 

Implement MOU and 
agreement with CC 
Communications for 
broadband access to all 
communities in Storey 
County. 

Begin phase 1 Virginia City and 
Gold Hill of the MOU with CC 
Communications. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 13 

Goal 2.3 Support organization and programs that support the health and 
welfare of the general population. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Provide cost-effective 
social and health 
services to each 
community. 

Provide health and social 
services through 
interlocal agreements 
with qualified agencies. 

Provide health and social services 
through an interlocal agreement 
with the Community Chest. 
Provide health services through 
an interlocal agreement with the 
Quad-Counties Health Coalition. 

Facilitate opportunities 
for affordable housing.  

Explore methods that the 
county may apply toward 
facilitating infrastructure 
supporting housing 
development and 
rehabilitation. 

Reach out to surrounding 
communities and agencies to 
ensure that the county is aware of 
all available programs that aid in 
the expansion of housing and 
residential development. 
Evaluate county-owned land for 
potential affordable housing 
trusts and other programs. 

Update the Storey County 
Master Plan to consider 
additional potential 
housing opportunities. 

Develop goals and policies that 
expand responsible housing 
opportunities. 

Facilitate qualified 
workforce for 
businesses in the 
county. 

Connect businesses with 
regional workforce 
development resources. 

Connect businesses to local 
resources for employees, 
professional development, and 
related programs. 

Goal 2.4 Provide safe and adequate water. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve water fund 
sustainability without 
impacting existing rate 
payers. 

Increase water 
connection fees for new 
construction. 

Evaluate possible methods of 
using variable connection fee 
schedules to promote specific 
housing types. 
Draft and approve ordinance 
increasing water connection fees 
for new residential construction. 

Fund improvements 
through grants and 
federal appropriations. 

Seek federal and state grants and 
other means of funding to repair 
water systems. 

Attract and retain 
qualified water 
distribution and 
treatment employees 

Explore incentive 
programs to attract and 
retain certified and 
qualified water 
personnel. 

Update classification and 
compensation plan in accordance 
with policy and employee 
agreements. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 14 

Goal 2.4 Provide safe and adequate water. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve water system 
infrastructure. 

Design Silver City water 
transmission line 
replacement, phase 1 of 
2. 

Utilize design engineering to 
secure federal appropriations. 

Design and 
environmental 
preliminary architectural 
reporting for Lead siphon 
replacement project, 
phase 1 of 5. 

Utilize design engineering to 
secure federal appropriations. 

Maintain safe and 
reliable water systems. 

Repair and upgrade water 
storage and treatment 
systems. 

Repair and seal water tanks over 
several years. 
Replace water filter media in 
water treatment system.  
Improve water treatment 
recirculation – replace open 
bodies with tank. 

Maintain appropriate 
water and system 
security. 

Upgrade video monitoring FY25. 

Ensure sufficient and 
affordable raw water to 
the Storey County 
Water System. 

Maintain engagement 
with the State of Nevada. 

Negotiate a cost-effective 
successor Marlette Water 
Agreement with the State of 
Nevada. 

Goal 2.5 Provide for safe and adequate wastewater treatment and waste 
disposal. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve wastewater 
fund sustainability 
without impacting 
existing rate payers. 

Increase wastewater 
connection fees for new 
construction. 

Evaluate possible methods of 
using variable connection fee 
schedules to promote specific 
housing types. 
Draft and approve ordinance 
increasing wastewater connection 
fees for new residential 
construction. 

Fund improvements 
through grants and 
federal appropriations. 

Seek federal and state grants and 
other means of funding to repair 
wastewater systems. 

Attract and retain 
qualified wastewater 

Explore incentive 
programs to attract and 
retain certified and 

Update classification and 
compensation plan in accordance 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 15 

Goal 2.6 Operate recreational facilities for safe and optimum use by the 
public. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Expand parks and 
recreation facilities in 
each community in the 
county. 

Seek community input, 
design, and implement 
parks and recreation 
equipment 
improvements and 
expansions in the county. 

Engage public to discuss potential 
Mark Twain Park expansions and 
integration with Community 
Center upgrades. 
Determine location and design of 
par-course in Virginia City per 
community request, phase 1 of 3. 
Determine location and design of 
Lockwood dog park to determine 
the feasibility of using the 
location as a viable replacement 
property for the existing Land and 
Water Conservation Fund 
conversion, phase 1 of 3. 

Provide safe, secure, 
and functional park 
facilities in each 
community in the 
county. 

Design and implement 
upgrades and repairs to 
existing park facilities. 

Replace swing set at Highlands 
Pinion Park. 

Begin reconstruction of 1964 
Storey County Swimming Pool, 
phase 1 of 2 design. 

Manage Off Highway 
Vehicle (OHV) use in 
lands surrounding 
communities. 

Divert OHV uses away 
from private properties, 
homeowners’ association 
areas, and other 
unpermitted areas. 

Work with residents to identify 
viable off highway vehicle (OHV) 
areas for future designation. 
Engage in OHV forum/club 
outreach to properly align OHV 
maps to public OHV trails and 
away from private communities. 

Goal 2.5 Provide for safe and adequate wastewater treatment and waste 
disposal. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
distribution and 
treatment employees 

qualified wastewater 
personnel. 

with policy and employee 
agreements. 

Maintain safe and 
reliable wastewater 
systems. 

Repair and upgrade 
wastewater collection 
and treatment systems. 

Rehabilitate the Gold Hill 
Collection System, phase 1 of 2 
design. 

Improve operations and 
efficiency of the 
wastewater treatment 
plant. 

Add generator to Gold 
Hill wastewater 
treatment plant. 



 
 

Draft talking paper subject to changes… 
 

16 

Goal 2.6 Operate recreational facilities for safe and optimum use by the 
public. 

Objective   Strategy Tactic 

 Support Sheriff’s OHV programs 
through grants. 

 

Demonstrate private properties 
and BLM land to Google Maps, 
Apples Maps, and other online 
mapping software providers.  

  



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 17 

Perspective 3 Respect and promote the distinct character and heritage of our 
communities.  

Goal 3.2 Support infrastructure that enhances the character and heritage of 
our communities.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Protect Lagomarsino 
Petroglyphs.  

Coordinate with adjacent 
landowners and applicable 
agencies to minimize 
roads and other 
development potentially 
impacting petroglyphs. 

Educate area landowners and 
developers about the existence 
and value of the Petroglyphs. 

Encourage development 
alternatives that minimize 
impacts to the Petroglyphs. 

As a Cooperating Agency with 
the BLM on the Green-link 
project, cause major power 
transmission line alignment away 
from the Petroglyphs. 

Provide security and public 
enjoyment at the 
Petroglyphs. 

Seek funding opportunities to 
facilitate 24/7 ranger station or 
onsite security. 

Seek funding opportunities to 
facilitate supervised public 
access. 

Goal 3.1 Encourage public participation in setting the future direction of 
each unique community.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Facilitate public 
awareness and 
involvement in 
community affairs. 

Utilize online and other 
resources to provide 
information to the public. 

Explore the potential use of 
mobile apps.   

Install electronic message board 
at Mark Twain Community 
Center to better inform the 
public about meetings and 
events, phase 1.  

Facilitate public 
participation in the Storey 
County Master Plan 
update. 

Hold multiple Master Plan 
update workshops in each 
community and by Zoom. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 18 

Goal 3.2 Support infrastructure that enhances the character and heritage of 
our communities.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Reflect community pride 
and identity in public 
facilities. 

Maintaining clean and 
well-managed building 
exteriors that complement 
the surrounding 
community.  

Include xeriscaping (low/no 
water) to the Sheriff’s Lockwood 
Substation. 

Repair north wrought iron fence 
of Courthouse. 

Add informative sign to 
Highlands Community Center. 

Paint and update interior space 
of Highlands Community Center. 

Include xeriscaping (no/low 
water) to the Mark Twain 
Community Center upgrade 
project design, phase 1. 

Maintain Mark Twain Veterans’ 
Memorial. 

Install flagpole at the Justice 
Court. 

Maintain orderly parking lots and 
equipment maintenance yards. 

Maintain or install “dark skies” 
conforming light fixtures on all 
county facilities. 

Develop and maintain 
roads and infrastructure 
that is compatible with 
the built environment in 
each community. 

Repair road and 
pedestrian infrastructure. 

Repair roads in accordance with 
annual Roads Capital 
Improvement Plan for each 
community. 

Replace broken streetlamps on B 
and C Streets in Virginia City. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 19 

Goal 3.2 Support infrastructure that enhances the character and heritage of 
our communities.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 
Conform to the transportation 
infrastructure goals and policies 
of the Storey County Master Plan 
in each community. 
Coordinate potential boardwalk 
repairs and upgrades with the 
Chamber of Commerce and Main 
Streets America program. 
Cooperate with the Virginia City 
Tourism Commission on 
potential public transportation 
support systems. 

Provide a community 
center in the Highlands, 
Lockwood, Mark Twain, 
and Virginia City. 

Modify existing facilities 
and construct new 
facilities to provide 
community center 
services. 

Retrofit current bays at Fire 
Station 72 to serve as a 
community center for Virginia 
City Highlands.  Begin phase 2 of 
Highlands Community Center 
upgrade, design (restrooms and 
warming kitchen.) 

Develop Lockwood Community 
Center, phase 2 construction. 

Build fire apparatus bay at Mark 
Twain and retrofit current bays 
when vacated to serve as 
additional community center 
space. 
Explore potential community 
center facility expansion at Hugh 
Gallagher Elementary School if 
vacated by the school district. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 20 

Perspective 4 Attract, retain, and grow businesses that will support long-term 
sustainability. 

Goal 4.1 Provide an environment that supports and promotes quality 
business growth and development. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Provide high-speed 
broadband internet 
services to all residents 
and businesses in Storey 
County. 

Utilize the expertise and 
resources of a qualified 
broadband service 
provider to develop 
infrastructure and provide 
affordable internet 
services. 

Implement an MOU and 
agreement with CC 
Communications for broadband 
access to all communities in 
Storey County, phase 1 will be 
Virginia City. 

Maintain Storey County’s 
competitive business 
environment in Nevada 
and provide distinguished 
services to business 
stakeholders in Storey 
County. 

Reduce bureaucracy and 
foster a business-friendly 
and customer-oriented 
government. 

Explore opportunities to 
consolidate or co-locate 
administrative County 
functions. 

Review current ordinances, 
procedures, and fees to reduce 
or eliminate where possible. 

Goal 3.3 Support historic preservation in the Virginia City and Gold Hill areas. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Improve and maintain 
county-owned historic 
structures with 
assistance of qualified 
non-profit organizations. 

Designate and assist 
qualified non-profit 
organizations to maintain 
historic county-owned 
structures. 

Assist non-profit with grant 
efforts to install an elevator at 
Saint Mary’s Art Center, phase 1 
of 2 design. 
Assist non-profit with seismic 
retrofit of Saint Mary's Art 
Center, phase 1 of 2 design. 
Evaluate and consider 
preservation and management 
methods for Piper’s Opera 
House. 

Restore front doors at Piper’s 
Opera House. 

Repairs to west retaining wall at 
Piper’s Opera House.  

Make necessary 
upgrades to the Storey 
County Courthouse to 
ensure its future as a 
public service facility. 

Seek fiscal resources to 
improve structural 
integrity of the 
Courthouse. 

Seek grant funding for seismic 
retrofits to the Courthouse. 

Explore methods to retrofit 
Courthouse to meet modern 
security and use needs. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 21 

Goal 4.1 Provide an environment that supports and promotes quality 
business growth and development. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
Consider potential adverse 
impacts that new ordinances 
and fees may have on 
businesses prior to considering 
new regulations and fees. 
Evaluate the purpose of all 
ordinances and fees. Reduce 
regulations and fees that 
provide little or no value to the 
county, stakeholders, 
community, or environment. 

Provide current, fair, and 
efficient business 
regulations. 

Maintain streamlined and 
customer-oriented procedures 
and policies. 
Seek professional services to 
review, update, and align Storey 
County Codes with Virginia City 
Tourism Commission Codes. 

Respond quickly and 
accurately to customer 
questions and demands. 

Respond to resident, business, 
and prospective business calls 
and inquiries promptly and 
accurately. 
Utilize social media and explore 
use of app to communicate 
directly to residents and 
businesses. 

Minimize phone-tree menus 
where possible. 

Provide needed 
assistance for business 
growth and 
development. 

Study areas of needed and 
address known 
deficiencies. 

Conduct a comprehensive 
housing needs assessment. 

Seek and provide funding and 
programs that help small 
businesses with workforce, 
housing, and business needs. 

Provide safe, clean, and 
professional facilities for 
businesses and 

Improve facilities to 
enhance business 
attraction and 
development 

Renovate restroom at TRI-
Center to provide a better 
experience for prospective 
business clients.  



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 22 

Goal 4.1 Provide an environment that supports and promotes quality 
business growth and development. 

Objective Strategy Tactic 
prospective business 
clients. Repaint and apply Storey 

County decals to van. 

Provide and coordinate 
resources to small 
businesses and 
entrepreneurs in Storey 
County. 

Develop and coordinate 
programs that support 
small businesses and 
entrepreneurship in Storey 
County. 

Coordinate with Chamber of 
Commerce and business 
development agencies to 
identify startup and operations 
grants, small business 
administrative (SBA) loans, and 
other financial support to 
better support businesses 
within the county. 
Seek potential assistance for 
workforce development and 
retention, childcare options, 
fringe benefits, and other 
support for small businesses. 
Research programs to ensure 
that they are not duplicative to 
those already provided, 
especially those provided by 
State and other agencies at no-
cost to stakeholders. 

Goal 4.2 Support the tourism development efforts of the Virginia City 
Tourism Commission.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 

Plan and facilitate 
infrastructure needed to 
implement successful 
tourism programs and 
facilities. 

Facilitate infrastructure 
upgrades and provide 
plans to support events 
and recreation facilities. 

Complete Fairgrounds water 
and electrical upgrade, phase 
2 of 2. 

Provide regulatory and policy 
support to VCTC’s pocket park 
deck at the Black & Howell 
site, phase 1 of 2 design.   

Conduct the Virginia City 
vehicle parking and circulation 
study.  



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 23 

Goal 4.2 Support the tourism development efforts of the Virginia City 
Tourism Commission.   

Objective Strategy Tactic 
Evaluate the possibility of a 
small convention center in 
Virginia City. Consider this 
project when performing the 
Facility Study for current and 
future county structures. 
Conduct vehicle egress and 
circulation study on B, C, D, E 
Streets. 

Update the Storey 
County Master Plan 

Include key stakeholders in 
discussions and decisions 
of the Storey County 
Master Plan update. 

Consider the needs of tourism 
when updating the Storey 
County Master Plan, with 
special attention to 
Fairgrounds and area impacts. 
Involve the Virginia City 
Tourism Commission in the 
Master Plan update. 

Share services to 
maximize resources. 

Maintain interlocal 
agreement between the 
County and the Virginia 
City Tourism Commission 
to share and minimize 
duplicated services. 

Collaboratively review the 
existing interlocal agreement 
and amend as needed. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 24 

Perspective 5 Governance by Storey County is accessible and transparent. 

Goal 5.1 Encourage public participation in all aspects of governance. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Effectively inform and 
provide opportunities 
and encourage 
resident, business, and 
stakeholder 
engagement with 
Storey County 
government. 

Utilize technology and online 
resources to reach and involve 
stakeholders in government 
meetings and decisions. 

Upload board meeting 
audio/video recordings to 
website. 
Better utilize social media and 
possible new app to inform 
residents of town halls and 
workshops. 

Increase available public 
records on county website. 

Return to Civic Plus website 
platform, improve auto-alerts 
function. 

Quarterly audit and update 
website for accuracy. 

Audit and update website 
annually. 

Utilize traditional means to 
reach and involve 
stakeholders, including those 
who do not use the internet, in 
government meetings and 
decisions. 

Post items of immediate 
community concern on 
County website for the public. 
Hold Planning Commission 
meetings periodically in each 
community, especially if 
proposed land use impacts a 
particular community. 
Utilize telephone, mail, fliers, 
and other non-electronic 
means of communication 
where feasible. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 25 

Goal 5.2 Provide accurate and timely information to every community. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Provide accurate and 
accessible information 
and public records. 

Utilize technology and online 
resources to enhance 
awareness and provide 
information to stakeholders. 

Create an easily recognizable 
and memorable organization-
wide brand for Storey County. 

Evaluate effectiveness and 
ease of use of the current 
email notification system.  

Utilize social media and 
possible app to communicate 
directly to businesses and 
residents. 

Utilize traditional means to 
reach and involve 
stakeholders, including those 
who do not use the internet, in 
government meetings and 
decisions. 

Utilize local community 
groups and forums, and 
media to disseminate 
information. 

Routinely hold open-
discussion town halls in each 
community. 

Enhance the Storey County 
Website 

Increase available public 
records on county website. 

Return to Civic Plus website 
platform, improve auto-alerts 
function. 
Quarterly audit and update 
website for accuracy. 
Audit and update website 
annually. 
Post items of immediate 
community concern on 
County website for the public. 

Utilize existing public records 
management programs. 

Evaluate records response 
systems for effectiveness. 

Restructure training of new 
records response systems. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 26 

Perspective 6 Provide excellent, predictable, and efficient services to all our 
communities. 

Goal 6.1  Anticipate, evaluate, and plan for public service needs. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Establish standard 
service levels for 
various county services. 

Evaluate types and methods of 
services in other counties. 

Conduct a comparable 
study of area counties 
where Storey County 
services need 
improvement.  

Improve awareness and 
access to information 
in all county 
communities. 

Develop improved 
communication strategies that 
provide advanced information 
on services service levels.   

Maintain efficient 
buildings and facilities 
use and expansions.  

Prepare a facilities master 
plan providing cost-benefit 
analyses of current and 
prospective facilities to meet 
current and future needs 
within fiscal limitations.  

Seek and secure 
grants and funding 
assistance that 
enhance county 
services. 

Seek grants and financial 
assistance that benefit the 
County without undue burden. 

Evaluate cost-benefit of each 
grant and financial 
assistance opportunities to 
minimize unforeseen 
impacts on organization. 

Do not apply for grants that 
cause undue burden on 
county resources. 

Maintain effective 
government affairs. 

Maximize team member 
knowledge and skills with 
organized assignments. 

Maintain and update as 
needed government affairs 
and lobbying work plan. 

Monitor federal activities, 
remain current on trends, and 
respond appropriately. 

Maintain membership and 
remain actively involved 
with federal government 
affairs organization. 

Monitor state and local 
activities, and remain current 
on trends, and respond 
appropriately. 

Maintain and update as 
needed local and state 
government affairs lobbying 
work plan. 
Monitor upcoming bills, 
regional discussions, media, 
and other communications 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 27 

Goal 6.1  Anticipate, evaluate, and plan for public service needs. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

for proposals potentially 
affecting Storey County.  
Participate in community 
forums, Regional 
Development Authorities, 
regional development 
agencies, associations, 
lobbyist groups, and 
government affairs 
organizations. 

Maintain communication with 
area leaders and agencies. 

Create an easily recognizable 
and memorable 
organization-wide brand and 
apply it to published reports 
and data. 
Maintain cooperative 
relationships with other 
government agencies, 
media, and organizations. 
Distribute the Storey County 
Regional Benefits Report to 
legislatures, agencies, and 
area leaders as needed.  

Improve function, 
safety, and accessibility 
of public facilities. 

Assess buildings for needed 
functional, security, and 
accessibility upgrades, 
implement upgrades to 
buildings within available funds. 

Install internet network link 
at the Mark Twain 
Community Center. 

Upgrade network devices, 
Local Area Networks, storage 
and communications 
infrastructure for the 
Information Technology (IT) 
Department.   
Expand IT office to 
accommodate additional 
staff and equipment. 
Expand, pave, and secure 
Justice Court parking lot. 
Install a generator at the 
Justice Court /IT facility.   
Install film on Courthouse 
windows for safety and 
security. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 28 

Goal 6.1  Anticipate, evaluate, and plan for public service needs. 
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Install additional lighting at 
the B Street Courthouse 
parking lot.   
Add generator and/or 
battery backup to serve 
Community Development 
and network system. 
Add bollards and bumpers to 
the Community 
Development parking lot. 
Add mudroom/cold air entry 
to main entrance to 
Community Development 
office. 
Upgrade electrical and 
Heating, Ventilation, Air 
Conditioning (HVAC) systems 
at the Emergency 
Management office. 
Implement a key fob 
entrance security system at 
TRI-Center office complex 
and at Public Works in 
Virginia City.   

Goal 6.2 Maximize the efficient use of County resources.  
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Utilize existing professional 
services contracts and 
technology programs to 
maximum potential. 

Maintain existing 
professional services 
contract for roads, water, 
and infrastructure project 
management.   
Evaluate existing Tyler 
Systems capabilities before 
considering new software 
systems and vendors. 

Meet growing project 
demands through in-
house and contracted 
services. 

Utilize professional services 
contracts and technology 
programs to additional 
applications not able to be 
fulfilled with current staffing 
resources. 

Conduct a request for 
proposal to execute a 
professional services 
contract for buildings and 
grounds project 
management. 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 29 

Goal 6.2 Maximize the efficient use of County resources.  
Objective Strategy Tactic 

Bid out professional service 
contracts for services related 
to technical engineering 
services as appropriate.  

Maintain strategic plan 
alignment. 

Review the strategic plan 
annually and update it as 
necessary to match current and 
projected resources. 

Annually review and align 
department level and county 
level strategic plans. 

Annually review and update 
the strategic plan with the 
board. 

Annually review and align 
the capital improvement 
plan with the strategic plan.  

Annually assess that the 
strategic plan does not 
conflict with the Storey 
County Master Plan. 

Maintain effective and 
statutory compliant 
public services, and 
cooperate with outside 
agencies to complete 
projects. 

Utilize interlocal agreements 
and Memorandums of 
Understanding to maximize 
efficiency minimizing 
duplication.    

Update interlocal agreement 
to include the transfer of 
Fire Station 71 from the 
county to the fire district and 
to share services to minimize 
duplication. 
Update interlocal agreement 
between county and fire 
district to share services and 
minimize duplication. 
Maintain interlocal 
agreement between county 
and Virginia City Tourism 
Commission to share 
services and minimize 
duplication. 
Maintain memorandum of 
understanding with 
Comstock Cemetery 
Foundation to operate and 
enhance county cemeteries. 
Maintain interlocal 
agreements with the State of 
Nevada and other agencies 
for indigent, health, natural 



Draft talking paper subject to changes… 30 

Goal 6.2 Maximize the efficient use of County resources.  
Objective Strategy Tactic 

resources, law enforcement, 
and other services. 

Ensure effective, 
consistent, and 
appropriate use of 
county funds and 
resources. 

Maintain responsible and 
current administrative policies 
and procedures. 

Review administrative 
policies that are not related 
to human resources, and 
update or expand as 
necessary. 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the draft FY25 Storey County Capital
Improvement Plan and to direct county staff to continue working on fiscal years 26-29.

• Recommended motion: I, [commissioner], move to approve FY25 Storey County
Capital Improvement Plan as presented and direct county staff to continue working on
fiscal years 26-29.

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department: County Manager     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: Comptroller McCain and I have worked to ensure the FY25 projects
listed in the CIP match the requested projects in the FY24/25 budget. Upon approval,
county staff will begin working on fiscal years 26-29 in the CIP to complete a 5-year
Capital Improvement Plan to present for board approval.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      32



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 1

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

FTE

FY25 PROJECTS APPROVED TO BE COMPLETED IN FY24
P4-06.1 Justice Ct Parking Phase 2 of 2 Pave/improve parking lot - Includes lighting $150,000 Capital VC 0.11
P4-17 Courthouse Window Safety Film Film on Courthouse window glass for safety and security $30,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-01 Justice Ct/IT Generator Purchase down payment $70,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-02 Gold Hill Sewer Generator Purchase down payment $50,000 Capital GH 0.00
P5-23 SO Conex Box Evidence Storage $10,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-32 5 Mile Reservoir Security Cameras $80,000 Capital VC 0.00
P7-01 Security Key Fobs Key fob entrance security system TRI $100k $100,000 Capital TRI/VC 0.00
R5-41 Fairgrounds Traffic Install traffic calming devices on I and L Streets $10,000 Roads VC 0.00
W5-50 Water Filters Replace water filter media $100,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00
W5-51 Water Treat Recirc. Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase Replace open bodies with tank - split between 2

FYs
$110,522 Infrastructure VC 0.11

W5-53 Silver City Water Main Phase 1 of 2 Design/Permitting water main replacement between Gold Hill
and Silver City - Split between 2 FYs

$65,996 Water GH/SC 0.00

FY25 Projects to be Completed in FY24 Total $776,518

FY25 PROJECTS
P3-01R Courthouse Fence Repair Mold and foundry $50,000 Capital VC 0.00
P4-07.1 Fairgrounds Upgrade Phase 2 of 2 Fairgrounds construction $820,000 25% Capital/

75% Grant
VC 0.22

P4-11.1 LW SR Center Phase 2 of 3 LW SR Center construction $5,550,000 25% Capital/
75% Grant

LW 3.00

P4-12.1 Fire Station 71 Phase 2 of 3 Fire Station 71 construction $3,000,000 25% Capital/
75% Grant

VC 1.50

P4-13R Fuel Tanks Construction - Replace double-lined fuel tanks at TRI/PW -
$315k per site

$630,000 75% Capital/
25% Fire

TRI/VC 0.20

P4-15 MTCC Outdoor Reader Board Replace message board with freestanding electronic reader
board

$50,000 Capital MT 0.00

P4-16 VCTC Center Phase 1 of 2 Design phase of pocket park deck at Black & Howell site $130,000 VCTC VC 0.11
P4-18R Com. Dev. Generator Purchase and Install $100,000 Capital VC 0.00



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 2

P4-19R Fencing Waste Water Tower $25,000 Capital VC 0.00
P4-20R TRI Monument Signs $25,000 Capital TRI 0.00
P5-01R Justice Ct/IT Generator Remainder of Purchase and Install $38,500 Capital VC 0.00
P5-02R Gold Hill Sewer Generator Remainder of Purchase and Install $22,000 Capital GH 0.00
P5-03 VC Parcourse Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase of this Exercise Course $10,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-04 LAN Network devices, LANs, storage, communications $120,000 Capital County 0.11
P5-06R PW Portable Fencing Portable fencing and trailer to be utilized throughout the

county as needed
$50,000 Capital County 0.00

P5-07R MT Community Center Phase 1 of 4 Planning/Design Phase of Metal Building $100,000 Capital MT 0.23
P5-08R Com. Dev. Parking Add bollards, bumpers to Community Development Office

parking
$50,000 Capital VC 0.00

P5-09R Com. Dev. Mudroom ADA/Breezeway entry to Community Development Office
main entrance

$100,000 Capital VC 0.00

P5-11R VCH Swing Set Add swingset in Highlands - resident request $12,000 VCH Park
Fund 190

VCH 0.00

P5-12R VCH Community Center Phase 1 of 2 Design - Retrofit current Fire Station 72 bays to Community
Center Add warming kitchen, restrooms, breezeway.

$45,000 Capital VCH 0.23

P5-12.1 VCH Community Center Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase - Retrofit current Fire Station 72 bays to
Community Center Dependent on FY24 design phase
completion.

$400,000 Capital VCH 0.23

P5-13R SC Gov. Complex Sign (Back Side) Change back-side lettering to "Storey County Complex" $5,000 Capital TRI 0.00
P5-14R Courthouse Parking Lot Lights Add lights to Courthouse Parking Lot for security/safety $140,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-15 LW Dog Park Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase $10,000 Capital LW 0.00
P5-16 TRI Sheriff Substation Phase 1 of 2 PAR/ER/Design/Begin Construct SO Substation retrofit at SC

TRI  Complex
$850,000 Capital/Grant TRI 0.23

P5-17 SMAC Elevator Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $125,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-18 SMAC Seismic Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $18,500 Capital VC 0.00
P5-19R Justice Ct Flagpole $15,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-20R SC Complex Restrooms Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase Retrofit current single stall to Public restrooms $75,000 Capital TRI 0.11

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

FTE



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 3

P5-20.1 SC Complex Restrooms Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase Retrofit current single stall to Public
restrooms

$225,000 Capital TRI 0.11

P5-21R Piper's Sign Replace Piper's Opera House Sign $10,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-22R EM Office Electrical/HVAC Electrical/HVAC Upgrades $35,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-28 Piper's Front Doors Rehabilitate Front Doors $126,000 Grant 80/20 VC 0.00
P5-29R MT Network Hookup Mark Twain Community Center network. $75,000 Capital MT 0.00
P5-31 IT Expansion Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $75,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-32 Countywide Security Cameras and Key Fobs - continuation of security

implementation from FY24
$110,000 Capital Countywide 0.11

P5-33 VC Jail Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $1,000,000 Capital VC 0.50
P5-34 VCH Fire Water Cistern Phase 1 of 3 Replace (6)/Add (2) $200,000 Capital VCH 0.11
P7-01.1 Security Key Fobs Key fob entrance security system PW/VC $50k $75,000 Capital TRI/VC 0.00

FY25 Projects Total $14,497,000

FY25 ROADS
R4-43.1 Lousetown Road Rehab Phase 2 of 2 New base/repave Lousetown Rd $2,634,460 Roads VCH 2.60
R5-44R Traffic Signal Milan/Electric Phase 1 of 2Design $150,000 Capital TRI 0.11
R5-44.1 Traffic Signal Milan/Electric Phase 2 of 2Construction (85% Tesla to reimburse - $1,572,500 - with a

cap)
$1,850,000 Capital TRI 1.30

R4-45.1 Six Mile Turnaround Phase 2 Construction Phase/Work with Lyon Co $320,000 Roads 6 Mile 0.20
R5-40 Countywide Road Projects Road rehabilitation per DOWL CIP $3,308,582 Infra/Roads County 1.00

R5-43 LW Flood Mitigation Phase 1 of 2 Implement LW Flood Mitigation Study Alt. #3 Rank #2 -
Dependent upon award of CPF request (federal funding) in the
beginning of calendar year 2025

$25,000 Planning LW 0.00

R5-45 Six Mile Flood Mitigation Phase 1 of 2 Implement Six Mile drainage study - culverts - $36,000 grant
award

$170,000 Planning/Grant VC/6 Mile 0.11

FY25 Roads Total $8,458,042

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

FTE



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 4

FY25 WATER/SEWER
W5-51 Water Treat Recirc. Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase Replace open bodies with tank - split between 2

FYs - Began in FY24
$55,261 Infrastructure VC 0.00

W5-52 Water Tank Upgrades Repair/seal water tanks $85,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00
W5-53 Silver City Water Main Phase 1 of 2 Design/Permitting water main replacement between Gold Hill

and Silver City - Split between 2 FYs - Began in FY24
$65,996 Water GH/SC 0.11

W5-56 Gold Hill Collection System Phase 1 of 2PAR/ER/Design Phase $500,000 Capital/Grant GH
W5-57 Lead Siphon Replacement Phase 1 of 5 PAR/ER/Design Phase (100% principal forgiveness loan) $1,150,000 Grant VC 0.50

FY25 Water/Sewer Total $1,856,257

FY25 EQUIPMENT
E5-61 Short-Frame Plow Heavy plow/sander to replace International (#121) $350,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A
E5-63 Skippy Tractor John Deere Skippy loader box grader tractor - for drainage

work & snow/ice removal - May come out - Decision May 1
$150,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A

E5-65 GMC Water/Sewer GMC 3/4 ton long-bed gas pickup with shell - to replace
current water truck (#103)

$70,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A

E4-66 GMC Buildings/Grounds GMC 4-door diesel w. utility bed - needs to pull weight - to
replace (#112)

$80,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A

E5-70 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our
replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A

E5-71 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our
replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A

E5-72 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our
replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A

E5-73 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning our
replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A

E5-74 Tesla Part of GSA with Tesla (Tesla is paying for this.) $88,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A
E5-75 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace current truck (#130) $125,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

FTE



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 5

E5-76 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace current truck (#126) $125,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A
E5-79 Skid Steer Snowblower Will attatch to Skid Steer - for tight corners and hard to

maneuver areas
$9,000 Build Ground PW N/A

E5-80 125' Boom Lift For IT and PW - to replace current lift $100,000 Equip Acqu IT/PW N/A
E5-81 Pickup Com Dev Code Enforcer Vehicle $50,000 Equip Acqu ComDev N/A
E5-82 Pickup IT 1500 $55,000 Equip Acqu IT/PW N/A

FY25 Equipment Total $1,522,000
*Note: All vehicles being replaced will go to auction for resale.

FY25 STUDIES/PLANS
S5-90 TRI Drainage Study Drainage needs for TRI on County-owned roads and parcels $250,000 Planning TRI 0.11

S5-91 Fairgrounds Traffic Study Evaluate traffic control needs for upgraded Fairgrounds $150,000 Capital VC 0.11
S5-92 County-wide Facilities Study Evaluate facility feasibility needs of entire County $150,000 101 VC 0.11

FY25 Studies/Plans Total $550,000
FY25 TOTAL $26,883,299

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

FTE



P5-05 National Park Services Swap
E5-68 Staff Vehicle
E5-78 ATV Snow Blower
E5-77 PW Admin SUV



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 1

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status

FY25 PROJECTS APPROVED TO BE COMPLETED IN FY24
P4-06.1 Justice Ct Parking Phase 2 of 2 Pave/improve parking lot - Includes lighting $150,000 Capital VC Public Works 0.11

P4-17 Courthouse Window Safety
Film

Film on Courthouse window glass for safety and
security

$30,000 Capital VC Emergency
Management

0.00

P5-01 Justice Ct/IT Generator Purchase down payment $70,000 Capital VC MN 0.00
P5-02 Gold Hill Sewer Generator Purchase down payment $50,000 Capital GH MN 0.00
P5-23 SO Conex Box Evidence Storage $10,000 Capital VC Sheriff 0.00
P5-32 5 Mile Reservoir Security

Cameras
$80,000 Capital VC JD 0.00

P7-01 Security Key Fobs Key fob entrance security system TRI $100k $100,000 Capital TRI/VC JD 0.00
R5-41 Fairgrounds Traffic Install traffic calming devices on I and L Streets $10,000 Roads VC Public Works 0.00
R4-45 Six Mile Turnaround Phase 1 Design Phase $39,000 Roads 6 Mile HC 0.00
W5-50 Water Filters Replace water filter media $100,000 Infrastructure VC JW 0.00
W5-51 Water Treat Recirc. Phase 1 of

2
Design Phase Replace open bodies with tank - split
between 2 FYs

$110,522 Infrastructure VC JW, HC 0.11

W5-53 Silver City Water Main Phase 1
of 2

Design/Permitting water main replacement between
Gold Hill and Silver City - Split between 2 FYs

$65,996 Water GH/SC JW, HC 0.00

FY25 Projects to be Completed in FY24 Total $815,518

FY25 PROJECTS
P3-01R Courthouse Fence Repair Mold and foundry $50,000 Capital VC AO, HC 0.00
P4-07.1 Fairgrounds Upgrade Phase 2 of

2
Fairgrounds construction $820,000 25% Capital/

75% Grant
VC MN, SS 0.22

P4-11.1 LW SR Center Phase 2 of 3 LW SR Center construction $5,550,000 25% Capital/
75% Grant

LW MN, SS 3.00

P4-12.1 Fire Station 71 Phase 2 of 3 Fire Station 71 construction $3,000,000 25% Capital/
75% Grant

VC HC, SS, Fire 1.50



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 2

P4-13R Fuel Tanks Construction - Replace double-lined fuel tanks at
TRI/PW - $315k per site

$630,000 75% Capital/
25% Fire

TRI/VC TS, JW 0.20

P4-15 MTCC Outdoor Reader Board Replace message board with freestanding electronic
reader board

$50,000 Capital MT 0.00

P4-16 VCTC Center Phase 1 of 2 Design phase of pocket park deck at Black & Howell
site

$130,000 VCTC VC VCTC 0.11

P4-18R Com. Dev. Generator Purchase and Install $100,000 Capital VC MN 0.00
P4-19R Fencing Waste Water Tower $25,000 Capital VC 0.00
P4-20R TRI Monument Signs $25,000 Capital TRI LM 0.00
P5-01R Justice Ct/IT Generator Remainder of Purchase and Install $38,500 Capital VC MN 0.00
P5-02R Gold Hill Sewer Generator Remainder of Purchase and Install $22,000 Capital GH MN 0.00
P5-03 VC Parcourse Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase of this Exercise Course $10,000 Capital VC HC 0.00
P5-04 LAN Network devices, LANs, storage, communications $120,000 Capital County JD 0.11
P5-06R PW Portable Fencing Portable fencing and trailer to be utilized throughout

the county as needed
$50,000 Capital County JH 0.00

P5-07R MT Community Center Phase 1
of 4

Planning/Design Phase of Metal Building $100,000 Capital MT MN 0.23

P5-08R Com. Dev. Parking Add bollards, bumpers to Community Development
Office parking

$50,000 Capital VC MN 0.00

P5-09R Com. Dev. Mudroom ADA/Breezeway entry to Community Development
Office main entrance

$100,000 Capital VC MN 0.00

P5-11R VCH Swing Set Add swingset in Highlands - resident request $12,000 VCH Park
Fund 190

VCH JW 0.00

P5-12R VCH Community Center Phase
1 of 2

Design - Retrofit current Fire Station 72 bays to
Community Center Add warming kitchen, restrooms,
breezeway.

$45,000 Capital VCH MN 0.23

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 3

P5-12.1 VCH Community Center Phase
2 of 2

Construction Phase - Retrofit current Fire Station 72
bays to Community Center Dependent on FY24 design
phase completion.

$400,000 Capital VCH MN 0.23

P5-13R SC Gov. Complex Sign (Back
Side)

Change back-side lettering to "Storey County
Complex"

$5,000 Capital TRI LM 0.00

P5-14R Courthouse Parking Lot Lights Add lights to Courthouse Parking Lot for
security/safety

$140,000 Capital VC JH 0.11

P5-15 LW Dog Park Phase 1 of 3 Planning Phase $10,000 Capital LW HC, KC 0.00
P5-16 TRI Sheriff Substation Phase 1

of 2
PAR/ER/Design/Begin Construct SO Substation
retrofit at SC TRI  Complex

$850,000 Capital/Grant TRI MN, SS 0.23

P5-17 SMAC Elevator Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $125,000 Capital VC AP 0.11
P5-18 SMAC Seismic Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $18,500 Capital VC AP 0.00
P5-19R Justice Ct Flagpole $15,000 Capital VC Public Works 0.00
P5-20R SC Complex Restrooms Phase 1

of 2
Design Phase Retrofit current single stall to Public
restrooms

$75,000 Capital TRI MN 0.11

P5-20.1 SC Complex Restrooms Phase 2
of 2

Construction Phase Retrofit current single stall to
Public restrooms

$225,000 Capital TRI MN 0.11

P5-21R Piper's Sign Replace Piper's Opera House Sign $10,000 Capital VC HC 0.00
P5-22R EM Office Electrical/HVAC Electrical/HVAC Upgrades $35,000 Capital VC Public Works 0.00
P5-28 Piper's Front Doors Rehabilitate Front Doors $126,000 Grant 80/20 VC SS 0.00
P5-29R MT Network Hookup Mark Twain Community Center network. $75,000 Capital MT JD 0.00
P5-31 IT Expansion Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $75,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-32 Countywide Security Cameras and Key Fobs - continuation of security

implementation from FY24
$110,000 Capital County-

wide
JD 0.11

P5-33 VC Jail Phase 1 of 2 Design Phase $1,000,000 Capital VC Sheriff 0.50
P5-34 VCH Fire Water Cistern Phase

1 of 3
Replace (6)/Add (2) $200,000 Capital VCH Fire 0.11

P7-01.1 Security Key Fobs Key fob entrance security system PW/VC $50k $75,000 Capital TRI/VC JD 0.00

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 4

FY25 Projects Total $14,497,000

FY25 ROADS
R4-43.1 Lousetown Road Rehab Phase 2

of 2
New base/repave Lousetown Rd $2,634,460 Roads VCH JW 2.60

R5-44R Traffic Signal Milan/Electric
Phase 1 of 2

Design $150,000 Capital TRI MN 0.11

R5-44.1 Traffic Signal Milan/Electric
Phase 2 of 2

Construction (85% Tesla to reimburse - $1,572,500 -
with a cap)

$1,850,000 Capital TRI MN 1.30

R4-45.1 Six Mile Turnaround Phase 2 Construction Phase/Work with Lyon Co $320,000 Roads 6 Mile HC, MN, JW 0.20
R5-40 Countywide Road Projects Road rehabilitation per DOWL CIP $3,308,582 Infra/Roads County JW 1.00

R5-43 LW Flood Mitigation Phase 1 of
2

Implement LW Flood Mitigation Study Alt. #3 Rank
#2 - Dependent upon award of CPF request (federal
funding) in the beginning of calendar year 2025

$25,000 Planning LW KC, SS 0.00

R5-45 Six Mile Flood Mitigation
Phase 1 of 2

Implement Six Mile drainage study - culverts - $36,000
grant award

$170,000 Planning/Grant VC/6 Mile KC, 0.11

FY25 Roads Total $8,458,042

FY25 WATER/SEWER
W5-51 Water Treat Recirc. Phase 1 of

2
Design Phase Replace open bodies with tank - split
between 2 FYs - Began in FY24

$55,261 Infrastructure VC JW, HC 0.00

W5-52 Water Tank Upgrades Repair/seal water tanks $85,000 Infrastructure VC Public Works 0.00
W5-53 Silver City Water Main Phase 1

of 2
Design/Permitting water main replacement between
Gold Hill and Silver City - Split between 2 FYs -
Began in FY24

$65,996 Water GH/SC JW, HC 0.11

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 5

W5-56 Gold Hill Collection System
Phase 1 of 2

PAR/ER/Design Phase $500,000 Capital/Grant GH SS

W5-57 Lead Siphon Replacement
Phase 1 of 5

PAR/ER/Design Phase (100% principal forgiveness
loan)

$1,150,000 Grant VC SS 0.50

FY25 Water/Sewer Total $1,856,257

FY25 EQUIPMENT
E5-61 Short-Frame Plow Heavy plow/sander to replace International (#121) $350,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A
E5-63 Skippy Tractor John Deere Skippy loader box grader tractor - for

drainage work & snow/ice removal - May come out -
Decision May 1

$150,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A

E5-65 GMC Water/Sewer GMC 3/4 ton long-bed gas pickup with shell - to
replace current water truck (#103)

$70,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A

E4-66 GMC Buildings/Grounds GMC 4-door diesel w. utility bed - needs to pull weight
- to replace (#112)

$80,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A

E5-70 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A N/A

E5-71 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A N/A

E5-72 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A N/A

E5-73 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A N/A

E5-74 Tesla Part of GSA with Tesla (Tesla is paying for this.) $88,000 Equip Acqu SO N/A N/A
E5-75 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace current truck (#130) $125,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A
E5-76 RAM 5500 crew-cab utility To replace current truck (#126) $125,000 Equip Acqu PW N/A N/A
E5-79 Skid Steer Snowblower Will attatch to Skid Steer - for tight corners and hard to

maneuver areas
$9,000 Build Ground PW N/A N/A

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 6

E5-80 125' Boom Lift For IT and PW - to replace current lift $100,000 Equip Acqu IT/PW N/A N/A
E5-81 Pickup Com Dev Code Enforcer Vehicle $50,000 Equip Acqu ComDev N/A N/A
E5-82 Pickup IT 1500 $55,000 Equip Acqu IT/PW N/A N/A

FY25 Equipment Total $1,522,000
*Note: All vehicles being replaced will go to auction for resale.

FY25 STUDIES/PLANS
S5-90 TRI Drainage Study Drainage needs for TRI on County-owned roads and

parcels
$250,000 Planning TRI KC 0.11

S5-91 Fairgrounds Traffic Study Evaluate traffic control needs for upgraded
Fairgrounds

$150,000 Capital VC MN, HC 0.11

S5-92 County-wide Facilities Study Evaluate facility feasibility needs of entire County $150,000 101 VC AO 0.11
FY25 Studies/Plans Total $550,000

FY25 TOTAL $26,883,299

FY26 PROJECTS
P4-11.2 LW SR Center Phase 3 of 3 Construction - Final phase $1,000,000 Capital/Grant LW MN, SS 0.50
P4-12.2 Fire Station 71 Phase 3 of 3 Construction - Final phase $2,690,000 Capital/Grant VC HC, SS, Fire 1.30
P4-15 LW Fiber Tower and microwave link - contingent upon LW Sr.

Center completion
$78,000 Capital/IT LW JD 0.00

P4-16 VCTC Center Phase 2 of 2 Construction phase of pocket park deck at Black &
Howell site

$1,500,000 VCTC VC MN 0.11

P5-03.1 VC Parcourse Phase 2 of 3 Trail Design/Construct $100,000 Capital VC HC 0.00
P5-07.1 MT Community Center Phase 2

of 4
Construction Phase of Metal Building - To be
Apparatus Bay for FD Dependent on
completion of the FY24 design phase

$1,200,000 Capital MT MN 0.23

P5-07.2 MT Community Center Phase 3
of 4

Design/Plan Phase of Retrofit of Current Facility $75,000 Capital MT MN 0.00

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 7

P5-07.3 MT Community Center Phase 4
of 4

Construction Phase of retrofit of current building $450,000 Capital MT MN

P5-15.1 LW Dog Park Phase 2 of 3 Design Phase $25,000 Capital LW HC 0.00
P5-16.1 TRI Sheriff Substation Phase 2

of 2
Final Construction Phase $350,000 Capital/Grant TRI MN, SS 0.20

P5-24 GH Depot ADA Ramp ADA Ramp Gold Hill V&T Depot from train to
building

$50,000 Facilities GH 0.00

P5-25 VC Historic Freight Depot
ADA

ADA improvements/restrooms $750,000 Facilities VC 0.34

P5-30 Swimming Pool Rehab Phase 1
of 3

Phase 1 of Design to begin January 2025 $500,000 Capital VC 0.50

P5-30.1 Swimming Pool Rehab Phase 2
of 3

Phase 2 of design $500,000 Capital/InfrastructureVC 5.20

P5-31.1 IT Expansion Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase $900,000 Capital VC 0.50
P6-01 VC Historic Freight Depot

Paving
Pave parking area around depot $250,000 Rail VC 0.11

P6-04 SMAC Elevator Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase $1,000,000 Building RestorationVC AP 0.50
P6-05 LW Outdoor Reader Board Event Display Board by SO Substation $50,000 Capital LW 0.00
P6-06  C Street Boardwalk Phase 1 of

2
Design - Extend Boardwalk from SO to 4th Ward $500,000 Capital VC 0.25

P6-07 Washington St. Stairs Phase 1
of 2

Planning - Replace wood stairs at Washington Street
between C & D Streets

$23,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00

P6-08 Restroom C Street Phase 1 of 2 Planning - Add public restrooms between Zephas &
Libery Engine 1

$50,000 VCTC VC VCTC 0.00

P6-09 Piper's Structural Retrofit ADA access and interior improvements $600,000 Piper's VC 0.25
P6-10 Piper's Wall Structure West building wall/water infiltration $645,705 Piper's VC 0.22
P6-11 LW PW Fuel Tank Replace double-lined fuel tank at LW Fire Station 74 $100,000 Capital LW 0.00
P6-12 TRI PW Fuel Tank Replace double-lined fuel tank at TRI Fire Station 75 $100,000 Capital TRI 0.00

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 8

P6-13 Mobile EOC $200,000 Capital County 0.11
P6-14 TRI PW Shop PW equipment barn at Storey County Complex $3,400,000 Capital TRI/VC 1.75
P6-15 Piper's A Street Phase 1 of 2 PER/ER/Design Phase - FY25 Appropriation's Request $1,100,000 Capital VC 0.23

P6-16 B Street Barn Phase 1 of 2 PER/ER/Design Phase $500,000 Capital VC 0.23
P6-17 Data Center Relocation Phase 1

of 2
PER/ER/Design Phase $600,000 Capital VC 0.25

FY26 Projects Total $19,286,705

FY26 ROADS
R5-43.1 LW Flood Mitigation Phase 2 of

2
Implement LW Flood Mitigation Study - Alt. #3 Rank
#2

$4,636,553 Roads LW 2.50

R5-42 Fairgrounds Rd. RR Realign/properly signal RR crossing at Fairgrounds
Road/F Street

$400,000 Roads/Rail VC 0.22

R5-44 Countywide Road Projects Road rehabilitation per DOWL CIP $476,000 Infra/Roads County 0.22
R6-41 Six Mile Flood Mitigation Implement Six Mile drainage study - Projects 1, 2, 3 $7,300,000 Capital/Roads VC/Six Mile 3.50
R6-42 N & S Sam Clemens Culverts Bridges on Sam Clemens over existing high water

crossings
$1,000,000 Roads MT 0.46

R6-43 SR 341 Retaining Wall Reconstruct retaining wall  - residence of N SR341 $50,000 Roads VC/Six Mile 0.00
FY26 Roads Total $13,862,553

FY26 WATER/SEWER
W5-53.1 Silver City Water Main Phase 2

of 2
Construction phase $2,376,000 Water GH/SC 1.30

W5-56.1 Gold Hill Collection System
Phase 2 of 2

Construction phase $3,250,000 Capital GH 1.30

W5-57.1 Lead Siphon Replacement
Phase 2 of 5

1st Construction Phase $1,150,000 Capital 0.50

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 9

W6-50 Water Plant Valves Replace Limitorque Control Packs $150,000 Infrastructure VC 0.11
W6-51 Water Tank Upgrades Repair/seal water tanks $85,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00
W6-52 Hillside to Divine Main Phase 1

of 2
PER/PAR/Design Phase $1,253,000 Water VC 0.50

W6-53 VCH Fire Water Cistern Phase
2 of 3

Replace (6)/Add (2) $200,000 Capital VCH 0.11

FY26 Water/Sewer Total $8,464,000

FY26 EQUIPMENT
E5-60 Road Sweeper Street Sweeper Truck $330,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-60 PW Peterbuilt Dump Truck $300,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-61 PW Service Truck F550/5500 chassis with service body $150,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-62 PW John Deere Loader To replace TRI loader $230,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-63 PW Dump Truck To replace Ford L9000 with new 10-wheel $25,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-64 PW Motor Grader Road Construction $400,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-65 PW Screened Grizzly Road Construction, rock screeening $40,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E6-66 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning

our replaced vehicle.
$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E6-67 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E6-68 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E6-69 Com. Dev. Pick-up Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $40,000 Equipment Acqu.CD N/A
E6-70 EM UTV Emergency Management UTV $30,000 Equipment Acqu.EM N/A

FY26 Equipment Total $1,785,000
FY26 STUDIES/PLANS

S6-90 GH Depot Land Survey Survey & reconsolidate land around Gold Hill Depot $20,000 Rail GH 0.00

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 10

S6-91 GH Drainage Study Evaluate drainage nees for Gold Canyon, Gold Hill,
American Flat

$5,000 Planning GH 0.00

S6-92 VCH Water Plan Update 2022 Water Master Plan for VCH water
distribution system

$20,000 Water VCH 0.00

S6-93 Road Abandon Study Determine what roads may be considered for future
abandonment

$75,000 Planning County 0.00

S6-94 VC Parking Study Update to 1992 Virginia City Parking Study $50,000 Planning County 0.00
FY26 Studies/Plans Total $170,000

FY26 TOTAL $43,568,258

FY27 PROJECTS
P5-03.2 VC Parcourse Phase 3 of 3 Equipment purchase $75,000 Capital VC 0.00
P5-15.2 LW Dog Park Phase 3 of 3 Construction Phase $50,000 Capital LW 0.00
P5-26 VC Historic Freight Depot Roof New roof $300,000 Rail? VC 0.20

P5-27 CH Generator Replace $250,000 Capital VC 0.11
P5-30.2 Swimming Pool Rehab Phase 3

of 3
Construction Phase $10,000,000 Capital/InfrastructureVC 5.20

P6-06.1 C Street Boardwalk Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase $1,212,000 Capital VC 0.50

P6-07.1 Washington St. Stairs Phase 2
of 2

Construction - Replace wood stairs at Washington
Street between C & D

$110,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00

P6-08.1 Restroom C Street Phase 2 of 2 Construction - Add public restrooms between Zephas
& Libery Engine 1

$450,000 VCTC VC 0.22

P6-15.1 Piper's West Wall/A Street
Phase 2 of 2

Construction Phase $842,850 Capital VC 0.35

P6-16.1 B Street Barn Phase 2 of 2 Construction Phase $1,212,000 Capital VC 0.50

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 11

P6-17.1 Data Center Relocation Phase 2
of 2

Construction Phase $3,401,800 Capital VC 1.50

P7-02 Courthouse Earthquake Retrofit $1,800,000 Capital VC 0.70

P7-03 Baseball Field Upgrades Lights, backboard, pavers $74,800 VC 0.00
P7-04 GH Depot Parking Implement results from FY26 study - Paving $250,000 Rail GH 0.11
P7-05 Piper's Electrical Upgrade service to 600A $250,000 Piper's VC 0.11
P7-06 Piper's Kitchen Upgrade kitchen $60,000 Piper's VC 0.00
P7-07 IT/EOC/Dispatch Center New combined facility- THIS NEEDS LOGISTICAL

DISCUSSION - Subject to change
$6,000,000 Capital VC 3.00

P7-08 VCH Mailbox Plaza Phase 1 of
2

Planning/ Design Phase New mailbox plaza $150,000 Capital VCH 0.11

P7-09 Outdoor Shooting Range $400,000 Capital County 0.22
P7-10 SMAC Generator Purchase/install $100,000 Capital PW

FY27 Projects Total $26,988,450

FY27 ROADS
R7-40 Countywide Road Projects Road rehabilitation per DOWL CIP $5,100,000 Infra/Roads County 2.75
R7-41 Cartwright Cartwrite Road widening, shoulder improvements,

drainage reconstruction
$2,000,000 Roads VCH 1.00

FY27 Roads Total $7,100,000

FY27 WATER/SEWER
W6-52.1 Hillside to Divine Main Phase 2

of 2
Construction Phase $1,253,000 Water VC 0.50

W7-50 Water Tank Ugrades Repair/Seal VC Water Tanks $85,000 Infrastructure VC 0.00
W7-51 VCH Fire Water Cistern Phase

3 of 3
Replace (6)/Add (2) $200,000 Capital VCH 0.11

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 12

FY27 Water/Sewer Total $1,538,000

FY27 EQUIPMENT
E5-62 Peterbuilt Dump

Truck/Plow/Sander
For TRI $475,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A

E5-69 Compactors Bomag BT-35 walk-behind soils compactors (2) $10,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-60 Service Truck F550/5500 chassis with service body $130,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-61 Water Truck Currently must switch out water tank with plow

hardware each season
$300,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A

E7-62 Motor Grader John Deere $350,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-63 Ditch Compactor Remote control trench compactor, trench safety $50,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-64 Small Backhoe/loader Small front loader tractor with backhoe for parks' work $60,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A

E7-65 Road Manager Truck 3500 HD crew-cab, utility body diesel $125,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-66 5-Yard AWD Dump Truck With plow prep $250,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-67 Tractor Trailer Peterbuilt Truck and RGN Transport Trailer $300,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-68 Vactor Truck New Vactor Truck to serve north end of county (TRI,

LW, PR)
$650,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A

E7-69 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E7-70 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E7-71 Patrol Vehicle Rotation Per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered auctioning
our replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO N/A

E7-72 Service Equipment Heavy vehicle lifts for shop $150,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-73 Backhoe John Deere 410 to replace existing unit $250,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E7-74 Loader John Deere 624 Loader $350,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A

FY27 Equipment Total $3,690,000

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 13

FY27 STUDIES/PLANS
S7-90 Roads CIP VC Update Roads CIP $100,000 Roads County 0.00

FY27 Studies/Plans Total $100,000
FY27 TOTAL $39,416,450

FY28 PROJECTS
P7-08.1 VCH Mailbox Plaza Phase 2 of

2
Construction Phase New mailbox plaza $1,350,000 Capital VCH 0.50

P8-01 LCC Gas Lines Replace gas distribution lines throughout LCC $500,000 Infrastructure LW
P8-02 MT Drainage Implement DVAMP Master Plan $12,000,000 Capital/InfrastructureMT
P8-03 MT Landscaping Add landscaping, trees, irrigation around MTCC $100,000 Capital MT
P8-04 MT Parking Lot Repave Parking Lot $200,000 Capital MT
P8-05 SMAC Seismic Retrofit $1,800,000 Capital/InfrastructureVC 
P8-06 VC Sr. Center Generator Purchase/install $100,000 Capital VC
P8-07 EOC Emergency Operation Center located near SR 341 $1,500,000 Capital VCH
P8-08 LW Land Acquisition Acquire vacant land north of Rainbow Bend $1,000,000 Capital LW
P8-09 Piper's HVAC/Plumbing Add 60 gallon h20 heater, heating, cooling, ventilation $400,000 Piper's VC

P8-12 Piper's Generator $100,000 Piper's VC
P8-13 Justice/Jail Complex Replace Jail facility due to safety and security $15,000,000 Capital VC
P8-14 Historic Taylor Street Stairs

Phase 1 of 2
Design - Recreate stairs from C to B Street Capital VC

FY28 PROJECTS TOTAL $34,050,000

FY28 ROADS
R8-40 6 Mile Canyon Bridge New/wider bridge over 6 Mile Canyon Creek $4,000,000 Capital/Infrastructure6 Mile

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 14

R8-41 Boardwalk Northwest Boardwalk west side of C St. from Sutton to Carson St $240,000 Roads VC

R8-42 Boardwalk Northeast Boardwalk east side of C St. from Sutton to Carson St $240,000 Roads VC

R8-43 Boardwalk North Bridge Boardwalk east side of C St. bridge/overhang over
lower parking lot segment

$360,000 Roads VC

FY28 ROADS TOTAL $4,840,000

FY28 WATER/SEWER
W8-50 5 Mile Reservoir Wall Wall surrounding 5 Mile Reservoir $720,000 Water VC
W8-51 Water Treatment Plant Wall Wall abutting south of water treatment ponds $360,000 Water VC
W8-52 Gold Hill Sewer Expansion Expand current facility x2 to facilitate new

residential/commercial construction
$2,500,000 Water GH

FY28 ROADS TOTAL $3,580,000

FY28 EQUIPMENT
E5-64 Light Plant w. Solar Portable light plant w. solar array $20,000 Equipment Acqu.PW N/A
E8-60 GMC 3500 Truck Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $80,000 Equipment Acqu.EM
E8-61 Pickup Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $75,000 Equipment Acqu.CD
E8-62 Pickup Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $75,000 Equipment Acqu.CD
E8-63 Service Truck RAM 5500HD/550 crew-cab, crane, service body $225,000 Equipment Acqu.PW
E8-64 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $50,000 Equipment Acqu.CM
E8-65 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $50,000 Equipment Acqu.Dispatch
E8-66 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $50,000 Equipment Acqu.IT
E8-67 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $50,000 Equipment Acqu.PW
E8-68 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $50,000 Equipment Acqu.SC
E8-69 Staff Vehicle Replace current vehicle per rotation schedule $75,000 Equipment Acqu.VCTC

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 15

E8-70 Patrol Vehicle Replace per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered
auctioning replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO

E8-71 Patrol Vehicle Replace per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered
auctioning replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO

E8-72 Patrol Vehicle Replace per 3-year rotation. Some funds recovered
auctioning replaced vehicle.

$80,000 Equipment Acqu.SO

FY28 EQUIPMENT TOTAL $1,020,000

FY28 STUDIES/PLANS
S8-90 Master Plan Update 10-year Storey County Master Plan update

consultation/technical assistance
$100,000 Planning County

FY28 STUDIES/PLANS TOTAL $100,000
FY28 TOTAL $43,590,000

FY29 PROJECTS
P8-14.1 Historic Taylor Street Stairs

Phase 2 of 2
Construction - Recreate stairs from C to B Street Capital VC

P9-01 Piper's Seismic Retrofit $1,800,000 Capital/Infra VC
P9-04 TRI Justice Center Add justice complex to Storey County Government

Complex
$4,000,000 Capital TRI

P9-05 Parking Garage Phase 1 of 2 Planning/design phase $1,000,000 Capital/Infra VC
FY29 PROJECTS TOTAL $6,800,000

FY29 ROADS
R9-40 Cemetery East Access Culvert and dirt road over drainage at SE corner of

cemetery for access per MOU
$100,000 Roads VC

R9-41 Realign Toll Rd at CCI Realign West end so it matches county property -
Work with Community Chest

$450,000 Roads VC

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 16

R9-42 Sydney Cul-de-sac Correct cul-de-sac at Sydney Drive to remove GID
Building and drainages

$1,000,000 Roads TRI

FY29 ROADS TOTAL $1,550,000

FY29 EQUIPMENT
E9-60 Multi-Use Truck RAM 5500HD plow/dump/sander/crew cab $250,000 Equipment

Acqu.
PW

E9-61 Excavator 16k lbs $175,000 Equipment
Acqu.

PW

E9-62 Street Sweeper $350,000 Equipment
Acqu.

PW

E9-63 Forklift For TRI $50,000 Equipment
Acqu.

PW

E9-64 Snow Cat EM/SO/FD/PW back country access, snow rescue,
citizen snow resources

$60,000 Equipment
Acqu.

PW

FY29 EQUIPMENT TOTAL $885,000

FY29 STUDIES/PLANS

FY29 TOTAL $9,235,000

FY30 PROJECTS
P8-10 Piper's Carriage House Prep opening for Carriage house doors, rebuild doors $70,000 Piper's VC

P8-11 Piper's Balcony Balcony Repairs $1,000,000 Piper's VC
P9-05.1 Parking Garage Phase 2 of 2 Construction phase $20,000,000 Capital/InfrastructureVC
P0-01 Fourth Ward Generator Purchase/install $100,000 Capital PW
P0-02 Gold Hill Depot Generator Purchase/install $15,000 Capital PW

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



Storey County Capital Improvement Plan - DRAFT

Page 17

P0-03 VC Depot Generator Purchase/install $15,000 Capital PW
P0-04 Comptroller Generator Purchase/install $100,000 Capital PW

FY30 and Beyond PROJECTS
P9-02 Piper's Repairs Complete stairs to balcony, restroom exhaust fans,

replace missing finials
$50,000 Piper's VC

P9-03 Piper's Exterior Repaint/repair brick & mortar, replace exterior egress
stairs north side

$170,000 Piper's VC

South VC Rest Stop Restrooms, Parking, Visitor Information Kiosks $2,000,000 VCTC VC
Inclinator F to C Street From VC Freight Depot (multi-modal transit hub) to C

St.
$1,000,000 VCTC VC

VCTC Visitor's Center Rehab or move to new location $500,000 VCTC VC

Project
ID

Short Name Description Estimated
Total Project
Cost for FY

 Fund Project
Location

Project
Manager or
Responsible

Party

FTE Project Status



P5-05 National Park Services Swap
E5-68 Staff Vehicle
E5-78 ATV Snow Blower
E5-77 PW Admin SUV



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
• A. High Impact Sign & Design - Contractor / 820 Wigwam Pkwy. Ste 100 ~ Henderson,

NV
• B. Huston High Desert Excavation LLC - Contractor / 1140 Larson Rd. ~ Reno, NV
• C. NJ Tool Sales LLC - Out of County / 1527 Riverpark Pkwy. ~ Dayton, NV
• D. TYG EXPRESS - Out of County / 1495 E. Prater Way Ste. 107 ~ Sparks, NV

• Recommended motion: Approval.

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department: Community Development     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the

• Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to the new
business license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification

      33



[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office April 29, 2024 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the May 7, 2024 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. High Impact Sign & Design – Contractor / 820 Wigwam Pkwy. Ste 100 ~ Henderson, NV

B. Huston High Desert Excavation LLC – Contractor / 11140 Larson RD. ~ Reno, NV

C. NJ Tool Sales LLC – Out of County / 1527 Riverpark Pkwy. ~ Dayton, NV

D. TYG EXPRESS – Out of County / 1495 E. Prater Way Ste. 107 ~ Sparks, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 5/7/2024 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Correspondence

• Title: Correspondence

• Recommended motion: None

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department: Commissioners     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Correspondence

• Supporting Materials: See Attachments

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

      35




















	Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the May 7, 2024, meeting.
	Business License First Readings -- Approval
	Approval of claims in the amount of $4,751,205.35.
	Public Hearing for Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328 Zoning Code text amendments to amend the language of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and 17.16.040; Chapter 17
	Consideration and possible approval for Second Reading of Bill No. 140 Ord No. 24-328 Zoning Code text amendments to amend the language of Storey County Code Title 17, Chapter 17.16 R1 Residential Zone, Sections 17.16.030 and
	Storey County FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.
	Approval of modification and extension of 2023-2024 Collective Bargaining Agreement between Storey County (Employer) and the Storey County Sheriff's Office Employees' Association/Nevada Association of Police and Sheriff's Officers (NAPSO).
	Consideration and Possible Approval of Grant of Easement File No. 2024-017 to NV Energy for communication and gas facilities within a portion of the Waltham Way Right-of-Way and Alexandria Ct. Right-of-Way, McCarran, Storey Co
	Consideration and possible approval of Interlocal Agreement Between Storey County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the partial-grant-funded construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North C Street
	Report of Public Works Department regarding roads and Highways throughout Storey County.
	Storey County Water and Sewer FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.
	For consideration and possible approval of the First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is Jagmohan Dhillon, Sparks Hotel, LLC DBA Courtyard by Marriott-Reno/Sparks-McCarran located at 505 USA Parkway, McCarran, NV 89437
	Storey County Fire District FY25 Tentative to Final budget update.
	Consideration and possible approval to proclaim May 2024 as Nevada Wildfire Awareness Month in Storey County.
	Consideration and possible approval of disposal by means of auction, donation, sale, or trade-in, of one 2002 Chevrolet reserve ambulance.
	Consideration and possible approval of Interlocal Agreement Between Storey County and Storey County Fire Protection District for the partial-grant-funded construction of and for the Fire District’s purchase of Fire Station 71 located at 145 North C Street
	Consideration and possible approval for the County Manager to sign a proposal with Universal Engineering Sciences (UES) for geotechnical and inspection services for the Fire Station 71 – Phase 1 project. Costs are not to exceed $22,760.00.
	Possible grant of easement to NV Energy for utilities within a portion of the Peri Ranch Road right-of-way as described in the attached Grant of Easement Request provided by NV Energy.  This easement is part of the Lockwood Senior Center Project.
	To possibly accept a proposal for the design of the Mark Twain Community Center – Phase 1, a metal building for the storage of fire apparatus submitted by Paul Cavin Design in an amount not to exceed $246,500.00.  This proposal includes architectural, str
	Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers to provide appraisal of vacant land located at 935 State Route 341 (Truck Route) APN 0
	Discussion and possible direction to county staff and consultant regarding the final draft Storey County Strategic Plan. This draft reflects comments from the 04/16/24 board meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the draft FY25 Storey County Capital Improvement Plan and to direct county staff to continue working on fiscal years 26-29.
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.
	Correspondence

	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 
	AP Contact EMail: 
	AP Contact Telephone: 
	AP Contact Name: 
	Email: 
	Telephone: 
	Billing Address: 
	Client Business Name: 
	Date Accepted: 
	Title: 
	Printed Name: 


